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EXPLANATORY NOTE 

     During May of 2006, we determined that it was necessary to restate our previously issued consolidated financial statements for the years 

ended December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003 because of certain misstatements in those financial statements. Accordingly, we have 

included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005 restated audited consolidated financial statements, the 

notes thereto, and related disclosures as of December 31, 2004 and for the years ended December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003. The 

misstatements in our previously issued financial statements are principally attributable to certain errors in accounting for lease transactions and 

other matters as described in Note 1 of the notes to our audited annual consolidated financial statements. 

     The restatement adjustments increased previously reported accumulated deficit as of January 1, 2003 by $14.8 million and decreased 

previously reported net income by $0.5 million and increased previously reported net income by $3.7 million for the years ended December 31, 

2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively. See Part II, Item 8, including Note 1 to the audited consolidated financial statements, of this Annual 

Report on Form 10-K for more detailed information concerning the restatement. The restatement does not affect our audited consolidated 

financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2005 but it does affect our previously filed quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for the 

quarters ended March 31, 2005, June 30, 2005 and September 30, 2005. We will file our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 

March 31, 2006 which will restate the three-months ended March 31, 2005. In addition, we will file amended Form 10-Q/As for the quarters 

ended June 30, 2005 and September 30, 2005 to restate the three-month and year-to-date results in those quarters. 
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PART I 

ITEM 1. BUSINESS. 

Overview 

     We are one of the largest motion picture exhibitors in the United States. As of December 31, 2005, we owned, operated or had an interest in 

301 theatres with 2,475 screens located in 37 states, making us the second largest exhibitor in the country by number of theatres and the third 

largest by number of screens. We owned 85 of these theatres, leased 214 of these theatres and operated an additional two theatres under shared 

ownership. Of our 301 theatres, 252 show films on a first-run basis and 49 are discount theatres. 

     We target small to mid-size non-urban markets. We estimate that more than 80% of our theatres are located in communities with 

populations of fewer than 100,000 people. We believe there are several benefits of operating in small to mid-size markets, including: 
 
  •   Less competition from other exhibitors. We believe a majority of our theatres have limited competition for patrons. We believe most 

of our markets are adequately screened and our smaller markets in particular cannot support significantly more screens. 
   
  •   Lower operating costs. We believe that we benefit from lower labor, occupancy and maintenance costs than most other large 

exhibitors. For example, as of December 31, 2005, approximately 41% of our hourly employees worked for the federal minimum 

wage. Additionally, we own or operate under joint ownership 87 theatres, or approximately 29% of our theatres, which we believe 

provides us with further cost benefits. We believe the percentage of our owned theatres is among the highest of the large theatre 

exhibitors. 
   
  •   Fewer alternative entertainment opportunities. In our typical markets, patrons have fewer entertainment alternatives than in larger 

markets, where options such as professional sports and cultural events are more likely to be available. 
   
  •   Greater access to film product. We believe we are the sole exhibitor in many of our film licensing zones, which we believe provides 

us with greater flexibility in selecting films that meet the preferences of patrons in our markets. 

     The following table sets forth geographic information regarding our theatre circuit as of December 31, 2005: 
                  
State   Theatres   Screens 
Alabama     17       167   
Arkansas     8       68   
Colorado     8       57   
Delaware     1       14   
Florida     10       80   
Georgia     24       219   
Idaho     4       24   
Illinois     13       118   
Indiana     3       42   
Iowa     8       82   
Kansas     1       12   
Kentucky     6       31   
Louisiana     2       16   
Maryland     1       8   
Michigan     15       109   
Minnesota     6       65   
Missouri     1       8   
Montana     11       71   
Nebraska     5       22   
New Mexico     1       2   
New York     1       8   
North Carolina     31       280   
North Dakota     6       37   
Ohio     7       53   
Oklahoma     10       52   
Oregon     1       12   
Pennsylvania     24       182   
South Carolina     12       84   
South Dakota     5       38   
Tennessee     26       228   
Texas     12       106   



Utah     3       39   
Virginia     8       58   
Washington     1       12   
West Virginia     4       32   
Wisconsin     3       27   
Wyoming     2       12   
                  
Totals     301       2,475   

                  

     From time to time, we convert weaker performing theatres to discount theatres for the exhibition of films that have previously been shown 

on a first-run basis. At December 31, 2005, we operated 49 theatres with 225 screens as discount theatres. We also operate 12 theatres for the 

exhibition of first-run films at a reduced admission price. 
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     We are the sole exhibitor in many of the small to mid-size markets in which we operate. The introduction of a competing theatre in these 

markets could significantly impact the performance of our theatres. In addition, the type of motion pictures preferred by patrons in these 

markets is typically more limited than in larger markets, which increases the importance of selecting films that will appeal to patrons in our 

specific theatre markets. 

Theatre Development, Acquisitions and Operations 

Development 

     We carefully review small to mid-size markets to evaluate the return on capital of opportunities to build new theatres or renovate our 

existing theatres. The circumstances under which we believe we are best positioned to benefit from building new theatres are in markets in 

which: 
 
  •   we believe building a new theatre provides an attractive cash flow opportunity; 
   
  •   we already operate a theatre and could best protect that market by expanding our presence; or 
   
  •   a film licensing zone is currently underserved by an exhibitor. 

     In general, we do not believe that building theatres in film licensing zones in which competitors operate modern theatres provides attractive 

investment opportunities for us. 

     Our bankruptcy, as discussed below under the caption ―Our Reorganization,‖ and the excessive number of screens resulting from the 

industry’s overbuilding of theatres in the last few years have been significant influences on our current growth strategy. We opened, reopened, 

or acquired 42 theatres during the year ended December 31, 2005. If opportunities exist where new construction will be profitable to us, we will 

consider building additional theatres in future periods. However, we expect our development activity in 2006 will be limited to four theatres. 

Additionally, as opportunities present themselves for consolidation we will evaluate each instance to obtain the highest level of return on 

investment. 

Acquisitions 

     On May 19, 2005, we acquired 100% of the stock of George G. Kerasotes Corporation (―GKC Theatres‖) for a net purchase price of 

$61.6 million. GKC Theatres operated 30 theatres with 263 screens in four Midwestern states where our presence was very limited. The 

acquisition upholds our traditional focus of acquiring existing operations in opportunistic small markets. 

     The following table shows information about the changes in our theatre circuit during the periods presented: 
                          

                    
Average 

Screens/ 
    Theatres   Screens   Theatre 
Total at January 1, 2003     308       2,262       7.3   

New Construction     2       31           
Closures     (11 )     (40 )         

                          
Total at December 31, 2003     299       2,253       7.5   

New Construction     3       41           
Closures     (20 )     (106 )         

                          
Total at December 31, 2004     282       2,188       7.8   

Acquisition of GKC Theatres     30       263           
New Construction     10       134           
Reopens     2       16           
Closures     (23 )     (126 )         

                          
Total at December 31, 2005     301       2,475       8.2   
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Operations 

     Our theatre operations are under the supervision of our Chief Operating Officer, General Manager of Operations and four division 

managers. The division managers are responsible for implementing our operating policies and supervising our eighteen operating districts. 

Each operating district has a district manager who is responsible for overseeing the day-to-day operations of our theatres. Corporate policy 

development, strategic planning, site selection and lease negotiation, theatre design and construction, concession purchasing, film licensing, 

advertising, and financial and accounting activities are centralized at our corporate headquarters. 

     We have an incentive bonus program for theatre-level management, which provides for bonuses based on incremental improvements in 

theatre profitability, including concession sales. As part of this program, we evaluate ―mystery shopper‖ reports on the quality of service, 

cleanliness and film presentation at individual theatres. 

      Box office admissions. The majority of our revenues come from the sale of movie tickets. For the year ended December 31, 2005, box 

office admissions totaled $309.4 million, or 66.0% of total revenues. At December 31, 2005, of our 301 theatres, 252 showed ―first-run‖ films, 

which we license from distributors owned by the major studios, as well as from independent distributors. Twelve of these theaters exhibited 

first-run films at a reduced admission price. The remaining 49 of our theatres featured films at a discount price. 

     Most of the tickets we sell are sold at our theatre box offices immediately before the start of a film. As of December 31, 2005, patrons can 

buy tickets in advance either over the phone or on the Internet for 53 of our theatres. These alternate sales methods do not currently represent a 

meaningful portion of our revenues, nor are they expected to in the near term. 

      Concessions. Concession sales are our second largest revenue source after box office admissions, totaling $145.9 million, or 31.1% of total 

revenues for the year ended December 31, 2005. Our strategy emphasizes quick and efficient service built around a limited menu primarily 

focused on higher margin items such as popcorn, candy and soft drinks. In addition, in a limited number of markets, we offer bottled water, 

frozen drinks, coffee, ice cream, hot dogs and pretzels in order to respond to competitive conditions. We actively seek to promote concession 

sales through the design and appearance of our concession stands, the introduction of special promotions from time to time, by reducing wait 

times and by training our employees to up-sell products. In addition, our management incentive bonus program includes concession results as a 

component of determining the bonus awards. We manage all inventory purchasing centrally with authority required from our central office 

before orders may be placed. 

     During 2005, we purchased substantially all of our concession supplies, except for beverage supplies, as well as janitorial supplies from 

Showtime Concession. We are a significant customer of Showtime Concession. Our current agreement with Showtime Concession will expire 

on December 8, 2006 and we expect to renew the contract on similar terms. If this relationship was disrupted, we could be forced to negotiate a 

number of substitute arrangements with alternative vendors which are likely to be, in the aggregate, less favorable to us than the current 

arrangement. 

     During 2005, we purchased most of our beverage supplies from The Coca-Cola Company. Our current agreement with The Coca-Cola 

Company will expire on December 31, 2008. Under the agreement, The Coca-Cola Company may raise beverage supply costs and, in fact, 

increased such costs by 3.7% beginning January 1, 2005 through December 31, 2005. A similar cost increase of 3.7% was implemented for 

January 1, 2006 through December 31, 2006. As a result of the GKC theatre acquisition, we assumed their Pepsi-Cola contract to provide 

beverage supplies to the remaining 29 GKC theatres. The Pepsi-Cola contract will also expire on December 31, 2008. Pepsi-Cola beverage 

supplies will be made available to us at our GKC theatres at its national account pricing in effect from time to time during the contract term. 

      Other revenues. Most of our theatres include electronic video games located in or adjacent to the lobby. We also generate revenues through 

on-screen advertising on all of our screens. We operate two family entertainment centers under the name Hollywood Connection ® which 

feature multiplex theatres and other forms of family entertainment. These revenue streams comprised the remaining 2.9% of our revenue 

generation for the year ended December 31, 2005. 

      Film Licensing 

     We obtain licenses to exhibit films by directly negotiating with film distributors. We license films through our booking office located in 

Columbus, Georgia. Our Vice President — Film, in consultation with our Chief Executive Officer, directs our motion picture bookings. Prior to 

negotiating for a film license, our Vice President — Film and film-booking personnel evaluate the prospects for 
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upcoming films. The criteria considered for each film include cast, director, plot, performance of similar films, estimated film rental costs and 

expected Motion Picture Association of America (―MPAA‖) rating. Because we only license a portion of newly released first-run films, our 

success in licensing depends greatly upon the availability of commercially popular motion pictures, but also upon our knowledge of the 

preferences of patrons in our markets and insight into trends in those preferences. We maintain a database that includes revenue information on 

films previously exhibited in our markets. We use this historical information to match new films with particular markets so as to maximize 

revenues. 

     The table below depicts the industry’s top 10 films for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to our top 10 films for the same period, 

based on reported gross receipts: 
                  
    Industry           Carmike Cinemas 
1.   Star Wars     1.     Star Wars 
2.   Harry Potter: The Goblet of Fire     2.     Harry Potter: The Goblet of Fire 
3.   Chronicles of Narnia     3.     Chronicles of Narnia 
4.   War of the Worlds     4.     War of the Worlds 
5.   King Kong     5.     Madagascar 
6.   Wedding Crashers     6.     Wedding Crashers 
7.   Charlie and the Chocolate Factory     7.     Charlie and the Chocolate Factory 
8   Batman Begins     8     The Longest Yard 
9.   Madagascar     9.     Hitch 
10.   Mr. & Mrs. Smith     10.     Mr. & Mrs. Smith 

Film Rental Fees 

     We typically enter into licenses that provide for rental fees based on either ―firm terms‖ established prior to the opening of the picture or on 

a mutually agreed ―settlement‖ upon the conclusion of the film run. Under a firm terms formula, we pay the distributor a specified percentage 

of the box office receipts, and this percentage declines over the term of the run. Firm term film rental fees are generally the greater of (1) 60 to 

70% of gross box office receipts, gradually declining to as low as 30% over a period of four to seven weeks or (2) a specified percentage (e.g., 

90%) of the excess gross box office receipts over a negotiated allowance for theatre expenses (commonly known as a ―90-10‖ arrangement). 

The settlement process allows for negotiation based upon how a film actually performs. A firm terms agreement could result in lower than 

anticipated film rent if the film outperforms expectations especially with respect to the film’s run and, conversely, there is a downside risk 

when the film underperforms. Many of our distributors award aggregate percentage terms for the run of the film. Under such an agreement, a 

set percentage is paid for the entire run of the film with no adjustments for ―90-10s.‖ This provides an advantage for the exhibitors when a 

picture has a short run life, where under a firm term arrangement film rent would be higher. Conversely, the exhibitor is at risk of higher film 

rent costs when the film has a longer run life and firm term arrangements would provide for lower film rent. 

Film Licensing Zones 

     Film licensing zones are geographic areas established by film distributors where any given film is allocated to only one theatre within that 

area. In our markets, these zones generally encompass three to five miles. In film licensing zones where we have little or no competition, we 

obtain film licenses by selecting a film from among those offered and negotiating directly with the distributor. In competitive film licensing 

zones, a distributor will allocate its films among the exhibitors in the zone. When films are licensed under the allocation process, a distributor 

will choose which exhibitor is offered a movie and then that exhibitor will negotiate film rental terms directly with the distributor for the film. 

Relationship With Distributors 

     We depend on, among other things, the quality, quantity, availability and acceptance by movie-going customers of the motion pictures 

produced by the motion picture production companies and licensed for exhibition to the motion picture exhibitors by distribution companies. 

Disruption in the production of motion pictures by the major studios and/or independent producers or poor performance of motion pictures 

could have an adverse effect on our business. 

     While there are numerous distributors that provide quality first-run movies to the motion picture exhibition industry, the following ten major 

distributors accounted for approximately 91.0% of our box office admissions for the year ended December 31, 2005: Buena Vista, 

DreamWorks, Fox, MGM/UA, Miramax, New Line Cinema, Paramount, Sony, Universal, and Warner Brothers. 
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Digital Cinema 

     We executed a Master License Agreement with Christie/AIX (―Christie‖) on December 16, 2005. This agreement calls for Christie to 

license and install up to 2,300 digital cinema projection systems in our theatre auditoriums at a per screen installation cost of $800. The term of 

the agreement is from the date of installation in a specific auditorium until December 31, 2020 unless renewed for successive one year periods 

for up to ten years. The installation costs will be accounted for as prepaid rent and will be subsequently amortized into rent expense over the 

fifteen year life of the initial arrangement. We are responsible for the maintenance of the installed equipment for which we have entered into a 

service agreement with an affiliate of Christie at an annual per screen cost of $2,250. We intend to expense these costs as they are incurred. 

     The digital cinema projection systems will be installed in any given theatre for the minimum number of screens required to enable more 

than 50% of the screens at such theatre. Christie will be permitted to install digital cinema projections systems such that by October 31, 2007, 

100% of the screens in a given theatre will have been converted to the digital cinema projection system. 

     We believe the implementation of digital cinema projection will allow us not only greater flexibility in showing feature films, but will also 

provide us with the capability to explore revenue enhancing alternative content programming. Digital film content can be easily moved to and 

from auditoriums in our theatres to maximize attendance. The superior quality of digital cinema could provide a competitive advantage to us in 

markets where we compete for film and patrons. 

Management Information Systems 

     We have developed a proprietary computer system, which we call IQ-Zero, that is installed in each of our theatres. IQ-Zero allows us to 

centralize most theatre-level administrative functions at our corporate headquarters, creating significant operating leverage. IQ-Zero allows 

corporate management to monitor ticket and concession sales and box office and concession staffing on a daily basis, enabling our theatre 

managers to focus on the day-to-day operations of the theatre. 

     In addition, it also coordinates payroll, tracks theatre invoices and generates operating reports analyzing film performance and theatre 

profitability. IQ-Zero also generates information we use to quickly detect theft. IQ-2000 is an enhanced version of the IQ-Zero system and has 

been installed in our theatres built since 1999. We expect to have the substantial majority of our theatres converted to the IQ-2000 platform by 

the end of 2008. IQ-2000 facilitates new services such as advanced ticket sales and Internet ticket sales. Its expanded capacity allows for future 

growth and more detailed data tracking and trend analysis. There is active communication between the theatres and corporate headquarters, 

which allows our senior management to react to vital profit and staffing information on a daily basis and perform the majority of the 

theatre-level administrative functions. 

Competition 

     The motion picture exhibition industry is fragmented and highly competitive. In markets where we are not the sole exhibitor, we compete 

against regional and independent operators as well as the larger theatre circuit operators. 

     Our operations are subject to varying degrees of competition with respect to film licensing, attracting customers, obtaining new theatre sites 

or acquiring theatre circuits. In those areas where real estate is readily available, there are few barriers preventing competing companies from 

opening theatres near one of our existing theatres, which may have a material adverse effect on our theatres. Competitors have built or are 

planning to build theatres in certain areas in which we operate, which have resulted and may continue to result in excess capacity in such areas 

which adversely affects attendance and pricing at our theatres in such areas. 

     From the mid- to late-1990s, industry screen count grew faster than attendance. As a result of this rapid overbuilding, the total number of 

screens reached 37,396 in 2000, according to the MPAA. When the economics of many of these theatres became unsustainable, most major 

exhibitors, ourselves included, were required to restructure and to close underperforming locations. After reaching a low of approximately 

35,200 screens, the industry has grown back to 37,688 screens as of December 31, 2005. 

     The opening of large multiplexes and theatres with stadium seating by us and certain of our competitors has tended to, and is expected to 

continue to, draw audiences away from certain older and smaller theatres, including theatres operated by us. In addition, demographic changes 

and competitive pressures can lead to a theatre location becoming impaired. 
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     In addition to competition with other motion picture exhibitors, our theatres face competition from a number of alternative motion picture 

exhibition delivery systems, such as cable television, satellite and pay-per-view services and home video systems. The expansion of such 

delivery systems could have a material adverse effect upon our business and results of operations. We also compete for the public’s leisure time 

and disposable income with all forms of entertainment, including sporting events, concerts, live theatre and restaurants. 

Regulatory Environment 

     The distribution of motion pictures is in large part regulated by federal and state antitrust laws and has been the subject of numerous 

antitrust cases. Certain consent decrees resulting from such cases bind certain major motion picture distributors and require the motion pictures 

of such distributors to be offered and licensed to exhibitors, including us, on a theatre-by-theatre basis. Consequently, exhibitors such as our 

company cannot assure themselves of a supply of motion pictures by entering into long-term arrangements with major distributors but must 

compete for licenses on a film-by-film and theatre-by-theatre basis. 

     The Americans with Disabilities Act (―ADA‖), which became effective in 1992, and certain state statutes and local ordinances, among other 

things, require that places of public accommodation, including theatres (both existing and newly constructed), be accessible to patrons with 

disabilities. The ADA requires that theatres be constructed to permit persons with disabilities full use of a theatre and its facilities. Also, the 

ADA may require certain modifications be made to existing theatres in order to make them accessible to patrons and employees who are 

disabled. For example, we are aware of several lawsuits that have been filed against other exhibitors by disabled moviegoers alleging that 

certain stadium seating designs violate the ADA. 

     Our theatre operations are also subject to federal, state and local laws governing such matters as construction, renovation and operation of 

our theatres as well as wages, working conditions, citizenship, and health and sanitation requirements and licensing. We believe that our 

theatres are in material compliance with such requirements. 

     We own, manage and/or operate theatres and other properties which may be subject to certain U.S. federal, state and local laws and 

regulations relating to environmental protection, including those governing past or present releases of hazardous substances. Certain of these 

laws and regulations may impose joint and several liability on certain statutory classes of persons for the costs of investigation or remediation 

of such contamination, regardless of fault or the legality of original disposal. These persons include the present or former owner or operator of 

a contaminated property and companies that generated, disposed of or arranged for the disposal of hazardous substances found at the property. 

Other environmental laws, such as those regulating wetlands, may affect our site development activities, and some environmental laws, such as 

those regulating the use of fuel tanks, could affect our ongoing operations. Additionally, in the course of maintaining and renovating our 

theatres and other properties, we periodically encounter asbestos containing materials that must be handled and disposed of in accordance with 

federal, state and local laws, regulations and ordinances. Such laws may impose liability for release of asbestos containing materials and may 

entitle third parties to seek recovery from owners or operators of real properties for personal injury associated with asbestos containing 

materials. We believe that our activities are in material compliance with such requirements. 

Employees 

     As of December 31, 2005, we had approximately 7,908 employees, of which 20 were covered by collective bargaining agreements and 

7,314 were part-time. As of December 31, 2005, approximately 41% of our hourly employees were paid at the federal minimum wage and 

accordingly, the minimum wage largely determines our labor costs for those employees. We believe we are more dependent upon minimum 

wage employees than most other motion picture exhibitors. Although our ability to secure employees at the minimum wage in our smaller 

markets is advantageous to us because it lowers our labor costs, we are also more likely than other exhibitors to be immediately and adversely 

affected if the minimum wage is raised. 

Legal Proceedings 

     From time to time, we are involved in routine litigation and legal proceedings in the ordinary course of our business, such as personal injury 

claims, employment matters, contractual disputes and claims alleging ADA violations. We have no pending litigation or proceedings that we 

believe will have a material adverse effect, either individually or in the aggregate, upon us. 
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Trademarks and Trade-Names 

     We own or have rights to trademarks or trade-names that are used in conjunction with the operations of our theatres. We own Carmike 

Cinemas® and Hollywood Connection®, the Carmike C® and its film strip design, and Wynnsong Cinemas® trademarks. In addition, our logo 

is our trademark. Coca-Cola® and Pepsi-Cola® are registered trademarks used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and are owned by and 

belong to The Coca-Cola Company and The Pepsi-Cola Company, respectively. 

Website Access 

     Our website address is www.carmike.com. You may obtain free electronic copies of our Annual Report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on 

Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to those reports, at our website under the heading ―Investor Relations, Securities 

and Exchange Commission Filings.‖ 

     These reports are available on our website as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material, or furnish it to, the 

Securities and Exchange Commission (the ―SEC‖). 

Our Reorganization 

     On August 8, 2000, we and our subsidiaries Eastwynn Theatres, Inc., Wooden Nickel Pub, Inc. and Military Services, Inc. filed voluntary 

petitions for relief under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code. On January 4, 2002, the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of 

Delaware entered an order confirming our Amended Joint Plan of Reorganization Under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code, dated as of 

November 14, 2001. The plan of reorganization became effective on January 31, 2002. 

     In our reorganization, substantially all of our unsecured and partially secured liabilities as of August 8, 2000, were subject to compromise or 

other treatment until the plan of reorganization was confirmed by the Bankruptcy Court. Generally, actions to enforce or otherwise effect 

repayment of all pre-Chapter 11 liabilities as well as all pending litigation against us were stayed while we continued our business operations as 

debtors-in-possession. 

     On February 11, 2005, we filed a motion seeking an order entering a final decree closing the bankruptcy cases. On March 15, 2005, the 

United States Bankruptcy Court of the District of Delaware entered a final decree closing the bankruptcy cases. 

     Our reorganization resulted from a sequence of events and the unforeseen effect that these events had in the aggregate on us. Weak film 

performance during the summer of 2000 contributed to our lower revenues for that summer, which were significantly below our internal 

projections. Like our competitors, we had increased our costs by expending significant funds in building megaplexes and in making 

improvements to existing theatres in order to attract and accommodate larger audiences. Consequently, the effect of poor summer returns was 

substantial on our efforts to comply with the financial covenants under our then $200 million revolving credit facility and $75 million term loan 

credit agreement, which we sometimes refer to as the pre-reorganization bank facilities. On June 30, 2000, we were in default of certain 

financial covenants contained in the pre-reorganization bank facilities and were unable to negotiate amendments with the lenders to resolve 

these compliance issues, as we had been able to do in the past. On July 28, 2000, the agents under the pre-reorganization bank facilities issued a 

payment blockage notice to us and the indenture trustee for our 9 3/8% senior subordinated notes due 2009, prohibiting our payment of the 

semi-annual interest payment in the amount of $9.4 million due to the noteholders on August 1, 2000. Faced with, among other things, 

significant operating shortfalls, unavailability of credit and problems dealing with our lenders, we voluntarily filed for bankruptcy in order to 

continue our business. 

     In the course of our reorganization, we rejected leases on 136 underperforming theatres and also negotiated modifications to our leases on 

35 additional theatres. In addition, we converted $45.7 million of debt and $55.0 million of preferred stock into an aggregate of 67.8% of our 

common stock. The holders of our cancelled Class A and Class B common stock received in the aggregate 22.2% of our common stock under 

the plan of reorganization. These actions decreased our ongoing interest obligations. We also agreed to pay, over a five-year period, the claims 

of our general unsecured creditors allowed or otherwise undisputed in the bankruptcy case in connection with our reorganization, plus interest 

at an annual rate of 9.4%. In conjunction with the closure of the bankruptcy cases on March 15, 2005, we settled all remaining disputed claims 

and reversed all accrued bankruptcy-related professional fees. 

10 

 
 



Table of Contents 

 

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS 

     The risk factors set forth below are applicable to us. You should carefully consider the following risks in evaluating us and our operations. 

The occurrence of any of the following risks could materially adversely affect, among other things, our business, financial condition and results 

of operations. 

Our business will be adversely affected if there is a decline in the number of motion pictures available for screening or in the appeal of 

motion pictures to our patrons. 

     Our business depends to a substantial degree on the availability of suitable motion pictures for screening in our theatres and the appeal of 

such motion pictures to patrons in our specific theatre markets. Our results of operations will vary from period to period based upon the number 

and popularity of the motion pictures we show in our theatres. A disruption in the production of motion pictures by, or a reduction in the 

marketing efforts of, the major studios and/or independent producers, a lack of motion pictures, the poor performance of motion pictures in 

general or the failure of motion pictures to attract the patrons in our theatre markets will likely adversely affect our business and results of 

operations. 

Our substantial lease and debt obligations could impair our financial flexibility and our competitive position. 

     We now have, and will continue to have, significant debt obligations. Our long-term debt obligations consist of the following: 
 
  •   term loans in the aggregate amount of $321.4 million outstanding as of June 30, 2006; 
   
  •   a revolving credit facility providing for borrowings of up to $50.0 million, of which no amounts were outstanding as of June 30, 

2006; and 
   
  •   financing obligations of $214.0 million as of December 31, 2005 inclusive of interest but net of $57.8 million which is expected to be 

settled through non-cash consideration consisting of property subject to financing obligations. 

     We also have, and will continue to have, significant lease obligations. As of December 31, 2005, our total capital and operating lease 

obligations with terms over one year totaled $511.8 million. 

     These obligations could have important consequences for us. For example, they could: 
 
  •   limit our ability to obtain necessary financing in the future and make it more difficult for us to satisfy our lease and debt obligations; 
   
  •   require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow to payments on our lease and debt obligations, thereby reducing the 

availability of our cash flow to fund working capital, capital expenditures and other corporate requirements; 
   
  •   make us more vulnerable to a downturn in our business and limit our flexibility to plan for, or react to, changes in our business; and 
   
  •   place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to competitors that might have stronger balance sheets or better access to capital by, 

for example, limiting our ability to enter into new markets or renovate our theatres. 

     If we are unable to meet our lease and debt obligations, we could be forced to restructure or refinance our obligations, to seek additional 

equity financing or to sell assets, which we may not be able to do on satisfactory terms or at all. As a result, we could default on those 

obligations. 

Our common stock is currently listed for quotation on the Nasdaq National Market. If we were unable to maintain our listing on the 

Nasdaq National Market, it may be more difficult for our stockholders to sell our stock in the public market. 

     On March 31, 2006, we announced that we had received a notice from the Nasdaq Listing Qualifications staff indicating that because 

Nasdaq had not received our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, we were no longer in compliance with Nasdaq Marketplace 

Rule 4310(c)(14). As a result, our common stock became subject to delisting from Nasdaq. Further, on May 22, 
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2006, we announced that we had received a notice from the staff stating that because we have not filed our Form 10-Q for the period ended 

March 31, 2006, we were in further noncompliance with Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 4310(c)(14). On April 27, 2006 a hearing was held before 

the Nasdaq Listing Qualifications Panel regarding our appeal of Nasdaq’s determination to delist our common stock. On May 24, 2006, we 

received a notice from Nasdaq indicating that the panel had determined to grant our request for continued listing on Nasdaq. The panel’s 

determination of continued listing was conditioned upon the filing of this Form 10-K, and all required restatements, and upon the filing of our 

Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2006 on or before July 27, 2006. At the time we determined that we would be unable to make each 

of these required filings by the July 27, 2006 deadline, we requested that the panel provide a further extension of the filing deadline to August 

22, 2006. On July 31, 2006, we received a notice from Nasdaq indicating that the panel had determined to grant our request for continued 

listing on Nasdaq. The panel’s determination of continued listing is conditioned upon the filing of this Form 10-K, all required restatements, 

and our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2006 by no later than August 22, 2006. In addition, if we meet this extended deadline, the 

panel also agreed to consider a brief extension of time to allow us to file our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2006. 

     If we are unable to continue to maintain our listing on the Nasdaq National Market it may become more difficult for our stockholders to sell 

our stock in the public market and the price of our common stock may be adversely affected because of the anticipated decreased liquidity. If 

our common stock were delisted, it would not be eligible for listing on another stock exchange until we became current in our SEC reports. 

Also, our stock would not be eligible for quotation on the OTC Bulletin Board (the Over-The-Counter-Market) until we had publicly available 

financial statements as of a date within six months of a possible quote. Should our stock be delisted from the Nasdaq National Market, it may 

continue to be quoted on the National Quotation Service Bureau (the ―Pink Sheets‖); however, its liquidity may be adversely affected, as well 

as the price at which it is traded, as a result of quotation in the Pink Sheets. A delisting from the Nasdaq National Market and a drop in the 

price of our stock would also subject our securities to so-called penny stock rules that impose additional sales practice and market-making 

requirements on broker-dealers who sell or make a market in such securities. Finally, removal from the Nasdaq National Market could affect 

the ability or willingness of broker-dealers to sell or make a market in our common stock and the ability of purchasers of our common stock to 

sell their securities in the secondary market. 

We may not generate sufficient cash flow to meet our needs. 

     Our ability to service our indebtedness and to fund potential acquisitions and capital expenditures for theatre construction, expansion or 

renovation will require a significant amount of cash, which depends on many factors beyond our control. Our ability to make scheduled 

payments of principal, to pay the interest on or to refinance our indebtedness is subject to general industry economic, financial, competitive, 

legislative, regulatory and other factors that are beyond our control. We cannot assure you that our business will generate sufficient cash flow 

from operations to meet our needs. 

Our business is subject to significant competitive pressures. 

     Large multiplex theatres, which we and some of our competitors built, have tended to and are expected to continue to draw audiences away 

from certain older theatres, including some of our theatres. In addition, demographic changes and competitive pressures can lead to the 

impairment of a theatre. Over the last several years, we and many of our competitors have closed a number of theatres. Our competitors or 

smaller entrepreneurial developers may purchase or lease these abandoned buildings and reopen them as theatres in competition with us. 

     We face varying degrees of competition from other motion picture exhibitors with respect to licensing films, attracting customers, obtaining 

new theatre sites and acquiring theatre circuits. In those areas where real estate is readily available, there are few barriers preventing competing 

companies from opening theatres near one of our existing theatres. Competitors have built and are planning to build theatres in certain areas in 

which we operate. In the past, these developments have resulted and may continue to result in excess capacity in those areas, adversely 

affecting attendance and pricing at our theatres in those areas. Even where we are the only exhibitor in a film licensing zone (and therefore do 

not compete for films), we still may experience competition for patrons from theatres in neighboring zones. There have also been a number of 

consolidations in the film exhibition industry, and the impact of these consolidations could have an adverse effect on our business if greater 

size would give larger operators an advantage in negotiating licensing terms. 

     Our theatres also compete with a number of other motion picture delivery systems including cable television, pay-per-view, video disks and 

cassettes, satellite and home video systems. New technologies for motion picture delivery (such as video on demand) could also have a material 

adverse effect on our business and results of operations. While the impact of these alternative types of motion picture delivery systems on the 

motion picture exhibition industry is difficult to determine precisely, there is a risk that they could adversely affect attendance at motion 

pictures shown in theatres. 
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     Our ability to attract patrons is also affected by the DVD release window, which is the time between the release of a film for play in theatres 

and when the film is available on DVD for general public sale or rental. The release window has been narrowing over the past several years and 

is currently averaging approximately 18 weeks. If the release window continues to shorten, it will impact our ability to attract patrons to our 

theatres. 

     Theatres also face competition from a variety of other forms of entertainment competing for the public’s leisure time and disposable income, 

including sporting events, concerts, live theatre and restaurants. 

Our revenues vary significantly depending upon the timing of the motion picture releases by distributors. 

     Our business is seasonal, with higher revenues generated during the summer months and year-end holiday season. While motion picture 

distributors have begun to release major motion pictures more evenly throughout the year, the most marketable motion pictures are usually 

released during the summer months and the year-end holiday season, and we usually earn more during those periods than in other periods 

during the year. As a result, the timing of motion picture releases affects our results of operations, which may vary significantly from quarter to 

quarter and year to year. 

If we do not comply with the covenants in our credit agreements or otherwise default under them, we may not have the funds necessary to 

pay all our amounts that could become due. 

     On February 4, 2004, we completed an offering of $150 million of 7.50% senior subordinated notes due 2014 to institutional investors, and 

on May 19, 2005 we entered into senior secured credit facilities consisting of a $50 million revolving credit facility, a $170 million seven-year 

term loan and a $185 million delayed-draw term loan. On June 6, 2006, we drew down $156 million on this delayed-draw term loan to repay 

our outstanding 7.50% senior subordinated notes, all accrued and unpaid interest thereon and certain other fees and expenses related thereto. 

The rate on the $156 million delayed-draw term loan was 10.25% at June 6, 2006; on June 8, 2006, we converted the rate to a 90-day 

LIBOR-based rate, which was 8.52%. The 7.50% senior subordinated notes are no longer outstanding and the related indenture is no longer in 

effect. The undrawn portion of the delayed-draw term loan terminated upon the funding of such $156 million. 

     As described below under ―Subsequent Event of Default‖, we had not submitted audited financial statements for the year ended 

December 31, 2005 by the 65th day following the end of the previous fiscal year nor had we submitted unaudited financial statements for the 

three month period ended March 31, 2006 by the 40th day following the end of such three month period as required by the covenants contained 

in our senior secured credit facility. Therefore, we entered into a series of amendments to our senior secured credit agreement extending the 

date by which we were to submit audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2005 and unaudited financial statements for the 

three month period ended March 31, 2006. Finally, effective July 27, 2006, we entered into a fifth amendment to our senior secured credit 

agreement with our lenders, which included (i) an extension of the deadline for the delivery of our audited financial statements for the year 

ended December 31, 2005 until September 30, 2006; (ii) an extension of the deadline for delivery of our unaudited financial statements for the 

quarter ended March 31, 2006 until September 30, 2006; and (iii) an extension of the deadline for delivery of our unaudited financial 

statements for the quarters ended June 30, 2006 and September 30, 2006 until December 31, 2006. The series of amendments also provide for 

waivers of certain defaults under the credit agreement, including the default resulting from our 7.50% senior subordinated notes being 

accelerated. 

     The fifth amendment provides that until we have delivered to the lenders the audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 

2005 and the unaudited financial statements for the quarter ended March 31, 2006, the maximum principal amount of indebtedness that we may 

incur under the $50 million revolving credit facility comprising part of the senior secured credit agreement is $10 million. In addition, the 

maximum principal amount of indebtedness that we may incur under the revolving credit facility will continue to be limited to $10 million if 

we are unable to deliver our unaudited financial statements for the quarter ended June 30, 2006 by August 14, 2006 or if we are unable to 

deliver our unaudited financial statements for the quarter ended September 30, 2006 by November 14, 2006, until such time as these unaudited 

financial statements are delivered. 

     We intend to make all required filings as required by our lenders; however, our failure to make such filings or our failure to obtain any 

future waivers or amendments to the senior secured credit agreement may result in an event of default under the senior secured credit facilities, 

in which case, the administrative agent may, and if requested by the lenders holding a certain minimum percentage of the commitments shall, 

terminate the revolving credit facility and may declare all or any portion of the obligations under the revolving credit facility and the term loan 

facilities due and payable. 
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We may be unable to fund our additional capital needs. 

     Our access to capital may be limited because of our current leverage. In addition, because of our bankruptcy, we may have difficulty 

obtaining financing for new development on terms that we find attractive. Traditional sources of financing new theatres through landlords may 

be unavailable for a number of years. 

     The opening of large multiplexes by our competitors and the opening of newer theatres with stadium seating in certain of our markets have 

led us to reassess a number of our theatre locations to determine whether to renovate or to dispose of underperforming locations. Further 

advances in theatre design may also require us to make substantial capital expenditures in the future or to close older theatres that cannot be 

economically renovated in order to compete with new developments in theatre design. 

     In addition, we cannot assure you that our business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations, that currently anticipated revenue 

growth will be realized or that future capital will be available for us to fund our capital expenditure needs. 

We may be limited in our ability to utilize, or may not be able to utilize, net operating loss carryforwards to reduce our future tax liability. 

     As of December 31, 2005, after utilizing approximately $6.6 million of operating loss carryforwards for 2005, we had approximately 

$85.7 million of federal and state operating loss carryforwards with which to offset our future taxable income. The federal and state net 

operating loss carryforwards will begin to expire in the year 2020. 

     The determination of whether we underwent an ownership change for purposes of Section 382 as a result of the issuance of common stock 

pursuant to our plan of reorganization (the ―Plan Stock Issuance‖) is subject to a number of highly complex legal issues and factual 

uncertainties. In our federal income tax return for 2002, we reported the Plan Stock Issuance as causing a Section 382 ownership change, 

although the matter is not free from doubt and arguments can be advanced to support the contrary position. Based on our reported tax 

treatment, we believe that the special exception in Section 382(l)(5) available to debtors in bankruptcy applied, so that our net operating loss 

carryforwards did not become subject to a Section 382 limitation as a result of the Plan Stock Issuance. If, however, we underwent a second 

ownership change within two years following our date of reorganization — that is, by January 31, 2004 — and assuming that the Plan Stock 

Issuance caused an ownership change, our net operating losses would have become subject to a Section 382 limitation of zero and their future 

use effectively would have been eliminated. The sale of shares in the offering of August 2004, caused us to undergo an ―ownership change‖ 

within the meaning of Section 382 (g) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. The ownership change will subject our net operating 

loss carryforwards to an annual limitation on their use, which will restrict our ability to use them to offset our taxable income in periods 

following the ownership change. In general, the annual use limitation equals the aggregate value of our stock at the time of the ownership 

change multiplied by a specified tax-exempt interest rate, and is further increased by certain ―built-in gains‖ recognized during the five-year 

period following the ownership change. Such limitation is projected to be $26.9 million per year for the first five years and will decrease to 

approximately $15 million per year thereafter. 

Deterioration in our relationships with any of the major film distributors could adversely affect our access to commercially successful films 

and could adversely affect our business and results of operations. 

     Our business depends to a significant degree on maintaining good relationships with the major film distributors that license films to our 

theatres. Deterioration in our relationships with any of the major film distributors could adversely affect our access to commercially successful 

films and adversely affect our business and results of operations. We suffered such deterioration for a period of time while we were in 

bankruptcy. When we commenced our bankruptcy, several film distributors ceased supplying us with new film product in light of their claims 

against us for exhibition fees aggregating approximately $37.2 million. Those film distributors recommenced supplying us with new film 

product upon our agreeing to pay their claims in full, which we did in 17 weekly installments ending on December 26, 2000. 

     Because the distribution of motion pictures is in large part regulated by federal and state antitrust laws and has been the subject of numerous 

antitrust cases, we cannot ensure a supply of motion pictures by entering into long-term arrangements with major distributors. Rather, we must 

compete for licenses on a film-by-film and theatre-by-theatre basis and are required to negotiate licenses for each film and for each theatre 

individually. 
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Our success depends on our ability to retain key personnel. 

     We believe that our success is due in part to our experienced management team. We depend in large part on the continued contribution of 

our senior management and, in particular, Michael W. Patrick, our President and Chief Executive Officer. Losing the services of one or more 

members of our senior management could adversely affect our business and results of operations. We entered into a five-year employment 

agreement with Michael W. Patrick as Chief Executive Officer on January 31, 2002, the term of which extends for one year each December 31, 

provided that neither we nor Mr. Patrick chooses not to extend the agreement. 

We face uncertainties related to digital cinema. 

     Digital cinema is in the early implementation stage in the motion picture exhibition industry. There are multiple parties competing to be the 

leading manufacturer of digital cinema technology. Digital projectors and related equipment require substantial investment in re-equipping 

theatres. As discussed under the heading ―Digital Cinema,‖ we have entered into a contract to convert the majority of our theatres to digital 

cinema. If the contract we have in place cannot be performed by the vendor, we may have to raise additional capital to finance the conversion 

costs associated with the digital conversion. The additional capital necessary may not, however, be available to us on terms we deem 

acceptable. 

A prolonged economic downturn could materially affect our business by reducing amounts consumers spend on attending movies. 

     Our business depends on consumers voluntarily spending discretionary funds on leisure activities. Movie theatre attendance may be affected 

by prolonged negative trends in the general economy that adversely affect consumer spending. Any reduction in consumer confidence or 

disposable income in general may affect the demand for movies or severely impact the motion picture production industry such that our 

business and operations could be adversely affected. 

Compliance with the ADA could require us to incur significant capital expenditures and litigation costs in the future. 

     The ADA and certain state statutes and local ordinances, among other things, require that places of public accommodation, including both 

existing and newly constructed theatres, be accessible to customers with disabilities. The ADA requires that theatres be constructed to permit 

persons with disabilities full use of a theatre and its facilities. The ADA may also require that certain modifications be made to existing theatres 

in order to make them accessible to patrons and employees who are disabled. We are subject to a settlement agreement arising from a 

complaint filed with the U.S. Department of Justice concerning theatres operated by us in Des Moines, Iowa. As a result of the settlement 

agreement, we removed barriers to accessibility at two Des Moines theatres and distributed to all of our theatre managers a questionnaire 

designed to assist our central management in identifying existing and potential barriers and determining what steps might be available for 

removal of such existing and potential barriers. 

     We are aware of several lawsuits that have been filed against other motion picture exhibitors by disabled moviegoers alleging that certain 

stadium seating designs violated the ADA. If we fail to comply with the ADA, remedies could include imposition of injunctive relief, fines, 

awards for damages to private litigants and additional capital expenditures to remedy non-compliance. Imposition of significant fines, damage 

awards or capital expenditures to cure non-compliance could adversely affect our business and operating results. 

We are subject to other federal, state and local laws which limit the manner in which we may conduct our business. 

     Our theatre operations are subject to federal, state and local laws governing matters such as construction, renovation and operation of our 

theatres as well as wages, working conditions, citizenship and health and sanitation requirements and licensing. While we believe that our 

theatres are in material compliance with these requirements, we cannot predict the extent to which any future laws or regulations that regulate 

employment matters will impact our operations. At December 31, 2005, approximately 41% of our hourly employees were paid at the federal 

minimum wage and, accordingly, the minimum wage largely determines our labor costs for those employees. Increases in the minimum wage 

will increase our labor costs. 

Disruption of our relationship with our primary concession suppliers could harm our margins on concessions. 

     We purchase substantially all of our concession supplies, except for beverage supplies, as well as janitorial supplies from Showtime 

Concession Supply, Inc., and we are by far its largest customer. In return for our concession supplies, we pay Showtime Concession at 

contractual prices that are based on the type of concession supplied. Our current agreement with Showtime Concession will expire on 

December 8, 2006. While we expect to renew this agreement on favorable terms, if this relationship was disrupted, we 
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could be forced to negotiate a number of substitute arrangements with alternative vendors which are likely to be, in the aggregate, less 

favorable to us than the current arrangement. 

     We purchase the majority of our beverage supplies from The Coca-Cola Company. On January 1, 2004 we entered into a new agreement 

with The Coca-Cola Company. Under the agreement, The Coca-Cola Company may raise beverage supply costs by 3% to 5% annually 

beginning January 1, 2004 through the term of the agreement. As a result of the GKC theatre acquisition, we assumed their Pepsi-Cola contract 

to provide beverage supplies to the remaining 29 GKC theatres. If beverage supply costs are increased at a higher rate or we are unable to 

negotiate favorable terms with either The Coca-Cola Company or the Pepsi-Cola Company when these agreements are up for renewal, our 

margins on concessions may be negatively impacted. 

Our development of new theatres poses a number of risks. 

     We plan to continue to expand our operations through the development of new theatres and the expansion of existing theatres. However, we 

anticipate our development activities in 2006 will be limited to four theatres. Developing new theatres poses a number of risks. Construction of 

new theatres may result in cost overruns, delays or unanticipated expenses related to zoning or tax laws. Desirable sites for new theatres may be 

unavailable or expensive, and the markets in which new theatres are located may deteriorate over time. Additionally, the market potential of 

new theatre sites cannot be precisely determined, and our theatres may face competition in new markets from unexpected sources. Newly 

constructed theatres may not perform up to our expectations. 

     We face significant competition for potential theatre locations and for opportunities to acquire existing theatres and theatre circuits. Because 

of this competition, we may be unable to add to our theatre circuit on terms we consider acceptable. 

If we determine that assets are impaired, we will be required to recognize a charge to earnings. 

     The opening of large multiplexes and theatres with stadium seating by us and certain of our competitors has tended to, and is expected to 

continue to, draw audiences away from certain older theatres, including some of our theatres. In addition, demographic changes and 

competitive pressures can lead to the impairment of a theatre. Whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 

of an asset or a group of assets may not be recoverable, we review those assets to be held and used in the business for impairment of long-lived 

assets and goodwill. We also periodically review and monitor our internal management reports and the competition in our markets for 

indicators of impairment of individual theatres. If we determine that assets are impaired, we are required to recognize a charge to earnings. 

     We had impairment charges in each of the last five fiscal years totaling $121.0 million. Our impairment charge recognized for 2001 was 

significantly larger than in prior years due to the write-off of leasehold improvements on rejected theatres, the impact of closing owned 

theatres, the diminished value of our entertainment centers, changes in competition in some of our markets and the write-down of surplus 

equipment removed from closed theatres. Additionally, in 2001 we included equipment in the theatre valuation calculations based on the 

reduced capital building program in the future as well as the excess supply of equipment in inventory. For fiscal years 2005, 2004 and 2003, 

our impairment charges were $2.5 million, $.9 million and $1.1 million, respectively. Through December 31, 2005, we believe we have 

properly tested for impairments. There can be no assurance that we will not take additional charges in the future related to the impairment of 

our assets. 

If we fail to remediate our system of disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting, we may not be able 

to accurately report our financial results in a timely manner. 

     Our chief executive officer and chief financial officer performed an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our 

disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the 

―Exchange Act‖)), as of December 31, 2005 and concluded that they were not effective as a result of material weaknesses identified in our 

internal control over financial reporting. A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, that results in more than a 

remote likelihood that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected. Specifically, we 

did not ensure the completeness and accuracy of supporting schedules and underlying data for routine journal entries and journal entries 

recorded as part of our period-end closing and consolidation process. In addition, we did not accurately account for certain lease transactions 

nor did we maintain a sufficient complement of personnel with appropriate skills, training and Company-specific experience in the selection, 

application and implementation of generally accepted accounting principles commensurate with our financial reporting requirements. See 

Part II, Item 9A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more detailed information concerning these material weaknesses. 

16 

 
 



Table of Contents 

 

     These material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting contributed to the restatements to our previously issued 

consolidated financial statements as of January 1, 2003, for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 and for the three month periods 

ended March 31, June 30 and September 30, 2005. We cannot be certain that any remedial measures we take will ensure that we implement and 

maintain adequate controls over our financial processes and reporting in the future. Any failure to implement new or improved controls or 

difficulties encountered in their implementation could cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations. In particular, if the material 

weaknesses described above are not remediated, they could result in a material misstatement to our annual or interim consolidated and 

combined financial statements in future periods that would not be prevented or detected. 

Our growth strategy includes acquisitions. We may not be able to identify suitable acquisition candidates, complete acquisitions or integrate 

acquisitions successfully. 

     We may acquire theatres and/or theatre circuits in order to expand into new markets and to enhance our position in existing markets 

nationally. We cannot assure you, however, that we will be able to successfully identify suitable candidates, negotiate appropriate acquisition 

terms, obtain necessary financing on acceptable terms, complete proposed acquisitions, successfully integrate acquired businesses and theatres 

into our existing operations or expand into new markets. Once integrated, acquired operations and theatres may not achieve levels of revenues, 

profitability or productivity comparable with those achieved by our existing operations, or otherwise perform as expected. In addition, future 

acquisitions may also result in potentially dilutive issuances of equity securities. We cannot assure you that difficulties encountered with 

acquisitions will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. 

Our business makes us vulnerable to future fears of terrorism. 

     If future terrorist incidents or threats cause our customers to avoid crowded settings such as theatres, our attendance would be adversely 

affected. 

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that make it more difficult to effect a change in control of the Company. 

     Certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and the Delaware General Corporation Law could have the effect of 

delaying, deterring or preventing a change in control of the Company not approved by the Board of Directors, even if the change in control 

were in the stockholders’ interests. Under our certificate of incorporation, our Board of Directors has the authority to issue up to one million 

shares of preferred stock and to determine the price, rights, preferences and privileges of those shares without any further vote or action by our 

stockholders. The rights of the holders of common stock will be subject to, and may be adversely affected by, the rights of the holders of any 

preferred stock that may be issued in the future. While we have no present intention to issue shares of preferred stock, an issuance of preferred 

stock in the future could have the effect of making it more difficult for a third party to acquire a majority of our outstanding voting stock. In 

addition, our bylaws provide that a special meeting of the stockholders of the Company may only be called by the Chairman, President or 

Secretary, at the request in writing of a majority of our Board of Directors or at the request in writing of stockholders owning at least 66 2/3% 

of our capital stock then issued and outstanding and entitled to vote. 

     Further, we are subject to the anti-takeover provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which prohibits us from 

engaging in a ―business combination‖ with an ―interested stockholder‖ for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in which the 

person became an interested stockholder, unless the business combination is approved in a prescribed manner. The application of Section 203 

could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control that could be advantageous to the stockholders. 

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS. 

     None. 

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES. 

     As of December 31, 2005, we owned 85 of our theatres and leased 214 of our theatres. We operated an additional two theatres under shared 

ownership. A list of our theatres, by state, is included above under ―Business — Overview.‖ 

17 

 
 



Table of Contents 

 

     We typically enter into long-term leases that provide for the payment of fixed monthly rentals, contingent rentals based on a percentage of 

revenue over a specified amount and the payment of property taxes, common area maintenance, insurance and repairs. We, at our option, can 

renew a substantial portion of our theatre leases at the then fair rental rate for various periods with renewal periods of up to 20 years. 

     We own our headquarters building, which has approximately 48,500 square feet, as well as a closed theatre that we have converted to 

additional office space and a records retention center. Both of these facilities are located in Columbus, Georgia. 

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS. 

     From time to time, we are involved in routine litigation and legal proceedings in the ordinary course of our business, such as personal injury 

claims, employment matters, contractual disputes and claims alleging ADA violations. Currently, we do not have any pending litigation or 

proceedings that we believe will have a material adverse effect, either individually or in the aggregate, upon us. 

     On September 16, 2004, the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (―EEOC‖) filed a lawsuit against us in the U.S. District Court, 

E.D., North Carolina, alleging that seven named claimants and ―other similarly situated male employees‖ were sexually harassed by a male 

supervisor who worked at the Carmike 15 Theater in Raleigh, North Carolina from February 2003 until his termination in mid-October 2003. 

We learned, only after this alleged harasser had stopped working for us, that he had a criminal record relating to indecent liberties with a minor. 

In its lawsuit, the EEOC sought injunctive and monetary relief, including compensatory and punitive damages and costs. We filed an answer 

and defenses to the EEOC’s complaint on November 15, 2004. On November 4, 2004, a motion to intervene was filed on behalf of five 

claimants and family members/guardians of five other claimants. The proposed complaint submitted with the motion to intervene included 

claims under state and federal law, including claims of negligent hiring, promotion, and retention, negligent training and supervision, assault, 

intentional and negligent infliction of emotional distress, sexual harassment, and retaliation/constructive discharge. In the proposed complaint, 

the intervenors sought injunctive and monetary relief, including compensatory and punitive damages, attorneys’ fees, and costs. The motion to 

intervene was granted on November 23, 2004 and the intervenors served their complaint on December 9, 2004. We timely answered the 

intervenors’ complaint on January 14, 2005. Thereafter, an eleventh claimant moved to intervene. His motion to intervene was granted on 

March 28, 2005 and he served a complaint (substantially similar to the other intervenors’ complaints) on April 19, 2005. We established a 

$1.0 million litigation reserve in calendar year 2004. The parties resolved the case following mediation on July 29, 2005, and agreed to a 

settlement of $765 thousand. The settlement was paid at the end of September 2005 and the case was dismissed with prejudice subject to a 

consent decree. 

     On August 8, 2000, we and our subsidiaries Eastwynn Theatres, Inc., Wooden Nickel Pub, Inc. and Military Services, Inc. filed voluntary 

petitions for relief under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware. On January 4, 

2002, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order confirming our Amended Joint Plan of Reorganization under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code 

(the ―Plan‖), dated as of November 14, 2001. The Plan became effective on January 31, 2002. On February 11, 2005, we filed a motion seeking 

an order entering a final decree closing the bankruptcy cases. On March 15, 2005, the United States Bankruptcy Court of the District of 

Delaware entered a final decree closing the bankruptcy cases. 

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS. 

     There were no matters submitted to a vote of security holders during the last quarter of the year ended December 31, 2005. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT 

     The following sets forth certain information as of May 31, 2006 regarding our executive officers. For purposes of this section, references to 

Carmike include Carmike’s predecessor, Martin Theatres, Inc. 
              
Name   Age   Title 
Michael W. Patrick     56     President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors 
Fred W. Van Noy     49     Senior Vice President, Chief Operating Officer and Director 
Richard B. Hare     39     Senior Vice President — Finance, Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer 
Anthony J. Rhead     65     Senior Vice President — Entertainment/ Digital Cinema 
Lee Champion     55     Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary 
H. Madison Shirley     54     Senior Vice President — Concessions and Assistant Secretary 
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Name   Age   Title 
Gary F. Krannacker     43     Vice President — General Manager Theatre Operations 
Larry B. Collins     59     Vice President — Film 
Jeffrey A. Cole     46     Assistant Vice President, Controller, and Chief Accounting Officer 

      Michael W. Patrick, 56, has served as President of Carmike since October 1981, director since April 1982, Chief Executive Officer since 

March 1989 and Chairman of the Board of Directors since January 2002. Mr. Patrick also currently serves as a member of the Board of 

Directors’ Executive Committee. Mr. Patrick joined Carmike in 1970 and served in a number of operational and film booking and buying 

capacities prior to becoming President. Mr. Patrick serves as a director of the Will Rogers Institute, and he is a member of the Board of 

Trustees of Columbus State University Foundation, Inc. 

      Fred W. Van Noy , 49, has served as a director since December 2004. Mr. Van Noy joined us in 1975. He served as a District Manager 

from 1984 to 1985 and as Western Division Manager from 1985 to 1988, when he became Vice President — General Manager. In 

December 1997, he was elected to the position of Senior Vice President — Operations. In November 2000, he became Senior Vice President 

— Chief Operating Officer. 

      Richard B. Hare , 39, joined us as Senior Vice President — Finance, Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer effective March 31, 2006. 

Mr. Hare served as Chief Accounting Officer and Controller for Greenfuels Holding Company, LLC, an energy development and management 

services company, and its affiliates from August 2002 to March 2006. From October 2000 until June 2002, Mr. Hare served as Assistant 

Treasurer for Sanmina-SCI Corporation, a manufacturer of electronic components. From 1997 until October 2000, Mr. Hare served as 

Treasurer of Wolverine Tube, Inc., a manufacturer of copper and copper alloy products. Mr. Hare, a Certified Public Accountant, began his 

career in 1989 at Coopers & Lybrand, a public accounting firm. 

      Anthony J. Rhead, 65, joined us in June 1981 as manager of the booking office in Charlotte, North Carolina. In July 1983, Mr. Rhead 

became Vice President — Film, in December 1997 he became Senior Vice President — Film, and in October 2005 he became Senior Vice 

President — Entertainment/Digital Cinema. Prior to joining us, he worked as a film booker for Plitt Theatres, Inc. from 1973 to 1981. 

      Lee Champion, 55, rejoined us as Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary in September 2005. Mr. Champion had 

previously served in the same capacity from January 1, 1998 to December 31, 2001. From January 2002 until his return to Carmike, he was a 

partner at Page, Scrantom, Sprouse, Tucker and Ford in Columbus, Georgia. From 1975 until 1998, he was a partner in the law firm of 

Champion & Champion, Columbus, Georgia. 

      H. Madison Shirley , 54, joined us in 1977 as a theatre manager. He served as a District Manager from 1983 to 1987 and as Director of 

Concessions from 1987 until 1990. He became Vice President — Concessions in 1990 and Senior Vice President — Concessions and Assistant 

Secretary in December 1997. 

      Gary F. Krannacker , 43, joined us in May 1994 as City Manager, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. He served as Regional Manager from 

October 1995 until February 1998, and as Mid-Western Division Manager from 1998 until April 2003. He became General Manager of Theatre 

Operations in April 2003, and on July 1, 2004, he became Vice President and General Manager of Theatre Operations. 

      Larry B. Collins, 59, joined us in April 1994 and was a film buyer for the Northeast and Midwest Regions from November 1994 until 

October 2005. In October 2005, he became Vice President — Film. Prior to joining Carmike, Mr. Collins was Vice President, Film Department 

for Cinema World Theatres in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. Mr. Collins was with Cinema World and Cinemette Theatres in Pittsburgh for 

15 years. 

      Jeffrey A. Cole, 46, joined us in December 2005 as Assistant Vice President, Controller, and Chief Accounting Officer. Prior to joining us, 

Mr. Cole served as the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of George Kerasotes Corporation (GKC Theatres) from July 1995 

until May 2005. Prior to joining George Kerasotes Corporation, he served as the Chief Financial Officer — Controller of a bank holding 

company in Springfield, Illinois. 
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PART II 
 
ITE

M 5. 
  MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER 

PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES. 

     Our common stock is currently traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol ―CKEC.‖ The last reported sale price of the 

common stock on May 31, 2006 was $21.13 per share. The table below sets forth the high and low closing prices of our common stock from 

January 1, 2004 through December 31, 2005: 
                  
2005   High   Low 
Fourth Quarter   $ 27.24     $ 21.80   
Third Quarter     30.95       21.65   
Second Quarter     37.44       30.68   
First Quarter     37.28       34.00   
                  
2004   High   Low 
Fourth Quarter   $ 39.01     $ 34.90   
Third Quarter     39.00       32.68   
Second Quarter     41.84       33.80   
First Quarter     38.95       31.29   

     As of May 31, 2006, there were approximately 281 record holders of our common stock and there were no shares of any other class of stock 

issued and outstanding. 

     During fiscal year 2005, we did not make any sales of unregistered equity securities. 

     Beginning the second quarter of 2004, our Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend of $0.175 per share. We intend to pay quarterly 

dividends for the foreseeable future at our board’s discretion, subject to many considerations, including limitations imposed by covenants in 

our credit facilities, operating results, capital requirements and other factors. See Item 7, ―Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 

Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources — Material Credit Agreements and Covenant Compliance.‖ 

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA. 

     The consolidated selected historical financial and other data below should be read in conjunction with ―Item 7. Management’s Discussion 

and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations‖ and with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto. The selected 

historical financial and other data for each of the three fiscal years in the period ended December 31, 2005 are derived from our audited 

consolidated financial statements. See Note 1 of our notes to our audited annual consolidated financial statements with respect to our 

restatement of prior period amounts. The restatement adjustments described in Note 1 have also been applied to the selected historical financial 

and other data for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2002, respectively. However, because our consolidated financial statements for 

those years were audited by a predecessor independent registered public accounting firm, and the restatement adjustments have not been 

subjected to separate audits, the selected historical financial and other data for those two years are presented as unaudited. 

     During the period from August 8, 2000 through January 31, 2002, we operated as a debtor-in-possession under Chapter 11 of the 

Bankruptcy Code. Our results of operations during the reorganization period were significantly affected by the bankruptcy proceeding and are 

therefore not comparable in all respects with our results for other periods. In addition, the per share data for all periods prior to 2002 reflect the 

shares of our previously outstanding classes of common stock, which were cancelled when our reorganization became effective. The results 

from those periods are not comparable to the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, 2003 and 2002, which are based on a different number of 

shares of our new class of common stock issued when the reorganization became effective. 
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    For the Year Ended December 31,   
    2001(1)(2)     2002(1)(2)     2003(2)     2004(2)     2005(2)   
    (unaudited)     (unaudited)     (restated)     (restated)           
    (restated)     (restated)                           
    (in millions, except per share and operating data)           
Statement of Operations Data:                                         
Revenues:                                         

Admissions   $ 311.8     $ 342.8     $ 332.1     $ 331.5     $ 309.4   
Concessions and other (3)     145.1       163.6       161.0       163.8       159.5   

                                
Total revenues (3)     456.9       506.4       493.1       495.3       468.9   

Costs and expenses:                                         
Film exhibition costs     171.2       188.7       180.4       174.7       168.3   
Concession costs     20.2       19.2       18.0       16.9       16.4   
Other theatre operating costs     177.9       175.1       175.4       178.0       186.0   
General and administrative expenses     8.8       15.0       15.4       19.2       19.8   
Depreciation and amortization (4)     43.0       33.5       32.5       33.8       37.2   
Gain on sales of property and equipment 

and termination of capital lease (3)     —       (0.7 )     (3.0 )     (2.4 )     (2.6 ) 
Impairment of long-lived assets (5)     116.5       (0.3 )     1.1       0.9       2.5   
                                

Total costs and expenses     537.6       430.5       419.8       421.1       427.6   
                                
Operating income (loss)     (80.7 )     76.0       73.3       74.2       41.3   

Interest expense     12.8       110.1       47.5       30.1       35.3   
Loss (gain) on extinguishment of debt     (1.9 )     —       —       9.3       5.8   

                                
Income (loss) before reorganization costs and 

income taxes     (91.6 )     (34.1 )     25.8       34.8       0.2   
Reorganization (costs) benefit     (19.5 )     (20.5 )     4.1       12.4       2.4   
                                
Income (loss) before income taxes and 

cumulative effect of change in accounting 

principle(10)     (111.1 )     (54.6 )     29.9       47.2       2.6   
Income tax expense (benefit) (8)     —       (14.7 )     (77.7 )     19.3       2.3   
                                
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of 

change in accounting principle (10)     (111.1 )     (39.9 )     107.6       27.9       0.3   
Cumulative effect of change in accounting 

principle (9)     —       —       —       —       (0.1 ) 
                                
Net income (loss)   $ (111.1 )   $ (39.9 )   $ 107.6     $ 27.9     $ 0.2   

                                
Weighted average common shares outstanding 

(in thousands):                                         
Basic     11,344       9,195       8,991       11,704       12,194   
Diluted     11,344       9,195       9,448       12,480       12,704   

Earnings (loss) per common share:                                         
Basic   $ (9.80 )   $ (4.34 )   $ 11.97     $ 2.39     $ 0.01   
Diluted   $ (9.80 )   $ (4.34 )   $ 11.39     $ 2.24     $ 0.01   

                                
Dividends declared     —       —       —     $ 0.53     $ 0.70   
Balance Sheet Data:                                         
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 94.2     $ 53.5     $ 41.2     $ 56.9     $ 23.6   
Property and equipment, net (5)     481.0       465.6       448.3       467.7       569.9   
Total assets     651.7       583.8       635.2       651.8       738.1   
Total debt (6)     79.0       442.1       403.4       342.9       432.0   
Liabilities subject to compromise     508.1       37.4       21.5       1.3       —   
Accumulated deficit     (155.6 )     (195.5 )     (87.8 )     (59.9 )     (59.7 ) 
Total stockholders’ equity   $ 3.7     $ 13.0     $ 126.7     $ 243.1     $ 232.7   
Other Financial Data:                                         
Net cash provided by operating activities   $ 49.2     $ 18.1     $ 53.1     $ 50.6     $ 42.9   



Net cash used in investing activities     (1.0 )     (14.6 )     (14.2 )     (43.7 )     (146.5 ) 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing 

activities     (6.6 )     (44.2 )     (51.1 )     8.8       70.3   
Capital expenditures   $ 9.2     $ 18.1     $ 20.9     $ 47.0     $ 87.6   
Operating Data:                                         
Theatres at period end (7)     323       308       299       282       301   
Screens at period end (7)     2,333       2,262       2,253       2,188       2,475   
Average screens in operation     2,386       2,274       2,252       2,207       2,383   
Average screens per theatre     7.2       7.3       7.5       7.8       8.2   
Total attendance (in thousands)     64,621       69,997       67,189       63,260       57,866   
Average ticket price   $ 4.83     $ 4.90     $ 4.93     $ 5.17     $ 5.36   
Average concession sales per patron   $ 2.10     $ 2.17     $ 2.18     $ 2.33     $ 2.52   
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(1)   See Notes 2, 3 and 4 of the notes to our audited annual consolidated financial statements with respect to 

our bankruptcy and financial reporting in accordance with Statement of Position 90-7. See Note 3 of the 

notes to our audited annual consolidated financial statements with respect to reorganization costs incurred 

while in bankruptcy. 
   
(2)   See Note 1 of the notes to our audited annual consolidated financial statements with respect to our 

restatement of prior period amounts. 
   
(3)   Gain on sales of property and equipment for the year ended December 31, 2002 as filed with the SEC, was 

previously reported in concessions and other revenues. It has been reclassified in the foregoing table. 
   
(4)   Goodwill amortization of $1.5 million is included for the year ended December 31, 2001. 
   
(5)   See Notes 3 and 6 of the notes to our audited annual consolidated financial statements with respect to 

impairments of long-lived assets and restructuring charges. 
   
(6)   Includes current maturities of long-term indebtedness, capital lease obligations and long-term trade 

payables; excludes long-term trade payables and liabilities subject to compromise. 
   
(7)   These amounts exclude theatres which we closed upon approval of the Bankruptcy Court as follows: 17 

theatres and 81 screens through December 31, 2001 and an additional eight theatres and 44 screens 

through December 31, 2002. 
   
(8)   For the period ended December 31, 2003, we determined that it is more likely than not that certain deferred 

tax assets would be realized in the future and accordingly, it was appropriate to release the valuation 

allowance of $83.9 million resulting in the recognition of a tax benefit of $77.7 million. 
   
(9)   See the caption ―Recent Accounting Pronouncements‖ in Note 2 of the notes to our audited annual 

consolidated financial statements with respect to our adoption of FIN 47, ―Accounting for Conditional 

Asset Retirement Obligations.‖ 
   
(10)   Due to rounding, certain amounts do not total properly. 
    
ITE

M 7. 
  MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS. 

Restatements 

     During the second quarter of 2006, we determined that it was necessary to restate our previously issued financial statements for each of the 

years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, and each of the quarters ended March 31, June 30 and September 30, 2005 to correct for errors in 

the financial statements related to our failure to properly account for certain lease related transactions and other matters. The following errors in 

the application of generally accepted accounting principles to lease transactions have been corrected: 
 
  •   Where separation of the ground lease and building lease elements of a theatre lease were required pursuant to the provisions of 

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (―SFAS‖) No. 13, Accounting for Leases (―SFAS 13‖), we had utilized a pro rata 

method to fragment leases into building and land elements. The land lease should have been determined by applying an appropriate 

incremental borrowing rate to the fair value of the land with the remaining lease payments being applied to the lease of the building. 
   
  •   For purposes of determining whether the lease is a capital lease because the present value of the minimum lease payments exceeds 

90% of the fair value of the leased property, we used an incorrect incremental borrowing rate. Similarly, to the extent the lease was 

determined to be a capital lease, the same incorrect rate was utilized to record the capital lease obligation. 
   
  •   For certain leases, we incorrectly utilized a period exceeding the term of the lease for purposes of amortizing leasehold improvements 

or capital lease assets. Adjustments were recorded to reflect the amounts computed using the correct lease term. 
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  •   We did not properly re-assess lease classification upon modification of the terms of certain leases. Accordingly, in some cases, the 

classification of the leases may have been incorrectly recorded in the financial statements and/or amounts related to the capital leases 

were not correctly adjusted for such modification. 
   
  •   We did not correctly account for certain build-to-suit arrangements in which, for financial reporting purposes, we were considered the 

owner of these assets during the construction period. Upon completion of the construction projects, we determined that we were 

unable to meet the requirements for sale-leaseback treatment; accordingly, project costs funded by the landlord should have been 

recorded as financing obligations. 
   
  •   We incorrectly capitalized interest on payments we made for construction of lessor-owned assets under lease arrangements in which 

we were not considered the owner of the project for financial reporting purposes. Additionally, for one build-to-suit construction 

project, we utilized an incorrect interest rate for purposes of capitalizing interest, and incorrectly capitalized interest over periods in 

which construction activity had been deferred for reasons other than normal construction delays. 
   
  •   We included contingent payments under lease arrangements classified as capital leases or financing obligations as rent expense, rather 

than interest expense. 
   
  •   We did not revise deferred rental liability calculations to reflect modifications of the terms of certain operating leases. 
   
  •   We incorrectly reported the cost of our contribution to lessor assets through the funding of project costs as leasehold improvements, 

rather than as building costs, assets under capital lease or prepaid rent, as appropriate under each arrangement. 

     In addition, we did not ensure the completeness and accuracy of supporting schedules and underlying data for routine journal entries and 

journal entries recorded as part of our period-end closing and consolidation process. As a result, during 2005, we incorrectly recorded journal 

entries regarding directors fees, discount ticket and other revenue, capitalized interest, and accrued expenses. During 2004, we incorrectly 

recorded journal entries regarding other revenue and accrued expenses. These errors impact the quarterly results of operations presented in 

Note 18. 

     The financial statements, notes thereto and related disclosures contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K as of December 31, 2004 and 

for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 (and for each of the four quarters in 2004 and the first three quarters of 2005) have been 

restated to adjust for the errors noted above. These restatements reflect a $14.8 million increase to accumulated deficit at January 1, 2003 as 

well as adjustments to net property plant and equipment, capital leases, financing obligations, other assets, deferred expenses and accrued 

expenses. 

     The effect of the restatements on earnings per common share was as follows: 
                  
    Basic     Diluted   
2003   $ 0.40     $ 0.39   
2004   $ (0.04 )   $ (0.04 ) 

     The following discussion of our financial condition and operating results should be read in conjunction with ―Item 6. Selected Financial 

Data‖ and our audited annual consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. 

Results of Operations 

Financial Reporting During Reorganization 

     In connection with our bankruptcy proceedings, we were required to report in accordance with American Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants Statement of Position 90-7, Financial Reporting by Entities in Reorganization under the Bankruptcy Code, (―SOP 90-7‖). SOP 

90-7 requires, among other things, (i) that pre-petition liabilities that are subject to compromise be segregated in our consolidated balance sheet 

as liabilities subject to compromise and (ii) the identification of all transactions and events that are directly associated with our reorganization 

in the consolidated statement of operations. 
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Seasonality 

     Typically, movie studios release films with the highest expected revenues during the summer and the holiday period between Thanksgiving 

and Christmas, causing seasonal fluctuations in revenues. However, movie studios are increasingly introducing more popular film titles 

throughout the year. In addition, in years where Christmas falls on a weekend day, our revenues are typically lower because our patrons 

generally have shorter holiday periods away from work or school. 

Revenues 

     We derive almost all of our revenues from box office admissions and concession sales. We recognize admissions revenues when movie 

tickets are sold at the box office, and concession sales revenues when the products are sold in the theatre. Admissions and concession sales 

revenues depend primarily upon attendance, ticket price and the price and volume of concession sales. Our attendance is affected by the quality 

and timing of movie releases and our ability to obtain films that appeal to patrons in our markets. We record proceeds from the sale of gift 

cards and other advanced sale-type certificates in current liabilities and recognize admission and concession revenue when a holder redeems a 

gift card or other advanced sale-type certificate. We recognize unredeemed gift cards and other advanced sale-type certificates upon expiration. 

Expenses 

     Film exhibition costs vary according to box office admissions and are accrued based on the specified splits of receipts in firm term 

agreements with movie distributors. The agreements usually provide for a decreasing percentage of box office admissions to be paid to the 

movie studio over the first few weeks of the movie’s run, subject to a floor for later weeks. Where firm terms do not apply, film exhibition 

costs are accrued based on the expected success of the film over a thirty to sixty day period and estimates of the final settlement with the movie 

studio. Settlements between us and the movie studios are completed four to six weeks after the movie’s run. 

     Concession costs of sales are incurred as products are sold. We purchase substantially all of our beverage supplies from The Coca-Cola 

Company and the Pepsi-Cola Company. We purchase substantially all of our other concession supplies from a single vendor, Showtime 

Concession, of which we are the principal customer. 

     Other theatre operating costs include labor, utilities and occupancy, and facility lease expenses. Labor costs have both a variable and fixed 

cost component. During non-peak periods, a minimum number of staff is required to operate a theatre facility. However, to handle attendance 

volume increases, theatre staffing is increased during peak periods and thus salaries and wages vary in relation to revenues. Utilities, repairs 

and maintenance services also have variable and fixed costs components. Our occupancy expenses and property taxes are primarily fixed costs, 

as we are generally required to pay applicable taxes, insurance and fixed minimum rent. In addition, several of our theatre leases contain 

provisions for contingent rent whereby a portion of our rent expense is based on an agreed upon percentage of revenue exceeding a specified 

level. In these theatres, rental expenses vary directly with changes in revenue. 

     Our general and administrative expenses include costs not specific to theatre operations, and are composed primarily of corporate overhead. 

Net Operating Losses 

     As of December 31, 2005, after utilizing approximately $6.6 million of operating loss carryforwards for 2005, we had approximately 

$85.7 million of federal and state operating loss carryforwards with which to offset our future taxable income. The federal and state net 

operating loss carryforwards will begin to expire in the year 2020. 

     We are limited in using our net operating losses. Such limitation is projected to be $26.9 million per year for the first five years (beginning 

2004) and will decrease to approximately $15 million per year thereafter. 

     Our ability to utilize such net operating losses is also subject to certain uncertainties regarding the application of Section 382 of the Internal 

Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, to prior changes in ownership of the Company, including the change resulting from our reorganization in 

January 2002 and the change resulting from our sale of shares in connection with the offering of August 2004. See ―Risk Factors — We may be 

limited in our ability to utilize, or may not be able to utilize, net operating loss carryforwards to reduce our future tax liability‖ for more 

information regarding these uncertainties. 
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      Operating Statement Information 

     The following table sets forth for the periods indicated the percentage of total revenues represented by certain items reflected in our 

consolidated statements of operations: 
                          
    For the Year Ended 
    December 31, 
    2005   2004   2003 
            (restated)   (restated) 
Revenues:                         

Admissions     66.0 %     66.9 %     67.3 % 
Concessions and other     34.0       33.1       32.7   
                          

Total revenues     100.0       100.0       100.0   
Costs and expenses:                         

Film exhibition costs (1)(2)     54.4       52.7       54.3   
Concessions costs (2)     10.3       10.3       11.2   
Other theatre operating costs     39.7       35.9       35.6   
General and administrative expenses     4.2       3.9       3.1   
Depreciation and amortization     7.9       6.8       6.6   
Gain on sales of property and equipment and termination of capital lease     (0.6 )     (0.5 )     (0.6 ) 
Impairment of long-lived assets     0.5       0.2       0.2   
                          

Total costs and expenses     91.2       85.0       85.1   
                          

Operating income     8.8       15.0       14.9   
Interest expense     7.5       6.1       9.6   
Loss on extinguishment of debt     1.2       1.9       —   
                          

Income before reorganization benefit, income taxes, and cumulative effect of change in 

accounting principle     0.1       7.0       5.3   
Reorganization benefit     0.5       2.5       0.8   
                          

Income before income taxes and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle     0.6       9.5       6.1   
Income tax expense (benefit)     0.5       3.9       (15.7 ) 
                          

Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle     —       5.6       21.8   
                          
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle     —       —       —   
                          

Net income available for common stockholders     — %     5.6 %     21.8 % 

                          

  
(1)   Film exhibition costs include advertising expenses net of co-op reimbursements. 
   
(2)   All costs are expressed as a percentage of total revenues, except film exhibition costs, which are expressed as a 

percentage of admissions revenues, and concession costs, which are expressed as a percentage of concession 

and other revenues. 
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Year Ended December 31, 2005 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2004 

      Revenues . 

     We collect substantially all of our revenues from the sale of admission tickets and concessions. The table below provides a comparative 

summary of the operating data for this revenue generation. 
                  
    For Years ended December 31, 
    2005(1)   2004 
Average theatres     299       288   
Average screens     2,383       2,207   
Average attendance per screen     24,283       28,661   
Average ticket price   $ 5.35     $ 5.17   
Average concession sales per patron   $ 2.52     $ 2.33   
Total attendance (in thousands)     57,866       63,260   
Total revenues (in thousands)   $ 468,894     $ 495,337   

  
(1)   Includes 30 theatres and 263 screens acquired in connection with our acquisition of GKC Theatres. 

     Total revenues of $468.9 million decreased 5.3% for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to revenues of $495.3 million for the 

year ended December 31, 2004, due to decreased revenues from admissions, concessions, and other revenues. Total revenues for 2005 include 

$32.6 million revenues attributable to GKC Theatres. Admissions decreased 6.7% to $309.4 million in 2005 from $331.5 million in 2004 due 

to an 8.5% decrease in overall attendance partially offset by a 3.7% increase in average ticket price. This decrease occurred largely over the 

summer months due to the lack of successful family focused films that are critical to our ability to attract patrons. Concessions and other 

revenue decreased 2.7% to $159.5 million in 2005 from $163.9 million in 2004 due to the decrease in attendance somewhat offset by an 8.2% 

increase in concession sales per patron and a $0.7 million decrease in other revenues. Concessions and other revenues for 2005 include $10.9 

million in concession and other revenues attributable to GKC Theatres. Other revenues consist of game machine revenue, screen advertising, 

family entertainment center revenue and other miscellaneous items. Due to lower year-over-year revenues coupled with the 8.5% decrease in 

total attendance, our revenues per average screen decreased 14.0% from $224,439 to $196,766. 

     We operated 301 theatres with 2,475 screens at December 31, 2005 and 282 theatres with 2,188 screens at December 31, 2004. 

      Cost of operations . 

The table below summarizes operating expense data for the periods presented. 
                          
    For Years ended December 31, 
                    % Variance 
                    Favorable 
(in thousands)   2005   2004   (Unfavorable) 
            (restated)         
Film exhibition costs   $ 168,251     $ 174,693       3.7 % 
Concession costs   $ 16,379     $ 16,881       3.0 % 
Other theatre operating costs   $ 185,978     $ 178,025       (4.5 %) 
General and administrative expenses   $ 19,819     $ 19,301       (2.7 %) 
Depreciation and amortization   $ 37,214     $ 33,765       (10.2 %) 
Gain on sales of property and equipment and termination of capital lease   $ 2,599     $ 2,412       7.8 % 
Impairment of long-lived assets   $ 2,527     $ 892       (183.3 %) 
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     Film exhibition costs fluctuate in direct relation to the increases and decreases in admissions revenue and the mix of aggregate and term film 

deals. Film exhibition costs for the year ended December 31, 2005 decreased to $168.3 million as compared to $174.7 million for the year 

ended December 31, 2004, due to the drop in admission revenue. Film exhibition costs for 2005 includes $11.9 million attributable to GKC 

Theatres. As a percentage of admissions revenue, film exhibition costs were 54.4% for the year ended December 31, 2005, as compared to 

52.6% for the year ended December 31, 2004. This percentage increase is the result of more aggregate film terms in 2005 versus 2004 offset by 

the impact of the lower film rent paid on ―The Passion of the Christ‖ in 2004. 

     Concessions costs fluctuate with changes in concessions revenue, sales mix and changes in our cost of goods sold. Concession costs for the 

year ended December 31, 2005 decreased to $16.4 million as compared to $16.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. Concession 

costs for 2005 includes $1.2 million attributable to GKC Theatres. As a percentage of concessions and other revenues, concession costs were 

10.3% for the year ended December 31, 2005 and 2004. 

     Other theatre operating costs for the year ended December 31, 2005 increased to $186.0 million due to overall increases in utilities, repairs, 

and rental expenses compared to $178.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. Other theatre operating expenses for 2005 includes 

$12.4 million attributable to GKC Theatres. These increases were related to the opening of eight new theatres and four re-opened theaters in 

2005, as well as theatres acquired through the GKC Theatres purchase. 

     General and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2005 increased slightly to $19.8 million compared to $19.3 million 

for the year ended December 31, 2004 due to overall increases in other expenses, including primarily salaries and wages, benefits and 

professional fees. General and administrative expenses for 2005 includes $0.5 million attributable to GKC Theatres. 

     Depreciation and amortization expenses for the year ended December 31, 2005 increased 10.2% compared to the year ended December 31, 

2004. This increase reflects the effect of purchases of fixed assets related to the opening of 10 new theatres in 2005, as well as the acquisition 

of the GKC Theatres assets, improvements and expansions relating to existing theatres and routine capital expenditures at existing theatres. 

     Gain on sales of property and equipment for the year ended December 31, 2005 increased $187,000 compared to the year ended 

December 31, 2004. Additionally, we sold three previously closed theatres during the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to two theatres 

and two parcels of land during the year ended December 31, 2004. 

     Impairment of long-lived assets for the year ended December 31, 2005 increased $1.6 million compared to the year ended December 31, 

2004 primarily because of reductions in estimated theatre cash flows due to the impact of new or increased competition on certain older, 

auditorium-style theatres, negative evaluation of the operating results produced from theatres previously converted to discount theatres, or our 

inability to improve a marginal theatre’s operating results to a level that would support the carrying value of the long-lived assets. 

      Operating Income. Operating income for the year ended December 31, 2005 decreased 44.4% to $41.3 million compared to $74.2 million 

for the year ended December 31, 2004. As a percentage of revenues, the operating income for the year ended December 31, 2005 was 8.8% 

compared to 15.0% for the year ended December 31, 2004. 

      Interest expense . Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2005 increased 17.3% to $35.3 million from $30.1 million for the year 

ended December 31, 2004. The increase is directly related to indebtedness obtained through our debt refinancing related to the acquisition of 

the GKC theatre circuit and rising interest rates. The interest on our term loan floats with changes in the Eurodollar base rate which was 2.57% 

at the beginning of 2005 and 4.57% at year end. 

      Loss on extinguishment of debt. On May 19, 2005, we refinanced a portion of our debt in conjunction with the acquisition of the GKC 

theatre circuit. This refinancing resulted in the write-off of $5.8 million of deferred loan fees and the recognition of prepayment penalties 

related to our prior revolving credit facility and term loan. 

      Reorganization costs . Reorganization costs for the year ended December 31, 2005 consisted of a credit of $2.4 million, compared to a 

credit of $12.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. These credits are the result of changes in estimates on liabilities subject to 

compromise, partially offset by professional and other expenses. On February 11, 2005, we filed a motion seeking an order entering a final 

decree closing the bankruptcy cases. On March 15, 2005, the United States Bankruptcy Court of the District of Delaware entered a final decree 

closing the bankruptcy cases. 
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      Income tax expense . We recognized an income tax expense of $2.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, representing a 

combined federal and state income tax rate of 92.6%, compared to income tax expense of $19.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, 

representing a combined federal and state income tax rate of 40.8%. The effective tax rate has increased due to the relationship of 

nondeductible items, principally related to executive compensation, to pre-tax book income. 

Year Ended December 31, 2004 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2003 

      Revenues . 

     We collect substantially all of our revenues from the sales of admission tickets and concessions. The table below provides a comparative 

summary of the operating data for this revenue generation. 
                  
    For Years ended December 31, 
    2004   2003 
Average theatres     288       303   
Average screens     2,207       2,252   
Average attendance per screen     28,661       29,830   
Average ticket price   $ 5.17     $ 4.93   
Average concession sales per patron   $ 2.33     $ 2.18   
Total attendance (in thousands)     63,260       67,189   
Total revenues (in thousands)   $ 495,337     $ 493,085   

     Total revenues increased 0.5% for the year ended December 31, 2004 compared to the year ended December 31, 2003 due to increased 

revenues from concessions and other revenues, partially offset by decreased admission sales. Admissions decreased 0.2% to $331.5 million in 

2004 from $332.1 million in 2003 due to a 5.8% decrease in total attendance partially offset by a 4.9% increase in average ticket price. 

Concessions and other revenue increased 1.7% to $163.8 million in 2004 from $161.0 million in 2003 due to a 6.9% increase in concession 

sales per patron and a $1.2 million increase in other revenues. Other revenues consist of game machine revenue, screen advertising, family 

entertainment center revenue and other miscellaneous items. Due to higher year-over-year total revenues and lower screen count, our revenues 

per average screen increased 2.4% to $224,439 from $218,954. 

     We operated 282 theatres with 2,188 screens at December 31, 2004 and 299 theatres with 2,253 screens at December 31, 2003. 

      Cost of operations . 

     The table below summarizes operating expense data for the periods presented. 
                          
    For Years ended December 31, 
                    % Variance 
                    Favorable 
(in thousands)   2004   2003   (Unfavorable) 
    (restated)   (restated)         
Film exhibition costs   $ 174,693     $ 180,403       3.2 % 
Concession costs   $ 16,881     $ 17,985       6.1 % 
Other theatre operating costs   $ 178,025     $ 175,413       (1.5 %) 
General and administrative expenses   $ 19,301     $ 15,336       (25.9 %) 
Depreciation and amortization   $ 33,765     $ 32,505       (3.9 %) 
Gain on sales of property and equipment and termination of capital lease   $ 2,412     $ 3,023       (20.2 %) 
Impairment of long-lived assets   $ 892     $ 1,148       22.3 % 

     Film exhibition costs fluctuate in direct relation to the increases and decreases in admissions revenue. Film exhibition costs for the year 

ended December 31, 2004 declined 3.2% to $174.7 million from $180.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 due to the drop in 

admission revenue, as well as a higher percentage of aggregate percentage deals which lowered overall film rent expenses. One such aggregate 

arrangement was ―The Passion of the Christ‖ which accounted for $19.5 million of admission revenue at an aggregate film rent of 52.0%. 

Aggregate arrangements fix the film rent percentage as opposed to typical graduated scale contracts. 
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Aggregate percentage deals on short-run films tend to have an overall lower percentage cost for the film. As a percentage of admissions 

revenue, film exhibition costs were 52.6% for the year ended December 31, 2004, as compared to 54.3% for the year ended December 31, 

2003. 

     Concessions costs fluctuate with the changes in concessions revenue, sales mix and changes in our costs of goods sold. As a percentage of 

concessions and other revenues, concession costs were 10.3% for the year ended December 31, 2004 as compared to 11.2% for the year ended 

December 31, 2003. This reduction was due to slightly higher concession prices as well as improved terms with our concession suppliers. 

     Other theatre operating costs for the year ended December 31, 2004 increased to $178.0 million due to increases in rent, utilities and repair 

costs, as well as the establishment of a reserve of $1.0 million for potential litigation, compared to $175.4 million for the year ended 

December 31, 2003. For more information concerning this reserve see Item 3. Legal Proceedings. 

     General and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2004 increased to $19.3 million compared to $15.3 million for the 

year ended December 31, 2003 due to professional fees related to Sarbanes-Oxley compliance and overall increases in other expenses. 

     Depreciation and amortization expenses for the year ended December 31, 2004 increased 3.9% compared to the year ended December 31, 

2003. This increase reflects the effect of purchases of fixed assets related to the opening of three new theatres in 2004 as well as improvements 

and expansions relating to existing theaters and routine capital expenditures on existing theatres. 

     Gain on sales of property and equipment for the year ended December 31, 2004 decreased 20.2% compared to the year ended December 31, 

2003 due to lower sales of surplus property, offset by a gain on the termination of a capital lease. We sold two previously closed theatres and 

two parcels of land during the year ended December 31, 2004 compared to 10 theatres and three parcels of land during the year ended 

December 31, 2003. 

     Impairment of long-lived assets for the year ended December 31, 2004 decreased 22.3% due to generally improved performance in the 

industry and our market places. 

      Operating Income. Operating income for the year ended December 31, 2004 increased 1.2% to $74.2 million compared to $73.3 million for 

the year ended December 31, 2003. As a percentage of revenues, operating income for the year ended December 31, 2004 was 15.0% 

compared to 14.9% for the year ended December 31, 2003. 

      Interest expense . Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2004 decreased 36.6% to $30.1 million from $47.5 million for the year 

ended December 31, 2003. The decrease is related directly to lower indebtedness and interest rates obtained through our debt refinancing 

coupled with the reversal of approximately $4.5 million of interest expense recorded on disputed claims as a result of the resolution of 

liabilities subject to compromise. 

      Loss on extinguishment of debt. On February 4, 2004, we refinanced our debt which resulted in the write-off of $1.8 million of loan fees 

related to the post-bankruptcy credit facilities and a pre-payment premium on the retirement of the 10.375% senior subordinated notes of 

$7.5 million. 

      Reorganization costs . Reorganization costs for the year ended December 31, 2004 consisted of a credit of $12.4 million, compared to a 

credit of $4.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. These credits are the result of changes in estimates on liabilities subject to 

compromise, partially offset by professional and other expenses. On February 11, 2005, we filed a motion seeking an order entering a final 

decree closing the bankruptcy cases. On March 15, 2005, the United States Bankruptcy Court of the District of Delaware entered a final decree 

closing the bankruptcy cases. 

      Income tax expense . We recognized an income tax expense of $19.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, representing a 

combined federal and state income tax rate of 40.8%, compared to an income tax benefit of $77.7 million for the year ended December 31, 

2003. During the quarter ended December 31, 2003, we analyzed the available evidence and concluded it was more likely than not that the net 

deferred tax assets would be realized in future periods. Therefore, the $83.9 million valuation allowance was released creating an income tax 

benefit for 2003. The evidence management considered included operating income for 2002 and 2003, our subsequent stock offering and 

refinancing, resulting in significant prospective interest expense reduction, and anticipated operating income and cash flows for future periods 

in sufficient amounts to realize the net deferred tax assets. 

29 

 
 



Table of Contents 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

General 

     Our revenues are collected in cash and credit card payments. Because we receive our revenues in cash prior to the payment of related 

expenses, we have an operating ―float‖ which partially finances our operations. We had a working capital deficit of $27.2 million as of 

December 31, 2005 compared to working capital of $11.6 million at December 31, 2004. The change in working capital is primarily due to our 

significant capital expenditure program in 2005. 

     At December 31, 2005, we had available borrowing capacity of $50 million under our revolving credit facility and approximately 

$23.6 million in cash and cash equivalents on hand. The material terms of our revolving credit facility (including limitation on our ability to 

freely use all the available borrowing capacity) are described below in ―Material Credit Agreements and Covenant Compliance.‖ 

     Net cash provided by operating activities was $42.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to net cash provided by 

operating activities of $50.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. This change was due to reduced profit from operations related 

primarily to lower revenues and higher overall general operating expenses, changes in accounts payable from payments made to creditors and 

an increase in interest expense on our long-term financing obligations. Net cash used in investing activities was $146.5 million for the year 

ended December 31, 2005 compared to net cash used in investing activities of $43.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 due to 

purchases of property and equipment of $87.6 million and our purchase of GKC Theatres for $61.6 million. For the year ended December 31, 

2005 net cash provided by financing activities was $70.3 million compared to net cash provided by financing activities of $8.8 million for the 

year ended December 31, 2004 due to our May 2005 debt refinancing and the purchase of treasury stock in connection with stock grants 

exercised in 2005. 

     Net cash provided by operating activities was $50.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 compared to net cash provided by 

operating activities of $53.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. This change is due to increased profit from operations related 

primarily to lower interest expenses, offset by changes in accounts payable, payments to general unsecured creditors and other reorganization 

items. Net cash used in investing activities was $43.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 compared to net cash used in investing 

activities of $14.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 due to increased construction of new theatres. For the year ended 

December 31, 2004 net cash provided by financing activities was $8.8 million compared to net cash used of $51.1 million for the year ended 

December 31, 2003 due to loan fees associated with our refinancing and dividends paid. 

     Our liquidity needs are funded by operating cash flow, sales of surplus assets, availability under our credit agreements and short term float. 

The exhibition industry is very seasonal with the studios normally releasing their premiere film product during the holiday season or summer 

months. This seasonal positioning of film product makes our needs for cash vary significantly from quarter to quarter. Additionally, the 

ultimate performance of the film product any time during the calendar year will have a dramatic impact on our cash needs. 

     We plan to make approximately $25 million in capital expenditures for calendar year 2006. The revolving credit facility currently does not 

limit our capital expenditures. We anticipate we will add approximately four theatres with 44 screens during the course of 2006 and close 

approximately nine theatres with 45 screens in older theatres where leases will not be renewed. The expenses associated with exiting these 

closed theatres typically relate to costs associated with removing owned equipment for redeployment in other locations and are not material to 

our operations. 

     Our ability to service our indebtedness will require a significant amount of cash. Our ability to generate this cash will depend largely on 

future operations. Based upon our current level of operations, we believe that cash flow from operations, available cash, sales of surplus assets 

and borrowings under our credit agreements will be adequate to meet our liquidity needs for the next twelve months. However, the possibility 

exists that, if our liquidity needs are not met and we are unable to service our indebtedness, we could come into default under any of our debt 

instruments, causing the agents or trustees for those instruments to declare all payments due immediately or, in the case of the senior debt, to 

issue a payment blockage to the more junior debt. A similar situation contributed to the circumstances that led us to file our voluntary petition 

for relief under Chapter 11 in August 2000, as described in ―Our Reorganization.‖ 

     We cannot make assurances that our business will continue to generate sufficient cash flow to fund our liquidity needs. We are dependent to 

a large degree on the public’s acceptance of the films released by the studios. We are also subject to a high degree of competition and low 

barriers of entry into our industry. In the future, we may need to refinance all or a portion of our indebtedness on 
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or before maturity. We cannot make assurances that we will be able to refinance any of our indebtedness or raise additional capital through 

other means, on commercially reasonable terms or at all. If we have insufficient cash flow to fund our liquidity needs and are unable to 

refinance our indebtedness or raise additional capital, we could come into default under our debt instruments as described below. In addition, 

we may be unable to pursue growth opportunities in new and existing markets and to fund our capital expenditure needs. 

Material Credit Agreements and Covenant Compliance 

     As described below, our credit and leasing facilities contain certain restrictive provisions which, among other things, limit additional 

indebtedness, limit the payment of dividends and other defined restricted payments, require that certain debt to capitalization ratios be 

maintained and require minimum levels of defined cash flows. 

Recent Financing Transactions 

Senior Secured Credit Facilities 

     On May 19, 2005, we entered into a credit agreement with Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc., as sole lead arranger and sole book runner, Wells Fargo 

Foothill, Inc., as documentation agent, and Bear Stearns Corporate Lending Inc., as administrative agent. The credit agreement provides for 

senior secured credit facilities in the aggregate principal amount of $405.0 million. 

     The senior secured credit facilities consist of: 
 
  •   a $170.0 million seven year term loan facility used to finance the transactions described below; 
   
  •   a $185.0 million seven year delayed-draw term loan facility, with a twenty- four month commitment available to finance permitted 

acquisitions and related fees and expenses; and 
   
  •   a $50.0 million five year revolving credit facility available for general corporate purposes. 

     In addition, the credit agreement provides for future increases (subject to certain conditions and requirements) to the revolving credit and 

term loan facilities in an aggregate principal amount of up to $125.0 million. 

     We used the $170.0 million term loan, in addition to approximately $4.6 million of available cash, to (1) fund the $62.1 million net purchase 

price of the GKC Theatres acquisition, (2) repay borrowings of approximately $101.2 million (including principal, interest and fees) under our 

former term loan facility, (3) repay approximately $5.1 million of outstanding borrowings (including accrued interest and fees) under our 

former revolving credit facility, and (4) pay related fees and expenses. We did not draw upon the revolving credit facility in connection with 

these transactions. 

     In connection with the transactions described above, we terminated our former $50 million revolving credit facility and repaid 

approximately $5.1 million, which included $5.0 million in unpaid outstanding principal and $0.1 million in accrued interest and fees. Also, we 

terminated our former $100 million term loan, and repaid approximately $98.8 million in principal, $.4 million of accrued interest and paid 

$2.0 million in prepayment fees. We recognized a $5.8 million loss on our extinguishment of debt which consisted of $3.8 million of loan fees 

related to our February 4, 2004 credit facilities and a $2.0 million prepayment premium on the retirement of our former term loan. 

     On June 6, 2006, we drew down $156 million of the $185 million delayed-draw term loan to repurchase our outstanding $150 million of 

7.50% senior subordinated notes due 2014 and to repay related fees and expenses. At this time, the portion of the delayed-draw term loan 

commitment which was not used for this repurchase was cancelled. 

     As described in the fourth and fifth amendments to our senior secured credit agreement, the interest rate for borrowings under our 

outstanding revolving and term loans is set to a margin above the London interbank offered rate (―Libor‖) or base rate, as the case may be, 

based on our corporate credit ratings from Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and Standard & Poor’s Rating Services in effect from time to time, 

with the margin ranging from 2.50% to 3.50% for loans based on Libor and 1.50% to 2.50% for loans based on the base rate. These 

amendments also temporarily increase the margin described above by 0.50% per annum until such time as our audited financial statements for 

the year ended December 31, 2005 and our unaudited financial statements for the quarter ended March 31, 2006 are delivered to the lenders. In 

addition, this 0.50% per annum increase will be in effect if we are unable to deliver our 
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unaudited financial statements for the quarter ended June 30, 2006 by August 14, 2006 or if we are unable to deliver our unaudited financial 

statements for the quarter ended September 30, 2006 by November 14, 2006, until such time as these unaudited financial statements are 

delivered. 

     In addition, as described in the fifth amendment, we have also agreed, that by October 25, 2006, we will enter into and maintain hedging 

agreements to the extent necessary to provide that at least 45% of the aggregate principal amount outstanding on our term loans is subject either 

to a fixed interest rate or interest rate protection through a date not earlier than May 19, 2008. The final maturity date of the term loan facility 

and delayed-draw term loan facility is May 19, 2012. 

     The interest rate for borrowings under the revolving credit facility for the initial six-month period was set from time to time at our option 

(subject to certain conditions set forth in the credit agreement) at either: (1) a specified base rate plus 1.25% or (2) the Eurodollar Base Rate 

divided by the difference between one and the Eurocurrency Reserve Requirements plus 2.25%. Thereafter, the applicable rates of interest 

under the revolving credit facility are based on our consolidated leverage ratio, with the margins applicable to base rate loans ranging from 

0.50% to 1.25%, and the margins applicable to Eurodollar Loans (as defined in the credit agreement) ranging from 1.50% to 2.25%. The rate at 

June 6, 2006 was 10.25%; on June 8, 2006, we converted the rate to a 90-day LIBOR-based rate, which was 8.52%. The final maturity date of 

the revolving credit facility is May 19, 2010. 

     If we repay the term loans prior to June 2, 2007, we will be subject to a 1% prepayment fee for optional and most mandatory prepayments, 

unless the prepayment results from a change of control transaction or the issuance by us of subordinated debt of up to $150 million. The credit 

agreement requires that mandatory prepayments be made from (1) 100% of the net cash proceeds from certain asset sales and dispositions and 

issuances of certain debt, (2) various percentages (ranging from 75% to 0% depending on our consolidated leverage ratio) of excess cash flow 

as defined in the credit agreement, and (3) 50% of the net cash proceeds from the issuance of certain equity and capital contributions. 

     The senior secured credit facilities contain covenants which, among other things, restrict our ability, and that of our restricted subsidiaries, 

to: 
 
  •   pay dividends or make any other restricted payments; 
   
  •   incur additional indebtedness; 
   
  •   create liens on our assets; 
   
  •   make certain investments; 
   
  •   sell or otherwise dispose of assets; 
   
  •   consolidate, merge or otherwise transfer all or any substantial part of our assets; 
   
  •   enter into transactions with our affiliates; and 
   
  •   engage in any sale-leaseback, synthetic lease or similar transaction involving any of our assets. 

     The senior secured credit facilities also contain financial covenants that require us to maintain specified ratios of funded debt to adjusted 

EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA to interest expense. The terms governing each of these ratios are defined in the credit agreement, as amended. 

     Generally, the senior secured credit facilities do not place restrictions on our ability to make capital expenditures. However, we may not 

make any capital expenditure if any default or event of default under the credit agreement has occurred and is continuing or would result, or if 

such default or event of default would occur as a result of a breach of certain financial covenants contained in the credit agreement on a pro 

forma basis after giving effect to the capital expenditure. 

     Our failure to comply with any of these covenants, including compliance with the financial ratios, is an event of default under the senior 

secured credit facilities, in which case, the administrative agent may, and if requested by the lenders holding a certain minimum percentage of 

the commitments shall, terminate the revolving credit facility and the delayed-draw term loan commitments with respect to additional advances 

and may declare all or any portion of the obligations under the revolving credit facility and the term loan 
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facilities due and payable. As of December 31, 2005, we were in compliance with all of the financial covenants. Other events of default under 

the senior secured credit facilities include: 
 
  •   our failure to pay principal on the loans when due and payable, or its failure to pay interest on the loans or to pay certain fees and 

expenses (subject to applicable grace periods); 
   
  •   the occurrence of a change of control (as defined in the credit agreement); or 
   
  •   a breach or default by us or our subsidiaries on the payment of principal of any Indebtedness (as defined in the credit agreement) in an 

aggregate amount greater than $5.0 million. 

     The senior secured credit facilities are guaranteed by each of our subsidiaries and secured by a perfected first priority security interest in 

substantially all of our present and future assets. 

      Subsequent Event of Default 

     We had not submitted audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2005 by the 65th day following the end of the previous 

fiscal year nor had we submitted unaudited financial statements for the three month period ended March 31, 2006 by the 40th day following the 

end of such three month period as required by the financial covenants under our senior secured credit facility. 

     On April 3, 2006, we obtained a waiver for the covenant regarding delivery of our audited financial statements for the year ended 

December 31, 2005 by entering into a second amendment to the credit agreement with Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc., and the other lending parties. 

This second amendment, which had an effective date of March 28, 2006, extended the date by which we were to submit audited financial 

statements for the year ended December 31, 2005 to the lenders to May 15, 2006. On May 9, 2006, we obtained a second waiver for delivery of 

such audited financial statements by entering into a third amendment to the credit agreement with Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc. and the other 

lending parties extending the delivery date to June 30, 2006. The third amendment also included a waiver regarding the delivery of the 

unaudited financial statements for the three month period ended March 31, 2006, extending the delivery date of such unaudited financial 

statements to June 30, 2006. 

     Effective June 2, 2006, we entered into a fourth amendment to our senior secured credit agreement with the lending parties thereunder, 

which included an extension of the deadline for the delivery of our audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2005 and 

unaudited financial statements for the three month period ended March 31, 2006 until July 27, 2006. Effective July 27, 2006, we entered into a 

fifth amendment to our senior secured credit agreement, which included (i) an extension of the deadline for the delivery of our audited financial 

statements for the year ended December 31, 2005 until September 30, 2006; (ii) an extension of the deadline for delivery of our unaudited 

financial statements for the quarter ended March 31, 2006 until September 30, 2006; and (iii) an extension of the deadline for delivery of our 

unaudited financial statements for the quarters ended June 30, 2006 and September 30, 2006 until December 31, 2006. 

     The fifth amendment also provides that until we have delivered to the lenders the audited financial statements for the year ended 

December 31, 2005 and the unaudited financial statements for the quarter ended March 31, 2006, the maximum principal amount of 

indebtedness that we may incur under the $50 million revolving credit facility comprising part of the senior secured credit agreement is 

$10 million. In addition, the maximum principal amount of indebtedness that we may incur under the revolving credit facility will continue to 

be limited to $10 million if we are unable to deliver our unaudited financial statements for the quarter ended June 30, 2006 by August 14, 2006 

or if we are unable to deliver our unaudited financial statements for the quarter ended September 30, 2006 by November 14, 2006, until such 

time as these unaudited financial statements are delivered. 

     The amendments provide for waivers of certain defaults under the credit agreement, including the default resulting from our 7.50% senior 

subordinated notes being accelerated. In addition, the fourth amendment permitted our existing undrawn $185 million delayed-draw term loan 

commitment to be used to repay or repurchase our outstanding $150 million of senior subordinated notes and to pay related fees and expenses 

upon the acceleration of such notes. On June 6, 2006, we drew down $156 million on this delayed-draw term loan to repay our outstanding 

7.50% senior subordinated notes, all accrued and unpaid interest thereon and certain other fees and expenses related thereto. These notes are no 

longer outstanding and the related indenture is no longer in effect. The undrawn portion of the delayed-draw term loan terminated upon the 

funding of such $156 million. See ―7.50% Senior Subordinated Notes‖ below. 
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7.50% Senior Subordinated Notes 

     On February 4, 2004, we completed an offering of $150.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 7.50% senior subordinated notes due 

February 15, 2014 to institutional investors. As discussed further below, on June 6, 2006, we drew down $156 million on our delayed-draw 

term loan to repay our outstanding senior subordinated notes, all accrued and unpaid interest thereon and certain other fees and expenses related 

thereto. The notes are no longer outstanding and the indenture governing the notes is no longer in effect. 

     The indenture contained covenants, which, among other things, limited our ability, and that of our restricted subsidiaries, to: 
 
  •   make restricted payments; 
   
  •   create liens on our assets; 
   
  •   consolidate, merge or otherwise transfer or sell all or substantially all of our assets; 
   
  •   engage in certain sales of less than all or substantially all of our assets; 
   
  •   incur additional indebtedness; 
   
  •   issue certain types of stock; and 
   
  •   enter into transactions with affiliates. 

     In addition, under the terms of the indenture governing the notes, we were prohibited from incurring any subordinated debt that was senior 

in any respect in right of payment to the notes. We completed an exchange of the notes for registered notes with the same terms in August, 

2004. 

     Upon a change of control, as defined in the indenture, subject to certain exceptions, we were required to offer to repurchase from each 

holder all or any part of each holder’s notes at a purchase price of 101% of the aggregate principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid 

interest to the date of purchase. 

     The indenture contained customary events of default for agreements of that type, including payment defaults, covenant defaults, bankruptcy 

defaults and cross-acceleration defaults. If any event of default under the indenture occurred and was continuing, then the trustee or the holders 

of at least 25% in principal amount of the then outstanding notes could declare all the notes to be due and payable immediately. See 

―Subsequent Event of Default‖ below. 

     Our subsidiaries had guaranteed the notes and such guarantees were junior and subordinated to the subsidiary guarantees of our senior debt 

on the same basis as the notes were junior and subordinated to the senior debt. Interest at 7.50% per annum from the issue date to maturity was 

payable on the notes each February 15 and August 15. The notes were redeemable at our option under certain conditions. 

     In conjunction with the 2004 refinancing, we wrote-off loan fees relating to the post-bankruptcy credit facilities of $1.8 million and paid 

pre-payment premiums in the amount of $7.5 million to retire our 10 3/8% senior subordinated notes. 

      Subsequent Event of Default 

     On April 3, 2006, the trustee for the 7.50% senior subordinated notes notified us that we were in violation of the covenant requiring us to 

file our Annual Report on Form 10-K with the SEC within the time frame specified by the SEC’s rules and regulations, thereby triggering a 

default under the note indenture. The notice further stated that if this default continued for an additional sixty days then an event of default 

under the note indenture would occur. We did not file our Annual Report on Form 10-K on or before June 2, 2006 and did not receive the 

requisite consents to obtain a waiver of the default under the note indenture. Consequently, the default was not cured during the 60-day cure 

period and therefore constituted an event of default under the note indenture which entitled the trustee under the notes and/or the holders of at 

least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding notes to declare all of the notes immediately due and payable. On June 2, 2006, we 

received notice from the holders of over 25% in aggregate principal amount of the notes that such holders had accelerated the notes. As a 

consequence, on June 4, 2006, $150 million in aggregate principal 
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amount of the notes (representing all of the outstanding notes) plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon became immediately due and payable. 

As permitted under the fourth amendment to our senior secured credit agreement with the lending parties thereunder, we borrowed 

$156 million under our existing delayed-draw term loan commitment and repaid all of the outstanding notes on June 6, 2006. The notes are no 

longer outstanding and the indenture governing the notes is no longer in effect. 

Contractual Obligations 

     As of December 31, 2005, our long-term debt obligations and future minimum payments under capital leases and operating leases with 

terms over one year and the agreement with our Chief Executive Officer (except as indicated in footnote 5 to the table) were as follows: 
                                          
    Payments Due by Period (in thousands)   
    Less than                     More than         
    1 year     1-3 Years     3-5 Years     5 Years     Total   
Term loan credit agreement (1)   $ 1,671     $ 3,341     $ 3,341     $ 157,872     $ 166,225   
7.50% senior subordinated notes (2)     —       —       —       150,000       150,000   
Long-term interest payments (3)     23,004       45,685       45,179       47,333       161,201   
Long-term financing obligations (4)     9,381       18,843       19,485       166,337       214,046   
Capital lease obligations     6,757       14,034       13,710       62,582       97,083   
Operating leases     41,080       77,619       69,938       273,923       462,560   
Employment agreement with Chief Executive 

Officer (5)     850       1,700       1,700       —       4,250   
                                
Total contractual cash obligations   $ 82,743     $ 161,222     $ 153,353     $ 858,047     $ 1,255,365   
                                

     
(1)   The term loan has a maturity date of May 19, 2012. 
   
(2)   The maturity date for the 7.50% senior subordinated notes was February 15, 2014. 
   
(3)   Long-term interest payments include payments for certain variable rate obligations. These payments were 

calculated based on rates in effect at December 31, 2005. 
   
(4)   Long-term financing obligations exclude $57.8 million which is expected to be settled through non-cash 

consideration consisting of property subject to financing obligations. 
   
(5)   The employment agreement with our Chief Executive Officer provides for compensation of $850,000 per 

year for five years commencing January 31, 2002. The term is automatically extended each December 31 for 

an additional year unless either party provides required notice. The above table does not include bonus 

payments of up to 50% of our Chief Executive Officer’s base salary if certain performance goals are 

achieved or the amounts equal to 10% of his taxable annual compensation which are paid pursuant to a 

deferred compensation arrangement. 

     On June 6, 2006, we repurchased our 7.50% senior subordinated notes by utilizing our existing delayed-draw term loan commitment (see 

―Subsequent Event of Default‖ above). Had this transaction occurred as of December 31, 2005, our long-term debt obligations and future 

minimum payments under capital leases and operating leases, with terms over one year, and under the agreement with our Chief Executive 

Officer (except as indicated in footnote 5 to the table) would be as follows, on a pro forma basis: 
                                          
    Pro Forma Payments Due by Period (in thousands)   
    Less than                     More than         
    1 year     1-3 Years     3-5 Years     5 Years     Total   
Term loan credit agreement (1)   $ 1,671     $ 3,341     $ 3,341     $ 157,872     $ 166,225   
Delayed-draw term loan credit agreement (2)     780       3,120       3,120       148,980       156,000   
Long-term interest payments (3)     23,004       45,685       45,179       47,333       161,201   
Long-term financing obligations (4)     9,381       18,843       19,485       166,337       214,046   
Capital lease obligations     6,757       14,034       13,710       62,582       97,083   
Operating leases     41,080       77,619       69,938       273,923       462,560   
Employment agreement with Chief Executive 

Officer (5)     850       1,700       1,700       —       4,250   
                                
Total contractual cash obligations   $ 83,523     $ 164,342     $ 156,473     $ 857,027     $ 1,261,365   
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(1)   The term loan has a maturity date of May 19, 2012. 
   
(2)   The delayed-draw term loan credit agreement has a maturity date of May 19, 2012. 
   
(3)   Long-term interest payments include payments for certain variable rate obligations. These payments were 

calculated based on rates in effect at December 31, 2005. 
   
(4)   Long-term financing obligations exclude $57.8 million which is expected to be settled through non-cash 

consideration consisting of property subject to financing obligations. 
   
(5)   The employment agreement with our Chief Executive Officer provides for compensation of $850,000 per 

year for five years commencing January 31, 2002. The term is automatically extended each December 31 for 

an additional year unless either party provides required notice. The above table does not include bonus 

payments of up to 50% of our Chief Executive Officer’s base salary if certain performance goals are 

achieved or the amounts equal to 10% of his taxable annual compensation which are paid pursuant to a 

deferred compensation arrangement. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

     As of December 31, 2005, we did not have any off-balance sheet financing transactions or arrangements other than disclosed in the table 

above. 

Asset Impairments 

     In 2005, 2004, and 2003, we identified impairments of asset values for certain theatres which we reflected as operating expenses in our 

consolidated financial statements. 

     The table below sets out certain information concerning these impairments: 
                          
in millions (except number of theatres and screens)   2005     2004     2003   
Reduction in carrying values   $ 6.2     $ 4.0     $ 3.0   
Reduction in accumulated depreciation and amortization     (3.7 )     (3.1 )     (1.9 ) 
                    
Impairment charge included in operations   $ 2.5     $ 0.9     $ 1.1   

                    
Number of theatres affected     8       9       4   
Number of screens affected     55       30       27   

                    

     The impairment charges were primarily caused by reductions in estimated theatre cash flows due to the impact of new or increased 

competition on certain older, auditorium-style theatres, negative evaluation of the operating results produced from theatres previously 

converted to discount theatres, or our inability to improve a marginal theatre’s operating results to a level that would support the carrying value 

of the long-lived assets. When an impairment was identified, the impairment charge recorded reduced the recorded amount of the long-lived 

asset to its fair value. 

Critical Accounting Policies 

     The preparation of our financial statements requires our management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 

assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of 

revenue and expenses during the period. On an on-going basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments, including those related to exhibition 

costs, leasing transactions, depreciation of property and equipment, income taxes, litigation and other contingencies and, in particular, those 

related to impairment of long-lived assets including goodwill. We base our estimates and judgments on historical experience and on various 

other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the 

carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under 

different assumptions and conditions and such difference could be material. All critical accounting estimates have been discussed with our 

audit committee. 
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     We believe the following critical accounting policies, among others, affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the 

preparation of our consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. 

Revenue Recognition 

     We derive almost all of our revenues from box office admissions and concession sales. We recognize admissions revenues when movie 

tickets are sold at the box office and concession revenues when the products are sold in the theatre. Admissions and concession sales revenues 

depend primarily upon attendance, ticket price and the price and volume of concession sales. Our attendance is affected by the quality and 

timing of movie releases and our ability to obtain films that appeal to patrons in our markets. We record proceeds from the sale of gift cards 

and other advanced sale-type certificates in current liabilities and recognize admission and concession revenue when a holder redeems a gift 

card or other advanced sale-type certificate. We recognize unredeemed gift cards and other advanced sale-type certificates as revenue upon 

expiration. 

Expenses 

     Film exhibition costs vary according to box office admissions and are accrued based on the specified splits of receipts in firm term 

agreements with movie distributors. The agreements usually provide for a decreasing percentage of box office admissions to be paid to the 

movie studio over the first few weeks of the movie’s run, subject to a floor for later weeks. Where firm terms do not apply, film exhibition 

costs are accrued based on the expected success of the film over a thirty to sixty day period and estimates of the final settlement with the movie 

studio. Settlements between us and the movie studios are completed four to six weeks after the movie’s run. 

Property and Equipment 

     Property and equipment are carried at cost, net of accumulated depreciation, or cost adjusted for recognized impairments. Assets held for 

sale are reported at the lower of the asset’s carrying amount or its fair value less costs to sell. Amortization of assets recorded under capital 

leases is included with depreciation expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. 

     We compute depreciation on a straight-line basis as follows: 
      
Building and improvements   20-30 years 
Leasehold improvements*   15-30 years 
Capital leases*   11-25 years 
Equipment   5-15 years 

  
*   Number of years is based on the lesser of the useful life or the reasonably assured term of the applicable 

lease. 

Impairment of Long-lived Assets, Including Goodwill 

     Goodwill is the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired in business combinations accounted for as a purchase. 

The provisions of SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (―SFAS 142‖), were adopted on January 1, 2002. The provisions 

prohibit the amortization of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets and require that these assets be tested periodically for impairment at 

least annually. We consider all of our consolidated operations to be our reporting unit for SFAS 142 purposes. We test goodwill for impairment 

during the fourth quarter of our fiscal year (or on an interim basis should an event occur that may reduce the fair value of the reporting unit 

below its carrying value). As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, our financial statements included acquisition related goodwill and other 

intangibles of $40.5 million and $23.4 million, net of previous amortization, respectively. 

     We account for our property and equipment in accordance with the SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of 

Long-Lived Assets (―SFAS 144‖). We review our property and equipment for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 

indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. We periodically review and monitor our internal management reports and 

the competition in our markets for indicators of impairment. We consider a trend of operating results that are not in line with management’s 

expectations to be the primary indicator of potential impairment. An additional impairment indicator used by management is the existence of 

competition in a market, either from third parties or from our own expansion. For purposes of SFAS 144, assets are evaluated for impairment at 

the theatre level except when multiple theatres are located in the same geographic area. Management believes this is the lowest level for which 

there are identifiable cash flows. We deem there to be an impairment if a 

37 

 
 



Table of Contents 

 

forecast of undiscounted future operating cash flows directly related to the theatre or market, including estimated disposal value if any, is less 

than its carrying amount. If there is a determination of an impairment, the loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the 

theatre or market exceeds its fair value. Fair value is based on management’s estimates which are based on using the best information available, 

including prices for similar theatres or the results of valuation techniques such as discounting estimated future cash flows. Considerable 

judgment is necessary to estimate discounted future cash flows. Accordingly, actual results could vary significantly from such estimates. 

     See ―Asset Impairments‖ above for additional information regarding the effects on the 2005, 2004 and 2003 consolidated financial 

statements. 

Bankruptcy Matters 

     As debtors-in-possession, we had the right, subject to Bankruptcy Court approval and certain other limitations, to assume or reject executory 

contracts and unexpired leases during our reorganization. Any damages resulting from rejection of executory contracts or unexpired leases 

were treated as general unsecured claims in our reorganization. During our reorganization, we received approval from the Bankruptcy Court to 

reject theatre leases on 136 of our theatre locations. On February 11, 2005, we filed a motion seeking an order entering a final decree closing 

the bankruptcy cases. On March 15, 2005, the United States Bankruptcy Court of the District of Delaware entered a final decree closing the 

bankruptcy cases. In conjunction with the closure of the bankruptcy cases on March 15, 2005, we sealed all remaining disputed claims and 

reversed all accruals for bankruptcy-related professional fees. 

Leases 

     We operate most of our theatres under non-cancelable lease agreements. These leases generally provide for the payment of fixed monthly 

rentals, property taxes, common area maintenance, insurance and repairs. Certain of these leases provide for escalating lease payments over the 

terms of the leases. At our option, we can renew a substantial portion of our theatre leases, at the then fair rental rate, for various periods with 

the maximum renewal period generally totaling 20 years. 

     We determine the appropriate accounting for each theatre based on applying principles of SFAS 13, as amended, and related authoritative 

accounting literature. Accordingly, we classify the following arrangements as capital leases: (a) the lease transfers ownership of the theatre 

property to us by the end of the lease term; (b) the lease contains a bargain purchase option; (c) the lease term is equal to or greater than 75% or 

more of the economic life of the leased property; or (d) the present value of the minimum lease payments equals or exceeds 90% of the fair 

value of the leased property. As to those arrangements that are classified as capital leases, we record property under capital leases and a capital 

lease obligation in an amount equal to the lesser of the present value of the minimum lease payments to be made over the life of the lease at the 

beginning of the lease term, or the fair value of the leased property. The property under capital lease is amortized on a straight-line basis as a 

charge to expense over the lease term, as defined, or the economic life of the leased property, whichever is less. During the lease term, as 

defined, each minimum lease payment is allocated between a reduction of the lease obligation and interest expense so as to produce a constant 

periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lease obligation. 

     In regard to those leases that are classified as operating leases, for accounting purposes, the total amount of base rentals over the terms of the 

leases is charged to expense on the straight-line method over the lease terms, as defined. Furthermore, rental cost is recognized on a 

straight-line basis with any differences between rental payments and straight-line rent adjusted through deferred rental liability. 

Percentage Rent 

     Several leases have a contingent component called percentage rent. Percentage rent is based on a percentage of defined revenue factors over 

a fixed breakpoint for the lease year as described within the lease. We recognize contingent rent expense prior to achievement of the fixed 

breakpoint when it becomes probable that the breakpoint will be achieved. Percentage rent for capital leases and leases accounted for as 

financing obligations is charged to interest expense. 

Financing Obligations 

     We are considered the owner of certain assets during construction under the provisions of Emerging Issues Task Force (―EITF‖) No. 97-10, 

The Effect of Lessee Involvement in Asset Construction (―EITF 97-10‖), if we pay or can be required to pay any portion of the construction 

costs. Once construction is completed, we consider the requirements under SFAS No. 98, Accounting for Leases: 
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Sale-Leaseback Transactions Involving Real Estate: Sales-Type Leases of Real Estate; Definition of the Lease Term; and Initial Direct Costs of 

Direct Financing Leases (―SFAS 98‖), for sale-leaseback treatment, and if the arrangement does not meet such requirements, we record the 

project’s construction costs funded by the landlord as a financing obligation. The obligation is amortized over the financing term based on the 

payments designated in the contract. Under certain arrangements, the last payment is settled through non-cash consideration consisting of the 

property subject to the financing obligation. 

Income Taxes 

     We account for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes (―SFAS 109‖). Under SFAS 109, the liability 

method is used in accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences 

between financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rate and laws that will be in effect 

when the differences are expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if it was more likely than not that some 

portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. For the year ended December 31, 2003, we determined that it is more likely than not 

that certain deferred tax assets would be realized in the future and accordingly, it was appropriate to release the valuation allowance and 

recognize a tax benefit of $77.7 million. 

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards 

     In March 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (―FASB‖) issued Interpretation No. 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset 

Retirement Obligations (―FIN 47‖), which became effective December 31, 2005. FIN 47 clarifies that the term conditional asset retirement 

obligation, as used in SFAS No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations , refers to a legal obligation to perform the asset retirement 

activity in which the timing or method of settlement are conditional on a future event that may or may not be within the control of the entity. 

We own certain properties that may contain asbestos which under certain conditions must be remediated. As a result of adopting FIN 47, we 

will increase the value of our recorded tangible assets at the time we recognize the associated conditional asset retirement obligation. 

     We adopted FIN 47 in the fourth quarter of 2005 and recorded a charge for the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle of 

approximately $140 thousand. The charge was recorded net of taxes of $52 thousand in the income statement line item of Cumulative effect of 

change in accounting principle. Additionally, we recorded a conditional asset retirement obligation (―CARO‖) of approximately $170 

thousand. The balances represent the fair value of our potential obligation to remediate asbestos or other environmental contaminants 

associated with theatres we own that were constructed prior to 1980. Annual accretion of the liability and depreciation expense will be recorded 

each year for the theatres until the obligation year is reached, either by sale of the property, demolition or some other future event such as a 

government action. 

     On December 16, 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment (―SFAS 123(R)‖), which requires the 

measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all stock-based compensation payments and supersedes the current accounting 

under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (―APB 25‖). SFAS 123(R) is effective for all 

annual periods beginning after June 15, 2005. In March 2005, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 (―SAB 107‖) relating to the 

adoption of SFAS 123(R). 

     SFAS 123(R) requires companies to use fair value to measure stock-based compensation awards. The ―intrinsic value‖ method of 

accounting, which APB 25 allowed, resulted in no expense for many awards of stock options where the exercise price of the option equaled the 

price of the underlying stock at grant date. Under SFAS 123(R), the fair value of the award is not re-measured after its initial estimation on the 

grant date (except under specific circumstances). 

     We adopted SFAS 123(R) in the first quarter of fiscal 2006 using the modified prospective method and will continue to evaluate the impact 

of SFAS 123(R) on our operating results and financial condition. The pro forma information in Note 2, ―Notes to Consolidated Financial 

Statements,‖ presents the estimated compensation charges under SFAS 123(R). As a result of the provisions of SFAS 123(R) and SAB 107, we 

expect the compensation charges under SFAS 123(R) to be approximately $4.1 million before income taxes for fiscal 2006. However, our 

assessment of the estimated compensation charges is affected by our stock price as well as assumptions regarding a number of complex and 

subjective variables and the related tax impact. These variables include, but are not limited to, the volatility of our stock price and employee 

stock option exercise behaviors. We have evaluated other valuation methods and have decided to implement the Black Scholes option pricing 

model, the most appropriate for us. See Note 2 to ―Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements‖ for the calculation of our stock –based 

compensation plans under APB 25 and SFAS 123(R). 
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     In December 2003, the FASB issued its revision to FASB Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (an 

Interpretation of ARB. 51) (―FIN 46‖). We adopted the provisions of FIN 46 in March 2004. Variable interest entities are generally entities that 

lack sufficient equity to finance their activities without additional financial support from other parties or whose equity holders lack adequate 

decision making ability. FIN 46 requires variable interest entities to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary of the entity for financial 

reporting purposes. Application of FIN 46 is required in financial statements of publicly held corporations that have interests in variable 

interest entities (also referred to as special purpose entities) for periods after March 15, 2004. We evaluated the partnerships in which we have 

an investment (referred to as ―Investment in Unconsolidated Affiliates‖ in our consolidated balance sheet) and determined that they are not 

variable interest entities. Accordingly, FIN 46 has not had a material impact on our results of operations or financial condition. 

     In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an Interpretation of Statement 

of Financial Accounting Standards 109 (―FIN 48‖). FIN 48 is effective January 1, 2007 and would require us to record any change in net assets 

that results from the application of FIN 48 as an adjustment to retained earnings. 

     FIN 48 is applicable to all uncertain positions for taxes accounted for under SFAS 109, and is not intended to be applied by analogy to other 

taxes, such as sales taxes, value-add taxes, or property taxes. The scope of FIN 48 includes any position taken (or expected to be taken) on a tax 

return, including the decision to exclude from the return certain income or transactions. FIN 48 makes clear that its guidance also applies to 

positions such a (1) excluding income streams that might be deemed taxable by the taxing authorities, (2) asserting that a particular equity 

restructuring (e.g., a spin-off transaction) is tax-free when that position might be uncertain, or (3) the decision to not file a tax return in a 

particular jurisdiction for which such a return might be required. 

     FIN 48 requires that we make qualitative and quantitative disclosures, including discussion of reasonably possible changes that might occur 

in the recognized tax benefits over the next 12 months; a description of open tax years by major jurisdictions; and a roll-forward of all 

unrecognized tax benefits, presented as a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the unrecognized tax benefits on a aggregated 

basis. We do not anticipate the adoption of FIN 48 to have a material impact on our consolidated results of operations, cash flows or financial 

position. 

Recent Developments 

     We have entered into a Master License Agreement, dated as of December 16, 2005 (the ―License Agreement‖), with Christie/AIX, Inc., a 

Delaware corporation (―Christie/AIX‖). Christie/AIX is an affiliate of Christie Digital Systems USA, Inc. (―Christie USA‖) and Access 

Integrated Technologies, Inc. (―AccessIT‖). 

     Pursuant to the License Agreement we have been granted a license to install and use up to 2,300 digital cinema projection systems including 

DCI-compliant ―2K‖ digital projectors, satellite transmission equipment, central library servers and related software and other hardware 

(collectively, the ―Digital Equipment‖). The initial term of the License Agreement continues until December 31, 2020, provided that we may 

renew the License Agreement for successive one-year periods for up to ten additional years. 

     We have agreed to pay a one-time software license fee in the amount of $800.00 for each screen installed with the Digital Equipment. We 

must also pay an $18.00 fee for each movie or non-traditional digital content delivered by AccessIT for exhibition using the Digital Equipment, 

payable for each screen that will exhibit the relevant movie or other non-traditional digital content. Pursuant to the License Agreement, 

Christie/AIX will install the Digital Equipment for up to 2,300 of our screens by October 31, 2007; further, Christie/AIX is required to install 

within any given theatre, a minimum amount of Digital Equipment such that more than 50% of the individual theatre’s screens are so equipped. 

The installation costs are being capitalized as prepaid rent and will be subsequently amortized into rent expense over the fifteen year life of the 

initial arrangement. 

     The scope of our license includes the exhibition of traditional motion picture content, the exhibition of pre-feature on-screen advertising and 

the exhibition of non-traditional content. We have designated AccessIT as our preferred content delivery service for non-traditional content and 

agreed to pay a fee of 15% of the gross revenues derived by us from each exhibition of such non-traditional content up to a maximum of 

$1,200, payable per exhibition. 

     Upon an event of default by us under the License Agreement, Christie/AIX has the right to retake possession of the Digital Equipment and 

the right to recover any and all damages, including the loss of fees, costs and expenses. In addition, we and Christie/AIX have indemnified each 

other for damages arising out of the use, operation or possession of the Digital Equipment. 
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     We have also entered into a Digital Cinema Service Agreement, dated as of December 16, 2005 (the ―Service Agreement‖), with Christie 

USA. Pursuant to the Service Agreement, Christie USA will provide installation, maintenance and other services with respect to the Digital 

Equipment and our 35mm projection systems. The term of the Service Agreement runs concurrently with the term of the License Agreement. 

     We have agreed to pay an annual service fee in the amount of $2,250 per screen (subject to limited annual consumer price index 

adjustments) for each screen installed with the Digital Equipment. In addition, Christie USA has agreed to accept, under certain conditions, up 

to 1,000 of our 35mm projection systems as payment towards the installation fees. These service fees are being expensed as incurred. 

     We believe the implementation of digital cinema projection will allow us not only greater flexibility in showing feature films, but will also 

provide us with the capability to explore revenue enhancing alternative content programming. Digital film content can be easily moved to and 

from auditoriums in our theatres to maximize attendance. The superior quality of digital could provide a competitive advantage to us in markets 

where we compete for film and patrons. 

Information About Forward-Looking Statements 

     This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws. In addition, we, or 

our executive officers on our behalf, may from time to time make forward-looking statements in reports and other documents we file with the 

SEC or in connection with oral statements made to the press, potential investors or others. Statements that are not historical facts, including 

statements about our beliefs and expectations, are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements include statements preceded by, 

followed by or that include the words, ―believes,‖ ―expects,‖ ―anticipates,‖ ―plans,‖ ―estimates,‖ ―intends,‖ ―projects,‖ ―should,‖ ―will,‖ or 

similar expressions. These statements include, among others, statements regarding our strategies, sources of liquidity, the availability of film 

product, the opening or closing of theatres during 2006, the costs of converting our theatres to the digital format, our expectations with regard 

to our credit agreement and our notes, the lack of necessity to draw on our revolving credit facility for the foreseeable future and our 

expectations with regard to the delivery of the financial information required by our credit agreement and our notes. 

     Forward-looking statements are only predictions and are not guarantees of performance. These statements are based on beliefs and 

assumptions of our management, which in turn are based on currently available information. Important assumptions relating to the 

forward-looking statements include, among others, assumptions regarding expected pricing levels, competitive conditions and general 

economic conditions. These assumptions could prove inaccurate. The forward-looking statements also involve risks and uncertainties, which 

could cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statement. Many of these factors are beyond our 

ability to control or predict. Such factors include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
  •   our ability to comply with covenants contained in our credit agreement; 
   
  •   our ability to remediate the material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting or the effectiveness of any remediation 

measures we may undertake; 
   
  •   our ability to maintain our NASDAQ listing; 
   
  •   the availability of suitable motion pictures for exhibition in our markets; 
   
  •   competition in our markets; 
   
  •   competition with other forms of entertainment; 
   
  •   identified weaknesses in internal controls and procedures under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002; 
   
  •   the effect of our leverage on our financial condition; and 
   
  •   other factors, including the risk factors discussed in Item 1A in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
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     We believe these forward-looking statements are reasonable; however, undue reliance should not be placed on any forward-looking 

statements, which are based on current expectations. Further, forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made, and we 

undertake no obligation to update publicly any of them in light of new information or future events. 

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK. 

     We are exposed to various market risks. We have floating rate debt instruments and, therefore, are subject to the market risk related to 

changes in interest rates. Interest paid on our debt is largely subject to changes in interest rates in the market. Our revolving credit facility and 

our seven-year term loan credit facility are based on a structure that is priced over an index or LIBOR rate option. An increase of 1% in interest 

rates would increase the interest expense on our $166.2 million term loan by approximately $1.7 million on an annual basis. An increase of 1% 

in interest rates would increase the interest expense on our $156.0 million delayed-draw term loan by approximately $1.6 million on an annual 

basis. If our $50 million revolving credit agreement was fully drawn, a 1% increase in interest rates would increase interest expense by 

$500,000 on an annual basis. 

     We have 27 theatre leases that have increases contingent on changes in the Consumer Price Index (―CPI‖). A 1% change in the CPI would 

increase rent expense by $2.3 million over the remaining lives of these leases, which management does not believe would have a material 

impact on our consolidated financial statements. 

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA. 

     Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2005. 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Carmike Cinemas, Inc: 

We have completed integrated audits of Carmike Cinemas, Inc.’s 2005 and 2004 consolidated financial statements and of its internal control 

over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, and an audit of its 2003 consolidated financial statements in accordance with the standards of 

the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Our opinions, based on our audits, are presented below. 

Consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the index appearing under item 15 (a) (1) present fairly, in all material respects, 

the financial position of Carmike Cinemas, Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the results of their operations and their 

cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 

the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the index appearing under item 15(a)(2) 

presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial 

statements. These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our 

responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits. We conducted our 

audits of these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 

misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall 

financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has restated its 2004 and 2003 consolidated financial statements. 

As described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation 

No. 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations , as of December 31, 2005. 

Internal control over financial reporting 

Also, we have audited management’s assessment, included in Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting appearing 

under Item 9A, that Carmike Cinemas, Inc. did not maintain effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, 

because it did not (i) maintain a sufficient complement of personnel with appropriate skills, training and Company-specific experience in the 

selection, application and implementation of generally accepted accounting principles commensurate with the Company’s financial reporting 

requirements, (ii) maintain effective controls over the financial reporting process, (iii) maintain effective controls over the accounting for leases 

and (iv) maintain effective controls over the accounting for income taxes, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated 

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is 

responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over 

financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on management’s assessment and on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal 

control over financial reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting 

Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 

effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. An audit of internal control over financial reporting 

includes obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating 

the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we consider necessary in the circumstances. 

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions. 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 

principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of 

records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the 
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company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in 

accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or 

timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial 

statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any 

evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 

that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that results in more than a remote likelihood that a material 

misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected. The following material weaknesses have been 

identified and included in management’s assessment as of December 31, 2005: 
 
  1.   The Company did not maintain a sufficient complement of personnel with appropriate skills, training and Company-specific 

experience in the selection, application and implementation of generally accepted accounting principles commensurate with the 

Company’s financial reporting requirements. This control deficiency contributed to the material weaknesses described below. 

Additionally, this control deficiency could result in a misstatement of the Company’s accounts and disclosures that would result in a 

material misstatement to the Company’s interim or annual consolidated financial statements that would not be prevented or detected. 

Accordingly, management has determined that this control deficiency constitutes a material weakness and contributed to the 

following material weaknesses. 
   
  2.   The Company did not maintain effective controls over the financial reporting process. Specifically, effective controls were not 

designed and in place to ensure the completeness and accuracy of supporting schedules and underlying data for routine journal entries 

and journal entries recorded as part of the Company’s period-end closing and consolidation process related to all significant accounts 

and disclosures. This control deficiency resulted in the restatement of the Company’s interim consolidated financial statements for the 

quarters ended March 31, June 30, and September 30, 2005 and audit adjustments to the Company’s 2005 annual consolidated 

financial statements to correct errors related to the recording of directors fees, discount ticket revenue, capitalized interest, deferred 

tax assets and compensation expense primarily affecting accounts payable, general and administrative expense, admissions revenue, 

deferred income, interest expense, property, plant and equipment, accrued expenses and paid in capital. Additionally, this control 

deficiency could result in a misstatement of the aforementioned accounts and disclosures which would result in a material 

misstatement to the Company’s annual or interim consolidated financial statements that would not be prevented or detected. 

Accordingly, management has determined that this control deficiency constitutes a material weakness. 
   
  3.   The Company did not maintain effective controls over the accounting for leases. Specifically, the Company’s controls over its 

selection, application and monitoring of its accounting policies related to the effect of lessee involvement in asset construction, lease 

incentives, lease modifications, amortization of leasehold improvements, and deferred rent were not effective to ensure the accurate 

accounting for leases entered into. This control deficiency resulted in the restatement of the Company’s 2004 and 2003 annual 

consolidated financial statements and its interim consolidated financial statements for the first three quarters of 2005 and all 2004 

quarters and audit adjustments to the 2005 consolidated financial statements to correct errors related to lease accounting primarily 

affecting property, plant and equipment, financing obligations, deferred rent, prepaid rent, rent expense, interest expense and 

depreciation expense. Additionally, this control deficiency could result in a misstatement of the aforementioned accounts and 

disclosures that would result in a material misstatement to the Company’s annual or interim consolidated financial statements that 

would not be prevented or detected. Accordingly, management has determined that this control deficiency constitutes a material 

weakness. 
   
  4.   The Company did not maintain effective controls over the completeness and accuracy of income taxes. Specifically, the Company did 

not maintain effective controls over the preparation and review of income taxes payable, deferred income tax assets and liabilities and 

the related income tax provision. This control deficiency resulted in the restatement of the Company’s 2004 and 2003 annual 

consolidated financial statements and the Company’s first two quarters of 2005 and all 2004 quarters and review or audit adjustments 

to the third and fourth quarters of 2005. This control deficiency could result in a misstatement of income taxes payable, deferred 

income tax assets and liabilities and the related income tax provision that would result in a material misstatement of the Company’s 

annual or interim consolidated financial statements that would not be prevented or detected. Accordingly, management has 

determined that this control deficiency constitutes a material weakness. 

These material weaknesses were considered in determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the 2005 

consolidated financial statements, and our opinion regarding the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting does 

not affect our opinion on those consolidated financial statements. 
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In our opinion, management’s assessment that Carmike Cinemas, Inc. did not maintain effective internal control over financial reporting as of 

December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued 

by the COSO. Also, in our opinion, because of the effects of the material weaknesses described above on the achievement of the objectives of 

the control criteria, Carmike Cinemas, Inc. has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, 

based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the COSO. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

Atlanta, Georgia 

August 3, 2006 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
CARMIKE CINEMAS, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES 

(in thousands, except share data) 
                  
    December 31,   
    2005     2004   
            (restated)   
Assets:                 
Current assets:                 

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 23,609     $ 56,944   
Restricted cash     3,602       —   
Accounts and notes receivable     2,056       1,830   
Inventories     1,802       1,301   
Deferred income tax asset     6,029       6,355   
Prepaid expenses     6,287       6,252   

              
Total current assets     43,385       72,682   

Other assets:                 
Investment in and advances to unconsolidated affiliates     3,763       2,179   
Deferred income tax asset     42,344       51,247   
Assets held for sale     5,434       6,534   
Other     32,702       28,074   

              
Total other assets     84,243       88,034   

Property and equipment:                 
Land     62,807       47,639   
Construction in progress     26,376       19,696   
Building and improvements     316,161       227,836   
Leasehold improvements     130,605       127,567   
Assets under capital leases     89,651       88,860   
Equipment     216,346       198,005   

              
Total property and equipment     841,946       709,603   

Accumulated depreciation and amortization     (271,999 )     (241,918 ) 
              

Property and equipment (net of accumulated depreciation and amortization)     569,947       467,685   
Goodwill     38,460       23,354   
Other acquired intangible assets (net of accumulated amortization)     2,082       —   

              
Total assets   $ 738,117     $ 651,755   

              
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity:                 
Current liabilities:                 

Accounts payable   $ 23,516     $ 22,453   
Dividends payable     2,154       2,128   
Accrued expenses     42,443       34,939   
Current maturities of long-term debt, capital leases and long-term financing obligations     2,435       1,587   

              
Total current liabilities     70,548       61,107   

Long-term liabilities:                 
Long-term debt, less current maturities     313,774       248,000   
Capital leases and long-term financing obligations, less current maturities     115,809       93,303   
Other     5,269       4,904   

              
Total long-term liabilities     434,852       346,207   

Liabilities subject to compromise     —       1,348   
                  
Commitments and contingencies (see Note 14)     —       —   
Stockholders’ equity:                 
Preferred stock, $1.00 par value, authorized 1,000,000 shares, none outstanding at December 31, 

2005 and 2004     —       —   
Common stock, $0.03 par value, authorized 20,000,000 shares, 12,455,622 shares issued and     374       365   



12,309,002 shares outstanding at December 31, 2005 and 12,162,622 shares issued and 

outstanding as of December 31, 2004 
Treasury stock, 146,620 shares at cost     (5,210 )     —   
Paid-in capital     297,256       302,608   
Accumulated deficit     (59,703 )     (59,880 ) 
              

Total stockholders’ equity     232,717       243,093   
              

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 738,117     $ 651,755   

              

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
CARMIKE CINEMAS, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES 

(in thousands, except per share data) 
                          
    Year Ended December 31,   
    2005     2004     2003   
            (restated)     (restated)   
Revenues:                         

Admissions   $ 309,402     $ 331,479     $ 332,070   
Concessions and other     159,492       163,858       161,015   

                    
      468,894       495,337       493,085   
                          
Costs and expenses:                         

Film exhibition costs     168,251       174,693       180,403   
Concession costs     16,379       16,881       17,985   
Other theatre operating costs     185,978       178,025       175,413   
General and administrative expenses     19,819       19,301       15,336   
Depreciation and amortization     37,214       33,765       32,505   
Gain on sales of property and equipment and termination of capital lease     (2,599 )     (2,412 )     (3,023 ) 
Impairment of long-lived assets     2,527       892       1,148   

                    
      427,569       421,145       419,767   
                    
Operating income     41,325       74,192       73,318   

Interest expense     35,284       30,073       47,496   
Loss on extinguishment of debt     5,795       9,313       —   

                    
Income before reorganization benefit, income taxes and cumulative effect of 

change in accounting principle     246       34,806       25,822   
Reorganization benefit     2,388       12,397       4,109   

                    
Income before income taxes and cumulative effect of change in accounting 

principle     2,634       47,203       29,931   
Income tax expense (benefit)     2,369       19,262       (77,726 ) 

                    
Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle     265       27,941       107,657   

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle (net of taxes)     (88 )     —       —   
                    
Net income available for common stockholders   $ 177     $ 27,941     $ 107,657   

                    
                          
Weighted average shares outstanding:                         

Basic     12,194       11,704       8,991   
Diluted     12,704       12,480       9,448   

                    
                          
Income per common share — Basic:                         

Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle   $ 0.02     $ 2.39     $ 11.97   
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle (net of taxes)   $ (0.01 )   $ 0.00     $ 0.00   

                    
Basic earnings per share   $ 0.01     $ 2.39     $ 11.97   

                    
                          
Income per common share — Diluted:                         

Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle   $ 0.02     $ 2.24     $ 11.39   
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle (net of taxes)   $ (0.01 )   $ 0.00     $ 0.00   

                    
Diluted earnings per share   $ 0.01     $ 2.24     $ 11.39   

                    
                          
Dividends declared   $ 0.70     $ 0.53     $ —   



                    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
CARMIKE CINEMAS, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES 

(in thousands) 
                          
    Year Ended December 31,   
    2005     2004     2003   
            (restated)     (restated)   
Operating activities                         
Net income available for common stockholders   $ 177     $ 27,941       107,657   
Adjustments to reconcile net income available for common stockholders to net 

cash provided by operating activities:                         
Depreciation and amortization     37,214       33,765       32,505   
Amortization of debt issuance costs     2,226       1,693       668   
Impairment of long-lived assets     2,527       892       1,148   
Loss on extinguishment of debt     3,820       —       —   
Deferred income taxes     2,238       18,665       (78,226 ) 
Stock-based compensation     3,274       5,757       6,021   
Non-cash reorganization items     (2,388 )     (12,397 )     (4,109 ) 

                          
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle     140       —       —   
Gain on sales of property and equipment and termination of capital lease     (2,599 )     (2,412 )     (3,023 ) 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquisition:                         

Accounts and notes receivable and inventories     45       507       244   
Prepaid expenses and other assets     (11,501 )     (3,418 )     (4,577 ) 
Accounts payable     (885 )     (4,308 )     (4,584 ) 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities     8,574       (16,068 )     (628 ) 

                    
Net cash provided by operating activities     42,862       50,617       53,096   
Investing activities                         
Purchases of property and equipment     (87,559 )     (46,971 )     (20,934 ) 
Acquisition of GKC Theatres’ stock, net of cash acquired     (61,596 )     —       —   
Funding of GKC acquisition escrow account     (3,200 )     —       —   
Funding of other restricted cash     (402 )     —       —   
Acquisition of partnership     —       (1,333 )     —   
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment     6,268       4,577       6,722   
                    
Net cash used in investing activities     (146,489 )     (43,727 )     (14,212 ) 
Financing activities                         
Consolidated Debt:                         

Additional borrowing, net of debt issuance costs     182,000       250,000       —   
Repayments of long-term debt     (115,090 )     (324,443 )     (41,366 ) 
Repayments of liabilities subject to compromise     (958 )     (7,776 )     (11,737 ) 
Repayments of capital lease and long-term financing obligations     (1,507 )     (2,222 )     (2,674 ) 
Proceeds from long-term financing obligations     19,648       8,460       4,638   

Issuance of common stock     —       89,053       —   
Purchase of treasury stock     (5,210 )     —       —   
Dividends paid     (8,591 )     (4,254 )     —   
                    
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities     70,292       8,818       (51,139 ) 
                    
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     (33,335 )     15,708       (12,255 ) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year     56,944       41,236       53,491   
                    
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year   $ 23,609     $ 56,944     $ 41,236   

                    
                          
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:                         
Cash paid during the period for:                         
Interest (including amounts capitalized of $1,971, $502 and $468 during 2005, 

2004 and 2003, respectively)   $ 39,546     $ 36,573     $ 47,997   
Income taxes   $ 345     $ 500     $ —   
Schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities:                         



Assets acquired through capital lease obligations and operating leases converted 

to financing obligations   $ 4,077     $ 8,974     $ 825   
Dividends declared not yet payable   $ 2,154     $ 2,128     $ —   

      The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
CARMIKE CINEMAS, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES 

(in thousands) 
                                                          
                                    Paid in     Accumulated         
    Common Stock     Treasury Stock     Capital     Deficit     Total   
    Shares     Amount     Shares     Amount                           
Balance at January 1, 2003, 

as originally reported     9,088     $ 273       —       —     $ 208,249     $ (180,704 )   $ 27,818   
Restatement adjustment     —       —       —       —       —       (14,774 )     (14,774 ) 
      
Balance at January 1, 2003 

(restated)     9,088       273       —       —       208,249       (195,478 )     13,044   
Net income (restated)     —       —       —       —       —       107,657       107,657   
Stock-based compensation, 

net     60       2       —       —       6,021       —       6,023   
                                            
Balance at December 31, 

2003 (restated)     9,148       275       —       —       214,270       (87,821 )     126,724   
Stock issuance     3,015       90       —       —       88,963       —       89,053   
Net income (restated)     —       —       —       —       —       27,941       27,941   
Dividend declared     —       —       —       —       (6,382 )     —       (6,382 ) 
Stock-based compensation, 

net     —       —       —       —       5,757       —       5,757   
                                            
Balance at December 31, 

2004 (restated)     12,163       365       —       —       302,608       (59,880 )     243,093   
Stock issuance     293       9       —       —       (9 )     —       —   
Net income     —       —       —       —       —       177       177   
Purchase of treasury stock     —       —       (147 )     (5,210 )     —       —       (5,210 ) 
Dividends declared     —       —       —       —       (8,617 )     —       (8,617 ) 
Stock-based compensation, 

net     —       —       —       —       3,274       —       3,274   
                                            
Balance at December 31, 

2005     12,456     $ 374       (147 )   $ (5,210 )   $ 297,256     $ (59,703 )   $ 232,717   

      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
CARMIKE CINEMAS, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES 

December 31, 2005 

NOTE 1 — RESTATEMENT 

     During the second quarter of 2006, we determined that it was necessary to restate our previously issued financial statements for each of the 

years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, and each of the quarters ended March 31, June 30 and September 30, 2005 to correct for errors in 

the financial statements related to our failure to properly account for certain lease related transactions. The following errors in the application of 

generally accepted accounting principles to lease transactions have been corrected: 
 
  •   Where separation of the ground lease and building lease elements of a theatre lease was required pursuant to the provisions of 

Statement of Financial Standards (―SFAS‖) No. 13, Accounting for Leases (―SFAS 13‖), as amended, we had utilized a pro rata 

method to fragment leases into building and land elements. The land lease should have been determined by applying an appropriate 

incremental borrowing rate to the fair value of the land with the remaining lease payments being applied to the lease of the 

building. 
   
  •   For purposes of determining whether the lease is a capital lease because the present value of the minimum lease payments exceeds 

90% of the fair value of the leased property, we used an incorrect incremental borrowing rate. Similarly, to the extent the lease was 

determined to be a capital lease, the same incorrect rate was utilized to record the capital lease obligation. 
   
  •   For certain leases, we incorrectly utilized a period exceeding the term of the lease for purposes of amortizing leasehold 

improvements or capital lease assets. Adjustments were recorded to reflect the amounts computed using the correct lease term. 
   
  •   We did not correctly re-assess lease classification upon modification of the terms of certain leases. Accordingly, in some cases, the 

classification of the leases may have been incorrectly recorded in the financial statements and/or amounts related to the capital 

leases were not correctly adjusted for such modification. 
   
  •   We did not correctly account for certain build-to-suit arrangements in which, for financial reporting purposes, we were considered 

the owner of these assets during the construction period. Upon completion of the construction projects, we determined that we 

were unable to meet the requirements for sale-leaseback treatment under SFAS No. 98, Accounting for Leases: Sale-Leaseback 

Transactions Involving Real Estate: Sales-Type Leases of Real Estate; Definition of the Lease Term; and Initial Direct Costs of 

Direct Financing Leases (―SFAS 98‖); accordingly, project costs funded by the landlord should have been recorded as financing 

obligations. 
   
  •   We incorrectly capitalized interest on payments we made for construction of lessor-owned assets under lease arrangements in 

which we were not considered the owner of the project for financial reporting purposes. Additionally, for one build-to-suit 

construction project, we utilized an incorrect interest rate for purposes of capitalizing interest, and incorrectly capitalized interest 

over periods in which construction activity had been deferred for reasons other than normal construction delays. 
   
  •   We included contingent payments under lease arrangements classified as capital leases or financing obligations as rent expense, 

rather than interest expense. 
   
  •   We did not revise deferred rental liability calculations to reflect modifications of the terms on certain of our operating leases. 
   
  •   We incorrectly reported the cost of our contribution to lessor assets through the funding of project costs as leasehold 

improvements, rather than as building costs, assets under capital lease or prepaid rent, as appropriate under each arrangement. 

     In addition, we did not ensure the completeness and accuracy of supporting schedules and underlying data for routine journal entries and 

journal entries recorded as part of our period-end closing and consolidation process. As a result, during 2005, we 
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incorrectly recorded journal entries regarding directors fees, discount ticket and other revenue, capitalized interest, and accrued expenses. 

During 2004, we incorrectly recorded journal entries regarding other revenue and accrued expenses. These errors impact the quarterly results of 

operations presented in Note 18. 

     The financial statements, notes thereto and related disclosures contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K as of December 31, 2004 and 

for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 (and for each of the four quarters in 2004 and the first three quarters of 2005) have been 

restated to adjust for the errors noted above. These restatements reflect a $14.8 million increase to accumulated deficit at January 1, 2003 as 

well as adjustments to net property plant and equipment, capital leases, financing obligations, other assets, deferred expenses and accrued 

expenses. Adjustments were also made to reflect the tax effect of the restatement adjustments. 

     In addition, we revised our presentation of 2004 dividends declared totaling $6.4 million to present the charge as a reduction of Paid-in 

capital, rather than increase in Accumulated deficit. 

     The effect of the restatements on earnings per common share was as follows: 
                  
    Basic   Diluted 
2003   $ 0.40     $ 0.39   
2004   $ (0.04 )   $ (0.04 ) 

     The following tables summarize the effects of the restatements and revision on our previously issued audited consolidated financial 

statements for the years ended December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003: 
                  
    As of and for the Year Ended 
    December 31, 2004 
    (in thousands) 
    As Previously     
    Reported (1)   As Restated 
Balance Sheet:                 
Current deferred income tax asset     —       6,355   
Current assets     66,119       72,682   
Deferred income tax asset     50,601       51,247   
Other assets     21,027       28,074   
Property and equipment, net     470,128       467,685   
Total assets     639,855       651,755   
Current maturities of long-term debt, capital leases and long-term financing obligations     (2,872 )     (1,587 ) 
Accrued expenses     (35,582 )     (34,939 ) 
Current liabilities     (63,292 )     (61,107 ) 
Capital lease and long-term financing obligations less current maturities     (72,530 )     (93,303 ) 
Other liabilities     (1,348 )     (4,904 ) 
Paid-in-capital     (308,990 )     (302,608 ) 
                  
Accumulated deficit   $ 54,670     $ 59,880   
                  
Consolidated Statement of Operations:                 
Concessions and other revenue   $ 162,996     $ 163,858   
Other theatre operating costs     179,127       178,025   
Depreciation and amortization     33,801       33,765   
Gain on sale of property and equipment and termination of capital lease     (1,051 )     (2,412 ) 
Operating income     71,050       74,192   
Interest expense     26,104       30,073   
Income tax expense     19,603       19,262   
Net income available for common stockholders   $ 28,427     $ 27,941   
Income per common share – Basic   $ 2.43     $ 2.39   
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    As of and for the Year Ended 
    December 31, 2004 
    (in thousands) 
    As Previously     
    Reported (1)   As Restated 
Earnings per common share – Diluted   $ 2.28     $ 2.23   
                  
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows:                 
Net cash provided by operating activities   $ 59,397     $ 50,617   
Net cash used in investing activities   $ (35,400 )   $ (43,727 ) 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities   $ (8,289 )   $ 8,818   

     
(1)   As previously reported in our Form 10-K/A Amendment No. 2, for the year ended December 31, 2004, filed 

on November 9, 2005. 
                  
    Year Ended 
    December 31, 2003 
    (in thousands) 
    As Previously     
    Reported (1)   As Restated 
Consolidated Statement of Operations:                 
Other theatre operating costs   $ 176,781     $ 175,413   
Depreciation and amortization     32,764       32,505   
Operating income     71,692       73,318   
Interest expense     42,874       47,496   
Income tax benefit     (71,062 )     (77,726 ) 
Net Income available for common stockholders     103,989       107,657   
Income per common share — Basic   $ 11.57     $ 11.97   
Income per common share — Diluted   $ 11.01     $ 11.40   
                  
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity                 
Balance at January 1, 2003, Accumulated Deficit   $ (180,704 )   $ (195,478 ) 
Total Stockholders’ Equity at January 1, 2003   $ 27,818     $ 13,044   
                  
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows:                 
Net cash provided by operating activities   $ 53,263     $ 53,096   
Net cash used in investing activities   $ (12,206 )   $ (14,212 ) 
Net cash used in financing activities   $ (53,312 )   $ (51,139 ) 

     
(1)   As previously reported in our Form 10-K/A Amendment No. 2, for the year ended December 31, 2004, filed 

on November 9, 2005. 

NOTE 2 — SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Basis of Presentation 

     On August 8, 2000, we and our subsidiaries, Eastwynn Theatres, Inc., Wooden Nickel Pub, Inc. and Military Services, Inc. filed voluntary 

petitions for relief under Chapter 11 (the ―Chapter 11 Cases‖) of the United States Bankruptcy Code. In connection with the Chapter 11 Cases, 

we were required to report in accordance with American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Statement of Position 90-7, Financial 

Reporting by Entities in Reorganization under the Bankruptcy Code, (―SOP 90-7‖). SOP 90-7 requires, among other things, (1) pre-petition 

liabilities that are subject to compromise be segregated in our consolidated balance sheet as liabilities subject to compromise and (2) the 

identification of all transactions and events that are directly associated with our reorganization in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. 

We emerged from the Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to our plan of reorganization effective on January 31, 2002. On February 11, 2005, we filed a 

motion seeking an order entering a final decree closing the bankruptcy cases. On March 15, 2005, the United States Bankruptcy Court of the 

District of Delaware entered a final decree closing the bankruptcy cases. 
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Description of Business 

     Our primary business is the operation of motion picture theatres which generate revenues principally through admissions and concessions 

sales. We consider ourselves to be in a single segment. Substantially all revenues are received in cash and are recognized as income at the point 

of sale. Ten major distributors in the motion picture industry produced films which accounted for approximately 91.0%, 86.3% and 99.8% of 

our admission revenues in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. 

Revenue Recognition 

     We derive almost all of our revenues from box office admissions and concession sales. We recognize admissions revenues when movie 

tickets are sold at the box office and concession revenues when the products are sold in the theatre. Admissions and concession sales revenues 

depend primarily upon attendance, ticket price and the price and volume of concession sales. Our attendance is affected by the quality and 

timing of movie releases and our ability to obtain films that appeal to patrons in our markets. We record proceeds from the sale of gift cards 

and other advanced sale-type certificates in current liabilities and recognize admission and concession revenue when a holder redeems a gift 

card or other advanced sale-type certificate. We recognize unredeemed gift cards and other advanced sale-type certificates upon expiration. 

Expenses 

     Film exhibition costs vary according to box office admissions and are accrued based on the specified splits of receipts in firm term 

agreements with movie distributors. The agreements usually provide for a decreasing percentage of box office admissions to be paid to the 

movie studio over the first few weeks of the movie’s run, subject to a floor for later weeks. Where firm terms do not apply, film exhibition 

costs are accrued based on the expected success of the film over a thirty to sixty day period and estimates of the final settlement with the movie 

studio. Settlements between us and the movie studios are completed four to six weeks after the movie’s run. 

     Concession costs of sales are incurred as products are sold. We purchase substantially all of our beverage supplies from The Coca-Cola 

Company and the Pepsi-Cola Company. We purchase substantially all of our other concession supplies from a single vendor, Showtime 

Concession, of which we are the principal customer. 

     Other theatre operating costs include labor, utilities and occupancy and facility lease expenses. Labor costs have both a variable and fixed 

cost component. During non-peak periods, a minimum number of staff is required to operate a theatre facility. However, theatre staffing is 

increased during periods of attendance volume increases, and thus salaries and wages vary in relation to revenues. Utilities, repairs and 

maintenance services also have variable and fixed components. Our occupancy expenses and property taxes are primarily fixed costs, as we are 

generally required to pay applicable taxes, insurance and fixed minimum rent. In addition, several of our theatre leases contain provisions for 

contingent rent whereby a portion of our rent expense is based on an agreed upon percentage of revenue exceeding a specified level. In these 

theatres, rental expenses vary directly with changes in revenue. 

     Our general and administrative expenses include costs not specific to theatre operations and are composed primarily of corporate overhead. 

Principles of Consolidation 

     The consolidated financial statements include our accounts and those of our wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany 

accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 

Use of Estimates 

     The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires 

management to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements and accompanying notes. 

Actual results could differ from those estimates and such differences could be material. Management’s most significant estimates pertain to 

exhibition costs, leasing transactions, depreciation of property and equipment, income taxes, litigation and other contingencies and, in 

particular, those related to impairment of long-lived assets including goodwill. 
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Cash and Cash Equivalents 

     Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less at the date of purchase and consist primarily 

of money market accounts and deposits. Deposits with banks are federally insured in limited amounts. Certain balances are classified as 

restricted cash when they are due to third parties, including the escrow account for the GKC acquisition, subject to timing or other conditions. 

Debt Issuance Costs 

     Upon emergence from Chapter 11, all of the debt issuance costs relating to the pre-petition debt were written off to reorganization costs. The 

debt issuance costs relating to any new debt subsequent to the bankruptcy were capitalized and are being amortized to interest expense over the 

term of the related debt. 

     When components of long-term debt are repaid or refinanced, any applicable portions of unamortized debt issuance costs are written off to 

loss on extinguishment of debt. 

Inventories 

     Inventories, principally concessions and theatre supplies, are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out method) or market. 

Property and Equipment 

     Property and equipment are carried at cost, net of accumulated depreciation, or cost adjusted for recognized impairments. Assets held for 

sale are reported at the lower of the asset’s carrying amount or its fair value less costs to sell. Amortization of assets recorded under capital 

leases is included with depreciation expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. 

We compute depreciation on a straight-line basis as follows: 
          
Building and improvements   20-30 years 
Leasehold improvements*   15-30 years 
Capital leases*   11-25 years 
Equipment   5-15 years 

  
*   Number of years is based on the lesser of the useful life of the asset or the term of the applicable lease. 

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was $37.2 million, $33.8 million and $32.5 million, respectively. 

Goodwill and Other Acquired Intangible Assets 

     Goodwill is the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired in business combinations accounted for as a purchase. 

The provisions of SFAS No.142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (―SFAS 142‖), were adopted on January 1, 2002. The provisions 

prohibit the amortization of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets and require that these assets be tested periodically for impairment at 

least annually. We consider all of our consolidated operations to be one reporting unit for SFAS 142 purposes. We test goodwill for impairment 

during the fourth quarter of our fiscal year (or on an interim basis should an event occur that may reduce the fair value of the reporting unit 

below its carrying value.). We evaluated the goodwill for impairment by comparing our fair market value as measured by our market 

capitalization to the book value of net assets. The market capitalization was in excess of our net asset carrying value at both December 31, 2005 

and 2004, therefore the implied value of our recorded goodwill was not impaired. As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, our financial statements 

included acquisition-related goodwill of $38.5 million and $23.4 million, respectively. 

     Below is the detail of goodwill and other acquired intangible assets at December 31, 2005 and 2004. Other acquired intangible assets are 

presented net of amortization. 
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Goodwill and other intangible assets 

(in thousands) 
                  

    Goodwill     
Other 

Intangibles   
Balance at December 31, 2004   $ 23,354     $ —   
Purchased goodwill     15,106       —   
Lease intangibles     —       1,774   
Trade names     —       308   
              
Balance at December 31, 2005   $ 38,460     $ 2,082   

              

     We recognized additional goodwill and intangibles of approximately $17.5 million from the acquisition of the GKC theatre circuit. None of 

the goodwill recognized is deductible for tax purposes. GKC Theatres operated 30 theatres with 263 screens in Illinois, Indiana, Michigan and 

Wisconsin. 

     Included in the goodwill and other acquired intangibles on our consolidated balance sheet are intangible assets associated with acquired 

leases and trade name. The lease intangibles assets are being amortized over the remaining lease terms and the trade name intangible asset is 

being amortized over approximately twenty months. 

Assets Held for Sale 

     Certain assets have been identified for disposition, a portion of which is undeveloped land. The value of these assets are reported in assets 

held for sale pending the completion of their sale and are held at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell. The carrying 

value of these assets is reviewed as to relative market conditions dictating and is in accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the 

Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (―SFAS 144‖). Disposition of these assets is contingent on current market conditions and we 

cannot be assured that they will be sold at a value equal to or greater than the current carrying value. 

Deferred Revenue 

     We record proceeds from the sale of gift cards and other advanced sale-type certificates in current liabilities, and we recognize admission 

and concession revenue when a holder redeems a gift card or other advanced sale-type certificate. We recognize revenues on unredeemed gift 

cards and other advanced sale-type certificates upon expiration. 

Impairment of Property and Equipment 

     We account for our property and equipment in accordance with SFAS 144. We review our property and equipment for impairment 

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. We annually review and 

monitor our internal management reports and the competition in our markets for indicators of impairment. 

     We consider a trend of operating results that are not in agreement with management’s expectations to be our primary indicator of potential 

impairment. An additional impairment indicator used by management is the existence of competition in a market, either from third parties or 

from our own expansion. For purposes of SFAS 144, property and equipment are evaluated for impairment at the theatre level except when 

multiple theatres are located in the same geographical area. We deem a theatre or market to be impaired if a forecast of undiscounted future 

operating cash flows directly related to the theatre or market, including estimated disposal value if any, is less than its carrying amount. If a 

theatre or market is determined to be impaired, the loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the theatres within the 

market exceeds its fair value. Fair value is based on management’s estimates, which are based on using the best information available, 

including prices for similar theatres or the results of valuation techniques such as discounting estimated future cash flows. Considerable 

judgment is necessary to estimate discounted future cash flows. Accordingly, actual results could vary significantly from such estimates. 

Income Taxes 

     We account for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes (―SFAS 109‖). Under SFAS 109, the liability 

method is used in accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences 

between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rate and laws that will be in effect 

when the differences are expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if it was more likely than not that some 

portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. For the year ended December 31, 2003, we 
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determined that it is more likely than not that certain deferred tax assets would be realized in the future and accordingly, it was appropriate to 

release the valuation allowance and recognize a tax benefit of $77.7 million. 

Advertising 

     We expense advertising costs when incurred. Advertising expense represents less than two percent of our operating expenses each year. 

Stock Based Compensation 

     In December 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock Based Compensation-Transition 

and Disclosure (―SFAS 148‖). SFAS 148 amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-based Compensation 

(―SFAS 123‖), to require prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for stock-based 

employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. SFAS 148 was effective for our financial statements for fiscal 

years ending 2002 and for interim periods beginning on January 1, 2003. 

     We account for our stock-based compensation plans under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to 

Employees (―APB 25‖). Reflected in the 2005, 2004 and 2003 Statements of Operations is $3.3 million, $5.8 million and $6.0 million, 

respectively, of stock-based employee compensation cost related to the stock grants ($3.4 million, $3.2 million and $3.2 million, respectively, 

from fixed accounting and ($.1) million, $2.6 million and $2.8 million, respectively, from variable accounting). Compensation cost for fixed 

stock option awards with graded vesting is on an accelerated basis whereby the earlier years of vesting bear a greater portion of the cost. 

     Our assessment of the fair value of share-based compensation is affected by our stock price as well as assumptions regarding a number of 

complex and subjective variables and the related tax impact. These variables include, but are not limited to, the volatility of our stock price and 

employee stock option exercise behaviors. We have evaluated various valuation methods and have decided to implement the Black-Scholes 

pricing model, which we believe is the most appropriate model for us. The fair value of each option grant and stock based award has been 

estimated as of the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions: 
                          
    2005   2004   2003 
Expected life (years)     9       9       9   
Risk-free interest rate     4.40 %     4.34 %     4.34 % 
Dividend yield     2.76 %     0.00 %     0.00 % 
Expected volatility     0.40       0.40       0.40   

     There were 335,000 options granted in 2003, 5,000 options granted in 2004 and 2005 and 20,000 options forfeited in 2005. The estimated 

fair value of the options granted was $11.66 per share for 2005, $17.54 per share for 2004, and $16.94 per share for 2003. There were 11,130 

stock grants received by management in 2004 and 8,000 stock grants forfeited in 2004. No stock grants were given in 2005. Had compensation 

cost been determined consistent with SFAS 123, utilizing the assumptions detailed above, our pro forma net income and pro forma basic and 

diluted income per share would have increased (decreased) to the following amounts (in thousands, except per share data): 
                          
    Year Ended December 31,   
    2005     2004     2003   
            (restated)     (restated)   
Net income (loss):                         

As reported   $ 177     $ 27,941     $ 107,657   
Plus: Expense recorded on deferred stock compensation, net of related tax 

effects     3,253       3,408       3,764   
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under 

fair value based method for all awards, net of related tax effects     (4,672 )     (3,551 )     (2,983 ) 
                    

Pro forma — for SFAS 123   $ (1,242 )   $ 27,798     $ 108,438   

                    
Basic net earnings (loss) per share:                         

As reported   $ 0.01     $ 2.39     $ 11.97   
Pro forma — for SFAS 123   $ (0.10 )   $ 2.38     $ 12.06   

                    
Diluted net earnings (loss) per share:                         

As reported   $ 0.01     $ 2.24     $ 11.39   
Pro forma — for SFAS 123   $ (0.10 )   $ 2.23     $ 11.48   
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Earnings Per Share 

     Earnings per share is presented in conformity with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 128, Earnings Per Share (―SFAS 

128‖), for all periods presented. In accordance with SFAS 128, basic net income per common share has been computed using the 

weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net 

income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding plus common stock equivalents for each period. 
                          
    Year Ended December 31,   
(in 000’s except per share data)   2005     2004     2003   
Weighted average shares outstanding     12,293       11,863       9,150   

Less restricted stock issued (1)     (99 )     (159 )     (159 ) 
                    

Basic divisor     12,194       11,704       8,991   
Dilutive Shares:                         

Restricted stock awards (1)     476       733       444   
Stock options     34       43       13   

                    
Diluted divisor     12,704       12,480       9,448   

                    
Earnings per share:                         

Basic   $ 0.01     $ 2.39     $ 11.97   
Diluted   $ 0.01     $ 2.24     $ 11.39   

                    

  
(1)   Primarily pertains to stock grants made to certain members of senior management; the issuance of the 

underlying shares is dependent upon the achievement of specific performance goals. 

Leases 

     We operate most of our theatres under non-cancelable lease agreements. These leases generally provide for the payment of fixed monthly 

rentals, property taxes, common area maintenance, insurance and repairs. Certain of these leases provide for escalating lease payments over the 

terms of the leases. At our option, we can renew a substantial portion of our theatre leases, at the then fair rental rate, for various periods with 

the maximum renewal period generally totaling 20 years. 

     We determine the appropriate accounting for each theatre based on applying principles of SFAS 13, as amended, and related authoritative 

accounting literature. Accordingly, we classify the following arrangements as capital leases: (a) the lease transfers ownership of the theatre 

property to us by the end of the lease term; (b) the lease contains a bargain purchase option; (c) the lease term is equal to or greater than 75% or 

more of the economic life of the leased property; or (d) the present value of the minimum lease payments equals or exceeds 90% of the fair 

value of the leased property. As to those arrangements that are classified as capital leases, we record property under capital leases and a capital 

lease obligation in an amount equal to the lesser of the present value of the minimum lease payments to be made over the life of the lease at the 

beginning of the lease term, or the fair value of the leased property. The property under capital lease is amortized on a straight-line basis as a 

charge to expense over the lease term, as defined, or the economic life of the leased property, whichever is less. During the lease term, as 

defined, each minimum lease payment is allocated between a reduction of the lease obligation and interest expense so as to produce a constant 

periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lease obligation. 

     In regard to those leases that are classified as operating leases, for accounting purposes, the total amount of base rentals over the terms of the 

leases is charged to expense on the straight-line method over the lease terms, as defined. Furthermore, rental cost in excess of lease payments is 

recorded as a deferred rental liability and is amortized to rental expense over the remaining term of the lease. 

Percentage Rent 

     Several leases have a contingent component called percentage rent. Percentage rent is based on a percentage of defined revenue factors over 

a fixed breakpoint for the lease year as described within the lease. We recognize contingent rent expense prior to achievement of the fixed 

breakpoint when it becomes probable that the breakpoint will be achieved. Contingent payments under capital leases and arrangements 

accounted for as financing obligations are charged to interest expense. 
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Financing Obligations 

     We are considered the owner of certain assets during construction under the provisions of Emerging Issues Task Force (―EITF‖) No. 97-10, 

The Effect of Lessee Involvement in Asset Construction (―EITF 97-10‖), if we pay or can be required to pay any portion of the construction 

costs. Once construction is completed, we consider the requirements under SFAS No. 98, Accounting for Leases: Sale-Leaseback Transactions 

Involving Real Estate: Sales-Type Leases of Real Estate; Definition of the Lease Term; and Initial Direct Costs of Direct Financing Leases 

(―SFAS 98‖), for sale-leaseback treatment, and if the arrangement does not meet such requirements, we record the project’s construction costs 

funded by the landlord as a financing obligation. The obligation is amortized over the financing term based on the payments designated in the 

contract. Under certain arrangements, the last payment is settled through non-cash consideration consisting of the property subject to the 

financing obligation. 

Interest Expense 

     Interest expense includes interest paid or accrued on long-term debt, capital leases and financing obligations as well as amortization of debt 

issue costs and contingent interest on capital leases and finance obligations. 

Indemnification 

     We indemnify certain suppliers in connection with potential damages arising out of the operation of certain theatre equipment. 

Benefit Plans 

     We have a non-qualified deferred compensation plan for certain of our executive officers. Under this plan, we contribute ten percent of the 

employee’s taxable compensation to a secular trust designated for the employee. We also have a benefit plan for certain non-executive 

employees, of which contributions to the plans are at the discretion of our executive management. Aggregate contributions made in cash 

amounted to $537 thousand, $238 thousand and $228 thousand for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

     In March 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (―FASB‖) issued Interpretation No. 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset 

Retirement Obligations (―FIN 47‖) which became effective December 31, 2005. Under FIN 47, a conditional asset retirement obligation 

(―CARO‖) must be recorded if the liability can be reasonably estimated. A CARO is an obligation that is settled at the time an asset is retired or 

disposed of and for which the timing and or method of settlement are conditional upon future events. We own certain properties that may 

contain asbestos which under certain circumstances must be remediated. As a result of adopting FIN 47, we will increase the value of our 

recorded tangible assets at the time we recognize the associated conditional retirement obligation. 

     We adopted FIN 47 in the fourth quarter of 2005 and recorded a charge for the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle of 

approximately $140 thousand. The charge was recorded net of taxes of $52 thousand in the income statement line item of Cumulative effect of 

change in accounting principle. Additionally, we recorded a CARO of approximately $170 thousand. The balances represent the fair value of 

our potential obligation to remediate asbestos or other environmental contaminants associated with theatres we own that were constructed prior 

to 1980. Annual accretion of the liability and depreciation expense will be recorded each year for the theatres until the obligation year is 

reached, either by sale of the property, demolition or some other future event such as a government action. 

     On December 16, 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment (―SFAS 123(R)‖), which requires the 

measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all stock-based compensation payments and supersedes the current accounting 

under APB 25. SFAS 123(R) is effective for all annual periods beginning after June 15, 2005. In March 2005, the SEC issued Staff Accounting 

Bulletin No. 107 (―SAB 107‖) relating to the adoption of SFAS 123(R). 

     SFAS 123(R) requires companies to use fair value to measure stock-based compensation awards. The ―intrinsic value‖ method of 

accounting, which APB No. 25 allowed, resulted in no expense for many awards of stock options where the exercise price of the option 

equalled the price of the underlying stock at grant date. Under SFAS 123(R), the fair value of the award is not re-measured after its initial 

estimation on the grant date (except under specific circumstances). 
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     We adopted SFAS 123(R) in the first quarter of fiscal 2006 using the modified prospective method under which prior periods are not revised 

for comparative purposes. We will continue to evaluate the impact of SFAS 123(R) on our operating results and financial condition. The pro 

forma information within this Note under the section ―Stock Based Compensation‖ presents the estimated compensation charges under SFAS 

123. As a result of the provisions of SFAS 123(R) and SAB 107, we expect the compensation charges under SFAS 123(R) to be approximately 

$4.1 million before income taxes for fiscal 2006. However, our assessment of the estimated compensation charges is affected by our stock price 

as well as assumptions regarding a number of complex and subjective variables and the related tax impact. These variables include, but are not 

limited to, the volatility of our stock price and employee stock option exercise behaviors. We have evaluated other valuation methods and have 

decided to implement the Black Scholes option pricing model, the most appropriate for us. Also, see within this Note under the section ―Stock 

Based Compensation‖ for the expense of our stock–based compensation plans under APB 25. 

     In December 2003, the FASB issued its revision to FASB Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (an 

Interpretation of ARB. 51) (―FIN 46‖). We adopted the provisions of FIN 46 in March 2004. Variable interest entities are generally entities that 

lack sufficient equity to finance their activities without additional financial support from other parties or whose equity holders lack adequate 

decision making ability. FIN 46 requires variable interest entities to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary of the entity for financial 

reporting purposes. Application of FIN 46 is required in financial statements of publicly held corporations that have interests in variable 

interest entities (also referred to as special purpose entities) for periods after March 15, 2004. We evaluated the partnerships in which we have 

an investment (referred to as ―Investment in Unconsolidated Affiliates‖ in our consolidated balance sheet) and determined that they are not 

variable interest entities. Accordingly, FIN 46 has not had a material impact on our results of operations or financial condition. 

     In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an Interpretation of Statement 

of Financial Accounting Standards 109 (―FIN 48‖). FIN 48 is effective January 1, 2007 and would require us to record any change in net assets 

that results from the application of FIN 48 as an adjustment to retained earnings. 

     FIN 48 is applicable to all uncertain positions for taxes accounted for under SFAS 109, and is not intended to be applied by analogy to other 

taxes, such as sales taxes, value-add taxes, or property taxes. The scope of FIN 48 includes any position taken (or expected to be taken) on a tax 

return, including the decision to exclude from the return certain income or transactions. FIN 48 makes clear that its guidance also applies to 

positions such a (1) excluding income streams that might be deemed taxable by the taxing authorities, (2) asserting that a particular equity 

restructuring (e.g., a spin-off transaction) is tax-free when that position might be uncertain, or (3) the decision to not file a tax return in a 

particular jurisdiction for which such a return might be required. 

     FIN 48 requires that we make qualitative and quantitative disclosures, including discussion of reasonably possible changes that might occur 

in the recognized tax benefits over the next 12 months; a description of open tax years by major jurisdictions; and a roll-forward of all 

unrecognized tax benefits, presented as a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the unrecognized tax benefits on a aggregated 

basis. We are still in the process of assessing the impact that the adoption of FIN 48 may have on our consolidated results of operations, cash 

flows or financial position. 

NOTE 3 — PROCEEDINGS UNDER CHAPTER 11 

     In the Chapter 11 Cases substantially all unsecured and partially secured liabilities as of the Petition Date were subject to compromise or 

other treatment until a plan of reorganization was confirmed by the Bankruptcy Court. Generally, actions to enforce or otherwise effect 

repayment of all pre-Chapter 11 liabilities as well as all pending litigation against us were stayed while we continued our business operations as 

debtors-in-possession. 

     We could not pay pre-petition debts without prior Bankruptcy Court approval during the Chapter 11 Cases. Immediately after the 

commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases, we sought and obtained several orders from the Bankruptcy Court which were intended to stabilize 

our business and enable us to continue operations as debtors-in-possession. The most significant of these orders: (i) permitted us to operate our 

consolidated cash management system during the Chapter 11 Cases in substantially the same manner as it was operated prior to the 

commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases; (ii) authorized payment of pre-petition wages, vacation pay and employee benefits and reimbursement 

of employee business expenses; (iii) authorized payment of pre-petition sales and use taxes we owed; (iv) authorized us to pay up to 

$2.3 million of pre-petition obligations to critical vendors, common carriers and workers’ compensation insurance to aid us in maintaining 

operation of our theatres and approximately $37 million to film distributors; and (v) authorized debt service payments for the loan related to 

Industrial Revenue Bonds issued by the Downtown Development Authority of Columbus, Georgia. 
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     As debtors-in-possession, we had the right during the reorganization period, subject to Bankruptcy Court approval and certain other 

limitations, to assume or reject executory contracts and unexpired leases. In this context, ―assumption‖ means that we agree to perform our 

obligations and cure all existing defaults under the contract or lease, and ―rejection‖ means that we are relieved from our obligations to perform 

further under the contract or lease but are subject to a claim for damages for the breach thereof. Any damages resulting from rejection of 

executory contracts and unexpired leases were treated as general unsecured claims in the Chapter 11 Cases. During the Chapter 11 Cases, we 

received approval from the Bankruptcy Court to reject theatre leases relating to 136 theatre locations. We estimated the ultimate liability that 

may have resulted from rejecting leases and reported it as Liabilities Subject to Compromise in the balance sheet. On March 15, 2005 the 

United States Bankruptcy Court of the District of Delaware entered a final decree closing the Chapter 11 Cases. 

     As a result of the Chapter 11 Cases, no principal or interest payments were made on unsecured pre-petition debt. On October 27, 2000, we 

received Bankruptcy Court approval to make debt service payments for the loan related to Industrial Revenue Bonds issued by the Downtown 

Development Authority of Columbus, Georgia. We reached an agreement with our creditor constituencies that provided for the payment of 

cash collateral and adequate protection, as those terms are defined in the Bankruptcy Code. We made payments to the secured lenders in the 

amount of $8.3 million on March 5, 2001 and made payments of $500,000 per month as adequate protection payments. All of these payments 

were treated as principal payments under the creditor agreement. 

     Additionally, after the Petition Date, we could not declare dividends for our Preferred stock. Preferred stock dividends of $7.0 million and 

$2.3 million were in arrears at December 31, 2001 and 2000. The terms of the Preferred stock agreement provided, with respect to dividend 

arrearages, that the dividend accrual rate increases to 8.5%. In view of our having ceased making scheduled dividend payments on the Preferred 

stock after the Petition Date, the holders of the Preferred stock designated two additional directors to our Board of Directors. Also, during the 

Chapter 11 Cases, we reached an agreement to restructure our master lease facility with MoviePlex Realty Leasing, L.L.C. (―MoviePlex‖) and 

entered into the Second Amended and Restated Master Lease, dated as of September 1, 2001 (the ―Master Lease‖). Under the Master Lease, we 

entered into a 15-year lease for the six MoviePlex properties with an option to extend the term for an additional five years. The original 

MoviePlex Lease was terminated and prepetition defaults of $493,680 under the original MoviePlex Lease were paid. The first twelve months 

base rent for the six theatres was an aggregate of $5.4 million per annum ($450,000 per month), subject to periodic increases thereafter and 

certain additional rent obligations such as percentage rent. 

     All past due rent, additional rent, and/or other sums due to MoviePlex under the terms of the Master Lease bear interest from the date which 

is five days from the date the amounts were due until paid at the rate of 2% above the published prime rate of Wachovia Bank, N.A. Under the 

Master Lease, we pay all real estate taxes with respect to the leased premises. 

     When the plan of reorganization became effective on January 31, 2002, we filed with the Secretary of State for the State of Delaware an 

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, which cancelled all then existing Class A and Class B common stock and preferred stock 

and established authorized capital of our stock of twenty million (20,000,000) shares of reorganized common stock, par value $.03 per share, 

and one million (1,000,000) shares of reorganized Preferred stock, par value $1.00 per share. At December 31, 2005 we had 12,309,002 shares 

of reorganized common stock outstanding. 

     Material features of the plan of reorganization were: 
 
  •   The plan of reorganization provided for the issuance or reservation for future issuance of ten million (10,000,000) shares of 

reorganized common stock in the aggregate. 
   
  •   The holders of our cancelled Class A and Class B common stock received in the aggregate 22.2% (2,211,261) of the ten million 

(10,000,000) shares of reorganized common stock. 
   
  •   The holders of our cancelled Series A preferred stock received in the aggregate 41.2% (4,120,000) of the ten million (10,000,000) 

shares of reorganized common stock. 
   
  •   Certain holders of $45,685,000 in aggregate principal amount of our cancelled 9 3/8% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2009 issued 

prior to the Chapter 11 Cases (the ―Original Senior Subordinated Notes‖) received in the aggregate 26.6% (2,660,001) of the ten 

million (10,000,000) shares of reorganized common stock. 
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  •   We reserved one million (1,000,000) shares of the reorganized common stock for issuance under the Carmike Cinemas, Inc. 2002 

Stock Plan (the ―2002 Stock Plan‖). Under the 2002 Stock Plan, 780,000 shares have been authorized for issuance to Michael W. 

Patrick pursuant to his employment agreement and 220,000 shares have been authorized for issuance to seven other members of 

senior management. 
   
  •   The holders of Bank Claims in the Chapter 11 Cases received Bank Debt and cash in the amount of approximately $35 million plus 

accrued and unpaid post-petition interest on the Bank Claims from January 15, 2002 to the Reorganization Date. ―Bank Claims‖ 

consisted of claims of certain banks arising under: (i) the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of January 29, 1999, and 

amended as of March 31, 2000 and (ii) the Term Loan Credit Agreement dated as of February 25, 1999, as amended as of July 13, 

1999, and further amended as of March 31, 2000, and certain related documents. ―Bank Debt‖ consisted of borrowings of 

approximately $254 million and bears interest, at the greater of: (a) at our option, (i) a specified base rate plus 3.5% or (ii) LIBOR 

plus 4.5%; or (b) 7.75% per annum. 
   
  •   We issued $154.3 million of our former 10 3/8% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2009 in exchange for $154.3 million aggregate 

principal amount of the claims in the Chapter 11 Cases concerning the Original Senior Subordinated Notes. 
   
  •   Leases covering 136 of our underperforming theatres were rejected. 
   
  •   General unsecured creditors received payments in the aggregate of approximately $53.8 million with an annual interest rate of 9.4% 

in resolution of their allowed claims in our reorganization, including claims for damages resulting from the rejection of executory 

contracts and unexpired leases. Of these claims, $1.3 million were disputed as of December 31, 2004 and all claims have been 

satisfied as of December 31, 2005. 

     On the effective date of the reorganization, we entered into a term loan credit agreement (the ―Post-Bankruptcy Credit Agreement‖), which 

governed the terms of the post-Bankruptcy Bank Debt. Our subsidiaries guaranteed the obligations under the Post-Bankruptcy Credit 

Agreement. The lenders under the Post-Bankruptcy Credit Agreement had (i) a second priority, perfected lien on owned real property and, to 

the extent landlord approval was obtained or not required, leased real property of us and our subsidiaries; (ii) a second priority, perfected 

security interest in the equity interests of our subsidiaries or 50% owned entities; and (iii) a second priority, security interest in substantially all 

of our personal property and specified small receivables. All of the security interests and liens that secured the post-Bankruptcy Bank Debt 

under the Post-Bankruptcy Credit Agreement were junior and subordinate to the liens and security interests of the collateral agent under the 

Post-Bankruptcy Revolving Credit Agreement. 

     The reorganization value of our assets immediately before the effective date of the reorganization was greater than the total of all 

post-petition liabilities and allowed claims and the plan of reorganization does not result in a change in ownership as defined by Statement of 

Position 90-7; accordingly, we continued to recognize our results on the historical basis of accounting. 

Reorganization costs (benefit) for the periods ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, are as follows (in thousands): 
                          
    Year Ended December 31,   
    2005     2004     2003   
Professional fees   $ (1,997 )   $ 30     $ 282   
Change in estimates on claims     (391 )     (12,552 )     (4,754 ) 
Other     —       125       363   
                    
Total reorganization benefit   $ (2,388 )   $ (12,397 )   $ (4,109 ) 

                    

Cash used in reorganization activities for 2005, 2004 and 2003 is as follows (in thousands): 
                          
    2005     2004     2003   
Professional fees   $ (958 )   $ (30 )   $ (282 ) 
Payment of pre-petition liabilities     —       (9,300 )     (11,885 ) 
Other     —       (125 )     —   
                    
    $ (958 )   $ (9,455 )   $ (12,167 ) 
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NOTE 4 — LIABILITIES SUBJECT TO COMPROMISE 

     The principal categories of obligations classified as Liabilities Subject to Compromise under the Chapter 11 Cases are identified below. On 

March 15, 2005 the United States Bankruptcy Court of the District of Delaware entered a final decree closing the Chapter 11 cases. 

     A summary of the principal claims classified as Liabilities Subject to Compromise at December 31, 2005 and 2004 are as follows (in 

thousands): 
                  
    December 31,   
    2005     2004   
Disputed unsecured claims   $ —     $ 1,348   

              

NOTE 5 — ACQUISITION OF GKC THEATRES 

     On May 19, 2005, we acquired 100% of the stock of George G. Kerasotes Corporation (―GKC Theatres‖) for a net purchase price of 

$61.6 million, adjusted for working capital of $3.9 million. The GKC Theatres acquisition is consistent with our strategy of making small 

market acquisitions. The purchase price was negotiated using the historical average cash flows for the five year period ended December 31, 

2004 and adjusted for other assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The consolidated financial statements for and as of the twelve month period 

ended December 31, 2005 include the assets and liabilities and the operating results for the period from the acquisition date through 

December 31, 2005. Pursuant to SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations , we applied purchase accounting to the transaction, resulting in 

recognition of additional property and equipment of $54.1 million. A valuation of certain tangible and intangible assets acquired issued by an 

independent valuation expert was considered by management when determining the fair value of these assets. We recognized additional 

goodwill and other intangibles of approximately $17.5 million from the transaction. None of the goodwill recognized is deductible for tax 

purposes. GKC Theatres operated 30 theatres with 263 screens in Illinois, Indiana, Michigan and Wisconsin. 

     Actual cash paid at closing was $58.9 million of the net purchase price of $61.6 million. As stipulated in the purchase agreement, the 

remainder of the purchase price, $3.2 million, was set aside in an escrow account. The $3.2 million has been classified as restricted cash in our 

consolidated balance sheet. We have recorded a liability of $3.2 million in current accrued expenses in other liabilities in our consolidated 

balance sheet, representing deferred payments. The current escrow amount of $1.0 million was settled and remitted to the GKC shareholders in 

the first quarter of 2006. The long-term escrow amount of $2.2 million is to be settled within 18 months of the date of acquisition. 

     The following is a summary of the allocations of the aggregate cash purchase price to the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and 

liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition (in thousands): 
          
Current assets   $ 1,015   
Land     15,049   
Buildings, leasehold improvements and equipment     39,009   
Goodwill     15,106   
Other intangible assets     2,361   
Other non-current assets     123   
Current liabilities     (4,223 ) 
Non-current deferred tax liabilities     (6,844 ) 
        
Total purchase price   $ 61,596   

        

Pro Forma Results of Operations 

     The following selected comparative pro forma results of operations information for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 assumes 

the GKC Theatres acquisition occurred at the beginning of the fiscal year 2005 and 2004, respectively, and reflects the full results of operations 

for the year presented. The pro forma results have been prepared for comparative purposes only and do not purport to indicate the results of 

operations which would actually have occurred had the combinations been in effect on the dates indicated, or which may occur in the future. 
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(in thousands, except per share amounts): 
                                  
                    Pro Forma 
    Year Ended   Year Ended 
    December 31,   December 31, 
    2005   2004   2005   2004 
Revenues   $ 468,894     $ 495,337     $ 485,970     $ 550,310   
Operating income   $ 41,325     $ 74,192     $ 42,176     $ 81,471   
Net income   $ 177     $ 27,941     $ 241     $ 29,690   
Earnings per share:                                 
Basic   $ 0.01     $ 2.39     $ 0.02     $ 2.54   
Diluted   $ 0.01     $ 2.24     $ 0.02     $ 2.38   

NOTE 6 — IMPAIRMENT OF PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

     The impairment charges of $2.5 million, $0.9 million, and $1.1 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, were primarily attributable to 

changes in competition in some of our markets. These changes caused a decrease in profitability and estimated future cash flows in ten, nine, 

and four theatres, which operate 68, 30, and 27 screens, respectively, to a point below the carrying value of the long-lived assets. 

NOTE 7 — OTHER ASSETS 

Other assets are as follows (in thousands): 
                  
    December 31,   
    2005     2004   
            (restated)   
Prepaid rent – funding of lessor’s assets   $ 11,232     $ 9,778   
Loan origination fees     17,853       14,567   
Deposits and binders     3,604       3,689   
Other     13       40   
              
    $ 32,702     $ 28,074   

              

NOTE 8 — PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT UNDER CAPITAL LEASES 

     We obtained one property under a capital lease obligation for $1.5 million in 2005 and three properties under capital lease obligations 

totaling $4.6 million in 2004. We converted one capital lease obligation to a financing obligation in the amount of $0.6 million in 2005 and one 

capital lease obligation to a financing obligation in the amount of $3.9 million in 2004. The following amounts related to capital leases are 

included in property and equipment (in thousands): 
                  
    December 31,   
    2005     2004   
            (restated)   
Property under capital leases and improvements   $ 89,651     $ 88,860   
Less accumulated amortization     (15,714 )     (15,065 ) 
              
    $ 73,937     $ 73,795   

              

NOTE 9 — CAPITALIZED INTEREST AND CASH PAID FOR INTEREST 

     We capitalized interest in connection with our construction of long-lived assets. This activity consists of either construction of new theatres 

or additions to existing theatres. In addition, we capitalized interest for construction projects where we were deemed the owner during the 

construction period under EITF 97-10 and are considered owned assets because we failed the sales-leaseback provisions of SFAS 98. Interest 

incurred and interest capitalized are as follows (in thousands): 
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    Interest   Interest 
Years ended December 31,   Expensed   Capitalized 
2005   $ 35,284     $ 1,971   
2004 (restated)     30,073       502   
2003 (restated)     47,496       468   

NOTE 10 — ACCRUED EXPENSES 

     Accrued expenses include the following (in thousands): 
                  
    December 31,   
    2005     2004   
            (restated)   
Deferred revenues   $ 7,074     $ 5,269   
Accrued rents     5,809       7,660   
Property taxes     9,251       5,880   
Accrued interest     4,605       4,714   
Accrued salaries     6,152       4,781   
Sales tax     2,996       2,944   
Income tax     1,508       2,453   
GKC acquisition deferred payments     3,566       —   
Other accruals     1,482       1,238   
              
    $ 42,443     $ 34,939   

              

NOTE 11 — DEBT 

Debt consisted of the following (in thousands): 
                  
    December 31,   
    2005     2004   
Term loan   $ 166,225     $ —   
Post-bankruptcy Term loan     —       99,000   
7.50% senior subordinated notes     150,000       150,000   
Industrial revenue bonds; repaid in December 2005     —       315   
              
      316,225       249,315   
Current maturities     (2,451 )     (1,315 ) 
              
    $ 313,774     $ 248,000   

              

2005 Financing Transactions 

Senior Secured Credit Facilities 

     On May 19, 2005, we entered into a credit agreement with Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc., as sole lead arranger and sole book runner, Wells Fargo 

Foothill, Inc., as documentation agent, and Bear Stearns Corporate Lending Inc., as administrative agent. The credit agreement provides for 

senior secured credit facilities in the aggregate principal amount of $405.0 million. 

     The senior secured credit facilities consist of: 
 
  •   a $170.0 million seven year term loan facility used to finance the transactions described below; 
   
  •   a $185.0 million seven year delayed-draw term loan facility, with a twenty- four month commitment available to finance permitted 

acquisitions and related fees and expenses; and 
   
  •   a $50.0 million five year revolving credit facility available for general corporate purposes. 

     In addition, the credit agreement provides for future increases (subject to certain conditions and requirements) to the revolving credit and 

term loan facilities in an aggregate principal amount of up to $125.0 million. 
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     We used the $170.0 million term loan, in addition to approximately $4.6 million of available cash, to (1) fund the $62.1 million net purchase 

price of the GKC Theatres acquisition, (2) repay borrowings of approximately $101.2 million (including principal, interest and fees) under our 

former term loan facility, (3) repay approximately $5.1 million of outstanding borrowings (including accrued interest and fees) under our 

former revolving credit facility, and (4) pay related fees and expenses. We did not draw upon the revolving credit facility in connection with 

these transactions. 

     In connection with the transactions described above, we terminated our former $50 million revolving credit facility and repaid 

approximately $5.1 million, which included $5.0 million in unpaid outstanding principal and $0.1 million in accrued interest and fees. Also, we 

terminated our former $100 million term loan, and repaid approximately $98.8 million in principal, $.4 million of accrued interest and paid 

$2.0 million in prepayment fees. We recognized a $5.8 million loss on our extinguishment of debt which consisted of $3.8 million of loan fees 

related to our February 4, 2004 credit facilities and a $2.0 million prepayment premium on the retirement of our former term loan. 

     On June 6, 2006, we drew down $156 million of the $185 million delayed-draw term loan to repurchase our outstanding $150 million of 

7.50% senior subordinated notes due 2014 and to repay related fees and expenses. At this time, the portion of the delayed-draw term loan 

commitment which was not used for this repurchase was cancelled. 

     As described in the fourth and fifth amendments to our senior secured credit agreement, the interest rate for borrowings under our 

outstanding revolving and term loans is set to a margin above the London interbank offered rate (―Libor‖) or base rate, as the case may be, 

based on our corporate credit ratings from Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and Standard & Poor’s Rating Services in effect from time to time, 

with the margin ranging from 2.50% to 3.50% for loans based on Libor and 1.50% to 2.50% for loans based on the base rate. These 

amendments also temporarily increase the margin described above by 0.50% per annum until such time as our audited financial statements for 

the year ended December 31, 2005 and our unaudited financial statements for the quarter ended March 31, 2006 are delivered to the lenders. In 

addition, this 0.50% per annum increase will be in effect if we are unable to deliver our unaudited financial statements for the quarter ended 

June 30, 2006 by August 14, 2006 or if we are unable to deliver our unaudited financial statements for the quarter ended September 30, 2006 

by November 14, 2006, until such time as these unaudited financial statements are delivered. 

     In addition, as described in the fifth amendment, we have also agreed, that by October 25, 2006, we will enter into and maintain hedging 

agreements to the extent necessary to provide that at least 45% of the aggregate principal amount outstanding on our term loans is subject either 

to a fixed interest rate or interest rate protection through a date not earlier than May 19, 2008. The final maturity date of the term loan facility 

and delayed-draw term loan facility is May 19, 2012. 

     The interest rate for borrowings under the revolving credit facility for the initial six-month period was set from time to time at our option 

(subject to certain conditions set forth in the credit agreement) at either: (1) a specified base rate plus 1.25% or (2) the Eurodollar Base Rate 

divided by the difference between one and the Eurocurrency Reserve Requirements plus 2.25%. Thereafter, the applicable rates of interest 

under the revolving credit facility are based on our consolidated leverage ratio, with the margins applicable to base rate loans ranging from 

0.50% to 1.25%, and the margins applicable to Eurodollar Loans (as defined in the credit agreement) ranging from 1.50% to 2.25%. The rate at 

June 6, 2006 was 10.25%; on June 8, 2006, we converted the rate to a 90-day LIBOR-based rate, which was 8.52%. The final maturity date of 

the revolving credit facility is May 19, 2010. 

     If we repay the term loans prior to June 2, 2007, we will be subject to a 1% prepayment fee for optional and most mandatory prepayments, 

unless the prepayment results from a change of control transaction or the issuance by us of subordinated debt of up to $150 million. The credit 

agreement requires that mandatory prepayments be made from (1) 100% of the net cash proceeds from certain asset sales and dispositions and 

issuances of certain debt, (2) various percentages (ranging from 75% to 0% depending on our consolidated leverage ratio) of excess cash flow 

as defined in the credit agreement, and (3) 50% of the net cash proceeds from the issuance of certain equity and capital contributions. 

     The senior secured credit facilities contain covenants which, among other things, restrict our ability, and that of our restricted subsidiaries, 

to: 
 
  •   pay dividends or make any other restricted payments; 
   
  •   incur additional indebtedness; 
   
  •   create liens on our assets; 

65 

 
 



Table of Contents 

 
 
  •   make certain investments; 
   
  •   sell or otherwise dispose of assets; 
   
  •   consolidate, merge or otherwise transfer all or any substantial part of our assets; 
   
  •   enter into transactions with our affiliates; and 
   
  •   engage in any sale-leaseback, synthetic lease or similar transaction involving any of our assets. 

     The senior secured credit facilities also contain financial covenants that require us to maintain specified ratios of funded debt to adjusted 

EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA to interest expense. The terms governing each of these ratios are defined in the credit agreement, as amended. 

     Generally, the senior secured credit facilities do not place restrictions on our ability to make capital expenditures. However, we may not 

make any capital expenditure if any default or event of default under the credit agreement has occurred and is continuing or would result, or if 

such default or event of default would occur as a result of a breach of certain financial covenants contained in the credit agreement on a pro 

forma basis after giving effect to the capital expenditure. 

     Our failure to comply with any of these covenants, including compliance with the financial ratios, is an event of default under the senior 

secured credit facilities, in which case, the administrative agent may, and if requested by the lenders holding a certain minimum percentage of 

the commitments shall, terminate the revolving credit facility and the delayed-draw term loan commitments with respect to additional advances 

and may declare all or any portion of the obligations under the revolving credit facility and the term loan facilities due and payable. As of 

December 31, 2005, we were in compliance with all of the financial covenants. Other events of default under the senior secured credit facilities 

include: 
 
  •   our failure to pay principal on the loans when due and payable, or its failure to pay interest on the loans or to pay certain fees and 

expenses (subject to applicable grace periods); 
   
  •   the occurrence of a change of control (as defined in the credit agreement); or 
   
  •   a breach or default by us or our subsidiaries on the payment of principal of any Indebtedness (as defined in the credit agreement) in an 

aggregate amount greater than $5.0 million. 

     The senior secured credit facilities are guaranteed by each of our subsidiaries and secured by a perfected first priority security interest in 

substantially all of our present and future assets. 

      Subsequent Event of Default 

     We had not submitted audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2005 by the 65th day following the end of the previous 

fiscal year nor had we submitted unaudited financial statements for the three month period ended March 31, 2006 by the 40th day following the 

end of such three month period as required by the financial covenants under our senior secured credit facility. 

     On April 3, 2006, we obtained a waiver for the covenant regarding delivery of our audited financial statements for the year ended 

December 31, 2005 by entering into a second amendment to the credit agreement with Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc., and the other lending parties. 

This second amendment, which had an effective date of March 28, 2006, extended the date by which we were to submit audited financial 

statements for the year ended December 31, 2005 to the lenders to May 15, 2006. On May 9, 2006, we obtained a second waiver for delivery of 

such audited financial statements by entering into a third amendment to the credit agreement with Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc. and the other 

lending parties extending the delivery date to June 30, 2006. The third amendment also included a waiver regarding the delivery of the 

unaudited financial statements for the three month period ended March 31, 2006, extending the delivery date of such unaudited financial 

statements to June 30, 2006. 

     Effective June 2, 2006, we entered into a fourth amendment to our senior secured credit agreement with the lending parties thereunder, 

which included an extension of the deadline for the delivery of our audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2005 and 

unaudited financial statements for the three month period ended March 31, 2006 until July 27, 2006. 
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Effective July 27, 2006, we entered into a fifth amendment to our senior secured credit agreement, which included (i) an extension of the 

deadline for the delivery of our audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2005 until September 30, 2006; (ii) an extension 

of the deadline for delivery of our unaudited financial statements for the quarter ended March 31, 2006 until September 30, 2006; and (iii) an 

extension of the deadline for delivery of our unaudited financial statements for the quarters ended June 30, 2006 and September 30, 2006 until 

December 31, 2006. 

     The fifth amendment also provides that until we have delivered to the lenders the audited financial statements for the year ended 

December 31, 2005 and the unaudited financial statements for the quarter ended March 31, 2006, the maximum principal amount of 

indebtedness that we may incur under the $50 million revolving credit facility comprising part of the senior secured credit agreement is 

$10 million. In addition, the maximum principal amount of indebtedness that we may incur under the revolving credit facility will continue to 

be limited to $10 million if we are unable to deliver our unaudited financial statements for the quarter ended June 30, 2006 by August 14, 2006 

or if we are unable to deliver our unaudited financial statements for the quarter ended September 30, 2006 by November 14, 2006, until such 

time as these unaudited financial statements are delivered. 

     The amendments provide for waivers of certain defaults under the credit agreement, including the default resulting from our 7.50% senior 

subordinated notes being accelerated. In addition, the fourth amendment permitted our existing undrawn $185 million delayed-draw term loan 

commitment to be used to repay or repurchase our outstanding $150 million of senior subordinated notes and to pay related fees and expenses 

upon the acceleration of such notes. On June 6, 2006, we drew down $156 million on this delayed-draw term loan to repay our outstanding 

7.50% senior subordinated notes, all accrued and unpaid interest thereon and certain other fees and expenses related thereto. These notes are no 

longer outstanding and the related indenture is no longer in effect. The undrawn portion of the delayed-draw term loan terminated upon the 

funding of such $156 million. See ―7.50% Senior Subordinated Notes‖ below. 

7.50% Senior Subordinated Notes 

     On February 4, 2004, we completed an offering of $150.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 7.50% senior subordinated notes due 

February 15, 2014 to institutional investors. As discussed further below, on June 6, 2006, we drew down $156 million on our delayed-draw 

term loan to repay our outstanding senior subordinated notes, all accrued and unpaid interest thereon and certain other fees and expenses related 

thereto. The notes are no longer outstanding and the indenture governing the notes is no longer in effect. 

     The indenture contained covenants, which, among other things, limited our ability, and that of our restricted subsidiaries, to: 
 
  •   make restricted payments; 
   
  •   create liens on our assets; 
   
  •   consolidate, merge or otherwise transfer or sell all or substantially all of our assets; 
   
  •   engage in certain sales of less than all or substantially all of our assets; 
   
  •   incur additional indebtedness; 
   
  •   issue certain types of stock; and 
   
  •   enter into transactions with affiliates. 

     In addition, under the terms of the indenture governing the notes, we were prohibited from incurring any subordinated debt that was senior 

in any respect in right of payment to the notes. We completed an exchange of the notes for registered notes with the same terms in August, 

2004. 

     Upon a change of control, as defined in the indenture, subject to certain exceptions, we were required to offer to repurchase from each 

holder all or any part of each holder’s notes at a purchase price of 101% of the aggregate principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid 

interest to the date of purchase. 

     The indenture contained customary events of default for agreements of that type, including payment defaults, covenant defaults, bankruptcy 

defaults and cross-acceleration defaults. If any event of default under the indenture occurred and was continuing, then the 
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trustee or the holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the then outstanding notes could declare all the notes to be due and payable 

immediately. See ―Subsequent Event of Default‖ below. 

     Our subsidiaries had guaranteed the notes and such guarantees were junior and subordinated to the subsidiary guarantees of our senior debt 

on the same basis as the notes were junior and subordinated to the senior debt. Interest at 7.50% per annum from the issue date to maturity was 

payable on the notes each February 15 and August 15. The notes were redeemable at our option under certain conditions. 

     In conjunction with the 2004 refinancing, we wrote-off loan fees relating to the post-bankruptcy credit facilities of $1.8 million and paid 

pre-payment premiums in the amount of $7.5 million to retire our 10 3/8% senior subordinated notes. 

      Subsequent Event of Default 

     On April 3, 2006, the trustee for the 7.50% senior subordinated notes notified us that we were in violation of the covenant requiring us to 

file our Annual Report on Form 10-K with the SEC within the time frame specified by the SEC’s rules and regulations, thereby triggering a 

default under the note indenture. The notice further stated that if this default continued for an additional sixty days then an event of default 

under the note indenture would occur. We did not file our Annual Report on Form 10-K on or before June 2, 2006 and did not receive the 

requisite consents to obtain a waiver of the default under the note indenture. Consequently, the default was not cured during the 60-day cure 

period and therefore constituted an event of default under the note indenture which entitled the trustee under the notes and/or the holders of at 

least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding notes to declare all of the notes immediately due and payable. On June 2, 2006, we 

received notice from the holders of over 25% in aggregate principal amount of the notes that such holders had accelerated the notes. As a 

consequence, on June 4, 2006, $150 million in aggregate principal amount of the notes (representing all of the outstanding notes) plus accrued 

and unpaid interest thereon became immediately due and payable. As permitted under the fourth amendment to our senior secured credit 

agreement with the lending parties thereunder, we borrowed $156 million under our existing delayed-draw term loan commitment and repaid 

all of the outstanding notes on June 6, 2006. The notes are no longer outstanding and the indenture governing the notes is no longer in effect. 

Debt Obligations 

     At December 31, 2005 our future maturities of long-term debt obligations were as follows: 
                                                          
                                            After 5         
    1 Year     2 Years     3 Years     4 Years     5 Years     Years     Total   
Term loan credit agreement 

(1)   $ 1,671     $ 1,671     $ 1,671     $ 1,671     $ 1,671     $ 157,870     $ 166,225   
Revolving credit agreement 

(2)     —       —       —       —       —       —       —   
7.50% senior subordinated 

notes (3)     —       —       —       —       —       150,000       150,000   
                                            
Total contractual cash 

obligations   $ 1,671     $ 1,671     $ 1,671     $ 1,671     $ 1,671     $ 307,870     $ 316,225   

                                            

     As of June 6, 2006, we repurchased our 7.50% senior subordinated notes. Had this transaction occurred as of December 31, 2005, our 

long-term debt obligations with terms over one year would have been as follows: 
                                                          
    Pro Forma Presentation   
                                            After 5         
    1 Year     2 Years     3 Years     4 Years     5 Years     Years     Total   
Term loan credit agreement 

(1)   $ 1,671     $ 1,671     $ 1,671     $ 1,671     $ 1,671     $ 157,870     $ 166,225   
Revolving credit agreement 

(2)     —       —       —       —       —       —       —   
Delayed-draw term loan 

credit agreement (4)   $ 780     $ 1,560     $ 1,560     $ 1,560     $ 1,560     $ 148,980     $ 156,000   
                                            
Total contractual cash 

obligations   $ 2,451     $ 3,231     $ 3,231     $ 3,231     $ 3,231     $ 306,850     $ 322,225   
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(1)   The term loan has a maturity date of May 19, 2012. 
   
(2)   The revolving credit agreement has a maturity date of May 19, 2010. 
   
(3)   The maturity date for the 7.50% senior subordinated notes was February 15, 2014. 
   
(4)   The delayed-draw term loan credit agreement has a maturity date of May 19, 2012. 

     We have evaluated the market value of our fixed-interest debt as of December 31, 2005, and reflect it at cost. The fair value was 

approximately $140.4 million and $152.3 million as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. 

NOTE 12 — INCOME TAXES 

     As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, we had net deferred tax assets of approximately $48.4 million and $57.6 million, respectively. For the 

period ended December 31, 2003, we determined that it is more likely than not that certain deferred tax assets will be realized in the future and 

accordingly, it was appropriate to release the valuation allowance and recognize a tax benefit of $77.7 million. The positive evidence 

management considered included operating income for 2002 and 2003, our subsequent stock offering and refinancing resulting in significant 

prospective interest expense reduction and anticipated operating income and cash flows for future periods in sufficient amounts to realize the 

net deferred tax assets. 

     For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, our alternative minimum tax provision was $131,000 and $597,000, respectively. 

     The provision for income tax expense (benefit) is summarized as follows (in thousands): 
                          
    Year Ended December 31,   
    2005     2004     2003   
            (restated)     (restated)   
Current:                         

Federal   $ 131     $ 597     $ 500   
State     —       —       —   

Deferred:                         
Federal     2,070       17,421       (72,750 ) 
State     168       1,244       (5,476 ) 

                    
Total provision for income tax expense (benefit)   $ 2,369     $ 19,262     $ (77,726 ) 

                    

     The consolidated income tax provision was different from the amount computed using the U.S. statutory income tax rate for the following 

reasons (in thousands): 
                          
    Year Ended December 31,   
    2005     2004     2003   
            (restated)     (restated)   
Pre-tax book income   $ 2,634     $ 47,203     $ 29,931   

                    
Federal tax expense     922       16,521       10,476   
State tax expense     66       1,180       748   
Permanent items (principally related to executive compensation)     1,381       1,561       (2,155 ) 
Other     —       —       (2,869 ) 
Change in valuation allowance     —       —       (83,926 ) 
                    
Total tax expense (benefit)   $ 2,369     $ 19,262     $ (77,726 ) 

                    

Significant components of our deferred tax assets (liabilities) are as follows (in thousands): 
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    Year Ended   
    December 31,   
    2005     2004   
            (restated)   
Alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards   $ 718     $ 865   
Net operating loss carryforwards     32,135       28,857   
Tax basis of property, equipment and assets over book basis     13,944       22,378   
Deferred compensation     800       2,255   
Deferred rent     3,909       3,620   
Disputed claims     —       506   
Compensation accruals     758       1,121   
Other     1,486       1,232   
              
Total deferred tax asset     53,750       60,834   
                  
Tax basis of intangible assets under book basis     (5,377 )     (3,232 ) 
              
Total deferred tax liability     (5,377 )     (3,232 ) 
              
Net deferred tax asset   $ 48,373     $ 57,602   

              

The balance sheet presentation of our deferred income taxes is as follows (in thousands): 
                  
    Year Ended   
    December 31,   
    2005     2004   
            (restated)   
Current Assets   $ 6,029     $ 6,355   
                  
Non-Current Assets     47,721       54,479   
Non-Current Liabilities     (5,377 )     (3,232 ) 
              
Net Non Current Assets     42,344       51,247   
              
Net Deferred Tax Assets   $ 48,373     $ 57,602   

              

     During 2005 we utilized approximately $6.6 million of operating loss carryforwards, and we have $85.7 million of federal and state 

operating loss carryforwards with which to offset our future taxable income. The federal and state operating loss carryforwards begin to expire 

in the year 2020. In addition, our alternative minimum tax credit carryforward has an indefinite carryforward life. 

     Our stock issuances in 2002 and 2004 caused us to undergo an ownership change within the meaning of Section 382(g) of the Internal 

Revenue Code. These ownership changes will subject our net operating loss carryforwards to a limitation of their use, which will restrict our 

ability to use them to offset taxable income in future periods. Such limitation is projected to be approximately $26.9 million per year through 

2008 and then approximately $15 million per year thereafter. 

NOTE 13 — STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

     Upon emergence from Chapter 11 on January 31, 2002, both Class A and Class B common stock, as well as the Series A preferred stock, 

were cancelled and shares of common stock were issued. The common stock, $0.03 par value, consists of 20 million authorized shares, of 

which 12.3 million, 12.2 million and 9.1 million were outstanding at December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Of the 20 million 

authorized shares, one million shares were reserved for issuance under the 2002 Stock Plan. 

     Additionally, we have preferred stock, $1.00 par value, with one million authorized shares, of which no shares were outstanding as of 

December 31, 2005. 

     We had shares of common stock in 2005, 2004 and 2003 reserved for future issuance as follows (in thousands): 
                          
    December 31,   
    2005     2004     2003   
2002 Stock Plan     536       796       840   
Directors Incentive Plan     —       —       60   
Employee Incentive Plan     —       —       170   



2004 Incentive Stock Plan     1,069       1,055       —   
                    
      1,605       1,851       1,070   

                    

See Note 3 — Proceedings Under Chapter 11 
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Stock Options 

     Our stock option program is a long-term retention program that is intended to attract, retain and provide incentives for directors, officers and 

employees in the form of incentive and non-qualified stock options and restricted stock. These plans are described in more detail below. The 

Board of Directors has the sole authority to determine who receives such grants, the type, size and timing of such grants, and to specify the 

terms of any non-competition agreements relating to the grants. 

     The weighted average per share exercise prices for the options granted during the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were 

$22.05, $37.46 and $29.22, respectively, and the weighted average per share fair values for the options granted during the years ended 

December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were $11.66, $17.54 and $16.94, respectively. 

General Stock Option Information 

     On May 31, 2002, the Board of Directors adopted the Carmike Cinemas, Inc. Non-Employee Directors Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan 

(the ―Directors Incentive Plan‖), which was approved by the stockholders on August 14, 2002. There were a total of 75,000 shares reserved 

under the Directors Incentive Plan. The Board of Directors approved a stock option grant of 5,000 shares each to two independent directors on 

August 14, 2002. Additionally, the Board of Directors approved stock option grants of 5,000 shares in September 2003 and 5,000 shares in 

April 2004 for new directors. The option grant price was based on the fair market value of the stock on the date of the grant. These grants of 

20,000 shares in the aggregate during 2002, 2003 and 2004 represent the only stock options outstanding under the Directors Incentive Plan 

prior the plan being superseded on May 21, 2004, the effective date of the Carmike Cinemas, Inc. 2004 Incentive Stock Plan (the ―2004 

Incentive Stock Plan‖). 

     On July 19, 2002, the Board of Directors adopted the Carmike Cinemas, Inc. Employee and Consultant Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan 

(the ―Employee Incentive Plan‖), which was approved by the stockholders on August 14, 2002. There were a total of 500,000 shares reserved 

under the Employee Incentive Plan. We granted an aggregate of 150,000 options pursuant to this plan on March 7, 2003 to three members of 

senior management. The exercise price for the 150,000 stock options is $21.79 per share, and 75,000 options vested on December 31, 2005 and 

75,000 options vest on December 31, 2006. On December 18, 2003, we granted an aggregate of 180,000 options to six members of 

management. The exercise price for the 180,000 options is $35.63 and they vest ratably over three years beginning December 31, 2005 through 

December 31, 2007. These grants of 330,000 shares in the aggregate during 2003 represent the only stock options outstanding under the 

Employee Incentive Plan prior the plan being superseded on May 21, 2004, the effective date of the 2004 Incentive Stock Plan. 

     The following table sets forth the summary of option activity under our stock option plans for the three years ended December 31, 2005: 
                          
            Weighted     Weighted   
    Number     Average     Average   

    of Shares     
Exercise 

Price     
Fair 

Value   
Balance, January 1, 2003     10,000     $ 19.95     $ 11.59   

Granted     335,000     $ 29.22     $ 16.94   
Exercised     —       —       —   
Forfeited     —       —       —   
Expired     —       —       —   

                        
Balance, December 31, 2003     345,000     $ 28.95     $ 16.78   

Granted     5,000     $ 37.46     $ 17.54   
Exercised     —       —       —   
Forfeited     —       —       —   
Expired     —       —       —   

                        
Balance, December 31, 2004     350,000     $ 29.07     $ 16.79   

Granted     5,000     $ 22.05     $ 11.66   
Exercised     —       —       —   
Forfeited     (20,000 )   $ 35.63     $ 20.49   
Expired     —       —       —   

                        
Balance, December 31, 2005     335,000     $ 28.58     $ 16.50   
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     Information regarding stock options outstanding at December 31, 2005 is summarized below: 
                                  
    Options Outstanding     Options Exercisable   

            
Weighted 

Average               

    Number of     Remaining     Number of     
Weighted 

Average   

Prices   Shares     
Contractual 

Life (Years)     Shares     
Fair 

Value   
$19.95     10,000       6.62       10,000     $ 11.59   
$21.40     5,000       7.42       5,000     $ 12.42   
$21.79     150,000       7.19       75,000     $ 12.82   
$22.05     5,000       9.87       5,000     $ 11.66   
$35.63     160,000       7.97       53,335     $ 20.49   
$37.46     5,000       8.25       5,000     $ 17.54   
                              
Totals     335,000       7.60       153,335     $ 15.51   

                          

Stock Plans 

     Upon emergence from Chapter 11, our Board of Directors approved a new management incentive plan, the 2002 Stock Plan and authorized 

1,000,000 shares for future issuance. The Board of Directors approved the grant of 780,000 shares under the 2002 Stock Plan to Michael W. 

Patrick, our Chief Executive Officer. Pursuant to the terms of Mr. Patrick’s employment agreement dated January 31, 2002 these shares will be 

delivered in three equal installments on January 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007 unless, prior to the delivery of any such installment, Mr. Patrick’s 

employment is terminated for cause (as defined in his employment agreement) or he has violated certain covenants set forth in such 

employment agreement. In May 2002, our Stock Option Committee (which administered the 2002 Stock Plan prior to August 2002) approved 

grants of 220,000 shares to a group of seven other members of senior management. These shares were earned over a three year period, 

commencing with the year ended December 31, 2002, with the shares being earned as the executive achieved specific performance goals during 

each of these years. Shares earned will vest and be receivable approximately two years after the calendar year in which they were earned, 

provided, with certain exceptions, the executive remains one of our employees . One of the seven grants to senior executives includes a grant of 

35,000 shares to one of our former employees. 

     On March 31, 2004, the Board of Directors adopted the 2004 Incentive Stock Plan, which was approved by the stockholders on May 21, 

2004. The 2004 Incentive Stock Plan replaced the Employee Incentive Plan and the Directors Incentive Plan. The Compensation and 

Nominating Committee (or similar committee) may grant stock options, stock grants, stock units, and stock appreciation rights under the 2004 

Incentive Stock Plan to certain eligible employees and to outside directors. There are 1,055,000 shares of common stock reserved for issuance 

pursuant to grants made under the 2004 Incentive Stock Plan in addition to any shares which may be forfeited under the Employee Incentive 

Plan and the Directors Incentive Plan after the effective date of the 2004 Incentive Stock Plan. 

     On May 19, 2005, our non-employee directors received annual equity compensation consisting of 250 restricted shares each (an aggregate 

of 1,500 restricted shares of common stock, of which 250 were later forfeited by a former director) pursuant to the 2004 Incentive Stock Plan, 

which vest in full at the 2006 annual meeting of stockholders. Effective as of the 2006 annual meeting of stockholders, each of our 

non-employee directors will receive an annual grant of 2,500 restricted shares of common stock at each annual meeting of stockholders which 

will vest in full at the next annual meeting of stockholders. 

     We delivered 367,250 shares to various members of the executive management team on January 31, 2005 in conjunction with the 2002 

Stock Plan. In order to satisfy the federal and state income tax withholding requirements on these shares, we retained 146,620 shares in 

Treasury stock and remitted the corresponding tax withholdings in cash on behalf of the stock recipients. 

     We account for our stock-based compensation plans under APB 25. Reflected in the 2005, 2004 and 2003 statements of operations is 

$3.3 million, $5.8 million and $6.0 million, respectively, of stock-based employee compensation cost related to the stock grants ($3.2 million, 

$3.2 million and $3.2 million, respectively, from fixed accounting and $0.1 million , $2.6 million and $2.8 million, respectively, from variable 

accounting). Compensation cost for fixed stock option awards with graded vesting is on an accelerated basis whereby the earlier years of 

vesting bear a greater portion of the cost. 
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     The following table summarizes the activity in the 2002 Stock Plan since its inception and its status at December 31, 2005: 
                                  
            Status at December 31, 2005   

    Grants and     
Shares 

Earned,     
Shares 

Earned     Shares   

    Forfeitures (1)     
Pending 

Vesting     
and 

Awarded     Forfeited   
Grants and forfeitures in 2002:                                 

Shares granted to Chief Executive Officer     780,000       520,000       260,000           
Shares granted to senior management     220,000       95,980       86,250       37,770   
Forfeitures     (14,250 )                         
Shares granted to senior management     11,000       11,000                   

Grants and forfeitures in 2003:                                 
Forfeitures     (15,520 )                         

Grants and forfeitures in 2004:                                 
Shares granted to senior management     11,130       1,130       10,000           
Forfeitures     (8,000 )                         

            
Total grants, net of forfeitures     984,360       628,110       356,250       37,770   

            

     
(1)   There were no grants or forfeitures in 2005. 

     We have included in stockholders’ equity deferred compensation of $9.5 million and $15.4 million at December 31, 2005 and December 31, 

2004, respectively, related to the 2002 Stock Plan. 

NOTE 14 — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Leases 

     Future minimum payments under operating leases, capital leases and financing obligations with terms over one year and which had not been 

rejected in the Chapter 11 Cases as of December 31, 2005, are as follows (in thousands): 
                  
    Operating     Capital   
    Leases     Leases   
2006   $ 41,080     $ 6,757   
2007     39,864       6,984   
2008     37,755       7,050   
2009     36,283       6,956   
2010     33,655       6,754   
Thereafter     273,923       62,582   
              
Total minimum lease payments   $ 462,560       97,083   

                
Less amounts representing interest             (59,042 ) 
                
Present value of future minimum lease payments             38,041   
Less current maturities             906   
                
Long-term obligations           $ 37,135   

                

Rent expense 

     Rent expense was approximately $54.4 million, $43.3 million and $42.3 million for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. In addition, we had 

approximately $1.8 million, $3.6 million and $4.0 million in contingent rental payments for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. 

Financing obligations 

     Under certain leasing arrangements, we are considered to be the owner, for accounting purposes, of the asset during the construction phase, 

as we pay directly for a substantial portion of the construction costs. After construction of these assets was 
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completed, we did not meet the requirements under SFAS 98 for sale-leaseback treatment, and we recorded the constructed assets as owned 

assets. Therefore, we record the landlord’s reimbursement of some of the construction costs as long-term financing obligations. As of 

December 31, 2005, those long-term obligations relate to 21 separate arrangements with financing terms ranging from 10 to 23 years and 

effective interest rates between 3.6% and 19.6%. 

     At December 31, 2005, payments required on long-term financing obligations are as follows: 
          
    Financing   
    Obligations   
2006   $ 9,381   
2007     9,416   
2008     9,427   
2009     9,619   
2010     9,866   
Thereafter     224,110   
        
Total minimum lease payments     271,819   
Less amounts representing interest     (194,067 ) 
        
Present value of future minimum lease payments     77,752   
Less current maturities     (922 ) 
        
Long-term obligations   $ 78,674   

        

Contingent payments under capital leases and financing obligations 

     Interest expense includes $1.1 million, $2.3 million and $2.2 million for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, for contingent payments paid on 

capital leases and financing obligation arrangements. 

NOTE 15 — CONDENSED FINANCIAL DATA 

     We and our wholly owned subsidiaries had fully, unconditionally, and jointly and severally guaranteed our obligations under the 7.50% 

senior subordinated notes. In 2005 all unconsolidated, non-guarantor affiliates became wholly-owned subsidiaries of us. The condensed 

financial data for all years reflects this consolidation. 
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Condensed consolidating financial data for the guarantor subsidiaries is as follows (in thousands): 

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheets 

As of December 31, 2005 
                                  
    Carmike     Guarantor               

    
Cinemas, 

Inc.     Subsidiaries     Eliminations     Consolidated   
Assets:                                 
Current assets:                                 

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 17,437     $ 6,172     $ —     $ 23,609   
Restricted Cash     3,602       —       —       3,602   
Accounts and notes receivable     2,548       (492 )     —       2,056   
Inventories     160       1,642       —       1,802   
Deferred income tax asset (net)     4,549       1,480       —       6,029   
Prepaid expenses     2,365       3,922       —       6,287   
                          

Total current assets     30,661       12,724       —       43,385   
Other assets:                                 

Investment in and advances to unconsolidated affiliates     356       3,407               3,763   
Investment in subsidiaries and intercompany receivables     423,162       —       (423,162 )     —   
Deferred income tax asset (net)     23,580       18,764               42,344   
Other     23,732       14,404       —       38,136   
Property and equipment (net of accumulated 

depreciation)     129,521       440,426       —       569,947   
Goodwill     5,225       33,235       —       38,460   
Other acquired intangible assets (net of accumulated 

amortization)     —       2,082       —       2,082   
                          

Total assets   $ 636,237     $ 525,042     $ (423,162 )   $ 738,117   

                          
                                  
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity:                                 
Current liabilities:                                 

Accounts payable   $ 19,574     $ 3,942     $ —     $ 23,516   
Dividends payable     2,154       —       —       2,154   
Accrued expenses     31,801       10,642       —       42,443   
Current maturities of long-term debt, capital leases and 

long-term financing obligations     2,435       —       —       2,435   
                          

Total current liabilities     55,964       14,584       —       70,548   
Long-term liabilities:                                 

Long-term debt, less current maturities     313,790       (16 )     —       313,774   
Capital leases and long-term financing obligations, less 

current maturities     28,497       87,312       —       115,809   
Other     5,269       —       —       5,269   
Intercompany liabilities     —       235,033       (235,033 )     —   
                          

Total long-term liabilities     347,556       322,329       (235,033 )     434,852   
Liabilities subject to compromise     —       —       —       —   
                                  
Stockholders’ equity     232,717       188,129       (188,129 )     232,717   

                          
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 636,237     $ 525,042     $ (423,162 )   $ 738,117   
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations 

 For Year Ended December 31, 2005 
                                  
    Carmike     Guarantor               

    
Cinemas, 

Inc.     Subsidiaries     Eliminations     Consolidated   
Revenues:                                 

Admissions   $ 58,224     $ 251,178     $ —     $ 309,402   
Concessions and other     52,073       128,698       (21,279 )     159,492   

                          
      110,297       379,876       (21,279 )     468,894   
Costs and expenses:                                 

Film exhibition costs     31,559       136,692       —       168,251   
Concession costs     2,952       13,427       —       16,379   
Other theatre operating costs     43,272       163,815       (21,109 )     185,978   
General and administrative expenses     18,274       1,715       (170 )     19,819   
Depreciation and amortization     7,859       29,355       —       37,214   
Gain on sales of property and equipment     (765 )     (1,834 )     —       (2,599 ) 
Impairment of long-lived assets     519       2,008       —       2,527   

                          
      103,670       345,178       (21,279 )     427,569   
                          
Operating income     6,627       34,698       —       41,325   

Interest expense     5,740       29,544       —       35,284   
Loss on extinguishment of debt     5,795       —       —       5,795   

                          
Income before reorganization benefit, income taxes, and 

cumulative effect of change in accounting principle     (4,908 )     5,154       —       246   
Reorganization benefit     2,388       —       —       2,388   

                          
Income before income taxes and cumulative effect of 

change in accounting principle     (2,520 )     5,154       —       2,634   
Income tax expense (benefit)     (837 )     3,206       —       2,369   

                          
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of change in 

accounting principle     (1,683 )     1,948       —       265   
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle     (88 )     —       —       (88 ) 

                          
Income (loss) before equity in earnings of subsidiaries     (1,771 )     1,948       —       177   

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries     1,948       —       (1,948 )     —   
                          
Net income available for common stockholders   $ 177     $ 1,948     $ (1,948 )   $ 177   
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flow 

 For Year Ended December 31, 2005 
                                  
    Carmike     Guarantor               
    Cinemas, Inc.     Subsidiaries     Eliminations     Consolidated   
Operating activities:                                 
Net income available for common stockholders   $ 177     $ 1,948     $ (1,948 )   $ 177   
Adjustments to reconcile net income available for common 

stockholders to net cash provided by operating 

activities:                                 
Depreciation and amortization     7,859       29,355       —       37,214   
Amortization of debt issuance costs     2,226       —       —       2,226   
Impairment of long-lived assets     519       2,008       —       2,527   
Loss on extinguishment of debt     3,820       —       —       3,820   
Deferred income taxes     (365 )     2,603       —       2,238   
Stock-based compensation     3,274       —       —       3,274   
Non-cash reorganization items     (2,388 )     —       —       (2,388 ) 
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle     140       —       —       140   
Gain on sales of property and equipment     (765 )     (1,834 )     —       (2,599 ) 
Prepayment penalties on extinguishment of debt     —       —       —       —   
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of 

effect of acquisition     (74,560 )     68,845       1,948       (3,767 ) 
                          
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities     (60,063 )     102,925       —       42,862   
Investing activities:                                 

Purchases of property and equipment     (31,075 )     (56,484 )     —       (87,559 ) 
Acquisition of GKC Theatres’ stock, net of cash 

acquired     —       (61,596 )     —       (61,596 ) 
Funding of GKC acquisition escrow account     (3,200 )     —       —       (3,200 ) 
Funding of other restricted cash     (402 )     —       —       (402 ) 
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment     1,707       4,561       —       6,268   

                            
Net cash used in investing activities     (32,970 )     (113,519 )     —       (146,489 ) 
Financing activities:                                 

Additional borrowing, net of debt issuance costs     182,000       —       —       182,000   
Repayments of debt     (116,204 )     (1,351 )     —       (117,555 ) 
Proceeds from long-term financing obligations     11,248       8,400       —       19,648   
Issuance of common stock     —       —       —       —   
Purchase of treasury stock     (5,210 )     —       —       (5,210 ) 
Dividends paid     (8,591 )     —       —       (8,591 ) 

                          
Net cash provided by financing activities     63,243       7,049       —       70,292   
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents     (29,790 )     (3,545 )     —       (33,335 ) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year     47,227       9,717       —       56,944   
                          
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year   $ 17,437     $ 6,172     $ —     $ 23,609   
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Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheets 

As of December 31, 2004, as Restated 
                                  
    Carmike     Guarantor               

    
Cinemas, 

Inc.     Subsidiaries     Eliminations     Consolidated   
Assets:                                 
Current assets:                                 

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 47,227     $ 9,717     $ —     $ 56,944   
Accounts and notes receivable     1,688       142       —       1,830   
Inventories     227       1,074       —       1,301   
Deferred income tax asset (net)     5,153       1,202       —       6,355   
Prepaid expenses     2,329       3,923       —       6,252   

                          
Total current assets     56,624       16,058       —       72,682   

Other assets:                                 
Investment in and advances unconsolidated affiliates     9,417       2,092       (9,330 )     2,179   
Investment in subsidiaries and intercompany receivable     338,488       2,439       (340,927 )     —   
Deferred income tax asset (net)     22,611       28,636       —       51,247   
Other     22,758       11,850       —       34,608   
Property and equipment (net of accumulated 

depreciation)     107,992       359,693       —       467,685   
Goodwill     5,914       17,440       —       23,354   

                          
Total assets   $ 563,804     $ 438,208     $ (350,257 )   $ 651,755   

                          
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity:                                 
Current liabilities:                                 

Accounts payable   $ 17,453     $ 5,000     $ —     $ 22,453   
Dividends payable     2,128       —       —       2,128   
Accrued expenses     28,543       6,396       —       34,939   
Current maturities of long-term debt, capital leases and 

long-term financings obligations     1,315       272       —       1,587   
                          

Total current liabilities     49,439       11,668       —       61,107   
Long-term liabilities:                                 

Long-term debt, less current maturities     248,000       —       —       248,000   
Capital leases and long-term financing obligations, less 

current maturities     17,305       75,998       —       93,303   
Other     4,619       285               4,904   
Intercompany liabilities     —       221,283       (221,283 )     —   

                          
Total long-term liabilities     269,924       297,566       (221,283 )     346,207   

Liabilities subject to compromise     1,348       —       —       1,348   
                                  
Stockholders’ equity     243,093       128,974       (128,974 )     243,093   
                          
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 563,804     $ 438,208     $ (350,257 )   $ 651,755   
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations 

For Year Ended December 31, 2004, as Restated 
                                  
    Carmike     Guarantor               

    
Cinemas, 

Inc.     Subsidiaries     Eliminations     Consolidated   
Revenues:                                 

Admissions   $ 65,560     $ 265,919     $ —     $ 331,479   
Concessions and other     54,817       132,147       (23,106 )     163,858   

                          
      120,377       398,066       (23,106 )     495,337   
Costs and expenses:                                 

Film exhibition costs     33,315       141,378       —       174,693   
Concession costs     3,119       13,762       —       16,881   
Other theatre operating costs     39,889       160,878       (22,742 )     178,025   
General and administrative expenses     18,293       1,372       (364 )     19,301   
Depreciation and amortization     6,979       26,786       —       33,765   
Gain on sales of property and equipment and termination 

of capital lease     (23 )     (2,389 )     —       (2,412 ) 
Impairment of long-lived assets     362       530       —       892   

                          
      101,934       342,317       (23,106 )     421,145   
                          
Operating income     18,443       55,749       —       74,192   

Interest expense     1,066       29,007       —       30,073   
Loss on extinguishment of debt     9,313       —       —       9,313   

                          
Income before reorganization benefit and income taxes     8,064       26,742       —       34,806   

Reorganization benefit     12,397       —       —       12,397   
                          
Income before income taxes     20,461       26,742       —       47,203   

Income tax expense     8,685       10,577       —       19,262   
                          
Net income     11,776       16,165       —       27,941   

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries     16,165       —       (16,165 )     —   
                          
Net income available for common stockholders   $ 27,941     $ 16,165     $ (16,165 )   $ 27,941   
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flow 

For Year Ended December 31, 2004, as Restated 
                                  
    Carmike     Guarantor               
    Cinemas, Inc.     Subsidiaries     Eliminations     Consolidated   
Operating activities:                                 
Net income available for common stockholders   $ 27,941     $ 16,165     $ (16,165 )   $ 27,941   
Adjustments to reconcile net income available for common 

stockholders to net cash provided by operating 

activities:                                 
Depreciation and amortization     6,979       26,786       —       33,765   
Amortization of debt issuance costs     1,693       —       —       1,693   
Impairment of long-lived assets     362       530       —       892   
Deferred income taxes     8,854       9,811       —       18,665   
Stock-based compensation     5,757       —       —       5,757   
Non-cash reorganization items     (12,397 )     —       —       (12,397 ) 
Gain on sales of property and equipment and 

termination of capital lease     (23 )     (2,389 )             (2,412 ) 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities     137       (39,589 )     16,165       (23,287 ) 

                          
Net cash provided by operating activities     39,303       11,314       —       50,617   
Investing activities:                                 

Purchases of property and equipment     (18,168 )     (28,803 )     —       (46,971 ) 
Acquisition of partnership     (1,333 )     —       —       (1,333 ) 
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment     213       4,364       —       4,577   

                          
Net cash used in investing activities     (19,288 )     (24,439 )     —       (43,727 ) 
Financing activities:                                 

Additional borrowing, net of debt issuance costs     250,000       —       —       250,000   
Repayments of debt     (332,569 )     (1,872 )     —       (334,441 ) 
Proceeds from long-term financing obligations     —       8,460       —       8,460   
Issuance of common stock     89,053       —       —       89,053   
Dividends paid     (4,254 )     —       —       (4,254 ) 

                          
Net cash provided by financing activities     2,230       6,588       —       8,818   
                          
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     22,245       (6,537 )     —       15,708   
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year     24,982       16,254       —       41,236   
                          
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year   $ 47,227     $ 9,717     $ —     $ 56,944   
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations 

For Year Ended December 31, 2003, as Restated 
                                  
    Carmike     Guarantor               

    
Cinemas, 

Inc.     Subsidiaries     Eliminations     Consolidated   
Revenues:                                 

Admissions   $ 66,057     $ 266,013     $ —     $ 332,070   
Concessions and other     56,130       128,957       (24,072 )     161,015   

                          
      122,187       394,970       (24,072 )     493,085   
Costs and expenses:                                 

Film exhibition costs     33,665       146,738       —       180,403   
Concession costs     3,155       14,830       —       17,985   
Other theatre operating costs     40,391       159,094       (24,072 )     175,413   
General and administrative expenses     15,344       (8 )     —       15,336   
Depreciation and amortization     6,628       25,877       —       32,505   
Gain on sales of property and equipment     (671 )     (2,352 )     —       (3,023 ) 
Impairment of long-lived assets     —       1,148       —       1,148   

                          
      98,512       345,327       (24,072 )     419,767   
                          
Operating income     23,675       49,643       —       73,318   

Interest expense     13,877       33,619       —       47,496   
                          
Income before reorganization benefit and income taxes     9,798       16,024       —       25,822   

Reorganization benefit     4,109       —       —       4,109   
                          
Income before income taxes     13,907       16,024       —       29,931   

Income tax benefit     (29,812 )     (47,914 )     —       (77,726 ) 
                          
Net income     43,719       63,938       —       107,657   

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries     63,938       —       (63,938 )     —   
                          
Net income available for common stockholders     107,657       63,938       (63,938 )     107,657   
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flow 

For Year Ended December 31, 2003, as Restated 
                                  
    Carmike     Guarantor               

    
Cinemas, 

Inc.     Subsidiaries     Eliminations     Consolidated   
Operating activities:                                 
Net income available for common stockholders   $ 107,657     $ 63,938     $ (63,938 )   $ 107,657   
Adjustments to reconcile net income available for common 

stockholders to net cash provided by operating activities:                                 
Depreciation and amortization     6,628       25,877               32,505   
Amortization of debt issuance costs     668       —       —       668   
Impairment of long-lived assets     —       1,148       —       1,148   
Deferred income taxes     (39,405 )     (38,821 )     —       (78,226 ) 
Stock-based compensation     6,021       —       —       6,021   
Non-cash reorganization items     (4,109 )     —               (4,109 ) 
Gain on sales of property and equipment     (671 )     (2,352 )             (3,023 ) 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities     (36,854 )     (36,629 )     63,938       (9,545 ) 

                          
Net cash provided by operating activities     39,935       13,161       —       53,096   
Investing activities:                                 

Purchases of property and equipment     (3,460 )     (17,474 )             (20,934 ) 
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment     1,967       4,755       —       6,722   

                          
Net cash used in investing activities     (1,493 )     (12,719 )             (14,212 ) 
Financing activities:                                 

Repayments of debt     (53,249 )     (2,528 )     —       (55,777 ) 
Receipts from long-term financing obligations     —       4,638               4,638   

                          
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities     (53,249 )     2,110       —       (51,139 ) 
                          
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     (14,807 )     2,552               (12,255 ) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year     39,789       13,702       —       53,491   
                          
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year   $ 24,982     $ 16,254       —     $ 41,236   
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NOTE 16 — LITIGATION 

     From time to time, we are involved in routine litigation and legal proceedings in the ordinary course of our business, such as personal injury 

claims, employment matters, contractual disputes and claims alleging ADA violations. Currently, we do not have any pending litigation or 

proceedings that we believe will have a material adverse effect, either individually or in the aggregate, upon us. 

     On September 16, 2004, the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (―EEOC‖) filed a lawsuit against us in the U.S. District Court, 

E.D., North Carolina, alleging that seven named claimants and ―other similarly situated male employees‖ were sexually harassed by a male 

supervisor who worked at the Carmike 15 Theater in Raleigh, North Carolina from February 2003 until his termination in mid-October 2003. 

We learned, only after this alleged harasser had stopped working for us, that he had a criminal record relating to indecent liberties with a minor. 

In its lawsuit, the EEOC sought injunctive and monetary relief, including compensatory and punitive damages and costs. We filed an answer 

and defenses to the EEOC’s complaint on November 15, 2004. On November 4, 2004, a motion to intervene was filed on behalf of five 

claimants and family members/guardians of five other claimants. The proposed complaint submitted with the motion to intervene included 

claims under state and federal law, including claims of negligent hiring, promotion, and retention, negligent training and supervision, assault, 

intentional and negligent infliction of emotional distress, sexual harassment, and retaliation/constructive discharge. In the proposed complaint, 

the intervenors sought injunctive and monetary relief, including compensatory and punitive damages, attorneys’ fees, and costs. The motion to 

intervene was granted on November 23, 2004 and the intervenors served their complaint on December 9, 2004. We timely answered the 

intervenors’ complaint on January 14, 2005. Thereafter, an eleventh claimant moved to intervene. His motion to intervene was granted on 

March 28, 2005 and he served a complaint (substantially similar to the other intervenors’ complaints) on April 19, 2005. The parties resolved 

the case following mediation on July 29, 2005, and agreed to a settlement of $765 thousand. The settlement was paid at the end of 

September 2005 and the case was dismissed with prejudice subject to a consent decree. We had established a $1.0 million litigation reserve in 

connection with the litigation during 2004. 

     On August 8, 2000, we and our subsidiaries Eastwynn Theatres, Inc., Wooden Nickel Pub, Inc. and Military Services, Inc. filed voluntary 

petitions for relief under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware. On January 4, 

2002, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order confirming our Amended Joint Plan of Reorganization under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code 

(the ―Plan‖), dated as of November 14, 2001. The Plan became effective on January 31, 2002. On February 11, 2005, we filed a motion seeking 

an order entering a final decree closing the bankruptcy cases. On March 15, 2005, the United States Bankruptcy Court of the District of 

Delaware entered a final decree closing the bankruptcy cases. 

NOTE 17 — FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Concentrations of credit risk 

     Financial instruments that potentially subject us to significant concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents. 

     We maintain cash and cash equivalents with various financial institutions. These financial institutions are located in the southeastern United 

States and our policy is designed to limit exposure to any one institution. We perform periodic evaluations of the relative credit standings of 

those financial institutions that are considered in our investment strategy. 

     We used the following methods and assumptions in estimating our fair value disclosures for financial instruments: 

Cash and cash equivalents: The carrying amount reported in the balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents approximates their fair value. 

Accounts receivable and accounts payable: The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheets for accounts receivable and accounts 

payable approximated their fair value. Accounts receivable are determined based on specified percentages within film distribution agreements 

for advertising. Accounts payable are based on costs incurred not paid in the current period. 

Long-term debt: The carrying amount of our long-term debt borrowings are reported at cost. Our former 7.50% senior subordinated notes had 

a fair value as of December 31, 2005 of $140.4 million based on the tender price. The carrying amount is determined by the contractual 

agreement. 
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NOTE 18 — QUARTERLY RESULTS (UNAUDITED) 

     During the second quarter of 2006, we determined that it was necessary to restate our previously issued financial statements for each of the 

years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, and each of the quarters ended March 31, June 30 and September 30, 2005 to correct for errors in 

the financial statements related to our failure to properly account for certain lease related transactions, as discussed Note 1 to the consolidated 

financial statements. In addition, during 2005 we did not ensure the completeness and accuracy of supporting schedules and underlying data for 

routine journal entries and journal entries recorded as part of our period-end closing and consolidation process. As a result, we incorrectly 

recorded journal entries regarding directors fees, discount ticket revenue capitalized interest and compensation expense, which impacts the 

quarterly results of operations. 

     The quarterly results as reported and as restated are presented below: 

(As Previously Reported) 

In thousands, except per share data: 
                                          
    1st     2nd     3rd     4th         
    Quarter     Quarter     Quarter     Quarter     Total   
Year ended December 31, 2005                                         
Total revenues (1)   $ 101,683     $ 119,769     $ 116,857       —       —   
Operating income (1)     4,941       5,742       11,414       —       —   
Net income (loss) (2)     436       (2,496 )     1,321       —       —   

                                    
Net income (loss) per common share (3):                                         

Basic   $ 0.04     $ (0.20 )   $ 0.11       —       —   
Diluted   $ 0.04     $ (0.20 )   $ 0.10       —       —   

                                    
Year ended December 31, 2004                                         
Total revenues   $ 116,928     $ 133,096     $ 116,928     $ 127,523     $ 494,475   
Operating income     19,999       19,594       11,324       20,300       71,217   
Net income (2)     1,689       10,045       7,267       9,426       28,427   

                                
Net income per common share (3):                                         

Basic   $ 0.16     $ 0.84     $ 0.61     $ 0.81     $ 2.43   
Diluted   $ 0.15     $ 0.78     $ 0.57     $ 0.76     $ 2.28   

                                

(As Restated) 

In thousands, except per share data: 
                                          
    1st     2nd     3rd     4th         
    Quarter     Quarter     Quarter     Quarter     Total   
Year ended December 31, 2005 (4)                                         
Total revenues (1)   $ 101,220     $ 119,785     $ 116,903     $ 130,986     $ 468,894   
Operating income (1)     5,910       7,496       12,153       15,766       41,325   
Net income (loss) (2)     324      (2,379 )     1,042       1,190       177   

                                
Net income (loss) per common share (3):                                         

Basic   $ 0.03    $ (0.19 )   $ 0.08     $ 0.10     $ 0.01   
Diluted   $ 0.03    $ (0.19 )   $ 0.08     $ 0.09       0.01   

                                
Year ended December 31, 2004 as restated 

(4)                                         
Total revenues   $ 116,928     $ 133,189     $ 117,089     $ 128,131     $ 495,337   
Operating income     20,545       21,531       11,886       20,230       74,192   
Net income (2)     1,270       10,296       6,905       9,470       27,941   

                                
Net income per common share (3):                                         

Basic   $ 0.12     $ 0.86     $ 0.58     $ 0.78     $ 2.39   
Diluted   $ 0.11     $ 0.80     $ 0.54     $ 0.73     $ 2.24   



                                

  
(1)   We acquired GKC Theatres in the second quarter of 2005 which impacted revenues and operating income (see 

Note 5 for additional information). 
   
(2)   In connection with our asset impairment evaluations, we recognized impairment charges attributable to theatre 

released assets in under-performing markets in the fourth quarter of 2005 and 2004 (see Notes 2 and 5 for 

additional information). 
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(3)   Net income (loss) per common share calculations for each of the above quarters is based on the weighted 

average number of shares outstanding for each period and the sum of the quarters may not necessarily equal 

the net income (loss) per common share amount for the year. 
   
(4)   As described in Note 1, during the second quarter of 2006, we determined that it was necessary to restate our 

previously issued financial statements for each of the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, and each of 

the quarters ended March 31, June 30 and September 30, 2005. Operating income, net income (loss) and net 

income (loss) per common share have been restated for each of the quarters ended March 31, June 30 and 

September 30, 2005 and all quarters for 2004 as a result of errors in depreciation expense, interest expense 

and rent expense accounts for these periods. See Note 1 for detail on the restatements. 

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE. 

     None. 

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES. 

Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

     We maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or 

submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and 

forms. Disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, include controls and 

procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated 

and communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely 

decisions regarding required disclosure. It should be noted that any system of controls, however well designed and operated, can provide only 

reasonable, and not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the system are met. 

     As required by SEC rules, we have evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of 

the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This evaluation was carried out under the supervision and with the 

participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer. Based on this evaluation, these 

officers have concluded that, in light of the material weaknesses described below, as of December 31, 2005, our disclosure controls and 

procedures were not effective at the reasonable assurance level. 

     As a result of these control deficiencies, management performed additional procedures to ensure that our consolidated financial statements 

are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Accordingly, we believe that the financial statements included in this 

Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly present in all material respects our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows for the periods 

presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

     Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined 

in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed under the supervision of the principal executive 

and principal financial officers to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 

statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 

     Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, we 

conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the criteria established in Internal Control 

— Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). 

     A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that results in more than a remote likelihood that a 

material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected. As of December 31, 2005, the Company 

identified the following material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting: 
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  1.   We did not maintain a sufficient complement of personnel with appropriate skills, training and Company-specific experience in the 

selection, application and implementation of generally accepted accounting principles commensurate with our financial reporting 

requirements. This control deficiency contributed to the material weaknesses described below. Additionally, this control deficiency 

could result in a misstatement of accounts and disclosures that would result in a material misstatement to our interim or annual 

consolidated financial statements that would not be prevented or detected. Accordingly, management has determined that this control 

deficiency constitutes a material weakness and contributed to the following material weaknesses. 
   
  2.   We did not maintain effective control over the recording and processing of journal entries in our financial reporting process. 

Specifically, effective controls were not designed and in place to ensure the completeness and accuracy of supporting schedules and 

underlying data for routine journal entries and journal entries recorded as part of our period-end closing and consolidation process 

related to all significant accounts and disclosures. This control deficiency resulted in the restatement of our interim consolidated 

financial statements for the first three quarters of 2005 and audit adjustments to our 2005 annual consolidated financial statements to 

correct errors related to the recording of directors fees, discount ticket revenue, capitalized interest, deferred taxes and compensation 

expense primarily affecting accounts payable, general and administrative expense, admissions revenue, deferred income, interest 

expense, property, plant and equipment, accrued expenses and paid-in capital. Additionally, this control deficiency could result in a 

misstatement of the aforementioned accounts and disclosures which would result in a material misstatement to our annual or interim 

consolidated financial statements that would not be prevented or detected. Accordingly, management has determined that this control 

deficiency constitutes a material weakness. 
   
  3.   We did not maintain effective controls over the accounting for leases. Specifically, our controls over our selection, application and 

monitoring of our accounting policies related to the effect of lessee involvement in asset construction, lease modifications, 

amortization of leasehold improvements, and deferred rent were not effective to ensure the accurate accounting for leases entered 

into. This control deficiency resulted in the restatement of our 2004 and 2003 annual consolidated financial statements and our 

interim consolidated financial statements for the first three quarters of 2005 and all 2004 quarters and audit adjustments to the 2005 

consolidated financial statements to correct errors related to lease accounting primarily affecting property, plant and equipment, 

financing obligations, deferred rent, rent expense, interest expense and depreciation expense. Additionally, this control deficiency 

could result in a misstatement of the aforementioned accounts and disclosures that would result in a material misstatement to our 

annual or interim consolidated financial statements that would not be prevented or detected. Accordingly, management has 

determined that this control deficiency constitutes a material weakness. 
   
  4.   We did not maintain effective controls over the completeness and accuracy of income taxes. Specifically, we did not maintain 

effective controls over the preparation and review of income taxes payable, deferred income tax assets and liabilities and the related 

income tax provision. This control deficiency resulted in the restatement of our 2004 and 2003 annual consolidated financial 

statements and our interim consolidated financial statements for the first two quarters of 2005 and all 2004 quarters and review or 

audit adjustments to the third and fourth quarters of 2005. This control deficiency could result in a misstatement of income taxes 

payable, deferred income tax assets and liabilities and the related income tax provision that would result in a material misstatement of 

the Company’s annual or interim consolidated financial statements that would not be prevented or detected. Accordingly, 

management has determined that this control deficiency constitutes a material weakness. 

     Because of the material weaknesses described above, management has concluded that we did not maintain effective internal control over 

financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 based on the criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the COSO. 

     Our management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 has been audited 

by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included herein. 

Plan of Remediation for Identified Material Weaknesses 

     During the quarter ended June 30, 2005, we made the following changes in our internal control over financial reporting in an effort to 

remediate the material weakness related to the accounting for income taxes and the determination of income taxes payable, deferred income tax 

assets and liabilities and the related income tax provision: 
 
  1.   Engaged an outside consultant (other than our independent registered public accountant) to review and assist management in 

accounting for income taxes; 
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  2.   Formalized processes, procedures and documentation standards relating to the income tax provision; and 
   
  3.   Enhanced the levels of review in and accelerated the timing of the preparation of the quarterly and annual income tax provision. 

     We have not remediated our income tax material weakness or any of the other material weaknesses as of December 31, 2005. See below for 

further steps we will take in 2006 to remediate these material weaknesses. 

     Subsequent to December 31, 2005, we made the following additional changes in our internal control over financial reporting in an effort to 

remediate the additional material weaknesses discussed above: 
 
  1.   Our Controller reviews and approves all general ledger journal entries. 
   
  2.   Revised processes, procedures and documentation standards relating to accounting for lease transactions. 
   
  3.   Hired new personnel in the accounting and finance areas, including a new Chief Financial Officer and a new Assistant Controller. 

     Although we believe the steps taken to date have improved the design effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, we have 

not completed our documentation and testing of the corrective processes and procedures relating thereto. Accordingly, we will continue to 

monitor the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting in the areas impacted by the material weaknesses discussed above. 

     In addition to the foregoing, our planned remediation measures in connection with the material weaknesses described above include the 

following: 
 
  1.   We will require continuing education during 2006 for our accounting and finance staff to ensure compliance with current and 

emerging financial reporting and compliance practices pertaining to lease transactions. 
   
  2.   We will require continuing education during 2006 for our tax manager and staff to ensure compliance with current and emerging tax 

reporting and compliance practices. 
   
  3.   We will take the steps necessary to appropriately staff the accounting and finance departments. 
   
  4.   We will retain an outside consulting firm to perform detailed account analyses and reconciliations designed to assist the accounting 

staff in the preparation of the company’s financial statements. 

     We, along with our Audit Committee, will consider additional items, or will alter the planned steps identified above, in an attempt to 

remediate these material weaknesses identified herein. 

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
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     During the fourth quarter of 2005, there were changes to our internal control over financial reporting as follows: 

     We engaged outside consultants (other than our independent registered public accountants) to review the accounting for lease transactions 

and the reporting thereof in our financial statements and to assist in the preparation of our financial statements. Further we hired new personnel 

in the accounting and finance areas, including a new Controller. 

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION. 

     None. 
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PART III 

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT. 

Executive Officers 

     Information regarding our executive officers is set forth in Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K pursuant to General Instruction G(3) 

of Form 10-K. The following sets forth certain information as of May 31, 2006 regarding our directors. 

Directors 
          
Name   Age   Title 
Michael W. Patrick (1)   56   Chairman of the Board of Directors, President and Chief Executive Officer 
James J. Gaffney (2)   65   Director 
Alan J. Hirschfield (1)(3)   70   Director 
S. David Passman III (1)(3)(4)   53   Director 
Carl L. Patrick (4)   59   Director 
Roland C. Smith (1)(2)   51   Director 
Fred W. Van Noy   49   Director, Senior Vice President and Chief Operating Officer 
Patricia A. Wilson (2)(3)(4)   55   Director 

     
(1)   Member of our Executive Committee. 
   
(2)   Member of our Compensation and Nominating Committee. 
   
(3)   Member of our Audit Committee. 
   
(4)   Member of our Corporate Governance Committee 

      Michael W. Patrick, 56, has served as our President since October 1981, director since April 1982, Chief Executive Officer since 

March 1989 and Chairman of the Board of Directors since January 2002. Mr. Patrick also currently serves as a member of the Executive 

Committee. Mr. Patrick joined us in 1970 and served in a number of operational and film booking and buying capacities prior to becoming 

President. Mr. Patrick serves as a director of the Will Rogers Institute, and he is a member of the Board of Trustees of Columbus State 

University Foundation, Inc. 

      James J. Gaffney , 65, has been one of our directors since November 2005, and is currently a member of the Compensation and 

Nominating Committee. Mr. Gaffney is chairman of the board of directors of Imperial Sugar Company, a processor and marketer of refined 

sugar in the United States; a director of SCP Pool Corporation, a wholesale distributor of swimming pool supplies, equipment and related 

leisure products; and a director of Beacon Roofing Supply, Inc., a distributor of residential and non-residential roofing materials in the United 

States and Canada. From 1997 through 2003, Mr. Gaffney served as vice chairman of Viking Pacific Holdings, Ltd. a New Zealand-based 

conglomerate; and provided consulting services to GS Capital Partners II, L.P., a private investment fund affiliated with Water Street Corporate 

Recovery Fund I, L.P. and Goldman, Sachs & Co., and other affiliated investment funds. 

      Alan J. Hirschfield , 70, has been one of our directors since April 2002 and currently serves as the Chairman of the Audit Committee, and 

a member of the Executive Committee. Mr. Hirschfield is a private investor and consultant. From 1992 to 2000, he was Co-Chief Executive 

Officer of Data Broadcasting Corporation, a global provider of financial and business information, which merged with Financial 

Times/Pearsons, Inc. From 1986 to 1990, Mr. Hirschfield served as a consultant/investor in the entertainment/media industry. From 1982 to 

1986, he was the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Twentieth Century Fox Film Corporation. Mr. Hirschfield was President and Chief 

Executive Officer of Columbia Pictures, Inc. from 1973 to 1978. He currently serves on the Boards of Directors of Cantel Medical Corp. 

(Vice-Chairman), and Leucadia National Corporation, a diversified holding company. 

      S. David Passman III , 53, has been one of our directors since June 2003 and currently serves as the Board of Directors’ lead independent 

director, as a member of the Executive Committee, Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee, and as a member of the Audit 

Committee. Mr. Passman has served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of STL, Inc., a book publishing and distribution company, 

since June 1, 2005 and is a member of its Board of Directors. Mr. Passman served as the President of the Harland Printed Products and Harland 

Checks divisions of John H. Harland Co., a provider of printed products and software and 
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related services to the financial institution market, from 1999 to 2003 and as Chief Financial Officer from 1996 to 1999. From 1981 to 1996, 

Mr. Passman was a partner in the tax division of Deloitte & Touche LLP, a public accounting firm. Mr. Passman served as the Managing 

Partner of the Atlanta, Georgia office of Deloitte & Touche LLP from 1993 to 1996. Mr. Passman is a Certified Public Accountant. 

      Carl L. Patrick, Jr. , 59, has served as one of our directors since April 1982, and currently serves as a member of the Corporate 

Governance Committee. He was the Director of Taxes for the Atlanta, Georgia office of Arthur Young & Co., a public accounting firm, from 

October 1984 to September 1986, and is currently self-employed. Previously, he was a Certified Public Accountant with Arthur Andersen & 

Co., a public accounting firm, from 1976 to October 1984. Carl L. Patrick, Jr. served two terms as Chairman of the Board of Summit Bank 

Corporation, a commercial bank, and currently serves as a director of that company. He is Co-Chairman of PGL Entertainment Corp. Carl L. 

Patrick, Jr. and Michael W. Patrick are brothers. 

      Roland C. Smith , 51, has been one of our directors since April 2002 and currently serves as Chairman of the Compensation and 

Nominating Committee, and as a member of the Executive Committee. Mr. Smith has served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of 

Arby’s Restaurant Group, Inc., a restaurant franchiser, since April 2006. Mr. Smith served as President and Chief Executive Officer of 

American Golf Corporation and National Golf Properties, an owner and operator of golf courses, from February 2003 to November 2005. He 

was President and Chief Executive Officer of AMF Bowling Worldwide, Inc., an owner and operator of bowling centers, from April 1999 until 

January 2003. Mr. Smith previously served as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Triarc Restaurant Group (the predecessor to Arby’s 

Restaurant Group, Inc.) from February 1997 to April 1999. Mr. Smith was President and Chief Executive Officer of AMF Bowling Worldwide, 

Inc. and its indirect parent AMF Bowling, Inc. when the companies filed voluntary petitions for relief under the bankruptcy code on July 2, 

2001 and July 30, 2001, respectively. AMF Bowling Worldwide emerged from bankruptcy on March 8, 2002. 

      Fred W. Van Noy , 49, has served as one of our directors since December 2004. Mr. Van Noy joined us in 1975. He served as a District 

Manager from 1984 to 1985 and as Western Division Manager from 1985 to 1988, when he became Vice President — General Manager. In 

December 1997, he was elected to the position of Senior Vice President — Operations. In November 2000, he became Senior Vice President 

— Chief Operating Officer. 

      Patricia A. Wilson , 55, has served as one of our directors since April 1, 2004 and currently serves as a member of the Audit Committee, 

Compensation and Nominating Committee, and Corporate Governance Committee. Ms. Wilson has been practicing as a private attorney since 

October 2002, advising both private and public companies in corporate and securities law. Ms. Wilson served as the General Counsel to 

NDCHealth Corporation, a provider of information systems and services to the healthcare market, from October 2000 to October 2002. Prior to 

joining NDCHealth Corporation, she was a partner with the law firm of Troutman Sanders LLP from 1988 to September 2000 practicing in the 

fields of corporate finance and securities law. 

Audit Committee of the Board of Directors 

     The Audit Committee consists of Alan J. Hirschfield, as Chairman, Patricia A. Wilson and S. David Passman III. The Board of Directors 

has determined that each member of the Audit Committee is independent under applicable law and the rules and requirements of the SEC and 

the Nasdaq listing standards. In addition, the Board of Directors has determined that each Audit Committee member meets the financial 

knowledge requirements under the Nasdaq listing standards and that Mr. Passman, designated by the Board of Directors as the ―audit 

committee financial expert‖ under SEC rules, meets the Nasdaq professional experience requirements. 

     The Audit Committee is responsible for, among other things: 
 
  •   directly appointing, retaining, overseeing, compensating and terminating the independent auditors; 
   
  •   discussing with the independent auditors their independence; 
   
  •   reviewing with the independent auditors the scope and results of their audit; 
   
  •   pre-approving all audit and permissible non-audit services to be performed by the independent auditors; 
   
  •   reviewing and approving all related party transactions; 
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  •   overseeing the financial reporting process and discussing with management and our independent auditors the interim and annual 

financial statements that we file with the SEC; and 
   
  •   reviewing and monitoring our accounting principles, policies and financial and accounting controls. 

     The Audit Committee met nine times during the year ended December 31, 2005. 

Director Independence 

     In 2006, the Board of Directors reviewed and analyzed the independence of each director under the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 

of 2002, SEC rules and regulations, the Nasdaq listing standards and the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

     The purpose of the review was to determine whether any particular relationships or transactions involving directors or their affiliates or 

immediate family members were inconsistent with a determination that the director is independent for purposes of serving on the Board of 

Directors and its committees. During this review, the Board of Directors examined transactions and relationships between directors or their 

affiliates and us or our senior management, including those disclosed under the caption ― Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions 

.‖ 

     As a result of this review, the Board of Directors affirmatively determined that all directors are independent for purposes of serving on the 

Board of Directors, except for Messrs. Michael W. Patrick, Carl L. Patrick, Jr. and Fred W. Van Noy. The Board of Directors has further 

determined that all members of the Audit Committee and the Compensation and Nominating Committee are independent. There are no 

independence requirements for the Executive Committee or the Corporate Governance Committee. Michael W. Patrick and Fred W. Van Noy 

are not considered independent because they are employed by us. Carl L. Patrick, Jr. is not considered independent because he is the brother of 

Michael W. Patrick. 

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance 

     Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our directors and executive officers, and persons who beneficially own more than 10% of any 

class of our equity securities, to file with the SEC initial reports of beneficial ownership and reports of changes in beneficial ownership of our 

common stock and other equity securities. Officers, directors and greater than 10% beneficial owners are required by SEC regulations to 

furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) reports they file. To our knowledge, based solely on a review of the copies of such reports furnished 

to us and written representations that no other reports were required, all Section 16(a) filing requirements applicable to our officers, directors 

and greater than 10% beneficial owners were complied with for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 except as noted herein. One late 

Form 4 was filed by S. David Passman III, a director, on May 27, 2005, to report 250 restricted shares granted to him on May 19, 2005; and 

one late Form 4 was filed by Roland Smith on June 6, 2005, to report 250 restricted shares granted to him on May 19, 2005. 

Code of Ethics 

     We adopted the Carmike Cinemas, Inc. Code of Ethics for Senior Executive and Financial Officers that applies to our principal executive 

officer and senior financial officers, among others, in accordance with Section 406 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the rules of the SEC 

promulgated thereunder. The Code of Ethics is available on our website, www.carmike.com. In the event that we make changes in, or provide 

waivers from, the provisions of the Code of Ethics that the SEC requires us to disclose, we intend to disclose these events on our website. 
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION. 

Summary Compensation Table 

     The following table sets forth certain information concerning the compensation of our Chief Executive Officer and four most highly 

compensated officers serving as executive officers at December 31, 2005 (our ―named executive officers‖) for the fiscal years ended 

December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003. As Mr. Hare’s employment with us as Chief Financial Officer began in 2006, compensation information 

for Mr. Hare is not included. 
                                                          
            Annual                   Long-Term     
            Compensation   Awards   Compensation   Payouts 
                            Restricted   Securities             
                            Stock   Underlying           All Other 
Name and Principal           Salary   Bonus   Awards   Options/   LTIP Payouts   Compensation 
Position   Year   ($)(1)   ($)(2)   ($)(3)   SARs(#)   ($)(4)   ($)(5) 
  
Michael W. Patrick     2005       1,011,094       438,888  (6)     —       —       —       1,806   

President, Chief     2004       988,399       798,000       —       —       —       966   
Executive Officer 

and     2003       974,186       425,000       —       —       —       966   
Chairman of the 

Board 

of Directors                                                         
                                                          
Martin A. Durant     2005       474,876       76,125       —       —       621,863       1,806   

Senior Vice 

President-     2004       315,587       174,205       351,400  (7)     —       —       966   
Finance, Treasurer 

and     2003       279,249       125,000       —       35,000       —       966   
Chief Financial 

Officer                                                         
                                                          
Fred W. Van Noy     2005       434,854       92,313       —       —       746,235       630   

Senior Vice 

President     2004       255,420       174,205       —       —       —       630   
and Chief Operating     2003       183,441       125,000       41,505 (8)     35,000       —       630   
Officer                                                         

                                                          
Anthony J. Rhead     2005       310,103       88,563       —       —       373,118       2,772   

Senior Vice 

President-     2004       227,946       174,205       —       —       —       2,772   
Entertainment/ 

Digital     2003       155,626       125,000       —       35,000       —       2,772   
Cinema                                                         

                                                          
Gary F. Krannacker     2005       110,015       51,185       —       —       —       420   

Vice President-     2004       105,597       55,745       —       —       —       420   
Operations     2003       82,135       50,000       —       —       —       315   

     
(1)   We maintain a deferred compensation program for all of our senior executives, including the named executive 

officers, pursuant to which we pay additional cash compensation equal to 10% of an employee’s annual 

taxable compensation (including equity-based compensation). We direct this additional cash compensation 

first into the participant’s individual retirement account, up to the legal limit, with the remainder directed into 

a trust. Distributions from the applicable trust are made upon or shortly after normal retirement, disability, 

death or termination of employment of a participant. For 2005, the named executive officers deferred the 

following amounts: Mr. Patrick $161,094; Mr. Durant $142,376; Mr. Van Noy $134,854; Mr. Rhead $91,353; 

and Mr. Krannacker $7,500. 
   
(2)   The bonus amounts for 2005 are estimates, subject to final review and approval by the Compensation and 

Nominating Committee of the Board of Directors. 
   
(3)   The aggregate number and value of unvested shares of restricted stock held by each named executive officer 



as of December 31, 2005 was as set forth below: 
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Dollar Value of 

Aggregate 

    

Aggregate 

Number of 

Shares   Restricted Stock 

Name   
of Restricted 

Stock(#)   Holdings($) 
  
Michael W. Patrick (*)     520,000       13,187,200   
Martin A. Durant (**)     22,500       570,600   
Fred W. Van Noy (**)     25,130       637,297   
Anthony J. Rhead (**)     24,000       608,640   
Gary F. Krannacker     —       —   

  
*   As part of our reorganization, all management options to purchase additional stock were cancelled. In connection 

with the reorganization, we entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Patrick that provided for a stock 

award. Pursuant to Mr. Patrick’s employment agreement, we agreed to issue and/or deliver an aggregate of 

780,000 shares of common stock in equal installments on each of the third, fourth, and fifth anniversary dates of 

January 31, 2002. These shares are reserved for issuance pursuant to our 2002 Stock Plan. As of January 31, 

2006, we have issued 520,000 of these shares to Mr. Patrick pursuant to his employment agreement. 
   
**   In May 2002, we granted stock awards to Messrs. Durant, Van Noy and Rhead. These shares were to be earned 

over a three year period, commencing with the year ended December 31, 2002, with the shares being earned as 

the executive achieved specific performance goals set for him during each of these years. Earned shares will vest 

and be receivable approximately two years after the calendar year in which they were earned, provided, with 

certain exceptions, the executive remains our employee. Each of these grants was made pursuant to our 2002 

Stock Plan. For the year ended December 31, 2002, we issued stock to these named executive officers in the 

following amounts for meeting performance goals in whole or in part for the 2002 performance period: 

Mr. Durant 17,500 shares; Mr. Van Noy 21,000 shares; and Mr. Rhead 10,500 shares. The shares earned for the 

2002 performance period vested on January 31, 2005 and the dollar value of these awards are set forth above in 

the Summary Compensation Table in the LTIP Payout column. For the year ended December 31, 2003, we issued 

stock to these named executive officers in the following amounts for meeting performance goals in whole or in 

part for the 2003 performance period: Mr. Durant 12,500 shares; Mr. Van Noy 17,130 shares; and Mr. Rhead 

16,000 shares. The shares earned for the 2003 performance period vested on January 31, 2006. For the year ended 

December 31, 2004, we issued stock to these named executive officers in the following amounts for meeting 

performance goals in whole or in part for the 2004 performance period: Mr. Durant 10,000 shares; Mr. Van Noy 

8,000 shares; and Mr. Rhead 8,000 shares. The shares earned for the 2004 performance period will vest on 

January 31, 2007. We pay dividends on the shares of restricted stock that are earned and unvested to the extent we 

pay dividends on shares of our capital stock. The number of restricted shares set forth above for Mr. Van Noy 

also includes 1,130 shares granted to Mr. Van Noy in May 2004 in further recognition of his performance in 

2003, which vested on January 31, 2006. 
   
(4)   Represents the value as of January 31, 2005 of the stock issued to Messrs. Durant, Van Noy and Rhead in 

connection with the achievement of certain performance goals during the 2002 performance period as described 

in footnote three above (Mr. Durant — 17,500 shares; Mr. Van Nov — 21,000 shares; and Mr. Rhead — 10,500 

shares). 
   
(5)   ―All Other Compensation‖ consists of amounts paid by us for term life insurance coverage for each named 

executive officer. 
   
(6)   We have agreed to pay Mr. Patrick a bonus in any quarter that we pay a dividend equal to the number of shares 

remaining to be issued pursuant to his employment agreement multiplied by the quarterly dividend per share for 

such quarter. For a description of the number of shares to be issued to Mr. Patrick pursuant to his employment 

agreement see footnote three above. Of the total bonus paid to Mr. Patrick in 2005 and 2004, $136,500 and 

$273,000 related to this dividend-related bonus, respectively. As of December 31, 2005, Mr. Patrick had earned 

$364,000 of this bonus which had not been paid. 
   
(7)   Includes 10,000 restricted shares, which vested on January 15, 2005, granted to Mr. Durant in October 2004 in 



recognition of his performance in 2004. 
   
(8)   Includes 1,130 restricted shares granted in May 2004 in further recognition of Mr. Van Noy’s performance in 

2003, which vested January 31, 2006. 
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Option Grants in Last Fiscal Year 

     None of the named executive officers received option grants during 2005. 

Fiscal Year-End Option Value Table 

     The following table sets forth information with respect to the named executive officers concerning unexercised options held as of 

December 31, 2005. No options were exercised by our named executive officers during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005. 
                                  
    Number of     
    Securities Underlying   Value of Unexercised 
    Unexercised Options at   In-the-Money Options 
    December 31, 2005   at December 31, 2005 ($)(1) 
Name   Exercisable   Unexercisable   Exercisable   Unexercisable 
Michael W. Patrick     —       —       —       —   
                                  
Martin A. Durant (2)     25,000       25,000     $ 89,250     $ 89,250   
      11,667       23,333       —       —   
                                  
Fred W. Van Noy     25,000       25,000     $ 89,250     $ 89,250   
      11,677       23,333       —       —   
                                  
Anthony J. Rhead     25,000       25,000     $ 89,250     $ 89,250   
      11,677       23,333       —       —   
                                  
Gary F. Krannacker     11,677       23,333       —       —   

  
(1)   An option is ―in-the-money‖ if the fair market value of the underlying common stock exceeds the exercise 

price. Values are based on a per share closing price of $25.36 as reported by the Nasdaq Stock Market on 

December 30, 2005. 
   
(2)   In connection with Mr. Durant’s retirement, we entered into a Release and Consulting Services Agreement 

with Mr. Durant pursuant to which he forfeited all unexercised options effective March 31, 2006. This 

agreement is described below under the caption ―Release and Consulting Services Agreement.‖ 

Employment Contracts and Separation Agreements 

     In connection with our reorganization, we entered into an employment agreement with Michael W. Patrick effective January 31, 2002 that 

modified and superseded his former employment agreement with us. The five-year agreement provides for a base annual salary of $850,000 per 

year plus, if certain performance targets are achieved, an annual bonus of up to 50% of his base salary for the year in which the targets are 

achieved. On December 31 of each year, the term shall be extended for one year unless either party has given 30 days notice prior to the 

anniversary date of our or his intention not to so extend the agreement. The agreement further provides that, on each of the third, fourth, and 

fifth anniversary dates of January 31, 2002, we shall issue and/or deliver to Mr. Patrick the number of shares of our common stock that would 

be equivalent to 260,000 shares of our common stock if such stock had been issued and owned continuously from January 31, 2002 (780,000 

total shares). However, no such installment delivery shall be made if either Mr. Patrick’s employment is terminated for cause or Mr. Patrick 

breaches certain covenants relating to non-competition and fiduciary duties set forth in the agreement; all installment deliveries that have not 

been made or cancelled shall be made immediately upon the occurrence of his death or a change in control. The shares are issuable under the 

2002 Stock Plan. The first installment of 260,000 shares was delivered on January 31, 2005, and the second installment of 260,000 shares was 

delivered on January 31, 2006. We have agreed to pay Mr. Patrick a bonus in any quarter that we pay a dividend equal to the number of shares 

remaining to be issued pursuant to the employment agreement multiplied by the quarterly dividend per share for such quarter. 

     Mr. Patrick’s employment agreement further provides that, in the event there is a change in control of Carmike Cinemas, Inc., the 

employment agreement will be automatically extended for a period of five years, beginning on the first day of the month during which such 

change in control occurs. A change in control shall not be deemed to have occurred as a result of the commencement of a case under the 

Federal Bankruptcy Code or any action taken in accordance with and as provided in any plan of reorganization approved by a bankruptcy court 

with respect to us. In the event of Mr. Patrick’s (1) involuntary termination of employment with us (other than by reason of death, disability or 

for cause), or (2) following a change in control or resignation for good reason, Mr. Patrick will be 
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entitled to a lump sum payment equal to his base salary and, if applicable, the target bonus for the year of his employment termination 

multiplied by the number of full and partial years remaining in his employment term. 

     Each of Messrs. Van Noy and Rhead have entered into separation agreements with us. These agreements provide a range of benefits to the 

executive if we terminate the executive without cause or if the executive resigns for good reason in anticipation of or during the two year period 

following a change of control. Upon any such termination or resignation: 
 
  •   the executive would receive cash payments equal to two times his base salary in equal monthly installments over a twenty-four month 

period; 
   
  •   each outstanding stock option owned by the executive would vest and become immediately exercisable; 
   
  •   any restrictions on any outstanding shares of restricted stock would expire; and 
   
  •   the executive would receive for two years the same employee benefits received prior to the termination or resignation. 

     If an executive would be subject to a ―golden parachute‖ excise tax as a result of the benefits called for under his separation agreement, he 

agrees to waive his right to up to $10,000 of such benefits in order to eliminate such tax. However, if such a waiver would fail to eliminate such 

tax, no waiver shall be required, and we will make payments to the executive sufficient to pay such excise tax and any additional taxes due as a 

result of such payment. 

     Each executive further agrees not to solicit suppliers, vendors or employees and to protect our trade secrets and confidential information for 

the two year period following his termination or resignation. 

     The initial term of these agreements ends in July 2006, but the term automatically extends for one additional year following the second 

anniversary of the agreements and for one additional year on each subsequent anniversary date unless we advise Messrs. Van Noy or Rhead 

before any such anniversary date that there will be no automatic extension on the subsequent anniversary date. 

Release and Consulting Services Agreement 

     In connection with Mr. Durant’s retirement, we entered into a release and consulting services agreement with Mr. Durant as of March 31, 

2006. This agreement superseded Mr. Durant’s prior separation agreement with us, which prior agreement contained substantially similar terms 

as the separation agreements discussed above with respect to Messrs. Van Noy and Rhead. 

     Under this release and consulting services agreement, Mr. Durant will receive the following severance benefits: 
 
  •   we will continue to pay Mr. Durant his current base salary for a period of six months following the effective date (March 31, 2006); 
   
  •   we will pay Mr. Durant his earned but unpaid 2005 cash bonus; 
   
  •   we will pay Mr. Durant a cash bonus in an amount equal to $90,500, subject to Mr. Durant’s forfeiture of all unexercised options; 
   
  •   on January 31, 2007 we will deliver the 10,000 unvested restricted shares of common stock earned by Mr. Durant for 2004 

performance pursuant to the 2002 Stock Plan; 
   
  •   we will continue to pay additional cash compensation under Mr. Durant’s deferred compensation arrangement with respect to all cash 

and equity compensation paid pursuant to this agreement; and 
   
  •   Mr. Durant will continue to receive his current medical benefits for a period of six months following the effective date and is 

permitted to keep his current company-provided automobile. 

     Under this agreement, Mr. Durant will serve as a consultant to us for a period of six months following the effective date and we will 

reimburse Mr. Durant’s reasonable and necessary expenses incurred in performing the consulting services. Mr. Durant has 
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provided us with a general release from any and all claims relating to his employment and has agreed to protect our trade secrets and 

confidential information. Further, during the consulting period and for one year after termination of the consulting period, Mr. Durant has 

agreed not to compete with us in any of the 37 states identified in the agreement, hire or solicit our key employees, or solicit any of our dealers, 

distributors or customers for or on behalf of a competing business. 

Compensation of Directors 

     During fiscal year 2005, our non-employee directors received annual cash compensation consisting of a $30,000 retainer and $1,000 

per-meeting for participation in meetings of the Board of Directors or its committees. Members of the Audit Committee (other than the 

chairperson) received a retainer of $7,500 and the Chairman of the Audit Committee received a $12,500 retainer. The Chairman of the 

Compensation Committee received a $7,500 retainer. Our employees do not receive any additional compensation for serving on the Board of 

Directors. Also at the 2005 annual meeting of shareholders, our non-employee directors were granted 250 restricted shares of our common 

stock which vest in full at our 2006 annual meeting of stockholders. 

     In addition, effective in 2006, our lead director will receive an annual retainer of $7,500 and our non-employee directors will receive annual 

equity compensation consisting of 2,500 restricted shares of our common stock issued at each annual meeting of stockholders and vesting in 

full at our next annual meeting of stockholders. We will continue to provide our non-employee directors a one-time grant of options to 

purchase 5,000 shares of our common stock upon election to the Board of Directors. 

     On August 14, 2002, Mr. Hirschfield and Mr. Smith each received options to purchase 5,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise 

price of $19.95 per share. In addition, on June 2, 2003, S. David Passman III received options to purchase 5,000 shares of our common stock at 

an exercise price of $21.40 per share, on April 1, 2004, Patricia A. Wilson received options to purchase 5,000 shares of our common stock at an 

exercise price of $37.46 per share, and on November 10, 2005, James J. Gaffney received options to purchase 5,000 shares of our common 

stock at an exercise price of $22.05 per share. 

Compensation and Nominating Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation 

     The current members of the Compensation and Nominating Committee are Messrs. Smith and Gaffney and Ms. Wilson. None of the 

members of the Compensation and Nominating Committee during 2005 has ever been one of our officers or employees. In addition, none of 

our executive officers serve as a member of a board of directors or compensation committee of any entity that has one or more executive 

officers who serve on our Board of Directors or on the Compensation and Nominating Committee. 
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 

STOCKHOLDER MATTERS. 

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Holders 

The following table sets forth certain information as to our common stock beneficially owned as of May 31, 2006 by each person, other than 

persons whose ownership is reflected under the caption ―Security Ownership of Management,‖ who is known by us to own, directly or 

indirectly, more than 5% of the outstanding shares of our common stock, and reflects information presented either in each such person’s filings 

with the SEC or otherwise provided to us. 
                  
    Beneficial   Percent 
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner   Ownership   of Class (1) 
Barclays Global Investors, NA (2)     1,287,427       10.1 % 

45 Freemont St., 17 th Floor 

San Francisco, CA 94105                 
Bridger Management, LLC (3)     1,046,900       8.2 % 

101 Park Avenue, 48 th Floor 

New York, NY 10178                 
Dalton, Greiner, Hartman, Maher & Co. LLC (4)     711,533       5.6 % 

565 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2101 

New York, NY 10017                 
Entrust Capital Inc. (5)     674,885       5.3 % 

717 Fifth Avenue 

New York, NY 10022                 
FMR Corp. (6)     941,500       7.4 % 

82 Devonshire Street 

Boston, MA 02109                 
Fine Capital Partners, L.P. (7)     894,800       7.0 % 

152 West 57 th Street, 37 th Floor 

New York, NY 10019                 
Oz Management, L.L.C. (8)     755,946       5.9 % 

9 West 57 th Street, 39 th Floor 

New York, NY 10019                 
Royce & Associates, LLC (9)     765,400       6.0 % 

1414 Avenue of the Americas 

New York, NY 10019                 
Stadium Capital Management, Inc. (10)     698,614       5.5 % 

19875 Village Office Court, Suite 101 

Bend, OR 97702                 
Watershed Asset Management, LLC (11)     642,485       5.1 % 

One Maritime Plaza, Suite 1525 

San Francisco, CA, 94111                 

  
(1)   Percent of class is with respect to outstanding shares of common stock as of May 31, 2006 (12,715,622 

shares of common stock outstanding on that date). 
   
(2)   The following information is based on the Schedule 13G filed on January 26, 2006 by Barclays Global 

Investors, NA, Barclays Global Fund Advisors, Barclays Global Investors, LTD and Barclays Global 

Investors Japan Trust and Banking Company Limited. The Schedule 13G indicates that Barclays Global 

Investors, NA is the beneficial owner of 1,147,272 shares but that it has the sole power to vote or direct the 

voting of 1,108,839 shares and has sole dispositive power over 1,147,272 shares. The Schedule 13G also 

indicates that Barclays Global Fund Advisors is the beneficial owner of 140,155 shares and that it has sole 

dispositive power and sole power to vote or direct the voting of all 140,155 shares. Both Barclays Global 

Investors, LTD, Murray House, 1 Royal Mint Court, London, England ECN3N 4HH, and Barclays Global 

Investors Japan Trust and Banking Company Limited, Ebisu Prime Square Tower 8 th Floor, 1-1-39 Hiroo 

Shibuya-Ku, Tokyo, 150-0012, Japan, do not report the beneficial ownership of any shares. 
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(3)   According to the Schedule 13G filed February 15, 2006, Bridger Management, LLC serves as principal 

investment manager to a number of investment funds and discretionary accounts with respect to which it has 

voting and dispositive authority over the 1,046,900 shares. Mr. Roberto Mignone is the Managing Member of 

Bridger Management, LLC. As such, he may be deemed to control such entity, and therefore may be deemed 

to be the beneficial owner of the shares. Bridger Management, LLC and Mr. Roberto Mignone each disclaim 

beneficial ownership of the shares. 
   
(4)   According to the Schedule 13G filed February 14, 2006, Dalton, Greiner, Hartman, Maher & Co LLC is the 

beneficial owner of 711,533 shares but has the sole power to vote or direct the voting of 532,083 shares and 

has sole dispositive power over 711,533 shares. 
   
(5)   According to the Schedule 13G filed on May 1, 2006, EnTrust Capital Inc., a Delaware corporation, EnTrust 

Partners LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, EnTrust Partners Offshore LLC, a Delaware limited 

liability company, EnTrust Capital Waters Fund Ltd., a Cayman Islands company, EnTrust Dedicated Fund, 

LP, a Delaware limited partnership, EnTrust Capital Partners LP, a Delaware limited partnership, EnTrust 

Capital Partners II LP, Mr. Gregg Hymowitz, Mark Fife, and Michael Howoritz, are the beneficial owners of 

674,885 shares, have the shared power to vote 674,885 shares, and have the shared power to dispose or to 

direct the disposition of 675,885 shares. EnTrust Capital Inc., EnTrust Partners LLC and EnTrust Partners 

Offshore are registered investment advisers under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 and 

Messrs. Hymowitz, Fife and Horowitz are control persons of the investment advisors. 
   
(6)   According to the Schedule 13G filed February 14, 2006, Fidelity Management & Research Company 

(―Fidelity‖), a wholly-owned subsidiary of FMR Corp. and an investment adviser registered under 

Section 203 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, is the beneficial owner of 941,500 shares as a result of 

acting as investment adviser to various investment companies registered under Section 8 of the Investment 

Company Act of 1940 (the ―Fidelity Funds‖). The ownership of one investment company, Fidelity Small Cap 

Independence, amounted to 906,500 shares or 7.4% of the common stock outstanding. Neither FMR Corp. nor 

Edward C. Johnson III, Chairman of FMR Corp., has the sole power to vote or direct the voting of the shares 

owned directly by the Fidelity Funds, which power resides with the Fidelity Funds’ Boards of Trustees. 

Fidelity carries out the voting of the shares under written guidelines established by the Fidelity Funds’ Boards 

of Trustees. Members of the Edward C. Johnson III family are the predominant owners, directly or through 

trusts, of Series B shares of common stock of FMR Corp., representing 49% of the voting power of FMR 

Corp. The Johnson family group and all other Class B shareholders have entered into a shareholders’ voting 

agreement under which all Class B shares will be voted in accordance with the majority vote of Class B 

shares. Accordingly, through their ownership of voting common stock and the execution of the shareholders’ 

voting agreement, members of the Johnson family may be deemed, under the Investment Company Act of 

1940, to form a controlling group with respect to FMR Corp. 
   
(7)   According to the Schedule 13D/A filed May 30, 2006, such shares are held directly by private investment 

funds managed by Fine Capital Partners, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (―FCP‖). FCP, as the 

investment manager to the private investment funds owning the shares, and Fine Capital Advisors, LLC, a 

Delaware limited liability company (―FCA‖), as the general partner of FCP, have voting and dispositive 

authority over such shares. Ms. Debra Fine is the sole Manager of FCA and the President of FCP, and as such, 

shares dispositive and voting authority over the shares. 
   
(8)   According to the Schedule 13G filed February 14, 2006, Oz Management, Inc. serves as principal investment 

manager to a number of investment funds and discretionary accounts with respect to which it has voting and 

dispositive authority over the 755,946 shares. Mr. Daniel S. Och is the Senior Managing Member of Oz 

Management, Inc. As such, he may be deemed to control such entity, and therefore may be deemed to be the 

beneficial owner of the shares. Oz Management, Inc. and Mr. Daniel S. Och each disclaim beneficial 

ownership of the shares. 
   
(9)   According to the Schedule 13G filed January 11, 2006, Royce & Associates, LLC is an investment adviser 

registered under Section 203 of the Investment Advisors Act of 1940, and has voting and dispositive authority 

over the 765,400 shares, and therefore may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of the shares by virtue of 

such authority. Royce & Associates, LLC disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares. 
   
(10)   According to the Schedule 13G filed February 13, 2006, Stadium Capital Management, LLC, a Delaware 



limited liability company is an investment adviser registered under Section 203 of the Investment Advisers 

Act of 1940, and has voting and dispositive authority over the 698,614 shares, which are held directly by 

Stadium Capital Partners, L. P. a California limited partnership. Alexander M. Seaver and Bradley R. Kent are 

the Managing Members of Stadium Capital Management, which is the general partner of Stadium Capital 

Partners, and as such may be deemed to control such entities, and therefore may be 
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    deemed to be the beneficial owners of the shares. Stadium Capital Partners filed the statement jointly 

with Stadium Capital Management, Messrs. Seaver and Kent, but not as a member of a group, and 

expressly disclaim membership in a group. 
   
(11)   Such shares are held directly by Watershed Capital Partners, LP and Watershed Capital Institutional 

Partners, LP. According to the Schedule 13D filed October 6, 2005, Watershed Asset Management, 

LLC, as investment advisor to such limited partnerships, has shared dispositive and voting authority with 

respect to such shares. WS Partners, LLC, as general partner of such limited partnerships, also has shared 

dispositive and voting authority with respect to such shares. Ms. Meridee A. Moore is the senior 

managing member of Watershed Asset Management, LLC and WS Partners LLC, and as such, shares 

dispositive and voting authority over the listed shares. 
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Security Ownership of Management 

     The following table sets forth certain information known to us regarding the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of May 31, 2006 

by our: 
 
  •   current directors; 
   
  •   our named executive officers; and 
   
  •   all directors and executive officers as a group. 

     The address for the following individuals is: c/o Carmike Cinemas, Inc., 1301 First Avenue, Columbus, Georgia 31901. 
                  
    Beneficial   Percent of 
Name of Beneficial Owner   Ownership   Class (1) 
Michael W. Patrick (2)     300,600       2.4 % 
Lee Champion     39       *   
Martin A. Durant (3)     17,917       *   
Richard Hare (4)     7,500       *   
Gary F. Krannacker (5)     11,667       *   
Anthony J. Rhead (6)     54,806       *   
Fred W. Van Noy (6)     55,583       *   
James J. Gaffney (7)     5,000       *   
Alan J. Hirschfield (8)(9)     35,250       *   
S. David Passman III (10)     5,250       *   
Carl L. Patrick, Jr. (11)     93,867       *   
Ken Peurifoy(12)     6,667       *   
Roland C. Smith (9)     5,250       *   
Patricia A. Wilson (13)     5,250       *   
All directors and executive officers as a group (13 persons)     604,646       4.8 % 

  
*   Indicates less than 1%. 
   
(1)   Percent of class is with respect to outstanding shares of our common stock as of May 31, 2006 (12,715,622 

shares of our common stock outstanding on that date). 
   
(2)   Includes 974 shares of our common stock held by Michael W. Patrick, Carmike’s President, Chief 

Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors, in an Individual Retirement Account. Excludes 

11,613 shares of common stock held in trust for Michael W. Patrick by C. L. Patrick, as trustee, the 

remainder interest of which Michael W. Patrick has purchased, and the additional 260,000 shares of our 

common stock issuable to Michael W. Patrick under the 2002 Stock Plan pursuant to his employment 

agreement. 
   
(3)   Includes 10,000 restricted shares to be issued to Mr. Durant based on the achievement of certain 

performance measures during 2004. For additional information regarding this grant see footnote three under 

the caption ―Summary Compensation Table.‖ 
   
(4)   Represents 7,500 restricted shares granted to Mr. Hare on March 27, 2006 in connection with his 

employment with us. One-third of these shares will vest on the anniversary date of the grant in each of 2007, 

2008 and 2009. 
   
(5)   Represents options to purchase 11,667 shares that vested on December 31, 2005. 
   
(6)   Includes 8,000 restricted shares to be issued to each of Mr. Rhead and Mr. Van Noy based on the 

achievement of certain performance measures during 2004. For additional information regarding these 

grants, see footnote three under the caption ―Summary Compensation Table.‖ Also includes options to 

purchase 36,667 shares that vested on December 31, 2005. 
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(7)   Includes option to purchase 5,000 shares that vested on November 10, 2005, the date of grant. 
   
(8)   Includes 30,000 shares owned by the Alan J. Hirschfield Living Trust. 
   
(9)   Includes option to purchase 5,000 shares that vested on August 14, 2002, the date of grant, and 250 

shares of restricted stock issued under 2004 Incentive Stock Plan which vested May 18, 2006. 
   
(10)   Includes option to purchase 5,000 shares that vested on June 2, 2003, the date of grant, and 250 shares 

of restricted stock issued under the 2004 Incentive Stock Plan which vested May 18, 2006. 
   
(11)   Includes 38 shares of common stock owned by Carl L. Patrick, Jr.’s wife, as to which shares Carl L. 

Patrick, Jr., one of our directors, disclaims beneficial ownership. Includes 97 shares of common stock 

held as custodian for his son. Includes 250 shares of restricted stock issued under the 2004 Incentive 

Stock Plan which vested May 18, 2006. Excludes 11,613 shares of our common stock held in trust for 

Carl L. Patrick, Jr. by Frances E. Patrick, as trustee, the remainder interest of which Carl L. Patrick, Jr. 

has purchased. 
   
(12)   Includes option to purchase 6,667 shares that vested on December 31, 2005. 
   
(13)   Includes option to purchase 5,000 shares that vested on April 1, 2004, the date of grant, and 250 shares 

of restricted stock issued under our 2004 Incentive Stock Plan which vested May 18, 2006. 
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Compensation Plans 

The following table presents information as of December 31, 2005 about our common stock that may be issued upon the exercise of 

outstanding options, warrants and rights under our 2002 Stock Plan and our 2004 Incentive Stock Plan. 
                          
                    (c)   

                    
Number of 

securities   

    (a)             
remaining 

available for   

          (b)     
future issuance 

under   

    

Number of 

securities to 

be     
Weighted 

average     
equity 

compensation   

    
issued upon 

exercise of     
exercise price 

of     plans (excluding   

    
outstanding 

options,     
outstanding 

options,     
securities 

reflected in   

Plan Category   
warrants and 

rights     
warrants and 

rights     column(a))   
  
Equity compensation plans approved by stockholders:                         

2002 Stock Plan (1)     617,110       N/A       15,640   
2004 Incentive Stock Plan (2)     336,250     $ 28.58       1,068,750   

Total/Weighted Average     953,360     $ 28.58       1,084,390   
Equity compensation plans not approved by stockholders:   None   None   None   
      

Total     953,360               1,084,390   

      

  
(1)   A total of 1,000,000 shares were available for issuance under the 2002 Stock Plan. Under the 2002 Stock 

Plan, 780,000 shares were available to Michael W. Patrick, our President, Chief Executive Officer and 

Chairman. Mr. Patrick’s employment agreement with us provides that we will issue and/or deliver to him 

260,000 shares of our common stock on each of the third, fourth, and fifth anniversary dates of January 31, 

2002. We delivered 260,000 shares on January 31, 2005 and 260,000 shares on January 31, 2006. In 

addition, we have approved restricted stock grants of 220,000 shares to our other executive officers. On 

January 31, 2005, a total of 107,250 shares, which were earned for performance in 2002, vested. As of 

March 2006, an aggregate of 204,360 shares were earned for performance in 2002, 2003 and 2004, and 

15,640 were forfeited. 171,360 of these shares vested on or prior to January 31, 2006. 
   
(2)   On March 31, 2004, the Board of Directors adopted, and on May 21, 2004 the stockholders approved, the 

2004 Incentive Stock Plan, a successor to the Employee and Consultant Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan 

and the Non-Employee Directors Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan. As of the date of the 2004 Incentive 

Stock Plan’s adoption, 350,000 options were outstanding under these predecessor plans. These options 

remained outstanding under the 2004 Incentive Stock Plan following its adoption. As of December 31, 2005, 

20,000 of these options had been forfeited. Accordingly, 330,000 of the options listed as outstanding in the 

table above were granted under these predecessor plans. Also included are 5,000 options that were granted to 

Mr. Gaffney in connection with his appointment to the Board and 1,250 shares of restricted stock that have 

been granted to our outside directors in accordance with our annual equity compensation policy for 

non-employee directors. The Compensation and Nominating Committee (or a similar committee) under the 

2004 Incentive Stock Plan may grant stock options, stock grants, stock units, and stock appreciation rights to 

certain eligible employees and to outside directors. There are 1,068,750 shares of our common stock 

remaining available for issuance pursuant to grants made under the 2004 Incentive Stock Plan in addition to 

shares which may be forfeited under the Employee Incentive Plan and the Directors Incentive Plan. No 

further grants shall be made under the Employee Incentive Plan or the Directors Incentive Plan. 
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS. 

None. 

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES. 

Fees Paid to Independent Auditors 

     The following table presents fees for professional audit services rendered by our independent auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, for the 

audit of our annual financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2005, and fees billed for other services 

rendered by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP during those periods: 
                  
    2004     2005   
Audit Fees (1)   $ 1,669,460     $ 3,133,298   
Tax Fees (2)     326,754       137,100   
All Other Fees     —       —   
              
                  
Total Fees Paid to Auditor   $ 1,996,214     $ 3,270,398   

              

  
(1)   Audit fees and expenses primarily relate to the 2004 and 2005 annual audits, the review of quarterly reports 

on Form 10-Q, the review of registration statements and the audit of internal control over financial 

reporting. 
   
(2)   Tax fees primarily relate to tax compliance and tax advice on Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 

1986, as amended. 

Audit Committee Policy for Pre-Approval of Independent Auditor Services 

     The Audit Committee is responsible for appointing, setting compensation for and overseeing the work of the independent auditor. The Audit 

Committee has established a policy requiring its pre-approval of all audit and permissible non-audit services provided by the independent 

auditor. The policy provides for the general pre-approval of specific types of services, gives detailed guidance to management as to the specific 

services that are eligible for general pre-approval and provides specific cost limits for each such service on an annual basis. The policy requires 

specific pre-approval of all other permitted services. Pursuant to its charter, the Audit Committee has delegated to its Chairman the authority to 

address any requests for pre-approval of services between Audit Committee meetings, and the Chairman must report any pre-approval 

decisions to the Audit Committee at its next scheduled meeting. The policy prohibits the Audit Committee from delegating to management the 

Audit Committee’s responsibility to pre-approve permitted services of the independent auditor. 

     Requests for pre-approval for services that are eligible for general pre-approval must be detailed as to the services to be provided and the 

estimated total cost and are submitted to our Chief Financial Officer or Controller. The Chief Financial Officer or Controller then determines 

whether the services requested fall within the detailed guidance of the Audit Committee in the policy as to the services eligible for general 

pre-approval. The Audit Committee will be informed on a regular basis regarding the services rendered by the independent auditor in 

accordance with our general pre-approval policy. 

     None of the services related to the Audit-Related Fees or Tax Fees described above was approved by the Audit Committee pursuant to the 

waiver of pre-approval provisions set forth in applicable rules of the SEC. 
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PART IV 

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 

     (a)(1) The following consolidated financial statements of Carmike Cinemas, Inc. are included in Item 8. Financial Statements And 

Supplementary Data. 

Financial Statements: 

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

Consolidated balance sheets — December 31, 2005 and 2004 

Consolidated statements of operations — Years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 

Consolidated statements of cash flows — Years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 

Consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity — Years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — December 31, 2005 

     (a)(2) This report also includes the following Financial Statement Schedule: 

Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 

     All other financial statement schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or not required under the related instructions, or because 

the required information is shown either in the consolidated financial statements or in the notes thereto. 

     (a)(3) Listing of Exhibits 

     Periodic reports, proxy statements and other information filed by Carmike with the SEC pursuant to the informational requirements of the 

Exchange Act may be inspected and copied at the public reference facilities maintained by the SEC at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 

20549. Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room may be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC also 

maintains a web site (http://www.sec.gov) that makes available reports, proxy statements and other information regarding Carmike. Carmike’s 

SEC file number reference is Commission File No. 000-14993. 
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Exhibit     
Number   Description 
2.1 

  
Debtors’ Amended Joint Plan of Reorganization Under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code, dated November 14, 2001 (filed as 

Exhibit 99 to Carmike’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 19, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      
2.2 

  
Debtors’ Amended Disclosure Statement pursuant to Section 1125 of the Bankruptcy Code, dated November 14, 2001 (filed as 

Exhibit T-3E1 to Carmike’s Form T-3 filed December 11, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      
2.3 

  

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 19, 2005, by and among Carmike and each of Beth Kerasotes (individually and as 

executor and trustee under the will of George G. Kerasotes) and Marjorie Kerasotes, the shareholders of George G. Kerasotes 

Corporation, a Delaware corporation (filed as Exhibit 2.3 to Carmike’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005 and 

incorporated herein by reference). 
      
3.1 

  
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Carmike Cinemas, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Carmike’s Amendment to 

Form 8-A filed January 31, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      
3.2 

  
Amended and Restated By-Laws of Carmike Cinemas, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to Carmike’s Amendment to Form 8-A filed 

January 31, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      
3.3 

  
Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated By-Laws of Carmike Cinemas, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to Carmike’s 

Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      
4.1 

  

Indenture, dated as of February 4, 2004, among Carmike Cinemas, Inc., each of the Guarantors named therein and Wells Fargo 

Bank Minnesota, National Association, as Trustee (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Carmike’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed 

February 20, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      
4.2 

  

Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 19, 2005, by and among Carmike Cinemas, Inc., the Guaranteeing Subsidiaries named 

therein, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (successor by merger with Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota, National 

Association), as Trustee (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Carmike’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 25, 2005 and incorporated 

herein by reference). 
      
4.3 

  

Exchange and Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of February 4, 2004, among Carmike Cinemas, Inc., each of the 

Guarantors named therein and Goldman, Sachs & Co. (filed as Exhibit 4.3 to Carmike’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed 

February 20, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      
4.4 

  

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of January 31, 2002, by and among Carmike Cinemas, Inc. and certain stockholders 

(filed as Exhibit 99.3 to Amendment No. 1 to Schedule 13D of Goldman, Sachs & Co., et. al., filed February 8, 2002 and 

incorporated herein by reference). 
      
10.1 

  

$50,000,000 Senior Secured First Priority Revolving Credit Facility, dated as of February 4, 2004, among Carmike Cinemas, Inc., 

each of the Guarantors named therein, the Lenders party to the agreement from time to time, Goldman Sachs Credit Partners L.P., 

as Syndication Agent, Wells Fargo Foothill, Inc., as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent, and CIT Lending Services 

Corporation and General Electric Capital Corporation, as Co-Documentation Agents (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Carmike’s Current 

Report on Form 8-K filed February 20, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      
10.2 

  

$100,000,000 Senior Secured Second Priority Credit Facility, dated as of February 4, 2004, among Carmike Cinemas, Inc., each 

of the Guarantors named therein, the Lenders party to the agreement from time to time, Goldman Sachs Credit Partners L.P., as 

Syndication Agent, and National City Bank, as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Carmike’s 

Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 20, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      
10.3 

  

Amendment No. 1 to Credit and Guarantee Agreement, dated as of March 7, 2005, among Carmike Cinemas, Inc., the Guarantors 

named therein, Wells Fargo Foothill, Inc., as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent and the Lenders as defined therein (filed 

as Exhibit 10.1 to Carmike’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 28, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference). 
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Exhibit     
Number   Description 
10.4* 

  
2004 Annual Cash Bonuses for Carmike’s Named Executive Officers (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to Carmike’s Current Report on 

Form 8-K filed March 28, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      
10.5* 

  
2005 Base Salaries for Carmike’s Named Executive Officers (filed as Exhibit 99.2 to Carmike’s Current Report on Form 8-K 

filed March 28, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      
10.6* 

  
2005 Cash Bonus Targets for Carmike’s Named Executive Officers (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Carmike’s Current Report on 

Form 8-K filed May 25, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      
10.7* 

  
Non-Employee Director Compensation Package (filed as Exhibit 99.3 to Carmike’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 28, 

2005 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      
10.8 

  

Credit Agreement, dated as of May 19, 2005, by and among Carmike Cinemas, Inc., as Borrower, the several banks and other 

financial institutions or entities from time to time parties to the Credit Agreement, Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc., as Sole Lead 

Arranger and Sole Bookrunner, Wells Fargo Foothill, Inc., as Documentation Agent, and Bear Stearns Corporate Lending Inc., as 

Administrative Agent (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Carmike’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 25, 2005 and incorporated 

herein by reference). 
      
10.9 

  

First Amendment, dated as of June 7, 2005, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of May 19, 2005, by and among Carmike Cinemas, 

Inc., as Borrower, the several banks and other financial institutions or entities from time to time parties to the Credit Agreement, 

Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc., as Sole Lead Arranger and Sole Bookrunner, Wells Fargo Foothill, Inc., as Documentation Agent, and 

Bear Stearns Corporate Lending Inc., as Administrative Agent (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Carmike’s Current Report on Form 8-K 

filed June 28, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      
10.10 

  

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 27, 1997, by and between the Stockholders of Morgan Creek Theatres, Inc.; 

Stockholders of SB Holdings, Inc.; members of RDL Consulting Limited Liability Company; Morgan Creek Theatres, Inc.; SB 

Holdings, Inc.; RDL Consulting Limited Liability Company; First International Theatres; Carmike Cinemas, Inc. and Eastwynn 

Theatres, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Carmike’s Form 10-Q (Registration No. 001-11604) for the quarter ended June 30, 1997 

and incorporated herein by reference). 
      
10.11*   Form of Deferred Compensation Agreement and Schedule of Officers who have entered into such agreement. 
      
10.12* 

  
Form of Trust Agreement in connection with the Deferred Compensation Agreement and Schedule of Officers identified as 

beneficiaries of the Trust Agreement. 
      
10.13 

  

Aircraft Lease, dated July 1, 1983, as amended June 30, 1986, by and between C.L.P. Equipment and Carmike Cinemas, Inc. 

(filed as Exhibit 10(h) to Carmike’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 33-8007) and incorporated herein by 

reference). 
      
10.14 

  

Summary of Extensions of Aircraft Lease Agreement and Equipment Lease Agreement which are Exhibits 10(e) and 10(k) (filed 

as Exhibit 10(o) to Carmike’s Form 10-K (Registration No. 000-14993) for the year ended December 31, 1991 and incorporated 

herein by reference). 
      
10.15 

  

Second Amended and Restated Master Lease, dated September 1, 2001, between MoviePlex Realty Leasing, L.L.C. and Carmike 

Cinemas, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.17 to Carmike’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 and incorporated herein by 

reference). 
      
10.16* 

  
Carmike Cinemas, Inc. 2002 Stock Plan (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Carmike’s Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-85194) filed 

March 29, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      
10.17* 

  
Employment Agreement, dated as of January 31, 2002, between Carmike Cinemas, Inc. and Michael W. Patrick (filed as 

Exhibit 10 to Carmike’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      
10.18* 

  
Carmike Cinemas, Inc. Non-Employee Directors Long-Term stock Incentive Plan (filed as Appendix C to Carmike’s 2002 

Definitive Proxy Statement filed July 24, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      
10.19*   Carmike Cinemas, Inc. Employee and Consultant Long-Term stock Incentive Plan (filed as Appendix D to Carmike’s 2002 



Definitive Proxy Statement filed July 24, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference). 
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Exhibit     
Number   Description 
10.20* 

  
Form of Separation Agreement and schedule of officers who have entered into such agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Carmike’s 

Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      
10.21* 

  

Michael W. Patrick Dividend-Related Bonus Agreement, effective as of January 29, 2004, between Carmike Cinemas, Inc. and 

Michael W. Patrick (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Carmike’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2004 and incorporated herein 

by reference). 
      
10.22 

  
Form of Indemnification Agreement and Schedule of Directors who have entered into such agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to 

Carmike’s Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-117403) filed July 16, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      
10.23 

  
Indemnification Agreement, effective as of December 10, 2004, by and between Carmike Cinemas, Inc. and Fred W. Van Noy 

(filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Carmike’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 24, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      
10.24 

  

Indemnification Agreement, effective as of November 11, 2005, by and between Carmike Cinemas, Inc. and James J. Gaffney 

(filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Carmike’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 14, 2005 and incorporated herein by 

reference). 
      
10.25 

  

First Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Master Lease, dated as of July 12, 2004, between MoviePlex Realty Leasing 

L.L.C. and Carmike Cinemas, Inc. (filed an Exhibit 10.2 to Carmike’s Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-117403) filed July 16, 

2004 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      
10.26 

  

Letter Agreement, dated as of June 23, 2004, by and among Carmike Cinemas, Inc. and Goldman, Sachs & Co. regarding the 

Exchange and Registration Rights Agreement dated January 29, 2004 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Carmike’s S-4/A (Registration 

No. 333-115134) filed July 22, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      
10.27* 

  
Carmike Cinemas, Inc. 2004 Incentive Stock Plan (filed as Appendix A to Carmike’s Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2004 

Annual Meeting of Stockholders, filed on April 16, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      
10.28* 

  
Form of Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the Carmike Cinemas, Inc. 2004 Incentive Stock Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to 

Carmike’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 14, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      
10.29* 

  
Form of Restricted Stock Grant Agreement for Carmike’s Directors pursuant to the Carmike Cinemas, Inc. 2004 Incentive Stock 

Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Carmike’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 25, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference). 
      
10.30+   Master License Agreement, dated as of December 16, 2005, by and between Carmike Cinemas, Inc. and Christie/AIX, Inc. 
      
10.31 

  
Digital Cinema Service Agreement, dated as of December 16, 2005, by and between Carmike Cinemas, Inc. and Christie Digital 

Systems USA, Inc. 
      
10.32* 

  
Form of Restricted Stock Grant Agreement for Carmike’s Officers pursuant to the Carmike Cinemas, Inc. 2004 Incentive Stock 

Plan. 
      
10.33* 

  

Release and Consulting Services Agreement, dated as of March 31, 2006, by and between Carmike Cinemas, Inc. and Martin A. 

Durant (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Carmike’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 15, 2006 and incorporated herein by 

reference). 
      
10.34 

  

Second Amendment, dated as of March 28, 2006, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of May 19, 2005, by and among Carmike 

Cinemas, Inc., the several banks and other financial institutions parties thereto, Wells Fargo Foothill, Inc. and Bear Sterns 

Corporate Lending Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Carmike’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 5, 2006 and incorporated 

herein by reference). 
      
10.35 

  

Third Amendment, dated as of May 9, 2006, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of May 19, 2005, by and among Carmike 

Cinemas, Inc., the several banks and other financial institutions parties thereto, Wells Fargo Foothill, Inc. and Bear Sterns 

Corporate Lending Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Carmike’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 15, 2006 and incorporated 

herein by reference). 
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Exhibit     
Number   Description 
10.36 

  

Fourth Amendment, dated as of June 2, 2006, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of May 19, 2005, by and among Carmike 

Cinemas, Inc., the several banks and other financial institutions parties thereto, Wells Fargo Foothill, Inc. and Bear Sterns 

Corporate Lending Inc. 
      
10.37 

  

Fifth Amendment, dated as of July 27, 2006, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of May 19, 2005, by and among Carmike 

Cinemas, Inc., the several banks and other financial institutions parties thereto, Wells Fargo Foothill, Inc. and Bear Sterns 

Corporate Lending Inc. and First Amendment, dated as of July 27, 2006, to Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, dated as of 

May 19, 2005, made by Carmike Cinemas, Inc. and certain of its subsidiaries in favor of Bear Sterns Corporate Lending Inc. 
      
11 

  
Computation of per share earnings (provided in Note 2 to the Notes to Audited Consolidated Financial Statements included in this 

report under the caption ―Earnings Per Share‖). 
      
21   List of Subsidiaries. 
      
31.1 

  
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 

amended, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
      
31.2 

  
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 

amended, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
      
32.1 

  
Certificate of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
      
32.2 

  
Certificate of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

  
*   Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit pursuant to 

Item 15(c) of Form 10-K. 
   
+   Certain information contained in this document has been omitted and filed separately with the Commission 

pursuant to a request for confidential treatment under Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 

          (b) Exhibits 

          The response to this portion of Item 15 is submitted as a separate section of this report. 

          (c) Financial Statement Schedules 

          See Item 15(a) (1) and (2). 

108 

 
 



Table of Contents 

SIGNATURES 

     Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be 

signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 
          
  CARMIKE CINEMAS, INC. 

  
  

Date: August 3, 2006  By:   /s/ Michael W. Patrick     
    Michael W. Patrick    
    President and Chief Executive Officer    
  

     Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf 

of the Registrant in the capacities indicated and as of the date indicated above. 
      
Signature   Title 
      
/s/ Michael W. Patrick   President, Chief Executive Officer and 
      
Michael W. Patrick   Chairman of the Board of Directors 
    (Principal Executive Officer) 
      
/s/ Richard B. Hare   Senior Vice President — Finance, Treasurer and 
      
Richard B. Hare   Chief Financial Officer 
    (Principal Financial Officer) 
      
/s/ Jeffrey A. Cole   Assistant Vice President — Controller 
      
Jeffrey A. Cole   (Principal Accounting Officer) 
      
/s/ James J. Gaffney   Director 
      
James J. Gaffney     
      
/s/ Alan J. Hirschfield   Director 
      
Alan J. Hirschfield     
      
/s/ S. David Passman III   Director 
      
S. David Passman III     
      
/s/ Carl L. Patrick, Jr.   Director 
      
Carl L. Patrick, Jr.     
      
/s/ Roland C. Smith   Director 
      
Roland C. Smith     
      
/s/ Fred W. Van Noy   Senior Vice President, Chief Operating Officer and Director 
      
Fred W. Van Noy     
      
/s/ Patricia A. Wilson   Director 
      
Patricia A. Wilson     
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Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 

Carmike Cinemas, Inc. and Subsidiaries 

December 31, 2005 (in thousands) 
                                          

Col. A   Col. B   Col. C   Col. D   Col. E 
            Additions             
    Balance at   Charged to   Charged to           Balance at 
    Beginning of   Costs and   Other Accounts   Deductions   End 
Description   Period   Expenses   - Describe   Describe   of Period 
Year Ended December 31, 2003:                                         

Valuation reserve for deferred income 

tax assets   $ 83,926       (7,628 )  (1)     (76,298 )  (2)     —     $ —   
                                          
Year Ended December 31, 2004:                                         

Valuation reserve for deferred income 

tax assets   $ —       —       —       —     $ —   
                                          
Year Ended December 31, 2005:                                         

Valuation reserve for deferred income 

tax assets   $ —       —       —       —     $ —   

  
(1)   Valuation reserve recorded in the year ended December 31, 2003. See Note 12 of notes to audited annual 

consolidated financial statements. 
   
(2)   Full release of valuation reserve as of December 31, 2003. See Note 12 of notes to audited annual 

consolidated financial statements. 

  



  

. 

. 

. 

EXHIBIT 10.11 

The following officers have executed Deferred Compensation Agreements, a form of which follows, with Carmike Cinemas, Inc. as of the 

dates indicated below: 
 

Officer                       Date Executed 
-------                       ------------- 
Michael W. Patrick            April 16, 1990 
Martin A. Durant              July 16, 1999 
Fred W. VanNoy                April 16, 1990 
Anthony J. Rhead              April 16, 1990 
Lee Champion                  June 30, 1998 
H. Madison Shirley            April 16, 1990 

 

DEFERRED COMPENSATION AGREEMENT 

This Agreement, made and entered as of the ______ day of _______, by and between CARMIKE CINEMAS, INC., a Delaware corporation 

with its principal office in Columbus, Georgia (the "Employer"), and ______________, a resident of ______________, (the "Employee"). 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, Employee is a valued executive employee of Employer; and 

WHEREAS, Employer wishes to aid Employee in providing for his retirement and to provide benefits upon Employee's death or disability; and 

WHEREAS, Employer will provide these benefits to Employee in accordance with the terms and provisions of this Deferred Compensation 

Agreement (the "Agreement") and a related trust to be contemporaneously established (the "Trust") the terms of which are hereinafter 

described; and 

WHEREAS, it is intended that this Agreement and related Trust shall qualify as a "top hat" plan for key employees; and 

WHEREAS, it is intended that payments by Employer under this Agreement to the Trust shall, for federal and state income tax purposes, be 

included in Employee's income and deducted by Employer in the year paid. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and obligations contained herein, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

I. DEFERRED COMPENSATION. 

(a) Contributions. Upon the execution of this Agreement and the Trust, Employer shall pay _________ DOLLARS ($ __________ ) to the 

Trust for the use and benefit of Employee, as more specifically described in the Trust. In addition, for the calendar quarter beginning 

_______________, and within forty-five (45) days following the end of each succeeding calendar quarter during which Employee shall be 

employed by Employer for the entire calendar quarter, but subject to termination as described in paragraph (b) of this Article I or Article IV, 

Employer shall make payments equal to ten percent (10%) of Employee's taxable compensation for such calendar quarter (as same shall be 

reflected by Employer for the calendar year on Employee's Form W-2 or Form 1099), in the following manner: 
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(1) If Employee is eligible to make a tax deductible contribution to an Individual Retirement Account ("IRA") for a calendar year as provided 

for in section 408 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), Employer shall, on or before April 15 of the next calendar 

year, pay directly to an IRA established for the benefit of Employee an amount equal to the maximum amount deductible by Employee for 

federal income tax purposes as a contribution to an IRA for such calendar year; 

(2) Employer shall withhold an amount, as determined by Employer in its best judgment, which represents the appropriate amount of federal 

and state income taxes to be withheld on the amount of deferred compensation paid hereunder; and (3) The remaining amount of deferred 

compensation, after deducting the amounts described in (1) and (2) above, shall be paid within forty-five (45) days after the end of each 

calendar quarter, to the Trustee of the Trust established by Employee, the general terms of which are described in Article II. 

(b) Termination of Contributions. Notwithstanding that Employee may continue to be employed by Employer and any other provision of this 

Agreement to the contrary, payments by Employer equal to ten percent (10%) of Employee's taxable compensation, as hereinabove described 

in paragraph (a) of this Article I, shall cease as of the end of the calendar quarter immediately prior to the first date that benefits become 

distributable from the Trust. 

II. SUMMARY OF TRUST PROVISIONS. 

The Trust created by Employer shall be an irrevocable trust established by Employer solely for the benefit of Employee. All expenses of 

maintaining the Trust shall be borne either by the Trust or by Employer. The Trustee of the Trust shall receive from Employer the amount 

hereinabove provided for under Article I, and shall hold, manage, invest and administer the funds received and the income earned thereon 

according to the terms and conditions contained in the Trust. With respect to the management, investment and administration of the Trust, and 

subject to the terms and definitions therein, the Trust shall provide the following: 

(a) Trust Income. All Trust income shall be accumulated and added to principal. 

(b) Employee Treated as Owner. Employee, as beneficiary of the Trust, shall be treated as the "owner" of the Trust as that term is used in 

section 671 of the Code, and the Trust shall be a "grantor trust" for Federal income tax purposes with the taxable income earned by the Trust 

being taxed to Employee. 

(c) Irrevocable Trust. The Trust shall be irrevocable and the Trust assets, whether income or principal, shall not be subject to the claims of 

creditors of Employer, Employee or any beneficiary of the Trust. 

(d) Anti-alienation. No right, benefit, or payment under the Trust shall be subject to sale, anticipation, alienation or assignment by Employee or 

his beneficiaries. 
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(e) No Continued Employment Rights. Employee shall have no right to continued employment with Employer on account of this Agreement or 

Employee's status as a beneficiary of the Trust. 

(f) Events of Distribution. Unless Employee elects in writing an earlier commencement date for the payment of benefits from the Trust at any 

time after Employee attains age 60, Employee, or his beneficiaries, shall have no right or claim to any benefits from the Trust until Employee 

attains age 70, becomes totally disabled or dies. Upon the happening of any such distribution event, Employee or Employee's beneficiary, as 

the case may be, shall be entitled to receive payments from the Trust, as described in paragraph (g) of this Article. 

(g) Payment of Benefits. Except as may be modified by the joint and survivor annuity provisions, the Trust shall provide that upon Employee's 

attainment of age 70, or upon his earlier death or total disability, or upon Employee's election to commence the payment of benefits after 

attaining age 60, payments from the Trust to Employee or his beneficiary shall be made, commencing within sixty (60) days after any such 

event, as follows: 

(1) One-half (1/2) of the benefits shall be paid in the form of a life annuity with payments guaranteed for five (5) years should Employee not 

live to receive the annuity payments for at least five (5) years, with any unpaid guaranteed portion being paid to Employee's designated 

beneficiary; and 

(2) The remaining one-half (1/2) of the benefits shall be paid either as an annuity or in a lump sum payment, as designated in writing by 

Employee. 

In accordance with ERISA Section 206 (a), Employee hereby elects that the payment of benefits under the Trust shall commence at such time 

as hereinabove provided for in this paragraph (g) and in Article V of the Trust, and not as set forth in ERISA Section 206 (a). 

(h) Designation of Method of Payment. Except as may be modified by the joint and survivor annuity provisions, Employee shall designate the 

method of payment of one-half (1/2) of the benefits from the Trust, as hereinabove described in paragraph (g)(2), by executing a "Designation 

of Method of Benefit Payment" form and delivering it to the Trustee. At any time prior to the commencement of the payment of benefits as 

provided for under paragraph (h), the "Designation of Method of Benefit Payment" form may be modified, altered, or revoked as to any 

benefits payable under paragraph (g) (2) of the Trust. If Employee fails to execute a "Designation of Method of Benefit Payment" form and 

deliver it to the Trustee, the Trustee shall pay over and distribute such one-half (1/2) portion of the Trust in one lump-sum to Employee or his 

beneficiary, as the case may be. 

The Trust shall provide that upon making any distribution to Employee, the Trustee shall withhold from such distribution the amount, if any, 

required to be withheld for federal, state and local taxes. 

3 



(i) Joint and Survivor Annuity Requirements. 

(1) Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity. Unless an optional form of benefit is selected pursuant to a qualified election within the 90-day 

period ending on the annuity starting date, the benefits of Employee, if Employee is married, will be paid in the form of a qualified joint and 

survivor annuity, and if Employee is not married, Employee's benefits will be paid in the form of a life annuity. 

(2) Qualified Preretirement Survivor Annuity. If Employee dies before the annuity starting date and has not selected an optional form of benefit 

within the election period pursuant to a qualified election, then Employee's full benefit under the Trust shall be applied toward the purchase of 

an annuity for the life of the surviving spouse. The surviving spouse may elect to have such annuity distributed within a reasonable period after 

Employee's death. 

(j) Designation of Beneficiary. 

(1) Manner of Designation. In the event Employee dies before receipt of all of his benefits under the Trust, Employee's beneficiary shall be his 

spouse; provided, however, Employee may, from time to time, designate a beneficiary other than his spouse if Employee's spouse consents 

irrevocably, in writing, to such designation of Employee's beneficiary; acknowledges the effect of such election; and such consent and 

acknowledgment and the spouse's signature is witnessed by a Notary Public. Each beneficiary designation shall be on a form furnished by the 

Trustee and will be effective only when filed with the Trustee during Employee's lifetime. Each beneficiary designation filed by Employee with 

the Trustee will revoke all such designations previously filed by him and such revocation shall not require the consent of any previously 

designated beneficiary. Any beneficiary designation previously made by Employee shall automatically be revoked upon the marriage or 

remarriage of Employee. A spouse's consent shall be valid only with respect to the specified beneficiary or beneficiaries by Employee unless 

the spouse has consented to expressly permit designations by Employee without the spouse's further consent. The spouse's consent to any 

beneficiary designation made by Employee, once made, may not be revoked by the spouse. Notwithstanding the foregoing, spousal consent to 

Employee's beneficiary designation shall not be required if: (i) the spouse is designated as the sole primary beneficiary by Employee, or (ii) it is 

established to the satisfaction of the Trustee that spousal consent cannot be obtained because there is no spouse, because the spouse cannot be 

located or because of such other circumstances as may be prescribed in Regulations issued by the Secretary of the Treasury. Any consent by a 

spouse or any determination that the consent is not required above shall be effective only with respect to such spouse. 

(2) Failure to Designate Beneficiary. If Employee fails to designate a beneficiary, or if the designated beneficiary dies before Employee or 

before distribution of all of the benefits and there are no alternate designated beneficiaries, the Trustee shall distribute such benefits to the 

following persons in the following order of priority: 

(i) The spouse of Employee, if then living, and if not, 
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(ii) The estate of the last to die of Employee or any designated beneficiary of Employee. 

III. RESTRICTIONS. 

No right or benefit under this Agreement or the Trust shall be subject to anticipation, alienation, sale, assignment, pledge, encumbrance or 

charge, and any attempt to anticipate, alienate, sell, assign, pledge, encumber or charge the same shall be void. No right or benefit under this 

Agreement or the Trust shall in any manner be subject to the debts, contracts, liabilities or torts of the person entitled to such benefits. If 

Employee or a beneficiary of Employee hereunder should become bankrupt or attempt to anticipate, alienate, sell, assign, pledge, encumber or 

charge any right to a benefit under this Agreement or the Trust then any benefits, provided for in this Agreement or the Trust, shall cease. 

Employer or Trustee shall, in the discretion of Employer or Trustee, as applicable, hold or apply such benefit or any part thereof on behalf of 

Employee or the beneficiary or beneficiaries of Employee, in such manner as Employer or Trustee may deem proper. 

IV. TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT. 

Except for the final payment by Employer for the calendar quarter immediately preceding the calendar quarter during which Employee shall 

terminate his employment with Employer or, if earlier, upon the first date that benefits become distributable from the Trust, Employer's 

obligations under this Agreement and the compensation provided for hereunder shall automatically cease upon such event. This Agreement 

does not create a guaranteed term of employment, and Employer may terminate Employee's employment at any time and with or without cause. 

V. MISCELLANEOUS. 

(a) The captions or headings in this Agreement are made for convenience and general reference only and shall not be construed to describe, 

define or limit the scope or intent of the provisions of this Agreement. 

(b) Any reference hereunder to the Employer shall expressly be deemed to include the Employer's successor and assigns. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Employer has caused this Agreement to be duly executed by and through its duly authorized corporate officers, 

with its corporate seal to be hereunto affixed, and Employee has hereunto set his hand and seal as of the day and year first above written. 

EMPLOYER: 

CARMIKE CINEMAS, INC. 

BY: 
 

Its: 
 

ATTEST: 
 

Its: 

(Corporate Seal) 

EMPLOYEE: 

----------------------------------(L.S.) 
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DESIGNATION OF METHOD OF BENEFIT PAYMENT 

I, ____________, hereby elect on behalf of myself, and my beneficiary or beneficiaries, to receive one-half (1) of the benefits from that Trust 

Agreement entered into as of the ______ day of ___________, by and between Carmike Cinemas, Inc., as Grantor, and ________________, 

______________________ and ________________, as Trustees, in the following form: 

(a) One (1) lump sum payment. 

(b) A life annuity described as follows: 

[Please strike one of the above two options.] 

Executed this _______________ day of ______________. 

 

7 



SPOUSE'S CONSENT 

I hereby consent to the designation made by my spouse to have all benefits under the Trust payable to 

____________________________________________ 

 Beneficiary(ies) as specified on my spouse's Designation form dated _____________________________________________________. The 

benefits have been explained to me, and I hereby acknowledge that I understand (1) that the effect of such designation is to cause my spouse's 

benefits to be paid to a Beneficiary other than me; (2) that such Beneficiary Designation is not valid unless I consent to it; and (3) that my 

consent is irrevocable unless my spouse revokes the Beneficiary Designation. 
 

 

Date Spouse's Signature 

STATE OF GEORGIA 

COUNTY OF MUSCOGEE 

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public in and for said County and State, on this day personally appeared, 

_____________________________ _________________________________________________, known to me to be the person whose name 

is subscribed to the foregoing instrument, and I hereby acknowledge that said person has signed said Consent as a free and voluntary act for the 

uses and purposes therein set forth. 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND SEAL this ____________________ day of 

__________________________, ______. 

 

Notary Public 
 

My Commission Expires: 
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EXHIBIT 10.12 

The following officers are beneficiaries under a Trust Agreement, the form of which follows, executed in connection with related Deferred 

Compensation Agreements, as of the dates indicated below: 
 

Officer                       Date Executed 
-------                       ------------- 
Michael W. Patrick            April 16, 1990 
Martin A. Durant              July 16, 1999 
Fred W. VanNoy                April 16, 1990 
Anthony J. Rhead              April 16, 1990 
Lee Champion                  June 30, 1998 
H. Madison Shirley            April 16, 1990 

 

TRUST AGREEMENT 

THIS TRUST AGREEMENT, made and entered into as of the ____ day of _________, by and between CARMIKE CINEMAS, INC., a 

Delaware corporation (the "Grantor) and _______________, ______________ and ______________, residents of ____________________ 

(the "Trustees" or 'Trustee"), as follows: 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, Grantor wishes to aid _____________ (the "Employee") in providing for his retirement and to provide benefits upon Employee's 

death or disability; and 

WHEREAS, Grantor has contemporaneously herewith executed a Deferred Compensation Agreement (the "Agreement") with Employee, 

whereby Grantor has agreed to pay additional compensation to Employee upon certain conditions and in certain forms, and to create this trust 

to facilitate the payment of a portion thereof; and 

WHEREAS, the Trustees have agreed to accept the responsibilities of serving as trustee of this Trust and of holding, managing, investing and 

distributing the property which the Trustees shall receive pursuant to the Agreement for the benefit and use of Employee, in accordance with 

the provisions hereinafter set forth; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, the parties hereby agree as follows: 

I. PURPOSE. 

The purpose of this Trust is (a) to hold assets received from Grantor in accordance with the Agreement, and (b) to invest, reinvest, disburse and 

distribute those assets and the earnings thereon as provided hereunder. 

II. TRUST PROPERTY. 

Grantor hereby assigns, transfers and sets over to the Trustees and their successors and assigns, and the Trustees hereby accept and agree to 

hold, in trust, the property described in Schedule "A" attached hereto and made a part hereof. The Trustees shall hold the trust property herein 

transferred, and such additional property as may be hereafter acquired by the Trustees, under the terms and provisions of this Trust for the use 

and benefit of Employee as is more specifically set out herein. The Trustees shall be entitled to receive the proceeds on death, maturity, or 

surrender of each and all life insurance policies owned by or payable to the Trust. 



III. EMPLOYEE TREATED AS OWNER. 

It is intended that this Trust shall be a trust of which the Employee is treated as the "owner" for federal income tax purposes in accordance with 

the provisions of Sections 671 through 679 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), with the taxable income earned by 

this Trust being taxable to Employee. If the Trustee, in its sole discretion, deems it necessary or advisable for the Grantor or the Trustee to 

undertake or refrain from undertaking any actions (including, but not limited to, making or refraining from making any elections or filings) in 

order to ensure that the Employee is at all times treated as the owner of the Trust for federal income tax purposes, the Grantor or the Trustee 

will undertake or refrain from undertaking such actions. The Grantor hereby irrevocably authorizes the Trustee to be its attorney-in-fact for the 

purpose of performing any act which the Trustee, in its sole discretion, deems necessary or advisable in order to accomplish the purposes and 

the intent of this section. The Trustee shall be fully protected in acting or refraining from acting in accordance with the provisions of this 

section. 

IV. INVESTMENT OF TRUST ASSETS. 

Until the Trustee has distributed all of the assets of the Trust, the Trustee shall invest and reinvest the Trust assets in such securities and other 

property as the Trustee deems advisable, considering the probable income (including capital appreciation potential) from any such investment, 

and the probable safety of such investment. Within the limitations of the foregoing, The Trustee is specifically authorized to acquire, for cash 

or on credit, every kind of property, real, personal or mixed, and to make every kind of investment, specifically including, but not limited to, 

corporate and governmental obligations of every kind, preferred or common stocks (including the common stock of Grantor), securities of any 

regulated investment company or trust, interests in common trust funds now or hereafter established by a corporate trustee, and property in 

which the Trustee owns an undivided interest in any other trust capacity. The Trustee is expressly authorized and empowered to purchase life 

insurance on the life of Employee in its own name (and with itself as the beneficiary of the policy) as it shall determine to be necessary or 

advisable to advance best the purposes of the Trust and the interests of Employee. 

V. DISTRIBUTION OF TRUST ASSETS. 

A. All income from the Trust estate shall be accumulated and added to principal. The Trustee shall hold said Trust estate and accumulated 

income until the complete distribution of all of the assets of the Trust following the occurrence of the "Distribution Event." For purposes of this 

Trust, the "Distribution Event" is defined as the first date to occur of the following: (1) the date Employee attains age 70; (2) the date of 

Employee's death; (3) the date of Employee's termination of employment on account of total disability; or (4) a date elected by Employee in his 

sole discretion on or after the date Employee attains age 60. For purposes of this Trust, "total disability" is defined as the inability of Employee 

to adequately perform his regular duties for Employer as a result of sickness or accident. 

B. Upon the occurrence of the "Distribution Event," benefits shall be paid, commencing within sixty (60) days after such Event, as follows: 

(1) one-half (1/2) of the Trust 
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estate shall be paid in the form of a life annuity with payments guaranteed for five (5) years should Employee not live to receive the annuity 

payments for at least five (5) years, and any unpaid guaranteed portion of the annuity, being paid to Employee's designated beneficiary; and (2) 

the remaining one-half (1/2) of the Trust estate shall be paid either as an annuity or in a lump sum payment, as may be designated in writing by 

Employee by executing a "Designation of Method of Benefit Payment" form which shall be delivered to the Trustees at any time prior to the 

commencement of benefits from the Trust following the Distribution Event. 

At any time prior to the commencement of the payment of such remaining one-half (1/2) of the Trust benefits, the "Designation of Method of 

Benefit Payment" form may be modified, altered, or revoked. Each "Designation of Method of Benefit Payment" form filed by Employee with 

the Trustee shall revoke all such designations previously filed and such revocation shall not require the consent of any of Employee's 

designated beneficiaries. If Employee fails to execute a "Designation of Method of Benefit Payment" form and timely deliver it to the Trustee, 

the Trustee shall pay over and distribute such one-half (1/2) portion of the Trust in one lump-sum to Employee or his beneficiary, as the case 

may be. 

C. Upon making any distribution to Employee, the Trustee shall withhold from such distribution the amount, if any, required to be withheld for 

federal, state and local taxes. 

D. In the event Employee dies before receipt of all of his benefits under this Trust, Employee's beneficiary shall be his spouse; provided, 

however, Employee may, from time to time, designate a beneficiary other than his spouse if Employee's spouse consents irrevocably, in 

writing, to such designation of Employee's beneficiary; acknowledges the effect of such designation; and such consent and acknowledgment 

and the spouse's signature is witnessed by a Notary Public. Each beneficiary designation shall be on a form furnished by the Trustee and will be 

effective only when filed with the Trustee during Employee's lifetime. Each beneficiary designation filed by Employee with the Trustee will 

revoke all designations previously filed by him and such revocation shall not require the consent of any previously designated beneficiary. Any 

beneficiary designation previously made by Employee shall automatically be revoked upon the marriage or remarriage of Employee. A 

spouse's consent shall be valid only with respect to the specified beneficiary or beneficiaries by Employee unless the spouse has consented to 

expressly permit designations by Employee without the spouse's further consent as permitted by law. The spouse's consent to any beneficiary 

designation made by Employee, once made, may not be revoked by the spouse. Notwithstanding the foregoing, spousal consent to Employee's 

beneficiary designation shall not be required if: (i) the spouse is designated as the sole primary beneficiary, or (ii) it is established to the 

satisfaction of the Trustee that spousal consent cannot be obtained because there is no spouse, because the spouse cannot be located or because 

of such other circumstances as may be prescribed in Regulations issued by the Secretary of the Treasury. Any consent by a spouse or any 

determination that the consent is not required above shall be effective only with respect to such spouse. 

If Employee fails to designate a beneficiary, or if the designated beneficiary dies before Employee or before distribution of all of the benefits 

and there are no alternate designated 
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beneficiaries, the Trustee shall distribute such benefits to the following persons in the following order of priority: 

(1) The spouse of Employee, if then living, and if not, 

(2) The estate of the last to die of Employee or any designated beneficiary of Employee. 

If any beneficiary is a minor, the payment of his or her share of said benefits shall be delivered to the person having custody of such minor, as 

custodian of the property of such minor under the applicable Uniform Gifts to Minors Act of the state in which the minor shall reside. 

VI. JOINT AND SURVIVOR ANNUITY REQUIREMENTS. 

A. Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity. Unless an optional form of benefit is selected by Employee pursuant to a qualified election within the 

90-day period ending on the annuity starting date, the benefits of Employee under this Trust, if Employee is married, will be paid in the form of 

a qualified joint and survivor annuity, and if Employee is unmarried. Employee's benefits will be paid in the form of a life annuity. 

B. Qualified Preretirement Survivor Annuity. If Employee is married and dies before the annuity starting date and has not selected an optional 

form of benefit within the election period pursuant to a qualified election, then Employee's full benefit under this Trust shall be applied toward 

the purchase of an annuity for the life of Employee's surviving spouse. The surviving spouse may elect to have such annuity distributed within 

a reasonable period after Employee's death. 

C. Definitions. 

1. Election Period: The period which begins on the first day of the calendar year in which Employee attains age 35 and ends on the date of 

Employee's death. If Employee separates from service prior to the first day of the calendar year in which age 35 is attained, with respect to the 

benefits as of the date of separation, the election period shall begin on the date of separation. 

Pre-age 35 waiver: If Employee has not yet attained age 35 as of the end of any current calendar year, he may make a special qualified election 

to waive the qualified preretirement survivor annuity for the period beginning on the date of such election and ending on the first day of the 

calendar year in which Employee attains age 35. Such election shall not be valid unless Employee receives a written explanation of the 

qualified preretirement survivor annuity in comparable manner to the explanation required under paragraph D.1. of this Article VI. Qualified 

preretirement survivor annuity coverage will be automatically reinstated as of the first day of the calendar year in which Employee attains age 

35. Any new waiver on or after such date shall be subject to the full requirements of this Article VI. 
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2. Earliest Retirement Age: The earliest date on which Employee can elect to receive retirement benefits under this Trust. 

3. Qualified Election: A waiver of a qualified joint and survivor annuity or a qualified preretirement survivor annuity. Any such waiver shall 

not be effective unless: (a) Employee's spouse consents in writing to the election; (b) the election designates a specific beneficiary, including 

any class of beneficiaries or any contingent beneficiaries, which may not be changed without spousal consent (or the spouse expressly permits 

designations by Employee without any further spousal consent); (c) the spouse's consent acknowledges the effect of the election; and (d) the 

spouse's consent is witnessed by a Notary Public. Additionally, Employee's waiver of the qualified joint and survivor annuity shall not be 

effective unless the election designates a form of benefit payment which may not be changed without spousal consent (or the spouse expressly 

permits designations by Employee without any further spousal consent). If it is established to the satisfaction of the Trustee that there is no 

spouse or that the spouse cannot be located, a waiver will be deemed a qualified election. 

Any consent by a spouse obtained under this provision (or establishment that the consent of a spouse may not be obtained) shall be effective 

only with respect to such spouse. A consent that permits designations by Employee without any requirement of further consent by such spouse 

must acknowledge that the spouse has the right to limit consent to a specific beneficiary, and a specific form of benefit where applicable, and 

that the spouse voluntarily elects to relinquish either or both of such rights. A revocation of a prior waiver may be made by Employee without 

the consent of his spouse at any time before the commencement of benefits. The number of revocations shall not be limited. No consent 

obtained under this provision shall be valid unless Employee has received notice as provided in paragraph D. of this Article. 

4. Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity: An immediate annuity for the life of Employee with a survivor annuity for the life of the spouse which 

is not less than 50 percent and not more than 100 percent of the amount of the annuity which is payable during the joint lives of Employee and 

the spouse and which is the amount of benefit which can be purchased with the Employee's benefits. The percentage of the survivor annuity 

shall be 50%. 

5. Spouse (Surviving Spouse): The spouse or surviving spouse of Employee, provided that a former spouse will be treated as the spouse or 

surviving spouse and a current spouse will not be treated as the spouse or surviving spouse to the extent provided under a qualified domestic 

relations order as described in Section 414(p) of the Code. 

6. Annuity Starting Date: The first day of the first period for which an amount is paid as an annuity or any other form. 

D. Notice Requirements. 

1. In the case of a qualified joint and survivor annuity, the Trustee shall no less than 30 days and no more than 90 days prior to the annuity 

starting date provide to Employee a written explanation of: (a) the terms and conditions of a qualified joint and survivor annuity; (b) 

Employee's right to make and the effect of an election to waive the qualified joint 
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and survivor annuity form of benefit; (c) the rights of Employee's spouse; and 

(d) the right to make, and the effect of, a revocation of a previous election to waive the qualified joint and survivor annuity. 

2. In the case of a qualified preretirement survivor annuity, the Trustee shall provide Employee within the applicable period for such Employee 

a written explanation of the qualified preretirement survivor annuity in such terms and in such manner as would be comparable to the 

explanation provided for meeting the requirements of 1. Above, applicable to a qualified joint and survivor annuity. 

The "applicable period" for Employee is whichever of the following periods ends last: (a) the period beginning with the first day of the 

calendar year in which Employee attains age 32 and ending with the close of the calendar year preceding the calendar year in which Employee 

attains age 35; or 

(b) a reasonable period ending after this Article VI first applies to Employee. Notwithstanding the foregoing, notice must be provided within a 

reasonable period ending after separation from service if Employee separates from service before attaining age 35. 

For purposes of applying the preceding paragraph, a reasonable period ending after the enumerated event described in (b) is the end of the 

two-year period beginning one year prior to the date the applicable event occurs, and ending one year after that date. If Employee separates 

from service before the calendar year in which age 35 is attained, notice shall be provided within the two-year period beginning one year prior 

to separation and ending one year after separation. If Employee thereafter returns to employment with Employer, the applicable period for 

Employee shall be redetermined. 

VII. TERMINATION OF THE TRUST. 

The Trust shall terminate upon the payment by the Trustee of all amounts due Employee under this Trust and the receipt by the Trustee of a 

valid release to that effect from Employee or his beneficiaries with respect to payments made to him or them. 

VIII. TRUSTEE'S POWERS. 

In addition to the powers conferred upon the Trustee by law, or by other provisions of this Trust, the Trustee shall have the following powers, 

both as to principal and income: 

A. To retain any property at any time forming a part of the Trust estate for such length of time as the Trustee may deem advisable; and such 

retention shall not be restricted to property of the character authorized for trust investments by the laws of any state. 

B. To sell at public or private sale or to exchange, lease, pledge, or mortgage, all or any part of the Trust estate and invest and reinvest the Trust 

estate or the proceeds from the sale thereof in stocks (common or preferred), bonds, certificates of deposit (including those issued by the bank 

herein named as Trustee), common trust funds, mutual funds, annuities, or life 
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insurance contracts on the life of Employee or on the life of any person in whom Employee has an insurable interest, or in other property of any 

type, without regard to the proportion that such property may bear to the total corpus of the Trust estate, as the Trustee may deem advisable. To 

borrow money with or without security for any purpose and to pledge securities or other properties to secure any such loan; to execute all 

deeds, assignments, mortgages, leases or other instruments necessary or proper for the foregoing purposes. 

C. To register any property in the name of any nominee without describing the Trust estate and to retain any property in bearer form. 

D. To acquire, own, rent, hold, maintain and improve dwellings for the use and benefit of Employee or his beneficiaries. 

E. To exercise all options and privileges available under life insurance policies which at any time may form a part of the Trust, including but 

not limited to the right to receive dividends of distributive shares of surplus, disability benefits, surrender values, or the proceeds of matured 

endowments; to obtain and receive such advances or loans on account of a policy which may be available; to exercise any option or privilege 

granted in a policy or permitted by an insurer including, but not limited to, the right to direct that dividends be used under any of the options 

promised in the policy or permitted by the insurer; to sell, assign, or pledge a policy. These rights shall include the right in the Trustee to use 

any part or all of the proceeds of any or all of said policies on death or maturity under any or all of the settlement options; provided, however, 

that the Trustee shall be the designated recipient of any income or interest payment under an elected settlement, and any life income settlement 

elected shall be measured only by the life or lives of one or more of the beneficiaries of this Trust. 

F. To vote by proxy and consent to, approve, authorize, become a party to and execute any instrument in connection with any corporate act in 

which the Trust estate may be interested, including (without limitation) any merger, consolidation, reorganization, capital readjustment, 

dissolution, liquidation, lease, or sale. 

G. To keep uninvested such amounts of cash and deposit such monies in such bank account or accounts, including savings accounts, as the 

Trustee may from time to time deem advisable. The Trustee may keep on deposit with itself, in either the commercial or savings department, 

subject to the same rules and regulations as any other deposit, without furnishing bond or security, any cash under its care and management, 

whether corpus or income; awaiting investment, reinvestment or distribution; provided, however, there shall be no liability upon the part of the 

Trustee for the payment of interest or any other charge or claim during the time any such cash is kept on deposit with itself awaiting 

investment, reinvestment or distribution, except to the same extent interest shall be payable on deposits in the savings department of a Trustee 

as to any such cash on deposit in said savings department. 

H. To compromise, adjust, settle and compound, or submit to arbitration on such terms as the Trustee may deem advisable any claims in favor 

of or against the Trust estate, which shall include any tax payable by the Trust. 
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I. To sell, lease, exchange, and grant options on any property, and to do any of the same at public or private sale and upon such terms and 

conditions and at such time and times as the Trustee may deem advisable, and to execute and deliver any and all instruments of any type 

required in the premises; and no purchaser, lessee, transferee, optionee, or other party to any such transaction shall be obligated to see to the 

further application of any monies after the same shall have been paid to the Trustee. 

J. To employ legal counsel and such other agents and employees as are deemed necessary in the administration of the Trust estate and pay their 

reasonable compensation and expenses. To pay, compromise or contest any claim or other matter directly or indirectly affecting this Trust and 

to employ counsel for any of the above or other purposes, and to determine whether or not to act upon the advice of such counsel; but the 

Trustee shall not, except at its option, be required to enter into or defend litigation on behalf the Trust until it shall have been indemnified to its 

satisfaction against all expenses and liabilities to which it may, in its judgment, be subjected by any such action on its part. 

K. To exercise in respect of all stocks, bonds, or other investments held by the Trustee hereunder, all such rights, options, powers, and 

privileges as are or may be lawfully exercised by any person owning similar property in its own right. 

L. To exercise in respect of all real estate held by the Trust hereunder, all such rights, powers and privileges as are or may be lawfully exercised 

by any person owning real estate in its own right. 

M. To determine in the Trustee's discretion whether money or property coming into the Trust's possession shall be treated as income or 

principal, and charge or apportion expenses or leases either to the principal or income accounts or partly to each, in such manner as it may in its 

discretion deem just and proper. 

N. To make any required or discretionary distribution in money or in kind, or partially in money and partially in kind. Distribution in kind shall 

be made at the fair market value of the property distributed, as determined by the Trustee in its sole discretion, and the Trustee may cause the 

share to be transferred to any distributes to be composed of property like or different from that transferred to any other distributee. In making 

any distribution to the Employee or otherwise under the provisions of this Trust, Trustees shall be entitled to rely on information furnished by 

Employee. 

0. To execute and deliver all written instruments for the exercise of any Trustee powers. 

IX. RESIGNATION OR REMOVAL OF TRUSTEE. 

Each Trustee reserves the right to resign at any time by giving at least thirty (30) days' written notice to Grantor or such shorter notice as may 

be acceptable to Grantor. Grantor reserves the right to remove and replace any Trustee with a successor Trustee at any time by giving at least 

thirty (30) days' written notice to the Trustee or such shorter notice as may be 
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acceptable to the Trustee. On resignation of a Trustee, the remaining Trustee(s) shall continue to serve as Trustee hereunder. Upon the 

resignation or death of all of the Trustees then acting, then COLUMBUS BANK AND TRUST COMPANY, Columbus, Georgia, and its 

successor or successors and assigns, shall serve as successor Trustee hereunder. Upon the resignation or removal of Columbus Bank and Trust 

Company, Grantor shall appoint a successor Trustee who shall have the same powers and duties as those conferred upon the Trustee hereunder. 

Upon acceptance of such appointment by the successor Trustee, the Trustee shall assign, transfer and pay over to such successor Trustee the 

funds and properties then constituting the Trust estate and, in that connection, shall cause any part thereof then held in any commingled trust to 

be withdrawn therefrom. A successor Trustee may be any qualified person or corporation. 

The successor Trustee may accept and rely upon any accounting made by or on behalf of the predecessor Trustee and on any statement or 

representation made by such fiduciary as to the assets comprising this Trust estate or as to any other fact bearing on the prior administration of 

this Trust. A Trustee shall not be liable for having accepted and relied upon such accounting, statement, or representation if it is later proved to 

be incomplete, inaccurate, or untrue. A Trustee shall not be liable for any act or omission of any predecessor fiduciary or Co-Trustee, nor for 

any act or omission done in good faith. 

No Trustee shall be required to give any bond or other security for the faithful performance of its duties, or, if a bond is required by law, no 

surety shall be required thereon. 

X. TRUSTEE COMPENSATION. 

An individual Trustee hereunder shall serve without compensation for his services in the administration of this Trust; provided that the 

compensation of any corporate Trustee shall be in accordance with its standard schedule of fees at the time. The Trustee shall be reimbursed for 

the reasonable costs and expenses which it incurs in connection with its duties hereunder. Such compensation, if applicable, and all other 

proper costs and expenses shall be paid from the Trust estate, unless Grantor elects to pay such amounts. 

XI. ANNUAL ACCOUNTING. 

The Trustee shall keep accurate and detailed accounts of all investments, receipts and disbursements and other transactions hereunder, and, 

within ninety (90) days following the close of each calendar year, and within ninety (90) days after the Trustee's resignation or termination of 

the Trust as provided herein, the Trustee shall render a written account of its administration of the Trust to the Grantor by submitting a record 

of receipts, investments, disbursements, distributions, gains, losses, assets on hand at the end of the accounting period and other pertinent 

information, including a description of all securities and investments purchased and sold during such calendar year. Written approval of an 

account shall, as to all matters shown in the account, be binding upon the Grantor and shall forever release and discharge the Trustee from any 

liability or accountability. The Grantor will be deemed to have given its written approval if Grantor does not object in writing to the Trustee 

within 120 days after the date of receipt of such account from the Trustee. The Trustee shall be entitled at any time to institute an action in a 

court of competent jurisdiction for a judicial settlement of its account. 
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XII. COLLECTION OF INSURANCE PROCEEDS. 

In the event that the Trust property shall include policies of life insurance on the date of the insured's death, the Trustee shall, as soon as is 

practical after that date, furnish proof of death to the insuring companies and shall collect all monies due under all policies, or make other 

suitable settlement arrangements or agreements with the insuring companies, subject only to this Trust. In connection with the collection of the 

proceeds of any such policies, the Trustee shall have full authority to take any action it deems best, and is hereby authorized to execute all 

necessary receipts and releases to the insuring companies concerned. 

XIII. TRUST IRREVOCABLE. 

Grantor specifically directs that except as otherwise provided herein, the Trust herein created is irrevocable and that there are no conditions or 

reservations of power in Grantor to revoke, alter, or amend this Agreement, in whole or in part; provided, however, that the Trust may be 

amended as necessary at any time to obtain a favorable ruling from the Internal Revenue Service with respect to the tax consequences of the 

establishment and settlement of the Trust, and may be amended by revising or deleting part or all of such terms and provisions of Article VI as 

may be permitted by the law then applicable to such Article VI subject to the approval of Grantor and Employee. There are no conditions or 

reservations of power in Grantor to free any or all of the property constituting said Trust estate from the terms of this Trust. 

XIV. NOTICES. 

Any notice or instructions required under any of the provisions of this Trust shall be deemed effectively given only if such notice is in writing 

and is delivered personally or by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested and postage prepaid, addressed to the addresses as set 

forth below of the parties hereto. The addresses of the parties are as follows: 

(i) Grantor: 

Carmike Cinemas, Inc. 1301 First Avenue 

Post Office Box 391 

Columbus, Georgia 31902 

(ii) Trustees: 

 1301 First Avenue 

Post Office Box 391 

Columbus, Georgia 31902 
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1301 First Avenue 

Post Office Box 391 

Columbus, Georgia 31902 
 

 

1301 First Avenue 

Post Office Box 391 

Columbus, Georgia 31902 

Or If To: 

Columbus Bank and Trust Company Post Office Box 120 

Columbus, Georgia 31902 

The Grantor or Trustees may at any time change the address to which notices are sent to it by giving written notice thereof in the manner 

provided above. 

XV. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS. 

A. All actions by the Trustees shall be made by a majority vote of the Trustees. 

B. Except as may be otherwise provided herein, in the distribution of the trust herein created, the Trustee, in its discretion, may pay over the 

assets to be distributed either in cash or in property, or partly in cash and partly in property, and at such valuations as to it may seem proper, 

and the determination of the Trustee of the value of any property for the purpose of distributing any asset hereunder shall be final, conclusive 

and binding upon all parties interested in such distribution. 

C. As to all or any portion of the Trust estate which may be payable to Employee or any beneficiary hereunder, he shall have no right or power, 

either directly or indirectly, to anticipate, discharge, mortgage, encumber, assign, pledge, hypothecate, sell or otherwise dispose of all or any 

part thereof, until the same shall have been actually paid to him by the Trustee. The Trustee shall continue distributing Trust property directly 

to or for the benefit of Employee or beneficiary as provided for herein notwithstanding any transfer, assignment or conveyance, or action by 

creditors. Neither the income, principal or corpus of the Trust estate, nor any part thereof, nor any interest in the same, shall be liable for or 

subject to any debts, claims or obligations of any kind or nature whatsoever, or to any legal process in aid thereof, contracted or incurred by or 

for Grantor, Employee or any beneficiary hereunder. 

D. No provision of this Trust Agreement shall be construed as giving Employee any right to continued employment with Grantor. 
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E. Employee and any of his beneficiaries hereunder shall have no right or interest in any portion of the Trust estate at any time prior to its 

distribution. 

F. This Trust shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Georgia applicable to contracts made and to be 

performed therein and the Trustee shall not be required to account in any court other than one of the courts of such state. 

G. All section and paragraph headings herein have been inserted for convenience of reference only and shall in no way modify, restrict or affect 

the meaning or interpretation of any of the terms or provisions of this Trust. 

H. This Trust is intended as a complete and exclusive statement of the agreement of the parties hereto, supersedes all previous agreements or 

understandings among them and may not be modified or terminated orally. 

I. The term "Trustee" shall include any successor Trustee. 

J. If the Trustee hereunder is a bank or trust company, any corporation resulting from any merger, consolidation or conversion to which such 

bank or trust company may be a party, or any corporation otherwise succeeding generally to all or substantially all of the assets or business of 

such bank or trust company, shall be the successor to it as Trustee or custodian hereunder, as the case may be without the execution of any 

instrument or any further action on the part of any party hereto. 

K. If any provision of this Trust shall be invalid and unenforceable, the remaining provisions hereof shall subsist and be carried into effect. 

L. Any reference hereunder to Grantor shall expressly be deemed to include Grantor's successor and assigns. 

M. Whenever used herein, and to the extent appropriate, the masculine, feminine or neuter gender shall include the other two genders, the 

singular shall include the plural and the plural shall include the singular. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Grantor has caused this Trust to be duly executed by and through its duly authorized corporate officers, with its 

corporate seal to be hereunto affixed, and Trustees have hereunto set their hands and seals as of the day and year first above written. 

GRANTOR: 

CARMIKE CINEMAS, INC. 

BY: 
 

Its: 
 

ATTEST: 
 

Its: 

(Corporate Seal) 

TRUSTEES: 

----------------------------------(L.S.) 

----------------------------------(L.S.) 

----------------------------------(L.S.) 
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SCHEDULE "A" 

PROPERTY 

CASH in the amount of __________________________________ DOLLARS ($________) . 

GRANTOR: 

CARMIKE CINEMAS, INC. 

BY: 
 

Its: 
 

ATTEST: 
 

Its: 

(Corporate Seal) 

TRUSTEES: 

----------------------------------(L.S.) 

----------------------------------(L.S.) 

----------------------------------(L.S.) 



  

CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUESTED BY CARMIKE CINEMAS, INC. OF 

CERTAIN PORTIONS OF THIS AGREEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

RULE 24B-2 UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 

EXHIBIT 10.30 

MASTER LICENSE AGREEMENT 

THIS MASTER LICENSE AGREEMENT (this "AGREEMENT"), including all Schedules and Exhibits attached hereto, is made and entered 

into as of the ___ day of December, 2005 by and between CHRISTIE/AIX, INC., a Delaware corporation ("LICENSOR"), and CARMIKE 

CINEMAS, INC a Delaware corporation ("LICENSEE"). 

WHEREAS, Licensor has the right to install and license the use of certain Equipment (as defined below); and 

WHEREAS Licensee desires to obtain from Licensor, and Licensor is willing to grant to Licensee, a license to use the Equipment on the terms 

and conditions set forth in this Agreement, including all Schedules and Exhibits attached hereto. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained herein, and for other good and valuable 

consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby agree as follow: 

1. DEFINITIONS. As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the meanings set forth below. 

"ADM" means Access Digital Media, Inc., a Delaware corporation. 

"AFFILIATE" means, with respect to a party, any corporation, limited liability company, partnership or other entity which controls, is 

controlled by or is under common control with such party, where such control is by ownership of more than fifty percent (50%) of the 

outstanding voting securities or other voting interests. 

"AGREEMENT" has the meaning specified in the preamble. 

"APPLICABLE COMMENCEMENT DATE" means, as to the Equipment designated on any Equipment Schedule, the date on which the 

License Term for such Equipment commences, as specified in the applicable Certificate of Acceptance. 

"APPLICABLE TERMINATION DATE" means, as to the Equipment designated on any Equipment Schedule, the date on which this 

Agreement expires or is terminated. 

"CENTRAL SERVER" means, collectively, a central library server, with TCC Software installed, together with a storage array, computer rack, 

uninterrupted power source (UPS), main switch and patch panel. 

"CERTIFICATE OF ACCEPTANCE" means a certificate executed by Licensee in substantially the form of EXHIBIT 1 to EXHIBIT A 

attached hereto. 

"CHRISTIE" means Christie Digital Systems USA, Inc., a California corporation. 

"CHRISTIE SOFTWARE" means any Christie proprietary software installed in any of the Equipment at the time of delivery of such 

Equipment to Licensee, as updated by any update made available from time to time by Christie without charge for use on the Equipment. 

"CINEPLEX" means a theater complex with one or more cinema auditoriums. 

"CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION" has the meaning specified in Section 39. 
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"DCI" means Digital Cinema Initiatives, LLC, a limited liability company established by Disney, Fox, MGM, Paramount, Sony Pictures 

Entertainment, Universal and Warner Bros. Studios to, among other things, establish and document technical specifications for an open 

architecture for digital cinema to ensure a uniform and high level of technical performance reliability and quality control. 

"DCI SPECIFICATION" means the Digital Cinema System Specification V1.0 issued July 20, 2005 by DCI. 

"DIGITAL CINEMA PROJECTION SYSTEM" means collectively a system installed by Christie/AIX consisting of a DLP Cinema 2k 

projector, capable of both 2-D and 3-D display, and a digital cinema server for each theatre screen. Each Digital Cinema Projection System will 

be a part of a Digital System. 

"DIGITAL SYSTEM" means collectively one or more Digital Cinema Projection Systems, a central storage server connecting all Digital 

Cinema Projection Systems within a theatre complex, a theater management system, and such other system components and software as are 

required to meet the standards set forth in the DCI Specification. 

"DIGITAL TITLE" means a commercial movie which is released in digital format suitable for showing on Digital Systems. 

"DISTRIBUTOR" means a motion picture distributor. 

"DISTRIBUTOR AGREEMENT" means an agreement between Licensor and a Distributor pursuant to which such Distributor agrees to 

furnish virtual prints of Traditional Motion Picture Content and to pay Participant Virtual Print Fees to Licensor for a specified period. 

"DLP CINEMA(TM) PROMOTIONAL GUIDELINES" means the guidelines set forth on EXHIBIT B attached hereto. 

"DOLLARS" or "$" means United States dollars. 

"EQUIPMENT" means each Digital System described on an Equipment Schedule executed pursuant to this Agreement, together with all parts, 

accessories and other items added to or made a part of such Digital System after the Applicable Commencement Date for such Digital System. 

"EQUIPMENT SCHEDULE" means a schedule in the form of EXHIBIT A attached hereto, executed pursuant to this Agreement from time to 

time. 

"EVENT OF DEFAULT" has the meaning specified in Section 28. 

"FINANCING DOCUMENTS" has the meaning specified in Section 24. 

"FINANCING PARTIES" has the meaning specified in Section 24. 

"LICENSE TERM" means, with respect to any particular Equipment, a period that commences on the Applicable Commencement Date for 

such Equipment and ends on the Applicable Termination Date for such Equipment. 

"LICENSEE" has the meaning specified in the preamble. 

"LICENSOR" has the meaning specified in the preamble. 

"NON-PARTICIPANT VIRTUAL PRINT FEE" means the applicable fee announced from time to time by Licensor as the virtual print fee 

payable by a Non-Participating Distributor with respect to the 
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exhibition of Traditional Motion Picture Content on Digital Systems licensed by Licensor, which fee shall not exceed *** percent (***%) of 

the lowest base virtual print fee (before discounts) payable by any Distributor under a Distributor Agreement. 

"NON-PARTICIPATING DISTRIBUTOR" means a Distributor which has not signed a Distributor Agreement with Licensor. 

"NON-TRADITIONAL CONTENT" means all content other than Traditional Motion Picture Content. Non-Traditional Content includes, but 

is not limited to, television programs, sporting events, stage productions, religious services, concerts, educational classes or presentations, live 

events, speeches, meetings, teleconferencing, and video gaming. Non-Traditional Content shall not include motion picture premieres and other 

promotional, testing and publicity activities involving screenings of motion pictures. 

"PARTICIPANT VIRTUAL PRINT FEE" means the virtual print fee payable to Licensor by a Participating Distributor as provided for in the 

applicable Distributor Agreement. 

"PARTICIPATING DISTRIBUTOR" means a Distributor which has signed a Distributor Agreement with Licensor. A list of Participating 

Distributors as of the date hereof is set forth on EXHIBIT D attached hereto, and shall be updated by Licensor from time to time as provided 

therein. 

"SATELLITE DISH" has the meaning specified in Section 7(b). 

"SERVICE CONTRACT" means a service contract between Licensee and Christie in substantially the form of the attached EXHIBIT E. 

"SOFTWARE" means, collectively, the Christie Software, the Standard Software, the TCC Software and the Third Party Software. 

"STANDARD SOFTWARE" means the operating system and system applications software which are standard for general operation of 

computer servers having the general capabilities of the servers included in the Equipment, as updated by any update made available from time 

to time by the owner of such operating system or systems application software. 

"TAXES" means any foreign, federal, state, county or local income, estimated, alternative minimum, add-on minimum, sales, use, excise, 

franchise, real property, personal property, transfer, registration, value added, stamp, premium, profit, windfall profit, customs duties, gross 

receipts, capital stock, production, business and occupation, social security, disability, employment, unemployment, payroll, severance, license, 

gift recapture or withholding tax or charge imposed by any governmental entity, and any interest and penalties (civil or criminal) related thereto 

or to the nonpayment thereof. 

"TCC SOFTWARE" means ADM's proprietary Theatre Command Center software as licensed by ADM to Christie and installed in any Central 

Server at the time of delivery of such Central Server to Licensee, as updated by any update made available from time to time without charge for 

use on the Equipment. 

"THIRD PARTY SOFTWARE" means any software, other than Christie Software, Standard Software and TCC Software, installed to any of 

the Equipment at the time of delivery of such Equipment to Licensee, including database software, as updated by any update made available 

from time to time by the owner of such software. 

"TRADITIONAL MOTION PICTURE CONTENT" means (i) all feature length (defined as over 40 minutes) motion pictures intended for 

initial exhibition in a commercial motion picture theater for paid admission; (ii) motion picture trailers; and (iii) on screen advertising. 

 

***CONFIDENTIAL PORTIONS HAVE BEEN OMITTED AND FILED SEPARATELY WITH THE SECURITIES AND 

EXCHANGE COMMISSION. ASTERISKS DENOTE OMISSIONS. 
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2. EQUIPMENT LICENSE. 

Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, Licensor hereby grants to Licensee the limited right and license to use the Equipment 

described on each Equipment Schedule executed pursuant to this Agreement, at the Licensee's designated facility set forth in each such 

Equipment Schedule, for the License Term of such Equipment. Licensor and Licensee will execute a separate Equipment Schedule for each 

delivery of Equipment to Licensee pursuant to this Agreement, listing all of the Equipment included in such delivery. Each such Equipment 

Schedule shall constitute a separate and independent license and contractual obligation of Licensee and Licensor, governed by the terms and 

conditions set forth in this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, except for the limited license granted above, all right, title and interest to 

the Equipment shall be, and shall continue to be, the property of Licensor and/or its Affiliates, and, except for the limited license granted above, 

nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as transferring to Licensee any right, title or interest in the Equipment, or as conferring any other 

license or other right, by implication, estoppel or otherwise, under any patent, patent application, trade secret, trademark or copyright. Except 

as otherwise expressly provided for in this Agreement, Licensee is not granted any right to, and Licensee expressly agrees not to, distribute, 

market, sell, modify or adapt the Equipment or any part thereof. Licensee shall not remove from the Equipment, Licensor's name, trademark, 

logo and other identification, or any markings which identify Licensor and/or its Affiliates as the owners of the Equipment. 

3. SOFTWARE; CENTRAL SERVER FEE; LANDING FEE. 

(a) Subject to Licensee's payment to Licensor of the fees provided for in Section 3(b), Licensor, as an authorized licensee of ADM, hereby 

grants to Licensee the non-exclusive, non-transferable right and license to use the TCC Software in connection with Licensee's use of the 

Equipment. Licensee shall not modify the TCC Software, make any copies of the TCC Software (other than a reasonable number of copies for 

back up purposes), seek to reverse engineer or decompile any of the TCC Software or transfer the TCC Software or any copies thereof other 

than in connection with a transfer of a Central Server provided that the transfer of such Central Server is permitted under this Agreement. 

(b) For each Central Server licensed and delivered by Licensor to Licensee under this Agreement and installed at a Cineplex, a Central Server 

fee in the amount of $800.00 per screen (the "Server Screen Fee") will be payable for each screen at such Cineplex for which a Digital Cinema 

Projection System licensed and delivered by Licensor to Licensee under this Agreement is installed. The Server Screen Fee shall be payable in 

arrears in quarterly installments (without interest) over a period of *** years, and payments shall commence at the end of the first quarter 

following the date a Certificate of Acceptance is delivered with respect to a Digital Cinema Projection System installed for such screen. 

(c) Licensor, as an authorized licensee of Christie, hereby grants to Licensee the non-exclusive, non-transferable, royalty-free right and license, 

without right to sublicense, to use the Christie Software in connection with Licensee's use of the Equipment. Licensee shall not modify the 

Christie Software, make any copies of the Christie Software (other than a reasonable number of copies for back up purposes), seek to reverse 

engineer or decompile any of the Christie Software, or transfer the Christie Software or any copies thereof other than in connection with a 

transfer of Equipment provided that the transfer of such Equipment is permitted under this Agreement. 

(d) Licensor represents and warrants to Licensee that, upon the delivery of Equipment by Licensor to Licensee under this Agreement, Licensee 

will have the royalty-free right to use, in connection with the use of such Equipment and subject to the terms of any applicable end user license 

agreements, the Standard Software and the Third Party Software installed on such Equipment at the time of delivery. 

 

***CONFIDENTIAL PORTIONS HAVE BEEN OMITTED AND FILED SEPARATELY WITH THE SECURITIES AND 

EXCHANGE COMMISSION. ASTERISKS DENOTE OMISSIONS. 
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(e) In the event that Access Integrated Technologies, Inc. ("AccessIT") delivers to Licensee any Digital Title or Non-Traditional Content for 

Exhibition on the Equipment, Licensee will pay to AccessIT a landing fee in the amount of eighteen dollars ($18) for each such Digital Title or 

Non-Traditional Content. 

4. TERM. 

(a) This Agreement shall commence on the date hereof (it being understood that obligations of Licensee relating to the use of Equipment will 

only be effective when the Equipment is installed) and, unless earlier terminated in accordance with Section 28, shall continue in effect until 

December 31, 2020 (the "INITIAL TERM"); provided, however, that Licensee may renew this Agreement for successive one (1) year periods 

(each such successive one year period, a "RENEWAL TERM") for up to ten (10) Renewal Terms by giving written notice to Licensor no later 

than ninety (90) days prior to the end of the Initial Term or any Renewal Term. 

(b) Upon the expiration of the Initial Term or a Renewal Term, as applicable, or the earlier termination of this Agreement, Licensor shall, 

unless Licensee exercises its purchase option under Section 47, have the right, at its sole cost and expense, to retake possession of any or all of 

the Equipment, and for such purpose Licensor shall have the right to enter upon any premises where any or all of the Equipment is located, at 

times reasonably acceptable to Licensee, and remove same. Such removal must be performed under supervision of Licensee. Licensor shall 

repair all damage to the Cineplex caused by Licensor's removal of such Equipment. If Licensor fails to remove the Equipment within 90 days 

of the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement, such Equipment will be deemed abandoned by Licensor, and Licensee may dispose 

of the same in whatever manner Licensee may elect without liability to Licensor. Alternatively, in the event such Equipment is deemed 

abandoned as provided above, Licensee may, at its election by giving written notice to Licensor, succeed to ownership of the Equipment on as 

"as is, where is" basis, in which case Licensor will have no obligation to Licensee in respect of any expenses relating to removal or disposition. 

This Section 4(b) shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement. 

5. INSTALLMENT. 

(a) Licensor shall license to Licensee, and deliver to Licensee for installation by Christie under the Service Contract, a minimum of Two 

Thousand One Hundred (2.100) up to Two Thousand Three Hundred (2,300) Digital Cinema Projection Systems, with associated Central 

Servers. Delivery of Digital Systems shall be in accordance with a delivery schedule, specifying delivery dates for all relevant delivery 

locations, mutually agreed upon between Licensor and Licensee. 

(b) Digital Systems will be installed in any given Cineplex for the minimum number of screens required to enable more than 50% of the 

screens at such Cineplex, and, Licensor will be permitted to install Digital Systems such that by October 31, 2007 100% of the screens will be 

enabled at any Cineplex where a Digital System has been installed. 

(c) Except for Equipment (i) installed under this Agreement, (ii) acquired by Licensee by virtue of acquisition of a Cineplex from a third party 

or (iii) installed pursuant to Licensee's existing agreements ( or any replacement thereof) for on-screen advertising with Technicolor Screen 

Services Inc., Pepsi-Cola Sales and Distribution Inc. and The Coca-Cola Company or replacements and/or extensions thereof provided that 

such Equipment shall be used only for on-screen advertising and not for the exhibition of motion picture, motion picture trailers and 

Non-Traditional Content, Licensee shall not install, or permit to be installed, any digital cinema equipment, including digital cinema projection 

equipment, screen servers or central servers, at any Cineplex where a Digital System has been installed under this Agreement. 

6. EQUIPMENT SPECIFICATIONS. Initially, Licensor will install Digital Systems which comply with the DCI Specification. except to the 

extent that technology necessary for compliance with the 
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DCI Specification is not commercially available. When the technology necessary to make Digital Systems compliant with the DCI 

Specification becomes commercially available, Licensor, at no cost to Licensee, will (a) thereafter install Digital Systems which are compliant 

with the DCI Specification and (b) within four (4) months after such availability upgrade Digital Systems previously installed in order to bring 

such Digital Systems into compliance with the DCI Specification. 

7. DELIVERY AND INSTALLATION; SATELLITE DISH. 

(a) Following the execution by Licensor and Licensee of each Equipment Schedule, Licensor shall, at Licensor's expense, deliver the 

Equipment described in such Equipment Schedule to the Cineplex location designated in such Equipment Schedule. Licensor shall bear the risk 

of loss for the Equipment while it is in transit to Licensee sites at which the Equipment will be installed. Licensee shall, at its own expense, 

prepare such sites for installation of the Equipment in accordance with the site requirements as may be mutually agreed between Christie and 

Licensee. All Equipment will be installed by Christie pursuant to the Service Contract, and Licensee will permit Christie service engineers 

access to the installation sites, at times mutually agreed upon by Christie and Licensee, in order to install the Equipment. Upon completion of 

the installation of any Equipment and testing to ensure the operability of the Equipment, Licensee will deliver a Certificate of Acceptance for 

such Equipment to Licensor or to Christie for delivery to Licensor. Licensee hereby authorizes Licensor to complete each executed Equipment 

Schedule with the identification number set out in the Certificate of Acceptance delivered by Licensee for the Equipment covered by such 

Equipment Schedule. Licensor shall provide Licensee with copies of fully completed and executed copies of each Equipment Schedule and 

Certificate of Acceptance. 

(b) In the event Licensee currently has the right to grant to Licensor for the Initial Term or any Renewal Term of this Agreement the right to 

install and maintain satellite transmitting and receiving equipment (a "SATELLITE DISH") on the roof of any Cineplex site designated in an 

Equipment Schedule, Licensee hereby grants to Licensor or its Affiliate, without charge or cost to Licensor, the right, during the Initial Term or 

any Renewal Term of this Agreement, to install and maintain, or to have installed and maintained, a Satellite Dish on the roof of such Cineplex 

site for the sole purpose of delivering content to Licensee. In the event Licensee does not currently have the right to install and maintain a 

Satellite Dish on the roof of any Cineplex site designated in an Equipment Schedule, Licensee shall, at the request of Licensor, use reasonable 

commercial efforts to procure for Licensor, as promptly as reasonably possible after request by Licensor, without cost to Licensor, the right, 

during the Initial Term or any Renewal Term of this Agreement, to install and maintain, or to have installed and maintained, a Satellite Dish on 

the roof of such Cineplex site. In addition, Licensee shall, at Licensor's sole cost and expense, obtain any permits necessary for the installation 

or maintenance of any such Satellite Dish. The cost of installation and maintenance of any Satellite Dish will be the sole responsibility of 

Licensor or its Affiliates. All right, title and interest in and to any Satellite Dish installed hereunder will be the sole property of Licensor or its 

Affiliates. Satellite Dishes are not included in the Equipment licensed by Licensor to Licensee under this Agreement, and Licensee shall not 

redirect, alter, move or otherwise in any way interfere with the operation of any Satellite Dish without the prior written consent of Licensor, 

which consent shall not be withheld unreasonably. If Licensee is unable to procure the right to install a Satellite Dish on the roof of a Cineplex 

site, then Licensee shall grant Licensor or its Affiliate access and the right to deliver to Licensee content by hard drive, by other physical means 

or by use of fiber optic cables. This Section 7 (b) shall survive the expiration or any termination of this Agreement. 

8. LOCATION. Without the prior written consent of Licensor, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, Licensee shall not move any 

Equipment (except when reasonably necessary in cases of emergency to protect the Equipment) from the site and cinema auditorium location 

designated in the Equipment Schedule for such Equipment. The moving of any Equipment by Licensee other than in accordance with this 

Section 8 shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement and the applicable Equipment Schedule. Notwithstanding the foregoing, other 

than to a Cineplex acquired by Licensee from a third party, Licensee agrees that it may not move any Equipment to a Cineplex which contains 

digital projection equipment not installed by Licensor and Licensor's withholding of any consent to such a move shall be deemed to be 

reasonable. Licensee acknowledges and agrees that the objective of this Section 
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8 and Section 5 of this Agreement is to provide Licensor with the ability to install its Equipment in ***% of the screens at any Cineplex in 

which any of Licensor's Equipment has been installed, whether through the initial deployment or by any subsequent movement of Equipment 

pursuant to this Section 8. 

If Licensee moves any Equipment pursuant to Licensor's consent under this 

Section 8 to a Cineplex which contains an auditorium or auditoriums in which Equipment has not been installed, and Licensee wishes to install 

other digital projection equipment of any kind ("Alternative Digital Equipment") in any auditoriums located in such Cineplex or in the 

auditorium(s) from which the Equipment has been moved with Licensor's prior consent in accordance with this the terms hereof, then Licensee 

must promptly provide Licensor with written notice of a bona fide offer made to Licensee by a third party (the "Offer Notice") specifying, 

among other things, the Alternative Digital Equipment it wishes to install, the itemized costs of such Alternative Digital Equipment and the 

installation thereof, the proposed sites at which Licensee proposes to have such Alternative Digital Equipment installed, and any other 

conditions related to such installations. Licensor shall have thirty (30) days from receipt of the written notice to Offer Notice to provide a 

written proposal to Licensee that either matches or improves upon the terms set forth in the Offer Notice. If Licensor matches the terms 

contained in the Offer Notice, Licensee shall, within thirty (30) days thereafter enter into an agreement providing for Licensor to supply and 

install the digital projection equipment on substantially the terms contained in the Offer Notice. 

9. SCOPE OF LICENSE. Licensee shall be permitted to use Equipment for the following purposes, and for no other purpose: 

(a) exhibition of Traditional Motion Picture Content distributed by Participating Distributors; 

(b) exhibition of pre-feature on-screen advertising; 

(c) exhibition of Traditional Motion Picture Content distributed by Non-Participating Distributors provided that Licensor has notified Licensee 

that the Non-Participating Distributor has paid to Licensor or made arrangements with Licensor for payment to Licensor of all applicable 

Non-Participant Virtual Print Fees in connection with such exhibition; and 

(d) subject to the requirements of Section 11, exhibition of Non-Traditional Content. 

10. NO FEE TO DISTRIBUTORS. Licensee agrees that it will not charge any Participating Distributor a fee or service charge for the use of 

any Digital System to exhibit Distributor's theatrical motion pictures. 

11. NON-TRADITIONAL CONTENT. 

(a) Licensee hereby designates Access Integrated Technologies, Inc. ("AccessIT") as its preferred content delivery service for Non-Traditional 

Content and Licensee agrees to use its commercially reasonable best efforts to play content available from providers using AccessIT's content 

delivery service. Licensee agrees that it will not enter into any other agreement with a third party that would: (a)prohibit AccessIT from 

showing on the Equipment Non-Traditional Content that Licensee, in its sole discretion, may choose to book or (b) prohibit AccessIT from 

delivering digital content to Licensee's theatres. If, the Non-Traditional Content is delivered by a delivery service other than AccessIT on that 

delivery service's delivery software and equipment, Licensee shall pay to Licensor for use of the Digital System (15%) of the gross revenues 

derived by Licensee from each show of such Non-Traditional Content up to a maximum of $1,200 per show. 

(b) If AccessIT is the content delivery service for the Non-Traditional Content, Licensee shall pay Licensor *** per cent (***%) of the gross 

revenues derived by Licensee from each show of such Non-Traditional Content up to a maximum of $*** per show. 

 

***CONFIDENTIAL PORTIONS HAVE BEEN OMITTED AND FILED SEPARATELY WITH THE SECURITIES AND 

EXCHANGE COMMISSION. ASTERISKS DENOTE OMISSIONS. 
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12. REPORTING AND EQUIPMENT LOGS. 

(a) In order to facilitate accurate billing of virtual print fees payable to Licensor with respect to the exhibition of Digital Titles on the 

Equipment, Licensor and its representatives shall be entitled to access, review and obtain copies, in such manner as Licensor may determine 

from time to time, of all Log Files, as defined below. Licensee shall also be entitled to access to the Log Files. Licensor and Licensee agree not 

to interfere with the use of the Equipment for showing Digital Titles or the availability of access to the Log Files. Log Files are electronic files 

created by the Equipment, including but not limited to files containing information and records on the actual usage history of each component 

of the Equipment and the specific title and time of play for each usage. 

(b) Licensor agrees to use the Log Files solely to monitor, assist and verify the billing of virtual print fees and measuring Equipment 

performance. Licensor shall not be permitted to access any financial records of Licensee. 

13. EXHIBITION COMMITMENT. Provided that more than fifty percent (50%) of the screens in any Cineplex are equipped with Digital 

Cinema Projection Systems licensed under this Agreement , then, if a motion picture which Licensee desires to license is available from a 

Participating Distributor (or, subject to the requirements of Section 10, a Non-Participating Distributor) in both a Digital Title version and a 

film print version, Licensee is hereby required to license and exhibit on a Digital System the Digital Title version rather than the film print 

version provided that there is a screen equipped with a Digital Cinema Projection System that is open to be booked with a movie commencing 

on the opening date of that movie. Subject to the foregoing requirement, Licensee shall have full and complete discretion over the choice of 

content at all of its screens. 

14. PROMOTION OF DLP CINEMA(TM). To the extent that Licensee is not required to incur any additional advertising or other costs 

beyond its ordinary marketing and advertising costs for its own business, Licensee shall use its commercially reasonable best efforts to: 

(a) promote DLP Cinema(TM) technology for the exhibition of Digital Titles in accordance with the DLP Cinema(TM) Promotional 

Guidelines. 

(b) include the DLP Cinema(TM) logo in all advertisements in all media, including, but not limited to, print, newspaper and internet, issued by 

or under the control of Licensee with respect to Digital Titles to be exhibited by means of the Equipment, and insure that all such advertising is 

in accordance with the DLP Cinema(TM) Promotional Guidelines. 

(c) display the "DLP Cinema(TM)" trailer on screen preceding the distributor's logo credit and at the beginning of each exhibition of 

Non-Traditional Content. 

Licensor shall obtain any approval(s) necessary for performing the acts set forth in items (a) through (c) above, including, but not limited to, 

any necessary approval of each Participating Distributor, Non-Participating Distributor or provider of Non-Traditional Content, as applicable; 

and secure all necessary royalty-free trademark licenses from Texas Instruments Incorporated with regard to items (a) and (b) above. 

15. MAINTENANCE AND TRAINING. Concurrently with the execution and delivery of this Agreement, Licensee shall enter into the Service 

Contract with Christie. During the Initial Term of this Agreement, Licensee shall maintain in effect the Service Contract with Christie or a 

comparable service contract with another service provider acceptable to Licensor and shall maintain the Digital Systems in good order and 

repair during the Initial Term normal wear and tear excepted. The Service Contract provides for training of Licensee personnel, and Licensee 

will in any event maintain an adequate theater staff properly trained in the use of Digital Systems. Licensee will not do anything which would 

render Digital Systems non-compliant with, or prevent Digital Systems from being compliant with, the DCI Specification during the term of 

this Agreement. Any replacement parts substituted for any parts or 
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components of Equipment shall become the property of Licensor covered by the relevant Equipment Schedule for such Equipment. 

16. ADDITIONS AND ALTERATIONS. 

(a) With the consent of Licensee, Licensor may from time to time at Licensor's expense and by Licensor's designated representatives or 

contractors, make alterations to, or add components, accessories, enhancements, features or functionalities to, Equipment, and all of the 

foregoing shall, at the time of such alteration or addition, become the property of Licensor covered by the relevant Equipment Schedule for 

such Equipment. 

(b) Except in accordance with paragraph (a) above or with the prior written consent of Licensor, Licensee shall not make, or permit to be made, 

alterations to, or additions of components, accessories, enhancements, features or functionalities to, Equipment, provided that nothing 

contained in this 

Section 17 shall prevent or be construed to prevent Christie from replacing parts and components in connection with the maintenance services 

to be provided by Christie under the Service Contract. 

(c) With the prior written consent of Licensor, Licensee shall be permitted to add components, accessories, enhancements, features or 

functionalities to the Equipment and any such alterations or additions shall remain the property of Licensee. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 

Licensee shall not make any alterations or changes to or in relation to Equipment which would impair or prevent the use of the Equipment for 

showing Digital Titles. 

17. TAXES. The costs and fees set forth herein and in all Schedules and Exhibits attached hereto and made a part hereof do not include any 

applicable federal, state or local taxes, and any such taxes or governmental charges upon the Equipment and any Software covered hereby, 

including sales or use taxes or any other tax however designated arising from the subject matter of this Agreement, shall be paid by Licensor. 

18. DAMAGE AND LOSS 

(a) After Installation, Licensee shall bear all risk of damage to or loss or destruction of the Equipment by reason of any cause whatsoever, 

including without limitation fire, flood, earthquake, natural disaster, casualty, accident or theft. Licensee shall advise Licensor of any such 

damage, loss or destruction in writing within five (5) days after any such damage, loss or destruction occurs. 

(b) In the event of any damage, loss or destruction which materially impairs the performance of any Equipment or renders the Equipment 

inoperable and which is capable of repair on a cost effective basis, then Licensee will, at its expense, have Christie repair the Equipment under 

the Service Contract. 

(c) In the event of any damage, loss or destruction which materially impairs the performance of any Equipment or renders the Equipment 

inoperable and which is not capable of repair on a cost effective basis, or in the event of any complete loss or destruction of any Equipment, 

then Licensor, in its sole discretion, may, at Licensee's expense, replace the Equipment with comparable or better Equipment and Licensee 

shall do all things and execute all documents as may be necessary in the judgment of Licensor to cause title to the replacement Equipment to 

vest in Licensor and to subject the replacement Equipment to all of the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

(d) In the event Licensee fails to promptly perform its obligations under paragraph (b) or (c), then Licensor may, but is not obligated to, cause 

the Equipment to be repaired or replaced and invoice Licensee for all costs of such repair or replacement, which invoice shall be due and 

payable within ten 

(10) days of the date of invoice. 
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(e) In no event will any damage to or loss or destruction of any Equipment entitle Licensee to any refund of or credit for any amounts paid or 

remitted by Licensee to Licensor under this Agreement, or excuse Licensee from payment of any amounts otherwise payable by Licensee to 

Licensor under this Agreement. 

19. INSURANCE. Licensee, at its expense, will maintain throughout the term of this Agreement a policy of insurance issued by a reputable 

insurer reasonably acceptable to Licensor, insuring the Equipment against "all risks," including extended coverage insurance, for a coverage 

amount at least equal to the full replacement cost (at market value) of the Equipment. Licensor shall be named as an additional loss payee under 

such policy, and such policy shall provide that it may not be canceled except upon at least thirty (30) days prior written notice to Licensor (or at 

least ten (10) days prior written notice for failure to pay a premium). Upon Licensor's request, Licensee shall furnish to Licensor insurance 

certificates or other satisfactory evidence of such insurance. If Licensee fails to maintain insurance as required hereunder, Licensor may, but 

shall not be obligated to, purchase such insurance and invoice Licensee for all costs with respect thereto, which invoice shall be due and 

payable within (10) days of the date of invoice. 

20. AUDIT, INSPECTION AND ACCESS RIGHTS. 

(a) Licensor shall have the right, through its designated representatives (including Christie), at Licensor's expense, upon reasonable prior notice 

and during regular business hours, to (a) examine Licensee's usage records relating solely to the Equipment; (b) inspect the Equipment for 

purposes of verifying (i) Licensee's compliance with all of its obligations under this Agreement; (ii) the condition of the Equipment; and (iii) 

compliance of the Equipment with the DCI Specification; and (c) examine Licensee's records relating to Non-Traditional Content, including 

revenue and other records, for the sole purpose of verifying compliance with Section 11 of this Agreement. 

(b) Licensee shall maintain all books and records subject to audit hereunder for a period of not less than three (3) years after the expiration or 

any termination of this Agreement, and during such three (3) year period, Licensor shall retain all audit and inspection rights set forth in this 

Section 

21. Licensee shall provide all necessary access to the Equipment and the relevant site location for purposes of such inspection and verification. 

(c) Licensee will permit representatives of Distributors reasonable access, upon reasonable prior notice and at times convenient to Licensee, to 

Cineplex locations where the Equipment is located to (i) verify the operating condition of the Equipment and, after the DCI Specification has 

been finalized and issued, to verify that the Equipment is compliant with the DCI Specification or to verify the upgrading of Equipment to meet 

the DCI Specification as contemplated by this Agreement, and (ii) at no cost to Licensee install such distribution equipment as may be 

necessary for Distributors to deliver content files to such premises. 

21. NEGATIVE PLEDGE. During the term of this Agreement, Licensee shall not sell, convey, assign, transfer or otherwise dispose of any 

Equipment or any interest therein, and shall keep such Equipment and its rights and interests under this Agreement free and clear of all liens, 

security interests, encumbrances, charges or adverse claims. Licensee shall promptly notify Licensor of any liens, security interests, 

encumbrances, charges or adverse claims which any third party files or seeks to enforce against the Equipment or any of Licensee's rights and 

interest under this Agreement. 

22. PERSONAL PROPERTY. It is the intention of Licensor and Licensee that the Equipment at all times shall be and remain personal 

property, and shall not be or become a fixture upon or affixed to any real property. The Equipment shall not be affixed to realty so as to change 

the character of the equipment from personal property to fixtures. 

23. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLEASE. 

10 



CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUESTED BY CARMIKE CINEMAS, INC. OF 

CERTAIN PORTIONS OF THIS AGREEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

RULE 24B-2 UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 

(a) Licensee shall not assign this Agreement or any Equipment Schedule, or lease or sublicense the use of any of the Equipment, without the 

prior written consent of Licensor in each instance, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld by Licensor; provided, however, Licensee 

may assign this Agreement or any Equipment Schedule without Licensor's prior written consent (i) to any direct or indirect subsidiary of 

Licensee, (ii) to any person or entity resulting from a reorganization of Licensee, (iii) to any person or entity with which Licensee is merged or 

consolidated, (iv) to any person or entity that acquires all or substantially all of Licensee's assets or equity securities of whatever type, (v) to 

Licensee's existing lenders or any other lender(s) pursuant to loan documents evidencing debt obligations of Licensee (provided such lender(s) 

shall have all rights of cure available to Licensee hereunder) or 

(vi) to any person or entity that controls, is controlled by or is under common control with Licensee. 

(b) Licensor shall have the right to freely assign this Agreement and any or all of the Equipment Schedules. In order to facilitate the financing 

of the Equipment, Licensor may enter into agreements with one or more parties pursuant to which, inter alia, Licensor may assign its right, title 

and interest in this Agreement to such parties (referred to herein individually as a "FINANCING PARTY" and collectively, as "FINANCING 

PARTIES"). Licensee irrevocably consents to the transfer and assignment of Licensor's right, title and interest in this Agreement to any and all 

Financing Parties and hereby acknowledges and agrees for the benefit of each such Financing Party that upon receipt by Licensor of written 

notice from a Financing Party that an event of default has occurred and is continuing under any financing arrangements between such 

Financing Party and Licensor with respect to the Equipment (such documents referred to herein as the "FINANCING DOCUMENTS"), and a 

statement to the effect that such Financing Party has elected to exercise its remedies pursuant to the Financing Documents and this Agreement 

as a consequence of such default, the Financing Party shall have the rights of Licensor hereunder, and Licensee shall deal exclusively and 

directly with the Financing Party or its designee(s) or assignee(s), as the case may be, and not Licensor. 

24. WARRANTY DISCLAIMER. EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT, LICENSOR MAKES NO 

WARRANTIES TO LICENSEE, WRITTEN OR ORAL, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION ANY IMPLIED 

WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR USE OR PURPOSE OR NON-INFRINGEMENT, ALL OF 

WHICH IMPLIED WARRANTIES ARE HEREBY EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMED. 

25. THIRD PARTY WARRANTIES. At the request of Licensee, Licensor shall, at Licensee's option, (a) enforce for the benefit of Licensee 

any rights or remedies which Licensor may have against any manufacturer or licensor in respect of any of the Equipment or Software, 

including, but not limited to, rights or remedies, if any, under any product warranty or any indemnification against infringement, or (b) make a 

full or partial assignment to Licensee of any such rights or remedies. 

26. NON-PETITION COVENANT. During the period from the commencement of this Agreement and ending on the date on which either 

party hereto ceases to have any continuing obligations to the other under this Agreement, neither party shall commence or join in any 

involuntary bankruptcy proceeding against the other party under any federal or state bankruptcy law, or commence or join in any proceeding 

for the appointment of a receiver or trustee for any or all of the assets of the other party or for the liquidation or dissolution of such other party. 

27. EVENTS OF DEFAULT. The occurrence of any of the following events shall constitute an "Event of Default" under this Agreement: 
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(a) failure by Licensee to make or remit any payments required to be made or remitted by Licensee hereunder or under any Equipment 

Schedule as and when the same become due and payable and such failure continues uncured for a period of ten (10) days after written notice to 

Licensee; or 

(b) the material breach by Licensee or any of its officers, employees or authorized agents of any of its obligations hereunder or under any 

Equipment Schedule (other than obligations referred to in paragraph (a) above), which breach continues uncured for a period of thirty (30) days 

after written notice to Licensee provided, however, that to the extent such breach is susceptible of cure and Licensee has commenced a cure 

within such period, such period shall continue for as long as Licensee diligently pursues a cure; 

(c) the termination by Licensee of the business of operating as an exhibitor of commercial films; 

(d) the making of an assignment by Licensee for the benefit of its creditors or the admission by Licensee in writing of its inability to pay its 

debts as they become due, or the filing by or against Licensee of any petition under any bankruptcy or insolvency laws, which petition is not 

dismissed within ninety (90) days, or the appointment of a receiver, liquidator or trustee for any or all of the assets of Licensee, which 

appointment is not vacated within ninety (90) days. 

(e) the material breach by Licensor or any of its officers, employees or authorized agents of any of its obligations hereunder or under any 

Equipment Schedule which breach continues uncured for a period of thirty (30) days after written notice to Licensor provided, however, that to 

the extent such breach is susceptible of cure and Licensor has commenced a cure within such period, such period shall continue for as long as 

Licensor diligently pursues a cure; 

(f) the substantial failure of a material quantity of the Equipment installed under this Agreement to properly perform the functions for which 

said Equipment was designed and installed during any consecutive six (6) month period, which failure continues uncured for a period of thirty 

(30) days after written notice to Licensor provided, however, that to the extent such failure is susceptible of cure and Licensor has commenced 

a cure within such period, such period shall continue for as long as Licensor diligently pursues a cure. 

(g) the making of an assignment by Licensor for the benefit of its creditors or the admission by Licensor in writing of its inability to pay its 

debts as they become due, or the filing by or against Licensor of any petition under any bankruptcy or insolvency laws, which petition is not 

dismissed within ninety (90) days, or the appointment of a receiver, liquidator or trustee for any or all of the assets of Licensor, which 

appointment is not vacated within ninety (90) days. 

28. REMEDIES. Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default, beyond applicable cure periods, the non-defaulting 

party shall have, in addition to any other rights and remedies available at law or in equity all of the following rights and remedies: 

(a) the right to terminate this Agreement and any or all of the Equipment Schedules; 

(b) Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default by Licensee beyond applicable cure periods, Licensor shall have 

the right to retake possession of any or all of the Equipment, and for such purpose Licensor shall have the right to enter upon any premises 

where any or all of the Equipment is located and remove same; 

(c) In the event of Default by Licensee, Licensor shall have the right to recover any and all damages, including loss of virtual print fees, cost 

and expenses, including reasonable attorneys' 
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fees and costs, resulting from such Event of Default or the enforcement of Licensor's remedies hereunder. 

(d) In the event of Default by Licensor, Licensee shall have the right to recover any and all damages, cost and expenses, including reasonable 

attorneys' fees and costs, resulting from such Event of Default or the enforcement of Licensee's remedies hereunder. 

All rights and remedies are cumulative, and the exercise of any one right or remedy shall not preclude the exercise of any other right or remedy. 

29. LIMITATION ON DAMAGES. IN NO EVENT SHALL EITHER PARTY BE LIABLE FOR ANY SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, 

CONSEQUENTIAL OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES, EVEN IF SAID PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH 

DAMAGES. 

30. INDEMNIFICATION. 

Licensee shall indemnify and hold Licensor, its successors and assigns, and their members, managers, partners, affiliates, officers, directors, 

employees, agents, advisors and attorneys harmless from and against any and all claims, costs, expenses, damages and liabilities, including 

attorneys' fees and costs, arising out of the use, operation or possession of the Equipment or otherwise related to this Agreement or any 

Equipment Schedule. The indemnification rights hereunder shall survive the expiration or any termination of this Agreement. 

Licensor shall indemnify and hold Licensee, its successors and assigns, and their members, managers, partners, affiliates, officers, directors, 

employees, agents, advisors and attorneys harmless from and against any and all claims, costs, expenses, damages and liabilities, including 

attorneys' fees and costs, arising out of the use, operation or possession of the Equipment or otherwise related to this Agreement or any 

Equipment Schedule. The indemnification rights hereunder shall survive the expiration or any termination of this Agreement. 

31. REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS OF LICENSEE. Licensee hereby represents, warrants and covenants to 

Licensor that (a) the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by Licensee have been, and each Equipment Schedule hereafter 

executed by Licensee will be, duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of Licensee; (b) the individual(s) executing this 

Agreement on behalf of Licensee have the requisite authority to do so, and the individual(s) executing any Equipment Schedule will have the 

requisite authority to do so; (c) this Agreement does, and each Equipment Schedule will, constitute the legal, valid and binding agreement of 

Licensee enforceable in accordance with their respective terms; (d) Licensee or its operating subsidiary is in good standing in the jurisdiction of 

its incorporation or organization and in any jurisdiction in which any Equipment is located; (e) Licensee shall comply with any and all 

applicable laws and regulations relating to the use of the Equipment and Licensee's performance under this Agreement and each Equipment 

Schedule; (h) there are no actions, suits or proceedings pending, or to the knowledge of Licensee, threatened, before any court or administrative 

agency, arbitrator or governmental body that would materially adversely affect its ability to make payments or perform its obligations under 

this Agreement or any Equipment Schedule; (i) Licensee is not party to, and during the term of this Agreement will not enter into, any 

exclusive arrangement other than with Licensor for the showing or delivery of Traditional Motion Picture Content or other alternative digital 

content other than for advertisements, or pursuant to Licensee's existing agreements with Technicolor Screen Services Inc., Pepsi-Cola Sales 

and Distribution Inc. and The Coca-Cola Company or replacements and/or extensions thereof. 

32. REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS OF LICENSOR. Licensor hereby represents, warrants and covenants to 

Licensee that (a) the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement have been, and each Equipment Schedule hereafter executed by 

Licensor will be, duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of Licensor; (b) the individual(s) executing this Agreement on 

behalf of Licensor have the requisite authority to do so, and the individual(s) executing any 
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Equipment Schedule will have the requisite authority to do so; (c) this Agreement does, and each Equipment Schedule will, constitute the legal, 

valid and binding agreement of Licensor enforceable in accordance with its terms; (d) Licensor is in good standing in the jurisdiction of its 

organization and in each jurisdiction where the ownership or operation of its property and assets or the conduct of its business requires such 

qualification; (e) Licensor shall comply with any and all applicable laws and regulations relating to Licensor's performance under this 

Agreement and each Equipment Schedule; (f) there are no actions, suits or proceedings pending, or to the knowledge of Licensor, threatened, 

before any court or administrative agency, arbitrator or governmental body which would materially adversely affect its ability to perform under 

this Agreement; (g) to Licensor's knowledge after due inquiry, no part or component of the Equipment or Licensee's use thereof, including 

without limitation, the Software, infringes or violates any patent, copyright, trade secret, mask work right, trademark license or other 

intellectual property right of any third party; (h) Licensor has the right to grant the rights and licenses granted to Licensee under this 

Agreement, (i) the Distributor Agreements executed as of the date hereof are valid, binding and of full force and effect and none of the parties 

thereto are in default thereunder and (j) Licensee's right and license hereunder to use the Equipment in accordance with the terms hereof 

includes the royalty-free right to use the DLP Cinema(TM) technology incorporated in the Equipment. 

33. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. Licensor and Licensee acknowledge that there are no agreements or understandings, written or oral, between 

Licensor and Licensee with respect to the Equipment, other than as set forth herein and in each Equipment Schedule, that this Agreement and 

the Equipment Schedules contain the entire agreement between Licensor and Licensee with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof, 

and that no covenant, condition, or other term or provision may be waived or modified orally. 

34. APPLICABLE LAW. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York, without 

giving effect to its conflicts of laws principles. 

35. SEVERABILITY AND VALIDITY. If any provision of this Agreement or any Equipment Schedule is prohibited by, or is unlawful or 

unenforceable under, any applicable law of any jurisdiction, such provision shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such 

prohibition, without invalidating the remaining provisions thereof; provided, however, that any such prohibition in any jurisdiction shall not 

invalidate such provision in any other applicable jurisdiction. 

36. NOTICES. All notices hereunder shall be in writing, shall be effective upon actual receipt shall be hand delivered, sent by overnight courier 

(such as FedEx), or sent by registered or certified mail or delivered personally in accordance with the following, or to such other address as 

either party may specify to the other in writing: 
 

LICENSOR:       Christie/AIX, Inc. 
                c/o Access Integrated Technologies, Inc. 
                55 Madison Avenue, Suite 300 
                Morristown, New Jersey  07960 
                Attention: Gary S. Loffredo, Esq., 
                Senior VP and General Counsel 
 
With a copy to: Kelley Drye & Warren LLP 
                101 Park Avenue 
                New York, New York 10178 
                Attention: Jonathan Cooperman, Esq. 
 
LICENSEE:       Carmike Cinemas, Inc. 
                1301 1st Avenue 
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Columbus, GA 31901 

Attn: CFO, CEO and Legal 

With a copy to: 

37. MODIFICATION AND WAIVER. No modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement or any Equipment Schedule shall be 

effective unless the same is in writing and signed by both parties, and then such modification, waiver or consent shall be effective only in the 

specific instance and for the specific purpose given. Licensor and Licensee may, from time to time, mutually agree on additional terms and 

conditions with respect to an Equipment Schedule which may be set forth thereon or attached thereto as an "Addendum" which shall be 

applicable to and constitute a part thereof. 

38. CONFIDENTIALITY. Licensee acknowledges that the Equipment and Software contain proprietary information and their configuration 

and operation constitute trade secrets of Licensor or the respective owners thereof. In addition to the foregoing, each party acknowledges that 

its officers, employees, agents or representatives during the term of this Agreement will have access to and come into contact with, confidential 

proprietary information of the other party, including, but not limited to, information concerning the Equipment and/or the Software and/or other 

trade secrets of Licensor and information pertaining to Licensee's finances, personnel and business practices ("CONFIDENTIAL 

INFORMATION"). Licensor and Licensee agree not to disclose to any third party any Confidential Information that it learns during the term of 

this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other party. This obligation shall survive the cancellation or other termination of this 

Agreement. The parties hereby agree to use their best efforts to maintain the confidentiality of the Confidential Information and to treat such 

Confidential Information with the same degree of care and security as they treat their own most confidential information. Notwithstanding the 

foregoing, the parties' obligations with respect to the Confidential Information shall not extend to information that: 

(a) is in the public domain at the time of its disclosure; (b) becomes part of the public domain through a source other than Licensee; or (c) is 

required to be disclosed pursuant to law, a court order or governmental authority, whereupon Licensee shall provide Licensor with notice prior 

to such disclosure unless otherwise forbidden by law. The parties shall be required to advise each of their employees, agents and 

representatives who have access to Confidential Information that they are required to keep Confidential Information in the strictest confidence, 

but in all cases, Licensor and Licensee shall retain responsibility for any breach by an employee, agent and/or a representative of the 

confidentiality obligations set forth in this Section 39. It is understood that in case of a breach of this Section 39, damages may not be an 

adequate remedy and the Licensor may be entitled to injunctive relief to restrain any breach, whether threatened or actual, of this Section 39. 

39. PRECEDENCE. In the event of any conflict between the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the terms and conditions of any 

properly executed Equipment Schedule, the terms and conditions of such Equipment Schedule shall prevail. 

40. NO WAIVER. The failure by either party to exercise any right or remedy provided for in this Agreement will not be deemed to be a waiver 

of any right or remedy hereunder. 

41. SECTION HEADINGS. The section headings are for the convenience of the parties and in no way alter, modify, amend, limit, or restrict 

the contractual obligations of the parties. 

42. COUNTERPARTS; EXECUTION BY FACSIMILE. This Agreement and each Equipment Schedule may be executed in one or more 

counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which shall be one and the same document. This Agreement and each 

Equipment Schedule may be executed and delivered by facsimile transmission. 

43. NO JOINT VENTURE OR PARTNERSHIP. The parties are entering into this Agreement as Licensor and Licensee, and nothing herein 

shall be deemed to create or constitute a joint venture or 

15 



CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUESTED BY CARMIKE CINEMAS, INC. OF 

CERTAIN PORTIONS OF THIS AGREEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

RULE 24B-2 UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 

partnership between the parties or a principal-agent relationship. Neither party has the authority to bind or contract on behalf of the other party. 

44. ANNOUNCEMENTS. No public announcement, circular, advertisement or other publicity in connection with this Agreement shall be 

made or issued by or on behalf of either party to this Agreement, except as may be required by law, judicial order or applicable regulation, 

except by mutual agreement of the parties as evidenced by the prior written consent of the other party. Both parties shall mutually agree upon 

the content of any public statement announcing the existence of this Agreement. 

45. THEATER CLOSURES. If at any time during the term of this Agreement, Licensee discontinues operations at any theater with respect to 

which it has executed an Equipment Schedule and a Certificate of Acceptance, this Agreement and the Equipment Schedule for such theater 

shall terminate as of the end of the last day of business operations at such theater. Licensee shall have the option to (a) utilize the Equipment 

located at such theater in any other theater operated by Licensee or its Affiliates which does not have Equipment or (ii) have such Equipment 

picked up by Licensor or its designated representatives. If Licensee elects to use the Equipment in accordance with (i) above, Licensee and 

Licensor shall execute a mutually acceptable new Equipment Schedule and Certificate of Acceptance for the theater in which the Equipment is 

installed in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 

46. THEATER SALES AND ACQUISITIONS. If during the term of this Agreement, Licensee or its Affiliates sell, transfer, convey or assign 

to a third party their respective interest in any theater with respect to which Licensee has executed an Equipment Schedule and Certificate of 

Acceptance, Licensee or its Affiliates may, with the prior consent of Licensor, which will not unreasonably be withheld, transfer the Equipment 

in such transaction so long as such acquirer or transferee executes and delivers to Licensor a Master License Agreement in the same form as 

this Agreement and an Equipment Schedule in the form attached as Exhibit A. Upon such transfer, Licensee shall have no further obligation 

under this Agreement or the Equipment Schedule for such theatre. If during the term of this Agreement, Licensee or its Affiliates shall acquire 

a Cineplex Licensee shall have the right to designate such Cineplex(s) for inclusion hereunder and Licensee shall be entitled to either relocate 

existing Equipment to such Cineplex, or if the initial 2,300 screens have not been enabled with Digital Systems then Licensee may notify 

Licensor that said Cineplex(s) be Digitally enabled thereafter. 

47. LICENSEE'S OPTION TO PURCHASE; EQUIPMENT RETURN. 

(a) At any time following the expiration of the Initial Term, Licensee shall have the option to purchase all or any portion of the Equipment. The 

purchase option for any Equipment may be exercised by Licensee by providing Licensor with at least 60 days written notice (the "Purchase 

Notice") specifying the Equipment Licensee is electing to purchase. The purchase price (the "Purchase Price") for such Equipment shall be 

equal to the fair market value of the Equipment to be purchased as of the date the Purchase Notice is given to Licensor. The fair market value 

of the Equipment shall be determined by an independent third party appraiser selected by Licensee and approved by Licensor, which approval 

may not be unreasonably withheld ("1st Appraiser"). Either party may dispute the 1st Appraiser's value by notifying the other party of such 

dispute and submitting a second independent third party appraiser("2nd Appraiser") who shall determine the market value of said Equipment. 

In the event the two appraisers cannot agree on the Equipment's value then the matter shall be submitted to arbitration in accordance with the 

rules of the American Arbitration Association. 

(b) Upon the exercise of the purchase option in Section 47(a) above which is not rescinded, title to such Equipment shall pass from Licensor to 

Licensee upon the payment of the Purchase Price on an "AS IS, WHERE IS" basis, without warranty of any kind, express or implied, other 

than Licensor's warranty of good title and warranty that such equipment is transferred free of all liens, security interests, claims or 

encumbrances of any kind or nature. Licensor shall comply with the DCI Specification requirements regarding the Digital Systems that are 

contained in the Distributor Agreements, as may be amended from time to time throughout the term of the Distributor Agreements. Licensor 

shall deliver to Licensee a duly executed and appropriate bill of sale in form and substance 
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reasonably acceptable to Licensee, evidencing transfer of title of the Equipment purchased. Upon payment of the Purchase Price, this 

Agreement shall terminate with respect to such Equipment and the Equipment Schedule(s) relating to the Equipment so purchased shall be 

appropriately amended or terminated, as applicable. 

(c) In the event the Licensee does not exercise its purchase option, the removal of the Equipment shall be subject to the terms and conditions of 

this Agreement. 

49. MFN. In the event that during the Roll-Out Period Licensor offers to install a Digital System for a third party on terms and conditions 

which are comparable to the terms and conditions of this Agreement but on financial terms which in the aggregate are more favorable than the 

financial terms of this Agreement, then Licensor shall promptly offer the more favorable financial terms to Licensee. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the duly authorized representatives of the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date and year first 

above written. 
 

LICENSOR                                 LICENSEE 
 
By: _______________________________      By: ___________________________________ 
 

Name: _____________________________      Name:  ________________________________ 
 
Title: ____________________________      Title: ________________________________ 
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LIST OF EXHIBITS 

EXHIBIT A Form of Equipment Schedule/Certificate of Acceptance EXHIBIT B DLP Cinema(TM) Promotional Guidelines EXHIBIT C 

Intentionally Omitted 

EXHIBIT D Participating Distributors 

EXHIBIT E Form of Service Contract 

EXHIBIT F Intentionally Omitted 

EXHIBIT G Intentionally Omitted 

EXHIBIT H Intentionally Omitted 

EXHIBIT I Form of Monthly Report 
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EXHIBIT A 

EQUIPMENT SCHEDULE NO. ___ 

DATED AS OF ___________ 

TO MASTER LICENSE AGREEMENT DATED AS OF _________ 
 

1.    EQUIPMENT 
 
QTY   ITEM DESCRIPTION         SERIAL NUMBER                AUDITORIUM LOCATION 
                                                                IDENTIFIER 

 

2. LOCATION, SCREENS AND REQUESTED DATE FOR INSTALLATION 

THEATER NAME: 

THEATER ADDRESS: 

NUMBER OF SCREENS: 

Exhibit A 



REQUESTED DATE OF INSTALLATION: 

3. SPECIAL TERMS (IF ANY). 

Licensor and Licensee ____ have _____ have not agreed on any special terms for the license by Licensor to Licensee of the Equipment 

specified in this Equipment Schedule. In the event Licensor and Licensee have agreed on any such special terms, such special terms are as set 

forth on a separate schedule attached hereto and made a part hereof. 

This Equipment Schedule is executed pursuant to the Master License Agreement dated as of the date indicated above between Licensor and 

Licensee (the "Agreement"). All of the terms and conditions of the Agreement are incorporated herein by this reference and made a part hereof 

as if such terms and conditions were set forth in full in this Equipment Schedule. By executing this Equipment Schedule, Licensor and Licensee 

hereby reaffirm all of the terms and conditions of the Agreement except as expressly modified hereby. 
 

LICENSOR                                 LICENSEE 

 
By: ____________________________         By: ___________________________________ 
 
Name: __________________________         Name: _________________________________ 
 
Title: _________________________         Title: ________________________________ 
 
Date: __________________________         Date: _________________________________ 
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EXHIBIT 1 TO EXHIBIT A 

CERTIFICATE OF ACCEPTANCE 

THIS CERTIFICATE OF ACCEPTANCE is executed as of ____________, 20__ with respect to the Equipment itemized in Equipment 

Schedule No. __ dated as of ________________, 20__ (the "Equipment Schedule") executed pursuant to that certain Master License 

Agreement dated as of ______________, 20__ (the "Agreement") between Christie/AIX, Inc. ("Licensor") and the undersigned ("Licensee"). 

1. Certification 

Licensee hereby certifies that the items of Equipment described in the Equipment Schedule have been installed at the location specified in the 

Equipment Schedule, have been inspected by Licensee, have been found by Licensee to be in good working condition and have been accepted 

by Licensee as Equipment whose use is licensed by Licensor under the Agreement and the Equipment Schedule. 

2. Commencement Date 

The commencement date of the license term under the Agreement and the Equipment Schedule for the Equipment accepted hereunder is 

_______________________ (the "Commencement Date"). 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Licensee has executed this Certificate of Acceptance as of the date first above written. 

"LICENSEE" 

By: _________________________________________ 

Name: _______________________________________ 

Title: ______________________________________ 
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EXHIBIT B 

DLP CINEMA(TM) PROMOTIONAL GUIDELINES 

(exhibit starts on next page) 
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[TEXAS INSTRUMENTS LOGO] DLP CINEMA(TM) POWER OF PICTURE 

DLP Cinema(TM) 

Promotional Guidelines 

DIGITAL PICTURE BY 

[DLP CINEMA LOGO] 
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OVERVIEW 

This document defines the DLP Cinema(TM) Trademark and Promotional Guidelines. It also serves as an example of proper trademark usage, 

which helps assure the continuing association of DLP Cinema(TM) trademarks with high quality image mastering and projection. 

These guidelines are intended for use by end equipment manufacturers of systems that incorporate DLP Cinema(TM) components or 

subsystems, and individuals or third parties who have an agreement with Tl relating to DLP Cinema(TM) Quality Requirements. The DLP 

Cinema(TM) trademarks are owned by Texas Instruments Incorporated (TI). Nothing in these Guidelines is to be deemed a waiver of TI's 

trademark rights. 

These guidelines are issued pursuant to other applicable DLP Cinema(TM) agreements as entered with TI. These guidelines are not intended to 

substitute for such documents with those parties having such agreements. 

These guidelines provide direction on proper use of the DLP Cinema(TM) trademark on DLP Cinema(TM) branded products, in print, in text 

and in broadcasting. These guidelines may be updated from time-to-time by TI without notice. 

For any questions of interpretation regarding these guidelines, contact Cheraina Dunn 214 567-0833. 

FUNDAMENTALS 

THE FUNDAMENTALS OF THE DLP CINEMA(TM) TRADEMARK AND PROMOTIONAL GUIDELINES ARE: 

(1) The Trademarked DLP Cinema(TM) logo shall be conspicuously displayed on the front and on the side of all OEM and authorized end 

equipment manufacturer's products (or on the same side of the product as the OEM's or authorized end equipment manufacturer's name) unless 

otherwise approved in writing by Texas Instruments. 

(2) The DLP Cinema(TM) trademark shall be used in accordance with the guidelines outlined in this document in all advertisements, collateral, 

web, broadcast and other media when a DLP Cinema(TM) product is featured or shown. 

(3) Appropriate wording, shall be used to reference the DLP Cinema(TM) brand in any venue. 

(4) The DLP Cinema(TM) brand and trademarks shall be used as an adjective followed by generic noun. 

(5) The DLP Cinema(TM) brand is the only DLP(TM) brand that should be associated with d-cinema, digital cinema or anything relating to the 

presentation of studio content in a theatrical setting. 

PRODUCT 

The DLP Cinema(TM) logo is only to be used in conjunction with a DLP Cinema(TM) product. When displaying the DLP Cinema(TM) Logo 

on the product the minimum size of the logo shall be 2.04(w) x 1.35(h) inches, 146.50(w) x 97(h) points, or 5.17(w) x 3.43(h) centimeters as 

shown above. 

[DLP CINEMA LOGO] 

The DLP Cinema(TM) logo shall be conspicuously displayed on the front and side of the product (or on the same side or the product as the 

OEM's name) unless otherwise approved in writing by TI. The OEM's name shall be more prominent than the DLP Cinema(TM) logo. Color 

usage of the DLP Cinema(TM) logo can be displayed as described below. 

COLOR USAGE OF THE LOGO 

The wafer shall always print Blue (PANTONE(R) 2995 or 100% Cyan and 8.5% Magenta). The line beneath DLP(TM) shall be Red 

(PANTONE 485 or 100% yellow and 100% Magenta).The remaining logo shall be black. 

PRODUCT NAME 

The DLP Cinema(TM) brand shall not be used in the model number or the product name. 

EXAMPLES OF HOW NOT TO USE: 

- DLP Cinema(TM) XYZ1000 

- <Company Name> DLP Cinema(TM) <Product Name> 
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MANUFACTURER ADVERTISING AND OTHER PROMOTIONAL MATERIALS 

The DLP Cinema(TM) logo shall be included on all promotional materials, advertisements, collateral, posters, direct mail, etc. When 

displaying the DLP Cinema(TM) logo in any print medium, the following guidelines shall be met. 

LOGO SIZE 

The minimum size of the DLP Cinema(TM) logo in all print shall be .95(w) x .63(h) inches, 70(w) x 45(h) points, or 2.50(w) x 1.60(h) 

centimeters as shown directly below. In larger displays the aspect ratio shall be maintained. 

The space around the logo shall be equal to the height of the L. 

[DLP CINEMA LOGO] 

COLOR USAGE OF THE LOGO 

The DLP Cinema(TM) logo may be used in two ways depending on the background color. 

OPTION 1: When the DLP Cinema(TM) logo is on a BLACK AND DARK BACKGROUND, the wafer/circle shall be Blue (PANTONE 2995 

or 100% Cyan and 8.5% Magenta). The line beneath DLP(TM) shall be Red (PANTONE 485 or 100% Yellow and 100% Magenta). The 

remaining logo shall be white. 

EXAMPLE OF OPTION 1: 

[DLP CINEMA LOGO] 

OPTION 2: When the DLP Cinema(TM) logo is on a WHITE OR LIGHT BACKGROUND, the wafer/circle shall be Blue (PANTONE 2995 

or 100% Cyan and 8.5% Magenta). The line beneath DLP(TM) shall be Red (PANTONE 485 or 100% Yellow and 100% Magenta). The 

remaining logo shall be in black. 

EXAMPLE OF OPTION 2: 

[DLP CINEMA LOGO] 

BLACK AND WHITE USAGE OF THE LOGO 

The DLP Cinema(TM) logo may be in black and white when the print medium is not color. (e.g. newsprint) 

[DLP CINEMA LOGO] [DLP CINEMA LOGO] 

EXHIBITOR AND DISTRIBUTOR PROMOTIONS 

For all movie promotional materials, the Digital Picture by DLP Cinema(TM) logo should be used in one of the following formats. 

One Sheets, Mylars & Billboards 

COLOR USAGE OF THE LOGO 

There are two ways the Digital Picture by DLP Cinema(TM) logo can be used in color. Your choice depends on the background color. 

OPTION 1: When the Digital Picture by DLP Cinema(TM) logo is on A BLACK OR DARK BACKGROUND, the wafer/circle shall be Blue 

(PANTONE 2995 or 100% Cyan and 8.5% Magenta). The Line beneath DLP(TM) shall be Red (PANTONE 485 or 100% Yellow and 100% 

Magenta). The remaining logo shall he white. 

EXAMPLE OF OPTION 1: 

[DLP CINEMA LOGO] 

OPTION 2: When the Digital Picture by DLP Cinema(TM) logo is on a WHITE OR LIGHT-COLORED BACKGROUND, the wafer/circle 

shall be Blue (PANTONE 2995 or 100% Cyan and 8.5% Magenta). The line beneath DLP(TM) shall be Red (PANTONE 485 or 100% Yellow 

and 100% Magenta). The remaining logo shall be in black. 

EXAMPLE OF OPTION 2: 



[DLP CINEMA LOGO] 

BLACK AND WHITE USAGE OF THE LOGO 

The Digital Picture by DLP Cinema(TM) logo can be in black or white when the print medium is not color (e.g. newsprint). 

[DLP CINEMA LOGO] [DLP CINEMA LOGO] 
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Stack Ads, Theatre Show Times and Web Listings 

USAGE OF THE LOGO 

The "Wafer D" mark is to be used in newsprint and applications that do not provide appropriate space for the Digital Picture by DLP 

Cinema(TM) logo. When either mark is used the Digital Picture by DLP Cinema(TM) logo or the words DLP Cinema(TM) should be used in 

the legend.) 

PLEASE USE THE WORDS DLP CINEMA(TM) ON ALPHA MATRIX LED DISPLAYS OVER THEATRE ENTRANCES AND AT BOX 

OFFICE SHOW TIME LISTINGS. OPTION 1 CAN BE USED IN FULL MATRIX LED DISPLAYS. 

OPTION 1: When the mark is used in print with a space no smaller than 8.5mm x 7.5mm 

[DLP CINEMA LOGO] 

OPTION 2: When the mark is used in print with a space smaller than 8.5mm x 7.5mm. The letter "D" can be no smaller than 2.5mm x 2.5mm 

[DLP CINEMA LOGO] 

BROADCAST 

WEB 

When the DLP Cinema(TM) or the Digital Picture by DLP Cinema(TM) logos are featured on a web site: 

- The logos shall be used and their height shall be no smaller than 55 pixels. 

- The (TM) next to the logos will need to be touched up due to the small size. 

- The logos shall be linked to the appropriate DLP(TM) web page. 

RADIO 

When airing a commercial on radio referring to the technology, the words "DLP Cinema(TM) projection technology made by Texas 

Instruments" shall be used. 

TELEVISION 

When airing a commercial on television referring to the technology, the DLP Cinema(TM) logo shall be used. 

PHONE LISTING 

When stating that a movie is being shown using DLP Cinema(TM) technology, the following wording should be used: "Movie XXXX 

available in DLP Cinema(TM) format". 

ANIMATED LOGO 

The latest version of the Digital Picture trailor shall be made available to all DLP Cinema(TM) OEMs, individuals or third parties who have an 

agreement with TI, or who display a movie that has been mastered for DLP Cinema(TM) format. 

TRADEMARK USAGE IN TEXT 

References to the trademarked trade names in print or text include but are not limited to press releases, advertising, web sites, collateral, direct 

mail and articles. 

Each reference to DLP Cinema(TM), CineLink(TM), CineCanvas(TM), CinePalette(TM), and CineBlack(TM) trade names in body copy shall 

feature the trademark"(TM)" symbol. 

EXAMPLE: 

"DLP Cinema(TM) projection technology made by Texas Instruments..." 

USE OF TRADEMARKS AS ADJECTIVES 



All trademarks must only be used as adjectives' not as nouns. An appropriate generic noun must follow each and every reference to a mark. 

EXAMPLE: 

"DLP Cinema(TM) technology is available ..." 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

Appropriate acknowledgement of TI trademarks shall be appended to each communications piece that uses them. Always use the footnote 

stated below in each piece of printed material. 

EXAMPLE: 

"DLP Cinema, CineLink, CineCanvas, CinePalette, and CineBlack are trademarks of Texas Instruments." 

Omit trademarks not used. 

PRESS RELEASES 

In press releases and other media communications, the above guidelines must be strictly observed. 

USE OF CORPORATE NAME 

The first reference in body copy to the corporation should be to "Texas Instruments." Thereafter, reference to the name can be "TI". 

USE OF TRADEMARKS 

All of the trademarks must not imply ownership to another party other than Texas Instruments. The use of trademarks must not imply Texas 

Instruments has ownership of the product. 

ACCEPTABLE EXAMPLES ARE: 

"Company X's XYZ projector using Texas Instruments DLP Cinema(TM) technology is the first..." 

"The XYZ theatre is the first DLP Cinema(TM) site..." 

UNACCEPTABLE EXAMPLES ARE: 

"Company X's XYZ DLP Cinema(TM) projector is the first..." 

"The XYZ is the first DLP Cinema(TM) theatre..." 

To request an appropriate statement from a senior TI manager for inclusion in proposed press releases, please contact Ian McMurray, Press 

Relations Manager, at l-mcmurray@u.com. 

www.dlpcinema.com 

DLP-0066 (c) 2002 Texas Instruments, Inc. TI071400 Digital Light Processing, DLP, DLP Cinema, CineLink, CineCanvas, CinePalette, 

CineBlack, the DLP Cinema logo, the Digital Picture by DLP Cinema logo and the black/red banner are trademarks of Texas Instruments 

PANTONE" is the property of Pantone. Inc. 
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EXHIBIT C 

INTENTIONALLY OMITTED 
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EXHIBIT D 

PARTICIPATING DISTRIBUTORS 

The Participating Distributors as of December 15, 2005 are as set forth below. In the event of any additions to the Participating Distributors 

after such date, Licensor shall promptly so notify Licensee in writing and this Exhibit D shall be deemed updated to include any Participating 

Distributor specified in any such notice. 

Buena Vista Pictures Distribution 

Twentieth Century Fox Film Corporation 

Sony Pictures Releasing Corporation 

Dreamworks LLC 

Universal City Studios LLLP 
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EXHIBIT E 

FORM OF SERVICE CONTRACT 

Exhibit E 



EXHIBIT F 

INTENTIONALLY OMITTED 
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EXHIBIT G 

INTENTIONALLY OMITTED 
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EXHIBIT H 

INTENTIONALLY OMITTED 
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EXHIBIT I 

FORM OF MONTHLY REPORT 



  

EXHIBIT 10.31 

DIGITAL CINEMA SERVICE AGREEMENT 

THIS DIGITAL CINEMA SERVICE AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is made and entered into as of December __, 2005 (the "Effective 

Date") by and between CARMIKE CINEMAS, INC., a Delaware corporation ("Customer"), and CHRISTIE DIGITAL SYSTEMS USA, INC., 

a California corporation ("Christie"). 

RECITALS 

A. Concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, Customer and Christie/AIX, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Licensor"), have entered 

into a Master License Agreement of even date herewith (the "Master License Agreement"), pursuant to which Licensor will deliver Digital 

Systems (as defined in the Master License Agreement) to Customer cineplex sites and license such Digital Systems to Customer for use in 

accordance with the Master License Agreement. 

B. As required under the Master License Agreement, Customer and Christie have entered into this Agreement to provide for installation, 

maintenance and other services with respect to Digital Systems licensed by Licensor to Customer under the Master License Agreement and 

Carmike's 35mm systems (as hereinafter defined). 

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants set forth below, and for other valuable consideration received, the 

receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby mutually agree as follows: 

1. Engagement. On the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Customer hereby engages Christie, and Christie hereby accepts such 

engagement, to provide the services described below. 

2. Service Sites. "Service Sites" means each of the cineplex sites at which Digital Systems licensed by Licensor to Customer under the Master 

License Agreement are installed. Any Service Site which is more than a two hour drive from a location at which Christie maintains one or more 

customer service engineers is sometimes referred to below as a "Non-Local Site," and any Service Site which is within a two hour drive from a 

location at which Christie maintains one or more customer service engineers is sometimes referred to below as a "Local Site." 

3. Project Services. 

3.1 Project Management. Christie will serve as project manager for the installation of Digital Systems licensed by Customer from Licensor 

under the Master License Agreement. Christie's service as project manager will include the performance of site surveys at each of the Service 

Sites in preparation for installation of Digital 
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Systems, coordination with Customer on site readiness matters, working with Customer on the development of an installation schedule, 

installation of Digital Systems in accordance with the installation schedule agreed upon between Christie and Customer, provision of all 

network cabling and other parts and services (other than necessary HVAC, electrical or audio upgrades (collectively "Customer Items") 

required in connection with the installation of Digital Systems and demonstration of the operability of installed Digital Systems upon 

completion of installation. An "Audio Upgrade" shall consist of equipment required to bring the existing audio system in an auditorium up to 

Six (6) track capability. Based on the premise, as hereby agreed between that parties, that Digital Systems will replace and be substituted for 

35mm projection systems currently in use (except in the case of new construction), Christie acknowledges that Customer's site readiness 

obligations for the installation of Digital Systems will be limited to the Customer Items, and Christie agrees to be responsible for all other 

preparations required for installation of Digital Systems except as may relate to satellite or other content delivery systems and except for the 

connection contemplated by Section 4.5(b). Christie further agrees that it will furnish and install for any Customer screen which has a Six 

(6) track system or better a converter necessary to operate the Digital System. 

3.2 Training Services. In connection with the installation of a Digital System at any Service Site, Christie will provide up to three (3)- four 

(4) hour training sessions at each Service Site to train Customer's employees in the use of the Digital System. Christie will from time to time, at 

Customer's request, provide additional training to Customer's employees in the use of Digital Systems, such training to be provided on no more 

than two (2) occasions in any calendar year at such times as are mutually agreed between Christie and Customer. 

3.3 User Manuals. Christie will provide to Customer reasonable quantities of user manuals for Digital Systems. 

4. Maintenance and Other Support Services. 

4.1 Helpdesk Services. Christie will, from 5:00 a.m. Pacific Time to 2:00 a.m. Pacific Time the following day, seven days a week, provide 

troubleshooting and technical assistance by telephone, generally within thirty 

(30) minutes after Customer's request for such assistance. 

4.2 Scheduled Maintenance Services. Christie will, at times scheduled in advance by Christie and Customer, on a twice yearly basis at 

approximately six (6) month intervals, perform the following on-site maintenance services for Digital Systems: 

(a) Change each projector lamp and filter, to be completed as determined by Christie within Christie recommended lamp life (if Customer 

chooses not to purchase replacement lamps from Christie, an appropriate number of spare lamps and filters per Cineplex must be made 

reasonably available to Christie for use in making lamp and filter changes and replenished by Customer after use). 
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(b) Align and color balance the image, to be completed at lamp change or as required by component replacement. 

(c) Ripple adjustment. 

(d) Install hardware, software or firmware upgrades or releases made commercially available by Licensor or Christie without charge. 

(e) Replace any malfunctioning part or component (refurbished parts or components may be used for such replacement). 

(f) Miscellaneous minor repairs identified by Customer and not requiring replacement of a malfunctioning part or component. 

4.3 Emergency Services. Christie will provide on-site emergency service for Digital Systems, generally within four (4) hours after Customer's 

request for emergency service at any Local Site, and as promptly as reasonably possible, and in any event within 24 hours, after Customer's 

request for emergency service at any Non-Local Site. Emergency services include any service necessary to restore full operation to any Digital 

System, or component thereof, which becomes inoperable by reason of system defects or problems. 

4.4. Parts. 

(a) During the initial ten (10) year period of this Agreement, Christie will, at its expense, provide all parts (other than lamps and filters) 

required in connection with the performance of maintenance services and emergency services under Sections 4.2 and 4.3, except that where any 

such items are required by reason of casualty, natural disaster, accident, misuse, use of improper power sources or repair other than by Christie 

service personnel or other service personnel authorized by Christie, then Christie will invoice Customer for such items at such prices as may be 

agreed to between Christie and Customer from time to time. At Customer's request, Christie will sell and supply lamp and filter packs to 

Customer at such prices as may be agreed to between Christie and Customer from time to time. 

(b) Customer may, at its option and upon payment of additional service fees as agreed between Customer and Christie, extend the provisions of 

Section 4.4(a) for one or more extension periods provided that, prior to the expiration of the initial ten (10) year period and each subsequent 

extension period, as applicable, Customer and Christie have agreed in writing on the duration of the extension period and the additional service 

fees to be paid by Customer in respect of such extension period. In the event the provisions of 

Section 4.4(a) are not so extended at the expiration of the initial ten (10) year period or any subsequent extension period, then Christie will 

thereafter invoice Customer, at such prices as may be agreed to between Christie and Customer from time to time, for all parts required in 

connection with the performance of maintenance services and emergency services under Sections 4.2 and 4.3. 
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(c) Payment terms for all items invoiced to Customer under this Section 4.4 are net thirty (30) days from the date of invoice. 

4.5. Remote Monitoring Services. 

(a) Subject to paragraph (b), Christie, through its Network Operations Center ("NOC"), will provide the following remote monitoring services: 

(i) monitoring of Digital System operation; 

(ii) error and status data collection for Digital System operation; and 

(iii) alerting Customer and Christie service engineers of Digital System problems requiring attention. 

(b) Customer must, at its sole cost and expense, maintain a suitable connection between the NOC and each Digital System. 

4.6 Upgrade Services. In the event Licensor makes available any upgrades for installed Digital Systems, Christie will install such upgrades 

(except that Christie will not be required under this Section 4.5 to install audio system equipment. 

4.7 Servicing of Non-Digital 35MM Projectors. During Service Site visits to perform scheduled maintenance services for Digital Systems, 

Christie will perform maintenance service as described on Schedule 4.6 attached hereto on all 35mm projectors then in service at such Service 

Site, provided that Customer will be responsible for either furnishing needed service parts required for such maintenance or purchasing same at 

such prices as may be agreed to between Christie and Customer from time to time for any such parts supplied by Christie. In the event such 

service parts are not available during the Service Site visit, Customer will pay Christie the reasonable costs of a second visit. In addition, 

Christie will provide non-exclusive on-site emergency service on an as called, as needed basis for 35mm projectors in service at any Service 

Site where Christie provides maintenance services for Digital Systems under this Agreement, generally within four (4) hours after Customer's 

request for emergency service at any Local Site, and as promptly as reasonably possible, and in any event within 24 hours, after Customer's 

request for emergency service at any Non-Local Site. The cost of such emergency service shall be as agreed between the parties. 

4.8 Limited Audio Service. Christie will provide reasonable routine maintenance of "in-the-booth" components of audio systems at Service 

Sites where Christie performs maintenance services under this Agreement, provided that Customer will be responsible for either furnishing 

needed 
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service parts required for such maintenance or purchasing same at such prices as may be agreed to between Christie and Customer from time to 

time for any such parts supplied by Christie. In the event such service parts are not available during the Service Site visit, Customer will pay 

Christie the reasonable costs of a second visit to install such parts. Christie will have no responsibility for speaker or screen components of any 

audio system. 

5. Service Hours. Regular maintenance services, emergency services and special equipment upgrade services will be performed during the 

hours of 8:00 am to 1:00 am, local time, seven days a week, for the relevant Service Site. Any request for emergency services received after 

11:00 pm local time will be treated as a request for maintenance services the following morning. 

6. Other Services. Christie will perform for Customer such services not otherwise provided for in this Agreement as may be agreed to between 

Christie and Customer from time to time. Rates or charges for providing any such other services will be as agreed to between Christie and 

Customer in each instance. 

7. Excluded Services. For clarity, services to be provided under this Agreement do not include any service with respect to satellite dishes, 

satellite receivers, cache servers or any other system components of any satellite delivery system, or, except as otherwise provided in Section 

4.7, with respect to any audio system or audio system components. Customer may make separate arrangement with Christie under section 6 for 

services relating to audio system or audio system components. 

8. Annual Service Fee. 

8.1 Annual Service Fee. Subject to Section 8.2, Customer will pay to Christie an annual service fee in the amount of $2,250.00 per annum per 

screen for each screen served by a Digital System, under this Agreement. The annual service fee includes all services and parts set forth in 

Sections 3 and 4 (except as otherwise set forth therein) and travel related charges for visits to Local Sites. The annual service fee does not 

include travel related charges for visits to Non-Local Sites, and all such reasonable excess travel related charges will be billed to Customer at 

Christie's cost. 

8.2 CPI Adjustment. Commencing in 2008, the annual service fee provided for in Section 8.1 will be subject to annual adjustment to reflect any 

increase of the Consumer Price Index-All Urban Consumers-All Items as published by the Bureau of Labor Statistics ("CPI") over the CPI for 

calendar year 2005 ("CPI Base Year"). In 2007 and each calendar year thereafter, Christie will, after the CPI for the prior year has become 

available, compare the CPI for the prior year against the CPI for the CPI Base Year and adjust the amount of the annual service fee provided 

for in Section 8.1 upward to correspond to the percentage increase (if any) of the CPI for the prior year over the CPI for the CPI Base Year; 

provided however, that for any calendar year the annual service fee may not be increased by more than two percent (2%) over the annual 

service fee in effect for the immediately preceding calendar year. In the event the Bureau of Labor Statistics ceases to publish the CPI, then the 

parties shall use any similar index 
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which is reasonably comparable to the CPI, applied in such manner as shall reasonably accomplish the purpose of this Section 8.2. 

8.3 Payment. Christie will invoice Customer for the annual service fee, and payment shall be made quarterly, with the first payment due ninety 

(90) days from the date of invoice. For Digital Systems which are installed and operational at the commencement of any calendar year, Christie 

will invoice the annual service in advance for such year. Where screens are enabled with Digital Systems during any calendar year, Christie 

will invoice Customer for a pro rata portion of the annual service fee which is proportionate to the number of full calendar months remaining in 

such calendar year at the time the screen is enabled. 

8.4 Taxes. The annual service fee provided for in this Agreement is exclusive of any applicable sales, use, excise or other similar taxes, all of 

which shall be payable by Licensor. 

9. Deinstalled Equipment. 

9.1 35mm System. As used in this Agreement, "35mm System" means a 35 mm projection system consisting of not less than a 35mm projector, 

a xenon lamp house, a platter and all associated lenses. 

9.2 Transfer of Deinstalled Equipment. Subject to and in accordance with the provisions of this Section 9, Customer shall sell and transfer to 

Christie, and Christie shall purchase and remove from the relevant Service Sites, up to 1000 35mm Systems which on or before December 31, 

2006 are deinstalled and replaced by Digital Systems installed by Christie under this Agreement. The purchase price for all 35mm Systems 

purchased and sold pursuant to this Section 9.2 shall be $1.00 for each 35mm System. 

9.3 Excluded Equipment. 

(a) Customer and Christie shall not have any obligation under Section 9.2 with respect to any 35mm System which, if sold by Customer to 

Christie for a purchase price of $1.00, would result in a loss to Customer for accounting purposes based upon Customer's then existing book 

value for such system. 

(b) Customer shall have the right to retain three (3) deinstalled 35mm Systems at each Service Site. Customer shall, to the extent reasonably 

possible, select for such purposes only 35mm Systems which, if sold by Customer to Christie for a purchase price of $1.00, would result in a 

loss to Customer for accounting purposes, and which at the time of deinstallation have a book value in excess of $2500. 

9.4 Option to Purchase Certain Excluded Equipment. When any 35mm System is deinstalled and replaced by a Digital System installed by 

Christie under this Agreement, and at the time of deinstallation such 35mm System is excluded by application of Section 9.3(a) but the book 

value of such 35mm System is $2500 or less, 
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and Customer does not select such 35mm System for retention under Section 9.3(b), then Customer shall offer to sell such 35mm System to 

Christie for book value. Christie shall be free to accept or reject such offer, at its discretion. In the event Christie does not accept any such offer 

within thirty (30) days after such offer is made, such offer shall lapse and be of no further effect and Customer shall retain said system. 

9.5 Notification. Upon the deinstallation of each 35mm System at any Service Site, Christie shall identify the deinstalled 35mm Systems to 

Customer in writing, and within three (3) business days after receiving such notification from Christie, Customer shall identify which of such 

deinstalled 35mm Systems are excluded under Section 9.3(a), which are to be retained under 

Section 9.3(b), which are eligible to be sold to Christie pursuant to Section 9.4, and which are to be sold to Christie pursuant to Section 9.2. 

9.6 Inclusion of Previously Excluded Equipment. When any 35mm System is deinstalled and replaced by a Digital System installed by Christie 

under this Agreement, and at the time of deinstallation such 35mm System is excluded by application of Section 9.3(a) but prior to December 

31, 2006 Section 9.3(a) ceases to apply to such 35mm System, and Customer does not select such 35mm System for retention under Section 

9.3(b), and Christie has not purchased such 35mm System under Section 9.4, then Customer shall so notify Christie and sell such 35mm 

System to Christie pursuant to and in accordance with Section 9.2. 

9.7 Terms of Sale. (We are working on Lender approval re this 

Section as to release of liens) All 35mm Systems transferred or sold by Customer to Christie under this Section 9 shall be transferred and sold 

free and clear of all security interests, liens, encumbrances and adverse claims, shall be in operational condition, and otherwise shall be 

transferred or sold "AS IS, WHERE IS," without any representations or warranties. Christie shall be responsible for all transportation, freight or 

insurance charges incurred in connection with removing such 35mm Systems from their then location at the time of title transfer, and shall be 

responsible for any sales taxes, use taxes or other similar taxes, if any, applicable to any such transfer or sale. At Christie's request, Customer 

shall provide to Christie a suitable bill of sale evidencing the transfer of title of any 35mm System pursuant to this Section 9. 

10. Performance Standard. Christie will perform services under this Agreement in a competent and professional manner, consistent with the 

highest quality standards prevailing in the industry. In the event Christie fails to meet the performance standard set forth in this Section 10, and 

does not cure such failure within sixty (60) days after written notice of such failure is given by Customer to Christie, with a copy to Licensor, 

Customer's sole remedy shall be to transition services to be provided under this Agreement in respect of Digital Systems to another service 

provider reasonably acceptable to Licensor and to Licensor's lenders, and, upon completion of such transition, to terminate this Agreement. 
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11. Relationship of Parties. The relationship of the parties to this Agreement is that of independent contractors, and neither party is or shall be 

deemed to be a partner, joint venture partner, agent or employee of the other. No agency relationship is created by this Agreement, and neither 

party shall have the right by reason of this Agreement to act for or bind the other in any manner whatsoever. 

12. Warranty Disclaimer. In connection with the services to be provided by Christie to Customer under this Agreement, CHRISTIE MAKES 

NO WARRANTIES, 

WRITTEN OR ORAL, EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY 

OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR USE OR PURPOSE, ALL OF WHICH ARE HEREBY EXPRESSLY 

DISCLAIMED. 

13. Limitation of Liability. NEITHER PARTY SHALL HAVE ANY LIABILITY TO THE OTHER FOR ANY CONSEQUENTIAL, 

INCIDENTAL, SPECIAL, EXEMPLARY OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION ANY LIABILITY FOR 

LOST PROFITS OR LOST DATA, WHETHER OR NOT SUCH PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED THAT SUCH DAMAGES MAY OCCUR. 

CHRISTIE'S MAXIMUM LIABILITY HEREUNDER WILL BE FOR THE AMOUNT OF SERVICE FEES PAID BY CUSTOMER TO 

CHRISTIE IN RESPECT OF ANY SERVICE WHICH IS THE SUBJECT OF ANY PARTICULAR CLAIM. 

14. Term. Unless earlier terminated under Section 10, the term of this Agreement shall commence from the Effective Date and continue until 

the expiration of the initial term of the Master License Agreement; provided however, that this Agreement shall terminate upon any termination 

of the Master License Agreement. 

15. Entire Agreement. This Agreement is the entire agreement of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof. This Agreement 

supersedes all prior agreements, if any, between the parties with respect to such subject matter. This Agreement may not be amended except by 

a written amendment executed by both parties. 

16. Attorneys' Fees. In the event any action, suit or proceeding is commenced with respect to any matter relating to this Agreement, the 

prevailing party shall be entitled to have and recover from the other party its costs of suit, including reasonable attorneys' fees. 

17. Assignment. Neither party may assign any of its rights or delegate any of its duties under this Agreement without the prior written consent 

of the other party; provided, however, that either party may assign its rights or delegate its duties to the surviving entity in the case of a merger 

or business combination or the purchasing entity in the case of a sale of all of its assets; and provided further that in the event the Master 

License Agreement is assigned by Licensor to any Financing Party (as defined in the Master License Agreement), Christie may assign this 

Agreement, in whole or in part, to such other qualified service provider as such Financing Party may designate, and, upon 
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any such assignment by Christie and the assumption of this Agreement by such other qualified service provider, Christie shall have no further 

obligations under this Agreement and Customer shall look solely to such other qualified service provider for performance under this 

Agreement. Also, Customer shall be entitled to assign its rights and interests hereunder to its existing lenders and replacements thereof without 

the necessity of Christie's consent. 

18. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of California, 

without regard to principles of conflicts of law. 

19. Binding Effect. This Agreement is binding on and inures to the benefit of the parties hereto, and their respective successors and permitted 

assigns. 

20. Capitalized Terms. All capitalized terms which are not defined herein shall be defined as set forth in the Master License Agreement. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first above written. 

CHRISTIE DIGITAL SYSTEMS USA, INC. 

 ("Christie") 

By: 
 

Its: 

CARMIKE CINEMAS, INC. 

 ("Customer") 

By: 
 

Its: 
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Exhibit 10.32 

CARMIKE CINEMAS, INC. 

2004 INCENTIVE STOCK PLAN 

STOCK GRANT CERTIFICATE 

This Stock Grant Certificate evidences a Stock Grant made pursuant to the Carmike Cinemas, Inc. 2004 Incentive Stock Plan of [amount] 

shares of restricted Stock to [officer], who shall be referred to as "Executive". This Stock Grant is granted effective as of [date], which shall be 

referred to as the "Grant Date." 

CARMIKE CINEMAS, INC. 

By: 
 

Date: 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

ss. 1. PLAN AND STOCK GRANT CERTIFICATE. This Stock Grant is subject to all of the terms and conditions set forth in this Stock Grant 

Certificate and in the Plan. If a determination is made that any term or condition set forth in this Stock Grant Certificate is inconsistent with the 

Plan, the Plan shall control. All of the capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this Stock Grant Certificate shall have the same meaning in 

this Stock Grant Certificate as in the Plan. A copy of the Plan will be made available to Executive upon written request to the Chief Financial 

Officer of Carmike. 

ss. 2. STOCKHOLDER STATUS. Executive shall have the right under this Stock Grant to receive ordinary cash dividends on all of the shares 

of Stock subject to this Stock Grant and to vote such shares until Executive's right to such shares is forfeited or becomes nonforfeitable. If 

Executive forfeits his shares under Section 3, Executive shall at the same time forfeit Executive's right to vote such shares and to receive 

ordinary cash dividends paid with respect to such shares. Any extraordinary cash dividends and any Stock dividends or other distributions of 

property made with respect to shares that remain subject to forfeiture under Section 3 shall be held by Carmike, and Executive's rights to 

receive such dividends or other property shall be forfeited or shall be nonforfeitable at same time the shares of Stock with respect to which the 

dividends or other property are attributable are forfeited or become nonforfeitable. Except for the rights to receive ordinary cash dividends and 

vote the shares of Stock subject to this Stock Grant which are described in this 

Section 2, Executive shall have no rights as a stockholder with respect to such shares of Stock until Executive's interest in such shares has 

become nonforfeitable. 



ss. 3. VESTING AND FORFEITURE. 

(a) Vesting. Subject to Section 3(b): 

(i) if Executive remains continuously employed by Carmike until __________, Executive's interest in one third of the Stock (rounded down to 

the nearest whole share of Stock) subject to this Stock Grant shall become nonforfeitable as of _________; 

(ii) if Executive remains continuously employed by Carmike until ___________, Executive's interest in one third of the Stock (rounded down 

to the nearest whole share of Stock) subject to this Stock Grant shall become nonforfeitable as of _________; 

(iii) if Executive remains continuously employed by Carmike until ___________, Executive's interest in all remaining Stock subject to this 

Stock Grant shall become nonforfeitable as of ________. 

(b) Forfeiture. If Executive's employment with Carmike terminates for any reason before his interest in shares of Stock subject to this Stock 

Grant have become nonforfeitable under Section 3(a), then he shall forfeit all such shares of Stock subject to this Stock which have not become 

nonforfeitable under 

Section 3(a). 

ss. 4. STOCK CERTIFICATES. Carmike shall issue a stock certificate for the shares of Stock subject to this Stock Grant in the name of 

Executive upon Executive's execution of the irrevocable stock power in favor of Carmike attached as Exhibit A. The Chief Executive Officer 

of Carmike shall hold such stock certificate representing such shares and any distributions made with respect to such shares (other than 

ordinary cash dividends) until such time as Executive's interest in such shares has become nonforfeitable or has been forfeited. As soon as 

practicable after the date as of which his interest in any shares becomes nonforfeitable under Section 3(a), Carmike shall issue to Executive a 

stock certificate reflecting the shares in which his interest has become nonforfeitable on such date (together with any distributions made with 

respect to the shares that have been held by Carmike). If shares are forfeited, the shares (together with any distributions made with respect to 

the shares that have been held by Carmike) automatically shall revert back to Carmike. 

ss.5. NONTRANSFERABLE. No rights granted under this Stock Grant Certificate shall be transferable by Executive. 

ss. 6. OTHER LAWS. Carmike shall have the right to refuse to transfer shares of Stock subject to this Stock Grant to Executive if Carmike 

acting in its absolute discretion determines that the transfer of such shares is (in the opinion of Carmike's legal counsel) likely to violate any 

applicable law or regulation. 

ss.7. NO RIGHT TO CONTINUE SERVICE. Neither the Plan, this Stock Grant Certificate, nor any related material shall give Executive the 

right to continue in the employment of or service of Carmike. 
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ss.8. GOVERNING LAW. The Plan and this Stock Grant Certificate shall be governed by the laws of the State of Delaware. 

ss.9. BINDING EFFECT. This Stock Grant Certificate shall be binding upon Carmike and Executive and their respective heirs, executors, 

administrators and successors. 

ss. 10. HEADINGS AND SECTIONS. The headings contained in this Stock Grant Certificate are for reference purposes only and shall not 

affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Stock Grant Certificate. All references to sections in this Stock Grant Certificate shall be 

to sections of this Stock Grant Certificate unless otherwise expressly stated as part of such reference. 
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EXHIBIT A 

IRREVOCABLE STOCK POWER 

As a condition to the issuance to the undersigned of a stock certificate for the _____ shares of Stock which were granted to the undersigned as a 

Stock Grant under the Carmike Cinemas, Inc. 2004 Incentive Stock Plan in the Stock Grant Certificate dated _________, the undersigned 

hereby executes this Irrevocable Stock Power in order to sell, assign and transfer to Carmike Cinemas, Inc. the shares of Stock subject to such 

Stock Grant for purposes of effecting any forfeiture called for under Section 3 of the Stock Grant Certificate and does hereby irrevocably give 

Carmike Cinemas, Inc. the power (without any further action on the part of the undersigned) to transfer such shares of Stock on its books and 

records back to Carmike Cinemas, Inc. to effect any such forfeiture. This Irrevocable Stock Power shall expire automatically with respect to the 

shares of Stock on the date such shares of Stock are no longer subject to forfeiture under Section 3 of such Stock Grant Certificate. 

 
 

Date 



  

EXHIBIT 10.36 

FOURTH AMENDMENT 

FOURTH AMENDMENT, dated as of June 2, 2006 (this "AMENDMENT"), to the Credit Agreement, dated as of May 19, 2005 (as amended, 

supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the "CREDIT AGREEMENT"), among CARMIKE CINEMAS, INC., a Delaware 

corporation (the "BORROWER"), the several banks and other financial institutions from time to time parties thereto (the "LENDERS"), 

WELLS FARGO FOOTHILL, INC., as Documentation Agent (in such capacity, the "DOCUMENTATION AGENT"), and BEAR STEARNS 

CORPORATE LENDING INC., as administrative agent (in such capacity, the "ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT"). 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Credit Agreement, the Lenders have agreed to make certain extensions of credit to the Borrower; and 

WHEREAS, the Borrower, the Lenders and the Administrative Agent desire to amend the Credit Agreement on the terms and subject to the 

conditions set forth herein; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and mutual covenants contained herein, the Borrower, the Lenders and the 

Administrative Agent hereby agree as follows: 

SECTION 1.1. Defined Terms. Unless otherwise defined herein, terms defined in the Credit Agreement and used herein shall have the 

meanings given to them in the Credit Agreement. 

SECTION 1.2. AMENDMENTS TO SECTION 1.1 TO THE CREDIT AGREEMENT. 

Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the definitions of "Applicable Margin" and "Delayed-Draw Term 

Commitment" in their entirety and inserting, in proper alphabetical order, the following new defined terms and related definitions: 

"AMENDMENT EFFECTIVE DATE": as defined in the Fourth Amendment. 

"APPLICABLE MARGIN": for each Type of Loan (other than Other Term Loans), the rates per annum set forth below, subject to Section 

4.16(a), based on the then applicable Ratings with any adjustments to become effective on the day after any change in such Ratings by either or 

both of Moody's and/or S&P: 
 

======================================================= =========================== ============================= 
RATING                                                  EURODOLLAR LOANS            BASE RATE LOANS 
------------------------------------------------------- --------------------------- ----------------------------- 
B1 or better by Moody's and                                       2.50%                        1.50% 
B or better by S&P 
------------------------------------------------------- --------------------------- ----------------------------- 
B2 by Moody's and B or better by S&P                              2.75%                        1.75% 
------------------------------------------------------- --------------------------- ----------------------------- 
B3 by Moody's and B- by S&P                                       3.25%                        2.25% 
------------------------------------------------------- --------------------------- ----------------------------- 
 Caa1 or lower by Moody's or CCC+ or lower by S&P                 3.50%                        2.50% 
======================================================= =========================== ============================= 

 



; PROVIDED, that, (i) if each of Moody's and S&P has not issued or reaffirmed a Rating on or after May 26, 2006 and on or prior to the 

Amendment Effective Date, the rate of interest applicable to Eurodollar Loans shall be 3.25% and the rate of interest applicable to Base Rate 

Loans shall be 2.25% until such Ratings are issued or reaffirmed and the Applicable Margin thereafter will be based on such issued or 

reaffirmed Ratings, (ii) unless the financial statements and other items specified in Sections 7.1 and 7.2 for the periods ended December 31, 

2005 and March 31, 2006 (the "REQUIRED INFORMATION") shall have been delivered to the Lenders on or prior to July 1, 2006, the 

Applicable Margin with respect to the Loans shall be increased by 0.50% per annum until the earlier of delivery of the Required Information 

and July 27, 2006 and (iii) if there is a split in the Ratings issued by Moody's and S&P then the lower of such Ratings shall apply. 

"DELAYED-DRAW TERM COMMITMENT": as to any Lender, the obligation of such Lender, if any, to make a Delayed-Draw Term Loan 

to the Borrower hereunder in a principal amount not to exceed the amount set forth under the heading "Delayed-Draw Term Commitment" 

under such Lender's name on such Lender's Addendum, as such amount may be reduced pursuant to Section 4.1(b) or Section 2.2(b). The 

original aggregate amount of the Delayed-Draw Term Commitments as of the Closing Date is $185,000,000. 

"FOURTH AMENDMENT": shall mean the Fourth Amendment to this Agreement dated as of June 2, 2006. 

"FINANCIAL STATEMENTS": as defined in Section 5.16. 

"MOODY'S": Moody's Investors Service, Inc., or any successor or assignee of the business of such company in the business of rating 

securities. 

"PERMITTED EVENT": either of (i) a sale of all or substantially all of the Capital Stock or assets of the Borrower or another event taken with 

the consent of a majority of the members of the board of directors of the Borrower that would constitute an Event of Default under Section 

9(k)(i) or 

(ii) the issuance by the Borrower of up to $150,000,000 of senior subordinated or subordinated debt securities. 

"RATINGS": at any time, the corporate credit ratings of the Borrower assigned by Moody's and S&P at such time. 

"S&P": Standard & Poor's Ratings Group, a division of McGraw Hill, Inc., or any successor or assignee of the business of such division in the 

business of rating securities. 
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SECTION 1.3. AMENDMENTS TO SECTION 2.2 TO THE CREDIT AGREEMENT. Section 2.2 of the Credit Agreement is hereby 

amended to delete paragraph (b) and the last paragraph of such Section 2.2 in their entirety and substituting in lieu thereof the following: 

"(b) The Borrower may request, on a date on or before June 13, 2006 (the "DELAYED-DRAW NOTICE DATE") that the Delayed-Draw 

Lenders shall make Delayed-Draw Term Loans on a specified date not later than the third Business Day after the Delayed-Draw Notice Date by 

executing and delivering to the Administrative Agent a Delayed-Draw Activation Notice (which notice must be received by the Administrative 

Agent prior to 10:00 A.M., New York City time, three Business Days prior to the date specified for funding of the Delayed-Draw Term Loans 

specifying (x) the amount of such Delayed-Draw Term Loans and (y) the Type of such Delayed-Draw Term Loans. Upon receipt of such notice 

the Administrative Agent shall promptly notify each Delayed-Draw Term Lender thereof. Not later than 12:00 Noon, New York City time, on 

the date specified for funding of the Delayed-Draw Term Loans each Delayed-Draw Term Lender shall make available to the Administrative 

Agent at the Funding Office an amount in immediately available funds equal to the Delayed-Draw Term Loan to be made by such Lender. The 

Administrative Agent shall promptly make available to the Borrower on the date specified for funding of the Delayed-Draw Term Loans, by 

wire transfer of immediately available funds to a bank account designated in writing by the Borrower, the aggregate of the amounts made 

available to the Administrative Agent by the Delayed-Draw Term Lenders in immediately available funds. Any Delayed-Draw Term 

Commitments not drawn on such funding date shall be automatically and permanently cancelled notwithstanding any other provisions of this 

Agreement." 

SECTION 1.4. AMENDMENTS TO SECTION 4.1 TO THE CREDIT AGREEMENT. Section 4.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby 

amended by inserting at the end of the first sentence thereof and immediately prior to the period the following: "; provided, further that any 

optional prepayment of the Term Loans during the first year following the Amendment Effective Date shall be accompanied by a prepayment 

fee in an amount equal to 1% of the principal amount so prepaid, other than to the extent such prepayment occurs as a result of or with the 

proceeds of a Permitted Event". 

SECTION 1.5. AMENDMENTS TO SECTION 4.2(E) TO THE CREDIT AGREEMENT. Section 4.2(e) of the Credit Agreement is hereby 

amended by inserting at the end thereof the following new sentence: "Any prepayment of the Term Loans pursuant to this 

Section 4.2 (other than pursuant to paragraph (d)) during the first year following the Amendment Effective Date shall be accompanied by a 

prepayment fee in an amount equal to 1% of the principal amount so prepaid, other than to the extent such prepayment occurs as a result of or 

with the proceeds of a Permitted Event". 

SECTION 1.6. AMENDMENTS TO SECTION 4.8(E) TO THE CREDIT AGREEMENT. Section 4.8(e) of the Credit Agreement is hereby 

amended by inserting immediately before the last sentence of such Section 4.8(e) the following: 
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"In addition to the rights described above, in the event that the Administrative Agent shall make available to the Borrower all or any portion of 

the Delayed-Draw Term Loans of any Delayed-Draw Lender on the funding date for such Loans and such Delayed-Draw Lender shall fail to 

make available to the Administrative Agent a corresponding amount by 5:00 PM New York City time on the Amendment Effective Date, the 

Administrative Agent in its sole discretion shall be entitled to immediately and without further action on the part of such Delayed-Draw Lender 

register a transfer of such Delayed-Draw Lender's Delayed-Draw Term Loans to a replacement Delayed-Draw Lender, which shall be Bear 

Stearns Corporate Lending Inc. ("BEAR STEARNS"). Bear Stearns agrees to purchase any such Delayed-Draw Term Loans at par and in 

accordance with Section 11.6 (other than the requirement for the signature of the defaulting Delayed-Draw Lender on the Assignment and 

Assumption in connection with such transfer). In addition to any other remedies the Borrower or Bear Stearns may have against such defaulting 

Delayed-Draw Lender, Bear Stearns shall be entitled to recover from such defaulting Delayed-Draw Lender the difference (if positive) between 

par and the amount for which it is able to sell such purchased Delayed-Draw Term Loans in the secondary market." 

SECTION 1.7. AMENDMENTS TO SECTION 5.16 TO THE CREDIT AGREEMENT. Section 5.16 of the Credit Agreement is hereby 

amended by deleting such Section 5.16 in its entirety and substituting in lieu thereof the following Section 5.16: 

"5.16 USE OF PROCEEDS. The proceeds of the Initial Term Loans made on the Closing Date shall be used to finance a portion of the 

Acquisition and to pay related fees and expenses. The proceeds of any Incremental Term Loans shall be used to finance Permitted Acquisitions 

and to pay related fees and expenses. The proceeds of any Delayed-Draw Term Loans shall be used to repay the Senior Subordinated Notes in 

the event those obligations are accelerated as result of the failure of the Borrower to deliver and file its annual financial statements and related 

report on Form 10-K in respect of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005, or its quarterly financial statements and related report on Form 

10-Q in respect of the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2006 (collectively, the "FINANCIAL STATEMENTS") with the Securities and Exchange 

Commission, or to purchase the Senior Subordinated Notes in a tender offer prior to or after the time the Senior Subordinated Notes become 

accelerable as a result of the failure to deliver and file the Financial Statements and, in each case, to pay related premiums, fees and expenses. 

The proceeds of the Revolving Loans shall be used together with the proceeds of the Swingline Loans and the Letters of Credit for any general 

corporate purposes." 

SECTION 1.8. AMENDMENTS TO SECTION 7.1 TO THE CREDIT AGREEMENT. Section 7.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby 

amended by (i) deleting the parenthetical immediately after the word "Borrower" in the second line of paragraph (a) thereof, that was inserted 

pursuant to the Third Amendment to the Credit Agreement, and inserting the following: "(or, in the case of the fiscal year ended December 31, 

2005, no later than July 27, 2006)" and (ii) deleting the parenthetical immediately after the word "Borrower" in the second line of 

4 



paragraph (b) thereof that was inserted pursuant to the Third Amendment to the Credit Agreement, and inserting the following: "(or, in the case 

of the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2006, no later than July 27, 2006)". 

SECTION 1.9. AMENDMENTS TO SECTION 7.2(D) TO THE CREDIT AGREEMENT. 

Section 7.2(d) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the phrase "or on or prior to June 30, 2006 in the case of the fiscal 

quarter ended March 31, 2006", that was inserted pursuant to the Third Amendment to the Credit Agreement, and inserting the following: "or 

on or prior to July 27, 2006 in the case of the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2006". 

SECTION 1.10. AMENDMENTS TO SECTION 8.1(A) TO THE CREDIT AGREEMENT. 

Section 8.1(a) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by replacing the first line of the first table specified in Section 8.1(a) with the 

following: 

"December 31, 2005 through March 31, 2006 4.35 to 1.00 

June 30, 2006 5.00 to 1.00" 

SECTION 1.11. AMENDMENTS TO SECTION 8.9 TO THE CREDIT AGREEMENT. 

Section 8.9 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to add at the end of such 

Section 8.9 the following proviso: 

"PROVIDED, that, notwithstanding the foregoing, the Borrower may repay the Senior Subordinated Notes with the proceeds of the 

Delayed-Draw Term Loans in the event those obligations are accelerated as result of the failure of the Borrower to deliver and file the Financial 

Statements with the Securities and Exchange Commission at the respective times required to be delivered under the Senior Subordinated Note 

Indenture or to purchase the Senior Subordinated Notes in a tender offer prior to or after the time the Senior Subordinated Notes become 

accelerable as a result of the failure to deliver and file the Financial Statements." 

SECTION 1.12. LIMITATION ON BORROWING OF REVOLVING CREDIT LOANS. During the period from the Amendment Effective 

Date (as defined below) to the date (the "TRIGGER DATE") of delivery of the Required Information (as defined in the Fourth Amendment to 

the Credit Agreement), and subject to compliance with the conditions to borrowing thereof contained in the Credit Agreement, the maximum 

principal amount of Revolving Extensions of Credit that may be outstanding on or prior to the Trigger Date shall not exceed $10,000,000. 

SECTION 1.13. CONDITIONS TO EFFECTIVENESS. This Amendment shall become effective as of the date hereof on the date (the 

"AMENDMENT EFFECTIVE DATE") on which the following conditions are satisfied: 

(a) the Borrower, the Administrative Agent, the Required Lenders and the Majority Facility Lenders in respect of the Delayed-Draw Term 

Facility shall have executed and delivered to the Administrative Agent this Amendment (and such execution and delivery shall be deemed a 

waiver of any Default or Event of Default that may be deemed to have occurred or exist under (i) Section 9(e) of the Credit Agreement as a 

result of any default or event of default that may 
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have occurred or exist under the Senior Subordinated Note Indenture as a result of the holders or beneficiaries of the Senior Subordinated Notes 

having the right (or a trustee or agent on behalf of such holder or beneficiary) to cause, with the giving of notice if required, any of the Senior 

Subordinated Notes to become due prior to its stated maturity or to become subject to a mandatory offer to purchase by the Borrower (or any 

Guarantee Obligation in respect thereof to become payable) as a result of the failure to deliver and file the Financial Statements) or (ii) Section 

9(b) or 9(d) of the Credit Agreement as a result of any of the financial statements previously delivered by the Borrower pursuant to Section 5.1 

of the Credit Agreement, together with related financial information pursuant to Sections 7.1 and 7 .2 of the Credit Agreement, being the 

subject of a restatement of such financial statements, so long as any such restatements do not reflect additional cash charges, on a cumulative 

basis, in excess of $1,000,000); 

(b) either (i) the Senior Subordinated Notes shall have been duly accelerated or (ii) the Borrower shall have consummated the tender offer to 

purchase the Senior Subordinated Notes; and 

(c) the Administrative Agent shall have received all fees required to be paid to it on or before the Amendment Effective Date under Section 

1.15(a) hereof and all expenses required to be paid to it under Section 1.15(b) hereof for which invoices have been presented prior to the 

Amendment Effective Date. 

SECTION 1.14. REPRESENTATION AND WARRANTIES. To induce the Administrative Agent to enter into this Amendment, the Borrower 

hereby represents and warrants to the Administrative Agent and all of the Lenders as of the Amendment Effective Date that: 

(a) CORPORATE POWER; AUTHORIZATION; ENFORCEABLE OBLIGATIONS. 

(i) The Borrower has the corporate power and authority, and the legal right, to make and deliver this Amendment and to perform its obligations 

under the Loan Documents, as amended by this Amendment, and has taken all necessary corporate action to authorize the execution, delivery 

and performance of this Amendment and the performance of the Loan Documents, as so amended. 

(ii) No consent or authorization of, approval by, notice to, filing with or other act by or in respect of, any Governmental Authority or any other 

Person is required in connection with the execution and delivery of this Amendment or with the performance, validity or enforceability of the 

Loan Documents, as amended by this Amendment, except as otherwise provided in Section 5.4 of the Credit Agreement. 

(iii) This Amendment has been duly executed and delivered on behalf of the Borrower. 

(iv) This Amendment and each Loan Document, as amended by this Amendment, constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the 

Borrower enforceable against the Borrower in accordance with its terms, except as affected by bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance, 

reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws relating to or affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally, general equitable 

principles (whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at law) and an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. 
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(b) REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. The representations and warranties made by the Borrower in and pursuant to the Loan 

Documents are true and correct in all material respects on and as of the Amendment Effective Date, after giving effect to the effectiveness of 

this Amendment, as if made on and as of the Amendment Effective Date. 

SECTION 1.15. PAYMENT OF FEES AND EXPENSES. 

(a) AMENDMENT FEE. In the event that the Required Lenders execute and deliver this Amendment and the alternate version of a Fourth 

Amendment to the Credit Agreement dated as of the date hereof, and whether or not the Amendment Effective Date shall occur, the Borrower 

shall pay to the Administrative Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Lenders consenting to this Amendment, an amendment fee in the amount of 

0.25% on the principal amount of each such Lender's outstanding Initial Term Loans, Delayed-Draw Commitment and Revolving Commitment 

immediately prior to the Amendment Effective Date, payable on June 2, 2006. 

(b) EXPENSES. The Borrower agrees to pay or reimburse the Administrative Agent for all of its reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses 

incurred in connection with this Amendment, any other documents prepared in connection herewith and the transactions contemplated hereby, 

including, without limitation, the reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel to each Agent. 

SECTION 1.16. NO OTHER AMENDMENTS; CONFIRMATION. Except as expressly amended, modified and supplemented hereby, the 

provisions of the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents are and shall remain in full force and effect. 

SECTION 1.17. GOVERNING LAW; COUNTERPARTS. (a) This Amendment and the rights and obligations of the parties hereto shall be 

governed by, and construed and interpreted in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York. 

(b) This Amendment may be executed by one or more of the parties to this Amendment on any number of separate counterparts, and all of said 

counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be duly executed and delivered by their respective proper and 

duly authorized officers as of the day and year first above written. 

CARMIKE CINEMAS, INC. 
 

By: /s/ LEE CHAMPION 
   -------------------------------------------- 
     Name:      Lee Champion 
     Title:     SVP, Gen. Counsel & Secretary 
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BEAR STEARNS CORPORATE LENDING INC., 

as Administrative Agent and as a Lender 
 

By:  /s/ VICTOR BULZACCHELL 
  --------------------------------------------- 
     Name:  Victor Bulzacchelli 
     Title:  Vice President 
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WELLS FARGO FOOTHILL, N.A., 

as Issuing Lender, Documentation Agent and a Lender 
 

By:  /s/ DENA SEK 
  ------------------------------------------------------ 
Name: Dena Seki 
Title:  Vice President 
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EXHIBIT 10.37 

FIFTH AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT AND FIRST AMENDMENT TO 

GUARANTEE AND COLLATERAL AGREEMENT 

FIFTH AMENDMENT, dated as of July 27, 2006, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of May 19, 2005 (as amended, supplemented or otherwise 

modified from time to time, the "Credit Agreement"), among CARMIKE CINEMAS, INC., a Delaware corporation (the "Borrower"), the 

several banks and other financial institutions from time to time parties thereto (the "Lenders"), WELLS FARGO FOOTHILL, INC., as 

Documentation Agent (in such capacity, the "Documentation Agent"), and BEAR STEARNS CORPORATE LENDING INC., as 

administrative agent (in such capacity, the "Administrative Agent") and FIRST AMENDMENT, dated as of July 27, 2006 (collectively with 

the Fifth Amendment referred to above, this "Amendment"), to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, dated as of May 19, 2005, made by 

the Borrower and certain of its Subsidiaries in favor of the Administrative Agent. 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Credit Agreement, the Lenders have agreed to make certain extensions of credit to the Borrower; and 

WHEREAS, the Borrower, the Lenders and the Administrative Agent desire to amend the Credit Agreement and the Guarantee and Collateral 

Agreement on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and mutual covenants contained herein, the Borrower, the Lenders and the 

Administrative Agent hereby agree as follows: 

SECTION 1.1. Defined Terms. Unless otherwise defined herein, terms defined in the Credit Agreement and used herein shall have the 

meanings given to them in the Credit Agreement. 

SECTION 1.2. Amendments to Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement. Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by (a) deleting 

clause (ii) of the proviso in the definition of "Applicable Margin" in its entirety and inserting, in lieu thereof the following: 

"(ii) during any time from and after the Fifth Amendment Effective Date when any of the financial statements and other items specified in 

Sections 7.1 and 7.2 for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 and the fiscal quarters ended March 31, 2006, June 30, 2006 and September 

30, 2006 (the "Required Information") shall not have been delivered to the Lenders in the manner and at the times prescribed by such sections 

prior to giving effect to the Fourth Amendment and the Fifth Amendment, the Applicable Margin with respect to the Loans shall be increased 

by 0.50% per annum from the Applicable Margin otherwise applicable thereto without giving effect to this clause (ii)"; 

(b) inserting the following new defined terms and related definitions: 

"Fifth Amendment": shall mean the Fifth Amendment to this Agreement dated as of July 27, 2006. 



"Fifth Amendment Effective Date": as defined in the Fifth Amendment. 

"Qualified Counterparty": with respect to any Specified Hedge Agreement, any counterparty thereto that, at the time such Specified Hedge 

Agreement was entered into, was a Lender, an Affiliate of a Lender, an Agent or an Affiliate of an Agent; provided that, in the event a 

counterparty to a Specified Hedge Agreement at the time such Specified Hedge Agreement was entered into was a Qualified Counterparty, 

such counterparty shall constitute a Qualified Counterparty hereunder and under the other Loan Documents. 

"Secured Parties": the collective reference to the Lenders, the Agents, the Qualified Counterparties, the Issuing Lender and the Swingline 

Lender. 

(c) deleting the terms "Obligations" and "Specified Hedge Agreement" and substituting in lieu thereof the following new defined terms: 

"Obligations": the unpaid principal of and interest on (including interest accruing after the maturity of the Loans and Reimbursement 

Obligations and interest accruing after the filing of any petition in bankruptcy, or the commencement of any insolvency, reorganization or like 

proceeding, relating to the Borrower, whether or not a claim for post-filing or post-petition interest is allowed in such proceeding) the Loans 

and all other obligations and liabilities of the Borrower to any Agent or to any Lender (or, in the case of Specified Hedge Agreements, any 

Qualified Counterparty), whether direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, due or to become due, or now existing or hereafter incurred, which 

may arise under, out of, or in connection with, this Agreement, any other Loan Document, the Letters of Credit, any Specified Hedge 

Agreement or any other document made, delivered or given in connection herewith or therewith, whether on account of principal, interest, 

reimbursement obligations, fees, indemnities, costs, expenses (including all fees, charges and disbursements of counsel to any Agent or to any 

other Secured Party that are required to be paid by the Borrower pursuant hereto) or otherwise. 

"Specified Hedge Agreement": any Hedge Agreement (a) entered into by (i) the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries and (ii) any Qualified 

Counterparty, as counterparty and (b) that has been designated by such Qualified Counterparty and the Borrower, by notice to the 

Administrative Agent, as a Specified Hedge Agreement provided, that any release of Collateral or Guarantors effected in the manner permitted 

by this Agreement shall not require the consent of holders of obligations under Specified Hedge Agreements. The designation of any Hedge 

Agreement as a Specified Hedge Agreement shall not create in favor of any Qualified Counterparty that is a party thereto any rights in 

connection with the management or release of any Collateral or of the obligations of any Guarantor under the Guarantee and Collateral 

Agreement except as provided in Section 11.14. 

SECTION 1.3. Amendments to Section 7.1 of the Credit Agreement. Section 7.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by (i) deleting the 

parenthetical immediately 



after the word "Borrower" in the second line of paragraph (a) thereof, that was inserted pursuant to the Fourth Amendment, and inserting the 

following: "(or, in the case of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005, no later than September 30, 2006)" and (ii) deleting the parenthetical 

immediately after the word "Borrower" in the second line of paragraph (b) thereof that was inserted pursuant to the Fourth Amendment, and 

inserting the following: "(or, in the case of the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2006, no later than September 30, 2006, and in the case of the 

fiscal quarters ended June 30, 2006 and September 30, 2006, no later than December 31, 2006)". 

SECTION 1.4. Amendments to Section 7.2(b) of the Credit Agreement. 

Section 7.2(b) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by inserting immediately after the reference to Section 7.1 in the second line thereof 

the following: "(or, in the case of the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2006, on or prior to August 14, 2006, and in the case of the fiscal quarter 

ended September 30, 2006, on or prior to November 14, 2006, and, in the case of each such fiscal quarter, based on compiled monthly financial 

statements for the months comprising such fiscal quarter in the form previously delivered to the Administrative Agent during 2006 prior to the 

Fifth Amendment Effective Date)". 

SECTION 1.5. Amendments to Section 7.2(d) of the Credit Agreement. 

Section 7.2(d) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the phrase "or on or prior to July 27, 2006 in the case of the fiscal 

quarter ended March 31, 2006", that was inserted pursuant to the Fourth Amendment, and inserting the following: "or on or prior to September 

30, 2006 in the case of the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2006, and on or prior to December 31, 2006 in the case of the fiscal quarters ended 

June 30, 2006 and September 30, 2006". 

SECTION 1.6. Amendments to Section 7.9 of the Credit Agreement. Section 7.9 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by deleting such 

section in its entirety and substituting in lieu thereof the following new Section 7.9: 

"7.9 Interest Rate Protection. In the case of the Borrower, within 90 days after the Fifth Amendment Effective Date, enter into, and thereafter 

maintain, Hedge Agreements to the extent necessary to provide that at least 45% of the aggregate principal amount of outstanding Initial Term 

Loans and Delayed-Draw Term Loans is subject to either a fixed interest rate or interest rate protection from the effective date of such Hedge 

Agreements through a date not earlier than May 19, 2008, which Hedge Agreements shall have terms and conditions reasonably satisfactory to 

the Administrative Agent." 

SECTION 1.8. Amendments to Section 9 of the Credit Agreement. Section 9 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by adding after the 

words "Loan Documents" the last two times they appear therein the following: "and any Specified Hedge Agreements". 

SECTION 1.9. Amendments to Section 11.1 of the Credit Agreement. 

Section 11.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the word "or" immediately prior to clause (xi) therein and adding the 

following immediately after clause (xi) and prior to the period: "(xii) amend, modify or waive any Loan Document so as to alter the ratable 

treatment of the Borrower Hedge Agreement Obligations and the Borrower Credit Agreement Obligations (each as defined in the Guarantee 

and Collateral Agreement) in a manner adverse to any Qualified 



Counterparty with Obligations then outstanding without the written consent of any such Qualified Counterparty". 

SECTION 1.10. Amendments to Section 11.14 of the Credit Agreement. 

Section 11.14 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by deleting such section in its entirety and substituting in lieu thereof the following 

new Section 11.14: 

"11.14 Releases of Guarantees and Liens. (a) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein or in any other Loan Document, the 

Administrative Agent is hereby irrevocably authorized by each Secured Party, for itself and behalf of each of its Affiliates that may hereafter 

become a Secured Party (without requirement of notice to or consent of any Secured Party except as expressly required by Section 11.1) to take 

any action requested by the Borrower having the effect of releasing any Collateral or guarantee obligations (i) to the extent necessary to permit 

consummation of any transaction not prohibited by any Loan Document or that has been consented to in accordance with Section 11.1 or (ii) 

under the circumstances described in paragraph (b) below. 

(b) At such time as the Loans, the Reimbursement Obligations and the other obligations under the Loan Documents (other than obligations 

under or in respect of Hedge Agreements) shall have been paid in full, the Commitments have been terminated, no Letters of Credit shall be 

outstanding or any outstanding Letters of Credit shall have been cash collateralized or otherwise secured by a collateral arrangement reasonably 

satisfactory to the Issuing Lender, and the net termination liability under or in respect of Specified Hedge Agreements at such time shall have 

been paid in full or secured by a collateral arrangement satisfactory to the Qualified Counterparty as determined in its sole discretion, the 

Collateral shall be released from the Liens created by the Security Documents, and the Security Documents and all obligations (other than those 

expressly stated to survive such termination) of the Administrative Agent and each Loan Party under the Security Documents shall terminate, 

all without delivery of any instrument or performance of any act by any Person." 

SECTION 1.11. Limitation on Borrowing of Revolving Credit Loans. During any time from and after the Fifth Amendment Effective Date (as 

defined below) when any of the Required Information (as defined in this Amendment) shall not have been delivered to the Lenders in the 

manner and at the times prescribed by Sections 7.1 and 7.2 of the Credit Agreement prior to giving effect to the Fourth Amendment and this 

Amendment, and subject to compliance with the conditions to borrowing thereof contained in the Credit Agreement, the maximum principal 

amount of Revolving Extensions of Credit that may be outstanding shall not exceed $10,000,000. 

SECTION 1.12. Interim Financial Statements and Calculations. The Borrower agrees to deliver to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders on 

or prior to the 15th day of each month during which the Required Information shall not have been previously delivered to the Lenders monthly 

financial statements for the immediately preceding month in the form of the monthly financial statements previously delivered to the 

Administrative Agent during 2006. 



SECTION 1.13. Amendments to Guarantee and Collateral Agreement. The Guarantee and Collateral Agreement is hereby amended by: 

(i) deleting the words "for the banks, financial institutions and other entities (the "Lenders") from time to time parties to the Credit Agreement, 

dated as of May 19, 2005 (as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the "Credit Agreement"), among Carmike 

Cinemas, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Borrower"), the Lenders, Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc., as sole lead arranger and sole bookrunner (in 

such capacity, the "Arranger"), Wells Fargo Foothill, Inc., as documentation agent (in such capacity, the "Documentation Agent"), and the 

Administrative Agent" in the introductory paragraph and substituting in lieu thereof the following: "acting pursuant to this Agreement for the 

benefit of the Secured Parties", 

(ii) deleting the final two recitals and substituting in lieu thereof the following new recitals: 

"WHEREAS, it is a condition precedent to the obligation of the Lenders to make their respective extensions of credit to the Borrower under the 

Credit Agreement and, to the extent applicable, of Qualified Counterparties to provide financial accommodations under Specified Hedge 

Agreements that the Grantors shall have executed and delivered this Agreement to the Administrative Agent for the ratable benefit of the 

Secured Parties; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and to induce the Agents and the Lenders to enter into the Credit Agreement and to 

induce the Lenders to make their respective extensions of credit to the Borrower thereunder and to induce Qualified Counterparties to enter into 

Specified Hedge Agreements, each Grantor hereby agrees with the Administrative Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Secured Parties, as 

follows:", 

(iii) deleting the words "Lender or any affiliate of any Lender" and the words "Lender or affiliate thereof" where they appear in the definition 

of "Borrower Hedge Agreement Obligations" and substituting in lieu thereof the words "Qualified Counterparty", 

(iv) deleting the words "but only to the extent that, and only so long as, the Borrower Credit Agreement Obligations are secured and guaranteed 

pursuant hereto," where they appear in the definition of "Borrower Obligations, 

(v) deleting the words "Agents and the Lenders" in the third line of Section 2.1(a) and substituting in lieu thereof the words "Secured Parties", 

(vi) deleting the words "Agents and the Lenders (and any affiliates of any Lender to which Borrower Hedge Agreement Obligations are 

owing)" beginning in the second line of Section 3 and substituting in lieu thereof the words "Secured Parties", 

(vii) deleting the words "To induce the Administrative Agent and the Lenders to enter into the Credit Agreement and to induce the Lenders to 

make their respective extensions of credit to the Borrower thereunder, each Grantor hereby represents and warrants to the Administrative Agent 

and each Lender that:" at the beginning of Section 4 and substituting in lieu thereof the words "To induce the Administrative Agent and the 

Lenders to enter into the Credit Agreement and to induce the Lenders to make their respective extensions of credit to the Borrower thereunder 

and 



to induce the Qualified Counterparties to enter into the Specified Hedge Agreements, each Grantor hereby represents and warrants to each 

Secured Party that:", 

(viii) deleting the words "Agents and the Lenders" in the first line of the initial paragraph of Section 5 and substituting in lieu thereof the words 

"Secured Parties", 

(ix) deleting paragraphs "Second", "Third" and "Fourth" of Section 6.5 and substituting in lieu thereof the following: 

"Second, to the Administrative Agent, for application by it towards payment of amounts then due and owing and remaining unpaid in respect of 

the Obligations, pro rata among the Secured Parties according to the amounts of the Obligations then due and owing and remaining unpaid to 

the Secured Parties; and 

Third, any balance of such Proceeds remaining after the Obligations shall have been paid in full, no Letters of Credit shall be outstanding or 

any outstanding Letters of Credit shall have been cash collateralized or otherwise secured by a collateral arrangement reasonably satisfactory to 

the Issuing Lender, the Commitments shall have terminated, and any Specified Hedge Agreement of each Qualified Counterparty shall have 

been paid in full or secured by a collateral arrangement satisfactory to such Qualified Counterparty in its sole discretion, shall be paid over to 

the Borrower or to whomsoever may be lawfully entitled to receive the same. For purposes of this Section, to the extent that any Obligation is 

unmatured, unliquidated or contingent at the time any distribution is to be made pursuant to clause Second above and has not been cash 

collateralized or otherwise secured by a satisfactory collateral arrangement as indicated above, the Administrative Agent shall allocate a portion 

of the amount to be distributed pursuant to such clause for the benefit of the Secured Parties holding such Obligations and shall hold such 

amounts for the benefit of such Secured Parties until such time as such Obligations become matured, liquidated and/or payable at which time 

such amounts shall be distributed to the holders of such Obligations to the extent necessary to pay such Obligations in full (with any excess to 

be distributed in accordance with this Section as if distributed at such time). In making determinations and allocations required by this Section, 

the Administrative Agent may conclusively rely upon information provided to it by the holder of the relevant Obligations (which, in the case of 

the immediately preceding sentence) shall be a reasonable estimate of the amount of the Obligations) and shall not be required to, or be 

responsible for, ascertaining the existence of or amount of any Obligations." 

(x) deleting the words "in such order as the Administrative Agent may elect" in the twenty-seventh and twenty-eighth lines of Section 6.6 and 

substituting in lieu thereof the words "in accordance with Section 6.5", 

(xi) deleting Section 8.15(a) in its entirety and substituting in lieu thereof the following new Section 8.15(a): 

"(a) At such time as the Loans, the Reimbursement Obligations and the other Obligations (other than Borrower Hedge Agreement Obligations) 

shall have been paid in 



full, the Commitments have been terminated, no Letters of Credit shall be outstanding or any outstanding Letters of Credit shall have been cash 

collateralized or otherwise secured by a collateral arrangement reasonably satisfactory to the Issuing Lenders, and the Specified Hedge 

Agreement of each Qualified Counterparty shall have been either (i) paid in full or (ii) secured by a collateral arrangement satisfactory to such 

Qualified Counterparty as determined in its sole discretion, the Collateral shall be released from the Liens created hereby, and this Agreement 

and all obligations (other than those expressly stated to survive such termination) of the Administrative Agent and each Grantor hereunder shall 

terminate, all without delivery of any instrument or performance of any act by any party, and all rights to the Collateral shall revert to the 

Grantors. At the request and sole expense of any Grantor following any such termination, the Administrative Agent shall deliver to such 

Grantor any Collateral held by the Administrative Agent hereunder, and execute and deliver to such Grantor such documents as such Grantor 

shall reasonably request to evidence such termination.", and 

and (xii) providing that the rights and benefits provided therein to the Agents and the Lenders (including, without limitation, the security 

interests granted therein and the rights and benefits of a secured party afforded thereby) shall also accrue to and be for the benefit of the other 

Secured Parties (as defined in this Amendment). For this purpose, the relevant provisions of the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement not 

otherwise amended by this Amendment, except for Sections 5.7, 5.10(e) and 8.6 shall be amended by replacing "Lender" or "Lenders" with 

"Secured Party" or "Secured Parties", as the case may be. 

SECTION 1.14. Conditions to Effectiveness. This Amendment shall become effective as of the date hereof on the date (the "Fifth Amendment 

Effective Date") on which the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders shall have executed and delivered to the 

Administrative Agent this Amendment. 

SECTION 1.15. Representation and Warranties. To induce the Administrative Agent to enter into this Amendment, the Borrower hereby 

represents and warrants to the Administrative Agent and all of the Lenders as of the Fifth Amendment Effective Date that: 

(a) Corporate Power; Authorization; Enforceable Obligations. 

(i) The Borrower has the corporate power and authority, and the legal right, to make and deliver this Amendment and to perform its obligations 

under the Loan Documents, as amended by this Amendment, and has taken all necessary corporate action to authorize the execution, delivery 

and performance of this Amendment and the performance of the Loan Documents, as so amended. 

(ii) No consent or authorization of, approval by, notice to, filing with or other act by or in respect of, any Governmental Authority or any other 

Person is required in connection with the execution and delivery of this Amendment or with the performance, validity or enforceability of the 

Loan Documents, as amended by this Amendment, except as otherwise provided in Section 5.4 of the Credit Agreement. 



(iii) This Amendment has been duly executed and delivered on behalf of the Borrower. 

(iv) This Amendment and each Loan Document, as amended by this Amendment, constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the 

Borrower enforceable against the Borrower in accordance with its terms, except as affected by bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance, 

reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws relating to or affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally, general equitable 

principles (whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at law) and an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. 

(b) Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties made by the Borrower in and pursuant to the Loan Documents are true 

and correct in all material respects on and as of the Fifth Amendment Effective Date, after giving effect to the effectiveness of this 

Amendment, as if made on and as of the Fifth Amendment Effective Date. 

SECTION 1.16. Payment of Fees and Expenses. 

(a) Amendment Fee. In the event that the Required Lenders and the Borrower execute and deliver this Amendment, the Borrower shall pay to 

the Administrative Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Lenders consenting to this Amendment, an amendment fee in the amount of 0.10% on 

the principal amount of each such Lender's outstanding Initial Term Loans, Delayed-Draw Term Loans and Revolving Commitment 

immediately prior to the Fifth Amendment Effective Date, payable on the Fifth Amendment Effective Date. 

(b) Expenses. The Borrower agrees to pay or reimburse the Administrative Agent for all of its reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses 

incurred in connection with this Amendment, any other documents prepared in connection herewith and the transactions contemplated hereby, 

including, without limitation, the reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel to each Agent. 

SECTION 1.17. No Other Amendments; Confirmation. Except as expressly amended, modified and supplemented hereby, the provisions of the 

Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents are and shall remain in full force and effect. 

SECTION 1.18. Governing Law; Counterparts. (a) This Amendment and the rights and obligations of the parties hereto shall be governed by, 

and construed and interpreted in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York. 

(b) This Amendment may be executed by one or more of the parties to this Amendment on any number of separate counterparts, and all of said 

counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument. 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be duly executed and delivered by their respective proper and 

duly authorized officers as of the day and year first above written. CARMIKE CINEMAS, INC. 
 

By: /s/ Lee Champion 
    ---------------------------------- 
    Name:  Lee Champion 
    Title: SVP 
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BEAR STEARNS CORPORATE LENDING INC., 

as Administrative Agent and as a Lender 
 

By: /s/ Victor Bulzacchelli 
    -------------------------------------- 
    Name:  Victor Bulzacchelli 
    Title: Vice President 
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WELLS FARGO FOOTHILL, N.A., 

 as Issuing Lender, Documentation Agent 

and a Lender 
 

By: /s/ Ilene Silberman 
    -------------------------------------- 
    Name:  Ilene Silberman 
    Title: Vice President 
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EXHIBIT 21 

Carmike Cinemas, Inc. 

List of Subsidiaries 
              

Subsidiary   State of Incorporation   
% 

Owned 
Eastwynn Theatres, Inc.   Alabama     100 % 
George G. Kerasotes Corporation   Delaware     100 % 
GKC Indiana Theatres, Inc.   Indiana     100 % 
GKC Michigan Theatres, Inc.   Delaware     100 % 
GKC Theatres, Inc.   Delaware     100 % 
Military Services, Inc.   Delaware     100 % 
Conway Theatres, LLC   South Carolina     100 % 

  



   



  

 

Exhibit 31.1 

Certifications 

I, Michael W. Patrick, certify that: 
 
1.   I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Carmike Cinemas, Inc.; 
   
2.   Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 

make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 

covered by this report; 
   
3.   Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 

respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 
   
4.   The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 

13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by 

others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most 

recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely 

to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 
 
5.   The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors: 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal 

control over financial reporting. 
      
August 3, 2006     
      
/s/ Michael W. Patrick     
      
Michael W. Patrick 

President, Chief Executive Officer and   
  

Chairman of the Board of Directors     

  



   



  

 

Exhibit 31.2 

Certifications 

I, Richard B. Hare, certify that: 
 
1.   I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Carmike Cinemas, Inc.; 
   
2.   Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 

make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 

covered by this report; 
   
3.   Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 

respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 
   
4.   The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 

13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by 

others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

b)Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most 

recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely 

to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 
 
5.   The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors: 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal 

control over financial reporting. 
      
August 3, 2006     
      
/s/ Richard B. Hare     
      
Richard B. Hare 

Senior Vice President — Finance, 

Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer   

  

  



   



  

 

Exhibit 32.1 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE 

SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

     Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and in connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Carmike Cinemas, 

Inc. (the ―Corporation‖) for the period ended December 31, 2005, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof 

(the ―Report‖), the undersigned, the President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Corporation, certifies 

that: 

     (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

     (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 

Corporation. 
      
/s/ Michael W. Patrick     
      
Michael W. Patrick 

President, Chief Executive Officer and   
  

Chairman of the Board of Directors     
August 3, 2006     

  



   



  

 

Exhibit 32.2 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE 

SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

     Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and in connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Carmike Cinemas, 

Inc. (the ―Corporation‖) for the period ended December 31, 2005, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof 

(the ―Report‖), the undersigned, the Senior Vice President — Finance, Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer of the Corporation, certifies that: 

     (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

     (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 

Corporation. 
      
/s/ Richard B. Hare     
      
Richard B. Hare 

Senior Vice President — Finance, 

Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer   

  

August 3, 2006     

  


